
  

 

Meeting of the  

 

TOWER HAMLETS 
COUNCIL 

__________________________________ 
 

Wednesday, 25th January 2012 at 7.30 p.m. 
_______________________________________ 

 
A G E N D A 

______________________________________ 
 

VENUE 
Council Chamber, 1st Floor, 
Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 

5 Clove Crescent, 
London E14 2BG 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact: 
 
John S Williams, Service Head, Democratic Services 
Tel: 020 7364 4204, E-mail:johns.williams@towerhamlets.gov.uk 

 



 
Chief Executive’s 
Directorate 
 
Democratic Services 
Tower Hamlets Town Hall 
Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London E14 2BG 

 

Tel 020 7364 4204 
Fax 020 7364 3232 
 
www.towerhamlets.gov.uk 

 
TO THE MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER 
HAMLETS 
 
You are summoned to attend a meeting of the Council of the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets to be held in THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, 1ST FLOOR, TOWN HALL, 
MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG at 7.30 p.m. on 
WEDNESDAY, 25TH JANUARY 2012  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Aman Dalvi 
Interim Chief Executive 
 

 



 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

COUNCIL MEETING  
 

WEDNESDAY, 25TH JANUARY 2012 

 
7.30 p.m. 

 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 
 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

1 - 2 

 To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those 
restricting Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 
of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the 
Chief Executive. 
 
 

 

3. MINUTES  
 

3 - 46 

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the unrestricted 
minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 29th November 2011. 
 
 

 

4. TO RECEIVE ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) FROM THE 
SPEAKER OF COUNCIL OR THE INTERIM CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE  

 
 

 

5. TO RECEIVE PETITIONS  
 

47 - 48 

 The deadline for receipt of petitions to be presented to this meeting is 
noon on Thursday 19th January 2012. 
 
However, at the time of agenda despatch the maximum number of three 
petitions had already been received as set out in the attached report. 
 
 

 

6. TO RECEIVE WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF 
THE PUBLIC  

 

49 - 50 

 The questions which have been received from members of the public to 
be put at this meeting are set out in the attached report. 
 
A maximum period of 20 minutes is allocated to this agenda item. 
 

 



 
 

7. MAYOR'S REPORT  
 

 

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution as amended, provision is 
made at each ordinary Council meeting for the Elected Mayor to give a 
report. 
 
A maximum of five minutes is allowed for the Elected Mayor’s report, 
following which the Speaker of Council will give the respective political 
group leaders an opportunity to respond for up to one minute each if 
they wish. 
 
 

 

8. TO RECEIVE WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF 
THE COUNCIL  

 

51 - 56 

 The questions which have been received from Councillors to be put at 
this meeting are set out in the attached report. 
 
A maximum period of 30 minutes is allocated to this agenda item. 
 
 

 

9. REPORTS FROM THE EXECUTIVE AND THE COUNCIL'S 
COMMITTEES  

 

 

9 .1 Substance Misuse Strategy   
 

57 - 164 

 To adopt the Substance Misuse Strategy which sets out the Tower 
Hamlets Partnership approach to tackling the problems associated with 
drug and alcohol misuse in the borough, in accordance with the 
Council’s obligation under section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 
 
The Substance Misuse Strategy forms a part of the Council’s Crime and 
Disorder Reduction Strategy.  This is one of the plans and strategies that 
together make up the authority’s Policy Framework and the adoption of 
which must be agreed by the full Council.   
 
The proposals of the Executive for the Council’s Substance Misuse 
Strategy are set out in the attached report. 
 
 

 

9 .2 London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 
2003 (Section 16) - report of the Cabinet Meeting on 11th 
January 2012   

 

165 - 180 

 To agree the date on which section 16 of the London Local Authorities 
and Transport for London Act 2003 will come into operation in Tower 
Hamlets.  Under this section of the 2003 Act, enhanced enforcement 
powers are available to the Council as Highway Authority, concerning 
vehicles driving over the footway.   
 
The recommendations of the Cabinet Meeting on 11th January 2012 on 
this matter are set out in the attached report. 

 



 
 

 

9 .3 Proposed amendments to the Council's Constitution - 
report of the General Purposes Committee, 17th January 
2012   

 

181 - 186 

 The General Purposes Committee on 17th January 2012 will consider a 
number of proposed amendments to be Council’s Constitution as set out 
in the attached report.   
 
The recommendations of the General Purposes Committee in relation to 
the matters in the report will be circulated to Members before the Council 
meeting. 
 
 

 

9 .4 Recruitment of Chief Executive - update   
 

 

 Report of the Human Resources Committee (18th January 2012) to 
follow. 
 
 

 

10. TO RECEIVE REPORTS AND QUESTIONS ON JOINT 
ARRANGEMENTS AND EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS (IF 
ANY)  

 

 

 There is no business to conduct under this agenda item. 
 
 

 

11. OTHER BUSINESS  
 

 

11 .1 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy 2011/12   

 

187 - 214 

 To adopt the three strategy documents that the Council is required by 
the CLG/CIPFA Code of Practice to produce in connection with its 
treasury management arrangements.  The report of the Corporate 
Director, Resources is attached. 
 
 

 

12. TO CONSIDER MOTIONS SUBMITTED BY MEMBERS OF 
THE COUNCIL  

 

215 - 234 

 The motions submitted by Councillors for debate at this meeting are set 
out in the attached report. 
 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\1\0\AI00033017\$0cseo3mn.doc 
    

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
This note is guidance only.  Members should consult the Council’s Code of Conduct for further 
details.  Note: Only Members can decide if they have an interest therefore they must make their 
own decision.  If in doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to 
attending at a meeting.   
 
Declaration of interests for Members 
 
Where Members have a personal interest in any business of the authority as described in 
paragraph 4 of the Council’s Code of Conduct (contained in part 5 of the Council’s Constitution) 
then s/he must disclose this personal interest as in accordance with paragraph 5 of the Code.  
Members must disclose the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting and 
certainly no later than the commencement of the item or where the interest becomes apparent.   
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to 
affect: 
 

(a) An interest that you must register 
 
(b) An interest that is not on the register, but where the well-being or financial position of you, 

members of your family, or people with whom you have a close association, is likely to be 
affected by the business of your authority more than it would affect the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision. 

 
Where a personal interest is declared a Member may stay and take part in the debate and 
decision on that item.   
 
What constitutes a prejudicial interest? - Please refer to paragraph 6 of the adopted Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Your personal interest will also be a prejudicial interest in a matter if (a), (b) and either (c) 
or (d) below apply:- 
 

(a) A member of the public, who knows the relevant facts, would reasonably think that your 
personal interests are so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment of the 
public interests; AND 

(b) The matter does not fall within one of the exempt categories of decision listed in 
paragraph 6.2 of the Code; AND EITHER   

(c) The matter affects your financial position or the financial interest of a body with which 
you are associated; or 

(d) The matter relates to the determination of a licensing or regulatory application 
 

The key points to remember if you have a prejudicial interest in a matter being discussed at a 
meeting:- 
 

i. You must declare that you have a prejudicial interest, and the nature of that interest, as 
soon as that interest becomes apparent to you; and  

 
ii. You must leave the room for the duration of consideration and decision on the item and 

not seek to influence the debate or decision unless (iv) below applies; and  

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



2 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\1\0\AI00033017\$0cseo3mn.doc 
    

 
iii. You must not seek to improperly influence a decision in which you have a prejudicial 

interest.   
 

iv. If Members of the public are allowed to speak or make representations at the meeting, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter, by statutory right or otherwise (e.g. 
planning or licensing committees), you can declare your prejudicial interest but make 
representations.  However, you must immediately leave the room once you have 
finished your representations and answered questions (if any).  You cannot remain in 
the meeting or in the public gallery during the debate or decision on the matter. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

��

������������	
������
���
�������
�

������������
����������
�


����������������������������������������������
�

�
�����������
��������������������
��
�����������������������
������������������������������	�

�
� !" #$��# $ %&'�
�
��������������������
���� !""���#$"�"�%&&�'�
���� !""���(��"$'��))!��%��$)�
���� !""���(�&!��%��$)�
���� !""�����!)�%��$)�
���� !""�����*!&�%��$)�
���� !""�����$"!���%+����
���� !""�������$)�%"!�
���� !""����!��%� �$��
���� !""���%&)�"�%'�)�
���� !""������!,�%'����
���� !""���������-$,���
���� !""����!.�������)�����
���� !""���%"!&�������)�����
���� !""���/������0!'�
���� !""�����$1���!$�������
���� !""�����0!)��),���
���� !""������ �2��� !'�
���� !""���3�)!���4��)!�$��
���� !""������"��4!&&'�
���� !""���5$�$��4�")'�
���� !""�������!6�"�#�6�$�
���� !""������"!�#��1$�75$�����
���� !""����!��*�"��'"���
���� !""���%���3� +'���
�

���� !""����$�!'$�3��$'�
���� !""�����8������3��$'�
���� !""���%�!����(����
���� !""���%�9���(����
���� !""�����&!���(����
���� !""������!��(����
���� !""�����!�!��(������
���� !""���%������� ��
���� !""���#������!���
���� !""����)8���!����!���
���� !""���2�.�"��!���
���� !""���������$)�%&)�"���+!���-��
���� !""���%��$)�%)�����$��
���� !""����$'"$��5�0!���
���� !""���3�'����5$ +�
���� !""���/$�!����������
���� !""����� ��$"�����)$�'�
���� !""�����0!)����9)���
���� !""���4"��!����!$�$"�
���� !""���-!""�����$��
���� !""���(�'����))!��
���� !""���#$"�"��))!��
���� !""���%&)�"��""���
���� !""������!���.7/�����
���� !""���%���:�!�$"� +�
�

�
������������$��$$�!�,� ���$� $)����;8
<�18�8�
�

�( ��()*#�+,��+-%.*/���+-%.*//+#��*0)%-#��()-1(-#2��*%�&( ��()*#�
�
�

��� �����	�����������������
�
%1�"�,!$'� ���� �&'$� $� 9$�$� �$ $!0$)� ��� &$��"�� ��� ���� !""��'� ���!6�$� �8�
%��$)���)��"!���������8��%1�"�,!$'�����"��$�$''�9$�$��$ $!0$)����&$��"�����
���� !""���/������0!'8�
�
�
�

Agenda Item 3

Page 3



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	�

��� ��������������������������
�
���� !""��'���)$�)$ "����!��'����!��$�$'�����!�$�'�!� "�)$)������$��,$�)���'�
��""�9'=7�
�

�+-%.*//+#�
�

�& !� �23 �+,�*%& # $&� � )$+%�

�""��#$"�"�%&&�'� <8	� 5$�'���"� ��$� ��'1!��"�  �� $��$)� !'�
!�����9��)�

�""��#$"�"�%&&�'� ;8�� 5$�'���"� -�! +� ���$� ��$�� !'� !�� ���
9��)�

�""��#$"�"�%&&�'� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �� ��� �� �$�&$�� ��� ��$�
4�-� ��!��� ��)� ��� ��$�
�� �"� 4�0$���$���
5$�'!���� �$�$�

�""��#$"�"�%&&�'� �	8
� 5$�'���"� ��$� ��'1!��"�  �� $��$)� !'�
!�����9��)�

�""��#$"�"�%&&�'� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �� ��� �� �$�&$�� ��� ��$�
4�-� ��!��� ��)� ��� ��$�
�� �"� 4�0$���$���
5$�'!���� �$�$�

�""��#$"�"�%&&�'� �	8	�� 5$�'���"� ���� !"� ���!�$$� �����9$��
#��"$�'� ������!���
#��$'� 9�! �� '�&�!�'�
�11"! ��!��'������$�#�%�

�""��(�&!��%��$)� �	8��� 5$�'���"� ��11���$)� ��$� (��5�
 ��1�!,��

�""�� (��"$'� �))!��
%��$)�

<8?� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�����5�1"���#%��%�
-���)�

�""�� (��"$'� �))!��
%��$)�

�	8	�� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�����5�1"���#%��%�
-���)�

�""����!)�%��$)� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""����!)�%��$)� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""����*!&�%��$)� <8?� 5$�'���"� 5�1"��� #�� �� -���)�
�$�&$��

�""����*!&�%��$)� �	8	� 5$�'���"� �$1�������!��������� !"�

�""����*!&�%��$)� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""����*!&�%��$)� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

Page 4



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?�

�""��%&)�"�%'�)� ��8�� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�� ��� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""��%&)�"�%'�)� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""��%&)�"�%'�)� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""�����!,�%'����
�

�	8@� 5$�'���"� -�� 0!���$� ��� ���
$�1"���$����'�)$ "��$)�!��
��$� �$,!'�$�� ��� �$�&$�'�
���$�$'�'8�

�""�� �!.�����
����)�����

�	8	� 5$�'���"� ���!��������� !"�

�""��/������0!'�
�

�	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�� ��� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""��/������0!'� �	8��� 5$�'���"� % �!0$"�� '�11���$)� ��$�
��0$�(��5� ��1�!,��

�""��/������0!'�
�

�	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�� ��� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$� ��)� 1�$0!��'"��
9��+$)� !�� ��$� 1�&"! �
'$ ���8�

�""��/������0!'� �	8�>� 5$�'���"� �� ��� �� ���'�$$� ��� ��$�
�� +"��)'� �$��"$�$���
9�! ��1��0!)$'� ��$�'!�$� ����
��$��������:�������""$,$8�

�""�� ��$1���!$�
������

�	8@� 5$�'���"� �� ��� �� "��)"��)� !�� ��$�
1�!0��$��$��$)�'$ ���8�

�""����0!)��),��� �	8A� 5$�'���"� %� 1��*$ �� ���� &�� ��$�
��,��!'��!�����9��+�������'�
&$$�� �9��)$)� �� ,����� ���
B
�


�&������4�

�""����0!)��),��� �	8>� 5$�'���"� ��������$�&$�������!�$�

�""����0!)��),��� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� ��������$�&$�������!�$�

�""����� �2��� !'� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""����� �2��� !'�� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""����� �2��� !'� �	8	�� 5$�'���"� ��)$1$�)$��� -���)�
�$�&$��� �")� 2��)�
#��'!�,�%''� !��!���

Page 5



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

A�

�""�� 3�)!���
4��)!�$��

�	8A� 5$�'���"� ��%� 5"���!�,� ����!��$$�
�$�&$��

�""�� 3�)!���
4��)!�$��

�	8<� 5$�'���"� ��%� 5"���!�,� ����!��$$�
�$�&$��

�""�� 3�)!���
4��)!�$��

�	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$������%5��

�""�� 3�)!���
4��)!�$��

�	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$������%5��

�""�����"��4!&&'� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �� ��� �� �$�&$�� ��� ��$�
��!�$���!����

�""�����"��4!&&'� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �� ��� �� �$�&$�� ��� ��$�
��!�$���!����

�""�����"��4!&&'� �	8	�� 5$�'���"� ���� !"� �$1�$'$����!0$� ���
-���)� ��� ��9$�� #��"$�'�
������!���#��'!�,�

�""�� ����!6�"�
#�6�$�

�	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�� ��� 4�-���!'���
��)� ��� �4� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""�� ����!6�"�
#�6�$�

�	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�� ��� 4�-���!'���
��)� ��� �4� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""�� ���"!� #��1$�7
5$�����

�	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������!�$�

�""�� ���"!� #��1$�7
5$�����

�	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������!�$�

�""�� ���"!� #��1$�7
5$�����

�	8	�� 5$�'���"� ��)�
5�$*�)! !�"�

�� 9��+� ���� �� ���'!�,�
�''� !��!��� 9!��� �� 0$���
 "$���"!�$������$�!''�$8�

�""���!��*�"��'"��� �	8	� 5$�'���"� 2���$�� �$�&$�� ��� ��$�
���'�!���!���:��+!�,�5�����

�""���!��*�"��'"��� �	8A� 5$�'���"� -���)� �$�&$��� �"��1! �
����$����!'��!&�����������

�""���!��*�"��'"��� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������!'�����!���

�""���!��*�"��'"��� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������!'�����!���

�""���!��*�"��'"��� �	8	�� 5$�'���"� -���)� �$�&$��� ��9$��
#��"$�'� ������!���
#��'!�,�

�""��%���3� +'��� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$��������)$���!�����)�
����4�5$�'!���� �$�$�

�""��%���3� +'��� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$��������)$���!�����)�
����4�5$�'!���� �$�$�

�""��%���3� +'��� �	8�?� 5$�'���"� 2��!"�� �$�&$�� 9��+'� ����
1��0!)$�8�

�""���$�!'$�3��$'�
�

;8�� 5$�'���"� �� ���� �� &�'!�$''� !�� -�! +�
���$�

�""���$�!'$�3��$'� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������!�$���!���

�""���$�!'$�3��$'� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������!�$���!���

�""��%�!����(���� �	8��� 5$�'���"� ��11���$)�(��5�
 ��1�!,��

�""����&!���(���� <8�� 5$�'���"� :�!�$��9���!'�!�����9��)�

Page 6



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

<�

�""����&!���(���� <8	� 5$�'���"� ����0$�'!,�$)���$�1$�!�!���

�""����&!���(���� �	8��� 5$�'���"� �� ��0$� '!,�$)� ��$� (��5�
 ��1�!,��1$�!�!���

�""�����!��(���� <8�� 5$�'���"� ��11���$�� ��� �&*$ �C� %�)�
�%5��

�""�����!��(���� �	8�>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$���������

�""����!�!��(������ �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�����4�-���!���

�""����!�!��(������ �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�����4�-���!���

�""��%������� ��
�

<8?� 5$�'���"� -���)� �$�&$��� 5�1"���
#�� ��

�""��%������� ��
�

@8	� 5$�'���"� -���)� �$�&$��� 5�1"���
#�� ��

�""��%������� �� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�� ��� ��!'��� ��)� !��
��$� �� �"� 4�0$���$���
5$�'!���� �$�$�

�""��%������� �� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�� ��� ��!'��� ��)� !��
��$� �� �"� 4�0$���$���
5$�'!���� �$�$�

�""��%&)�"���+!�� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""��%&)�"���+!�� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""��%��$)���$�� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""��%��$)���$��� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$����������)$'���!���
��)� !�� ��$� �� �"�
4�0$���$��� 5$�'!���
� �$�$�

�""��3�'����5$ +� �	8A� 5$�'���"� ��1"��$�� ��'� ��  ����� ��
9!�������4�

�""��3�'����5$ +� �	8<� 5$�'���"� ��1"��$�� ��'� ��  ����� ��
9!�������4�

�""��3�'����5$ +� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������$�4�-���!���

�""��3�'����5$ +� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������$�4�-���!���

�""�� �� ��$"�
����)$�'�

�	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������!�$���!���

�""�� �� ��$"�
����)$�'�

�	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������!�$���!���

�""��4"��!����!$�$"� �	8�
� 5$�'���"� ��'�� ��)� #��$'�
"$�'$��")$��

�""��-!""�����$�� �	8>� 5$�'���"� ����$����$�&$�������!'���
��)� ��0$� &$$�� ���! $�
��")$��)$"$,��$8� � �$�&$��
��� ��$� �� �"� 4�0$���$���

Page 7



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

@�

5$�'!���� �$�$�

�""��-!""�����$�� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� ����$����$�&$�������!'���
��)� ��0$� &$$�� ���! $�
��")$��)$"$,��$8� � �$�&$��
��� ��$� �� �"� 4�0$���$���
5$�'!���� �$�$�

�""��-!""�����$�� �	8�>� 5$�'���"� 4�0$����� ��� ���1$���
� ���"�

�""��#$"�"��))!��
�

<8?� 5$�'���"� ��1"��$�� 9��+'�  "�'$"��
9!���5�1"���#�� ��

�""��#$"�"��))!�� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������$�4�-���!���

�""��#$"�"��))!�� �	8�
� 5$�'���"� -���)� �$�&$�� ��� ��'��
��)�#��$'�

�""��#$"�"��))!�� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�������$�4�-���!���

�""��%&)�"��""��� �	8>� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�����4�-���!���

�""��%&)�"��""��� �	8�	� 5$�'���"� �$�&$�����4�-���!���

�""��(�'����))!�� �	8�
� 5$�'���"� ��1"��$)�&���:5�

�""�� %���
:�!�$"� +�

�	8>� 5$�'���"�� �� ��� �� �$�&$�� ��� ��$�
��!�$���!���

�""�� %���
:�!�$"� +�

�	8�	� 5$�'���"�� �� ��� �� �$�&$�� ��� ��$�
��!�$���!���

�""�� %���
:�!�$"� +�

�	8�<� 5$�'���"�� ��9$�� #��"$�'� #��$'�
&���)��$�&$��

�""�� ���!�� �.7
/�����

�	8>� 5$�'���"� ��!����$�&$��

�""�� ���!�� �.7
/�����

�	8�
� 5$�'���"� ���� !"� �$1�$'$����!0$� ���
��'����)�#��$'�-���)�

�""�� ���!�� �.7
/�����

�	8�	� 5$�'���"� ��!����$�&$��

�
�

4�� ���������
�
���� !""���3�'����5$ +��$�$��$)������$�6�$'�!���'$�������'�!�$��@8	��1�,$�;����
��$��!���$'����)�1�!��$)������������'�������%"!��5���)�3����-!,,'����&����
�$�&$�� ��� ��$� ���)��� %''$�&"���� ��,$��$�� 9!��� ��&���� ���� !""��'� ��)�
���$�)$)���$�$0$����11�'!�,���$�������� �8�
�
���� !""��� 5$�$�� 4�")'� )�$9� ���$��!��� ��� ��$� �$'1��'$� ,!0$�� &�� ���� !""���
%"!&��� ����)����� ��� ���� !""��� /���� ��0!'D� 6�$'�!��� ;8@� �1�,$� �<� ��� ��$�
�!���$'�8������ !""�������)�������)�'���$)�������$�)!)�������0$�$0!)$� $����
���� !""�����0!'D��''$��!����������$��#��'�9$�$�������$'��)��������$��!�$����
��$�)!'���&�� $'���)�9��")�������0$�&$$��)$1"��$)����9����'���$�'!����!���
9�'� ���� )��,$���'8� � #�9$0$��� ���� !""��� 4�")'� 9!'�$)� !�� �$ ��)$)� �����
���� !""��� ��0!'� ��)� �$ $!0$)� �� �$'1��'$� ��� �� �$�&$�D'� ��6�!��� �����
 ���!��$)� ��!'� 9�'� ��$�  �'$� ��)� ����� '�$� ��)� 1��0!)$)� ��!'� !�������!��� ���
���� !""�������)����8���
�

Page 8



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

>�

���� !""�����$1���!$��������$6�$'�$)��������$��!���$'�&$���$�)$)�����$�"$ ��
��$��� ��������$��6�$'�!���;8		��1�,$�	<������$��!���$'��'���")���0$��$�$��$)�
���E��$1�2�$$�%  $''F������$�������E��$1�?�%  $''F8�
�
���������
�
�����'�&*$ �� ��� ��$��&�0$���$�)�$��'�� ��$��!���$'���� ��$���)!������$$�!�,�
��� ��$� ���� !"� �$$�!�,� �$")� ��� 	�'�� �$1�$�&$�� 	
��� &$�  ���!��$)� �'� ��
 ���$ �� �$ ��)���� ��$�1�� $$)!�,'���)� ��$����!��������� !"�&$�������!'$)� ���
'!,����$���  ��)!�,"�8�
�
�

��� ��� �������� �������������� 5��� ���6� ����� �
�� �
���� ���
������������
�����������
�����7���������
�
��������� $�$��'�9$�$���)$������$��$$�!�,8�
�
�

��� ����������������������
�
���� � &*&*+%� +%� " ()/,� +,� &( � 
(*& � �8)%�� �+!! #.*)/� �+)1�� ���

# 9)#1*%9�&( �� :��$&)"/*$(! %&$��+/*.2�
�

�������"��������)���)����-�����(!�+��))�$''$)���$��$$�!�,����&$��"�����
��$�1$�!�!��$�'���)��$'1��)$)����6�$'�!��'�������$�&$�'8���
�
���� !""������!��(�������&!�$���$�&$��������"���$����$���$'1��)$)����
��$�!''�$'���!'$)8���
�
��$����� !"�9�'�1����9��� �����,�� ��$����"�'!'���)�$0�"���!������ ��$�
 ��'�"���!��������$�)������$G��'��&"!'��$��'�5�"! �8����$�$���)�&$$����
�$ ��)����&$������$'1��'$'���)�!��9�'� "$���������$'!)$��'��$"��'����,"��
�&������$�����$�8��%� ��'�"���!����$$�!�,���)�&$$���$")�9!�����!�&�9�
#��"$�'���)�����������$�!''�$'���!'$)�!����$�1$�!�!�����)�&$$��&���,���
��� ��$� ���� !"D'� ���$��!��8� � ��$'$� 9��")� &$� ,!0$�� )�$�  ��'!)$���!���
��)���$����� !"�9��")�$�'��$��������$�1�"! ��9�'�����)!' �!�!������8�
�
���������
�
����� ��$� 1$�!�!��� &$� �$�$��$)� ��� ��$����1����$��!�$ �����������!�!$'��
�� �"!�!$'� ��)� ��"���$� ���� �� 9�!��$�� �$'1��'$� ��� ���� ���'���)!�,�
����$�'�9!��!��	;�)��'8�

�
�
���� � &*&*+%� ,#+!� �$� �# %1)� �)*/2�� �#� �+!� �*19 � )%1� +&( #$�

# 9)#1*%9�&( �;�)< ��+&( #�� <2=$>�.)!3)*9%�
�

�'�-�$�)����!"����)���������!),$��))�$''$)���$��$$�!�,����&$��"��
�����$�1$�!�!��$�'���)��$'1��)$)����6�$'�!��'�������$�&$�'8���
�

Page 9



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

;�

���� !""�����&!���(�������&!�$���$�&$������#��'!�,����$���$'1��)$)�
�����$�!''�$'���!'$)8���
�
��$� '���$)� ��$�  �� $��'� ��� ���'$� 9��� 9���$)� ��� '�0$� ��$� ��'��
!�1������� $"$�$��'� ��� ��$� ����$�� 3$9!'�� ���$��!��� #�'1!��"8� � ��$�
)$ !'!��� ��� '$""� ��$� '!�$� 9�'� ��+$�� &�� ��$� 1�$0!��'� �)�!�!'����!��8��
����������$"����'���$�&�!")!�,�9�'�����"!'�$)����!�������'$�0��!���%�$���
��$����� !"� ��")�����1�$0$���!�'�)$��"!�!��8��#�9$0$������ !""���(����
9�'� ��""�� '�11���!0$� ��� ��$�  ��1�!,�� ��� '�0$� ��$� &�!")!�,'� ��)� ��)�
9�!��$�� ��� 5$�&�)�� !�� ��!'� �$,��)8� � ��� ��$� $0$��� ����� ��!'� 9�'� ����
1�''!&"$������ !""���(����9�'��"'��9��+!�,���������&$����� !�!�!��!0$'�
���1�$'$�0$�!�'�"$,� �8��
�
���������
�
����� ��$� 1$�!�!��� &$� �$�$��$)� ��� ��$� ���1����$� �!�$ ����� �$0$"�1�$���
��)��$�$9�"�������9�!��$���$'1��'$�����������'���)!�,�����$�'�9!��!��
	;�)��'8�

�
�

�()%9 �&+��#1 #�+,��-$*% $$�
�
���� !""��� ���!�� �.7/����� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� 3�'���� 5$ +�
���������� �� 1�� $)���"� ���!��� H� E����� ��)$�� 1�� $)���"� ��"$�
�A8�8?� ��$� ��)$�� ��� &�'!�$''� &$� 0��!$)� ��� �""�9� ���!��� �	8
� ��� &$�
 ��'!)$�$)��'��$G��&�'!�$''8F�
�
��$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18�
�
�

������ �+#! #�? 8*$(��)& #%*&2�
+$3*&)/�
�

���� !""��� 3�)!��� 4��)!�$�� ��0$)�� ��)� ���� !""��� #$"�"� �))!��
'$ ��)$)����$����!����'�1�!��$)�!����$��,$�)�8�
�
2�""�9!�,� )$&��$�� ��$� ���!��� 9�'� 1��� ��� ��$� 0��$� ��)� 9�'� )9#  1����
%  ��)!�,"��!��9�'=7�
�
���������
�
�(*$��+-%.*/�%+& $'�
�

•� �������$�����$��3$9!'�����$��!���#�'1!��"��+��9�����$ �!����$"���'�
I����$���$0�D'D��9�'���$���"��3$9!'�����$��!�����'1!��"�!����,"��)�
��)�"� ��$)�!�������'$1����$�&�!")!�,'�!����)$�9��)����)8�

�

•� �������$�&�!")!�,'������1���������$��$9��$��!�!�,�$G��1"$'������$�
&�!"��$0!)$� $������$�3$9!'����'����)���)��'�'� ����$����!�1�������
�!'���! �"�'!,�!�! �� $8�

�

Page 10



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�


�

•� �����5$�&�)��#��'!�,����'����$�"$,�""��$��!�"$)�����11"�����
)$��"!'����$�'!�$���)���0$��11"!$)�������I1�!������! $����)$��"!�!��D�
�����$�'!�$��9!�����$�0!$9�����11"�!�,�����1$��!''!������&�!")����!0$�
'���$��&"� +����??��"��'��$����'���$)��9�$�'�!1���)�'�"$������$��1$��
���+$�8�

�

•� �����5$�&�)����'���)��������1�!�!'$���$��������������'!�,���$��
1��0!)$�&����"'�����1���$ ����$�-����,�D'��$�!��,$8�

�
�(*$��+-%.*/�,-#&( #�%+& $'�
�

•� %����"!�$�1$�!�!���9�! ����'�&$$��'!,�$)�&���0$��A

�1$�1"$�
!� "�)!�,�"� �"� ��� !""��'��11�'!�,���$�)$��"!�!��8�

�

•� �����'$0$��"�����&"$�!�)!0!)��"'�'� ���'���$��!�$ �������3$9!'��
#$�!��,$��(�����!�'������$���'�����)���#!'������� !$�����)�3$9!'��
��'����)��$"$&���!����� !$�����)�"� �"����� !""��'���0$�9�!��$�����
��$���!$���G$ ��!0$����5$�&�)���'+!�,��!��������"$�'��'1��$���$�
 ����,$'���)� ��0$�����$��������!"�����$'8�

�
�(*$��+-%.*/�# $+/< $'�
�

•� ��� �""������$������������,$��"���$,��!��$�9!���5$�&�)��#��$'����
1�$0$�����$�)$��"!�!��8�

�

•� ��� �""����5$�&�)������$ ��'!)$����$!��)$'!,�'����'1��$���$�
 ����,$'����1���������$���J�)$����1�$'$�0$���$��$�!��,$������$�
&�!")!�,'8�

�
�
��4� � &*&*+%� ,#+!� # $*1 %&$� +,� �)%#*.@��+)1� # 9)#1*%9� &#)%$3+#&� )%1�

$)& //*& �
�

���%'�����"�%"����))�$''$)� ��$��$$�!�,� ���&$��"�� ��� ��$� 1$�!�!��$�'�
��)��$'1��)$)����6�$'�!��'�������$�&$�'8���
�
���� !""�����&!���(�������&!�$���$�&$������#��'!�,����$���$'1��)$)�
�����$�!''�$'���!'$)8���
�
:!����$,��)������$���$79���'�'�$�� ���$��"��!���'$������ !""�����&!���
(���� 1�!��$)� ���� ����� ��!'� ��)� &$$�� !����)� $)� ��!,!��""�� ��� 1�$0$���
#4K��  $''���)����&"� +������������������$�%�	������$�%�?8�����9��")�
���� &$� "$,�""�� 1�''!&"$� ���� ��$� ���� !"� ��� ,��$� ��$� ���)� &��� �����$��
1��1�'�"'�9$�$���)$�� ��'!)$���!��8�
�
���  ���$ �!��� 9!��� 1���� �$"$0!'!��� �$ $1�!���� ����! +� ���)� &$�$�!�'�
������� ������"�'��$""!�$�)!'����"����,�� ��$�2�$$0!$9� ����$"'�9$�$�
���� 1���� ��� ��$� '��$""!�$� '�'�$�8� � �!,��"'� ����� ��$� ���'��"� 5�"� $�
����'�!��$�� 9$�$� ���� '����,� !�� ��$� ����! +� ���)� ��$��� &��� ��!'� ����

Page 11



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�
�

!�1��0$�9�$����$�--��'9!� �$'�������$����"�,�$�'$�0! $�)��!�,�	
�	��
��""�9!�,�9�! ����$�)!,!��"�'!,��"�9��")�&$�'����,$�8��
�
���������
�
����� ��$� 1$�!�!��� &$� �$�$��$)� ��� ��$� ���1����$� �!�$ ����� �$0$"�1�$���
��)��$�$9�"�������9�!��$���$'1��'$�����������'���)!�,�����$�'�9!��!��
	;�)��'8�

�
�

A�� �����������
�������B��������������������������
����������
�
A��� B- $&*+%�,#+!��#��# $�C)*! $'D�
�
�$'!)$��'���$�)$$1"�� �� $��$)��������$�$'���$���'����$"$ �$)��$1�$'$����!0$�
�����$���!��-���)������'����)�#��$'8�
�
��'����)�#��$'���'��$��!���$)���$��!,��'�����$'!)$��'����&$��$1�$'$��$)����
!�'���!��-���)�&�����$"$ �$)�"� �"�&���)��$�&$���9�����'�1��1$��)$"$,��$)�
������!��� ����� �$""�9� �$'!)$��'�� ��)� 9���  ��� �$"��� ��� ��$� ��!�� -���)� ��$�
 �� $��'� ��� ��$�  �����!��� "!0!�,� ��� ��� 4$��,$D'� �'���$8� ��!'� !'� ��� �� �!�$�
9�$�� 9$� ��$� ,��11"!�,� 9!��� �� ��''� ��� 1��&"$�'� !�� �$"��!��� ��� �� ��*���
 ��'��� �!��� 1��,����$� �����  ��")� �$��!�,��""�� &$� �$'�"0$)� ��"�� ��� ��!��
-���)�"$0$"8�
�
��'����)�#��$'���'�$��$ �!0$"��$��)! ��$)��  �����&"$��$'!)$���!�0�"0$�$���
!�� ��$� ��,��!.��!��L'� '����$,! � ��!�+!�,� ��)� �1$���!���"� )$ !'!��'� ��� ���
4$��,$D'���)����$�����!�'�$'���$'8�
�
��� ���� �,�$$� ����� !�� !'� ��9� �!�$� ���� �� ��""� �$0!$9� ��� ��'�� ��)� #��$'D�
,�0$���� $� �����,$�$��'� ��)� ��$� �$!�'���$�$��� ��� �$'!)$��� �!,��'� ��� ��!��
-���)��$1�$'$����!��������!'��  �����&"$�����$'!)$��'M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*///+#��)"*%)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#�
+-$*%9'D�
�
����+� ���� ���� ����� 6�$'�!��8� � ��!'� !'� ���� ��$� �!�'�� �!�$� ����� ��!'�����$�� ��'�
&$$����!'$)�9!����$���)��� �$ $!0$������ "$��$�'���)�$7��!"'��&������'����)�
#��$'����#�8��%��$��1�$0!��'�$�6�!�!$'�������,$)���������,$����$$�!�,�9!���
���4$��,$D'�$'���$��$'!)$��'���)���#8��%����$��$$�!�,�!��9�'�0$��� "$��������
�$'!)$��'� 9$�$� $G��$�$"�� �1'$�� ��)�  �� $��$)� ����� ��$�� 9$�$� ���� &$!�,�
1��1$�"���$1�$'$��$)����"!'�$�$)���8�����'+$)��������$��&$���)$���""���9��$����
��$� �$��'� ��� ��$� ��#� �����"� 5��1�'�"� )� ��$��� ��)� �����  �1!$'� &$���)$�
�0�!"�&"$������$�8�
����
�$����� !�0�"0$�$��� ��� ��$� &���)'� ��� ���'!�,� �''� !��!��'� !'� $G��$�$"��
!�1������8� � ����� ���!��$)� ���$�'��!�,� ����� ��!'� !'� ��$� �'$������""��������'�
��)�������$����'���$���$��$)�9$""8��
�
��� ���� &$� ����� ��$�  ���$��� !�0�"0$�$��� �����,$�$��'�  ������� ��� ��$�
 ��'�!���!���������#�&��������!'�����,��)�$���,�8���
�

Page 12



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

���

�� ��0$�9��+$)�9!��� ��$��$����'�2$)$���!��� ��� !�1��0$� �$'!)$��� !�0�"0$�$���
���&���)'���)���$����4$��,$D'�$'���$�&���)�)$ !)$)���� ��0$����������%��
�
%�5��$"� !'� ���&$� !����)� $)� �����9!""�&$��&"$� ��� �$�$��'� �� ��1"�!��'� ��� ��$�
#��'!�,���&�)'���8��#�0$����4$��,$D'��$'!)$��'�&$$���11��� �$)������!'�
����$�M���
�
N���/�!�$'��$1"!$)��������$����)����8O�
�
���������	�
��
���������
�������������
�
�
�()%9 �&+��#1 #�+,��-$*% $$�
�
���� !""����!��%� �$�����������)����� !""�����������3��$'�����������
�� 1�� $)���"� ���!��� H� E����� ��)$�� 1�� $)���"� ��"$� �A8�8?� ��$� ��)$�� ���
&�'!�$''�&$�0��!$)�����""�9����!����	8�
����&$� ��'!)$�$)��'��$G��&�'!�$''8F�
�
��$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18�
�
�
������ �)$&��%1�
+! $� �
�
���� !""�����������3��$'���)����� !""����!��%� �$���"�$�$)���$�9��)!�,����
��$!�����!���!���  ��)�� $�9!������� !"�5�� $)��$���"$��<8;8�8���
�
���� !""��������3��$'����������)����� !""����!��%� �$�������������$�
��$�)$)����!��8���
�
2�""�9!�,� )$&��$�� ��$� ���!��� �'� ��$�)$)� 9�'� 1��� ��� ��$� 0��$� ��)� 9�'�
)9#  1���%  ��)!�,"��!��9�'=7�
�
���������
�
�(*$��+-%.*/�%+& $�&()&'D��
�
��%����� !"7��,��!'$)��$$�!�,�9�'��$")�&$�9$$����'����)�#��$'��$'!)$��'��
 ��� !""��'� ��)� �$1�$'$����!0$'� ��� ��'�� ��)� #��$'� ��� ����� %1�!"� 	
��8� � %�
�$1�$'$����!0$������#�9�'��"'��!�����$�)�� $8���
�
	8� ��$� �!���$'� ��� ��!'� �$$�!�,�  "$��"�� '��9� ����� $� �� $'���$� �$"�� �����
!�1��0$�$��'� !�� �$'!)$��� !�0�"0$�$��� ��)� �$1�$'$����!��� ��� ��#D'� &���)�
9$�$��$$)$)���,$��"�8���
�
?8� ��$� ��� 4$��,$D'� $'���$� ��'�  ���$��"�� ��)$�,�!�,� $G�$�'!0$�  ��'��� �!���
9��+� ��)� !�� !'� !�1������� )��!�,� ��!'� �!�$� ����� ��$� $'���$� !'� )$�� ���! �""��
�$1�$'$��$)8�
�
A8� ����$��"�� ��$� ��#� ����,$�$��� &���)� )�$'� ���� ��0$� �� �$1�$'$����!0$�
$"$ �$)�&�����4$��,$D'�$'���$��$'!)$��'8���
�

Page 13



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�	�

�(*$��+-%.*/�" /* < $�&()&'D�
�
�8����'���0$����$'1��'!&!"!������$�'��$�)$�� ���! �""��$"$ �$)��$1�$'$����!���
�����$����'��"$�'$��")$�'���)���$$��")$�'����$'���$�����,$�$���&���)'8�
�
	8� ��$� $"$ �!��� ��� �$'!)$��� �$1�$'$����!0$'� ��� ��$� ��!�� -���)� ��� �$#� !'�
)� ��$��$)� !�� ��$��$�����)���P�%��! "$'� ��� %''� !��!��� ��� ��$����1����
��)�!'�!��$,��"������$����� !"D'���!,!��"�!��$��!���!��$'��&"!'�!�,��$#��'���'�� +�
����'�$����,��!'��!��8�
�
�(*$��+-%.*/�# $+/< $�&+'�
�
�8���,$��$#�!����$�'����,$'��1�''!&"$��$��'������")�$"$ �!��'�!��$� ��"� �"�
$'���$���$�������$'!)$����$1�$'$����!0$'������$���!��-���)�9!��!��'!G������'8�
�
�
�
A��� B- $&*+%�,#+!��*$$��/)*# ��#)@ 'D�
�
�$����'� ��)� �$'!)$��'� ��$� )$"!,��$)� ����� ��$� �$���&!'��$��� 9��+'� ��� &�!�,�
-�"�������9$���1�����$ $���#��$'�'���)��)'�9!""�'������$G���$��8�
�
5�1"��� #%��%�� ���� "��)"��)�� !'� 0$�&�""�� ��9� �$��'!�,� ��)� ���� ��� �""�
����� ��!�,�9!��� !�������!������9�$��$�������$����'�9!""�&$��&"$�����$��������
��$!�����$'�9�$�� ��$�9��+'���$� ��1"$�$)8� �-�"�������9$��9�'�&�!"�� !�� ��$�
"��$��
@
'���)���!,!��""���""��A@����$'�9$�$������$���������� !"��$����'8�:$�
��$�  �� $��$)� ����� 5�1"��� #%��%� !'� 1"���!�,� ��� '$""� �""� ��$� ���$'� !�� ��!'�
&"� +������$��1$�����+$������$�������"$����$�����'� !�"����'!�,��$����'8�
�
:!""� ��$����� !"��$"1�'$ ��$� ��$� �!,������ �$����� ���� �$����'� ��� ��$!�����$'� !��
-�"�������9$����� ��1"$�!��������$��$ $���#��$'�9��+'M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��)"*%)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#�
+-$*%9'D�
�
����+������!''����+$�����'�&�!��!�,���!'�6�$'�!��8��
�
�� ��)$�'���)� �����  �� $��'� ��)� ���'$� ��� ���$�� �$'!)$��'� !�� -�"����� ��9$��
�&���� ��$� "� +� ��� !�������!��� ��)� �$�''���� $'� ����� 5�1"��� #%��%� �&����
�$����'D��!,�������$����8�
�

��  ��� �''��$� ���� ����� ��$����� !"� ��$� )�!�,� $0$����!�,�9!��!�� ���� 1�9$�� ���
$�'��$�������$'!)$��'�)����0$���$��!,�������$�����!����$��9!'�����$G$� !'$�!�8�
�
���!�,���$�#��'!�,����! $� ��'�"���!����������$'!)$��'��'+$)�9�$��$����$��
9��")��$��!����$�'��$��!,��'��'����� !"� �$����'� !�� ��$��0��$)����� ��$�����'�$��
��)�&$ ��$��$����'����������8��
�
��$���'9$��,!0$��&��5�1"���#%��%�!�� ��$!�����$��)� ��$���9�'������9!�����
 ��1"$����$G $1�!��'��E������!,��'�9!����������9��")�&$���$�'��$��'�9!�����$�
���� !"8F�
�

Page 14



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�?�

��� !�""�� ��$� ���$�� )� ��$���  "$��"�� �$��!��'� E���� ������ ��� ��� ����
�
�
��
	����
������� ����	�
���	�
��������
���	�F��'�� ��!'�'���")�$� ����,$�
5�1"���#%��%������'9$��6�$�!$'��&����9�$��$���$����'� ����$��������-�"�����
��9$�����$���$���&!'��$��8�
�
��$�)� ��$��� �����5�1"���#%��%� �!�"$)� E��������!��� �����$'!)$��'� "!0!�,� !��
-�"�������)������)�"$���9$�'F�'1$ !�! �""��'���$'=� � E���������0$� "!0$)� !�������
���$��������"$�'����$�"�'���	������'��'��������"�����1�!� !1�"����$���$������
9!""�$��!�"$)���������$�"�''�1���$���9�$��������0$8���!'�!'� ���$��"��BA�>

8�
��"����$�1���$���!'���)$�1$�����'$��")8���������9��������$����������������$�
9�$����$�9��+'���$�)��$���$������9!""�����&$�$��!�"$)������!'�1���$��8F�
�
��!'�)� ��$���'$$�'����!�)! ��$�������$'!)$��'���$�!�)$$)�$��!�"$)�����$����Q�
��)$����$� !� ��'��� $'�!�)! ��$)��&�0$8�
�
#�9$0$�� 9$� �$$)� ,�$��$��  "��!��� ��� ��!'� ��)� �� ��� ��,��!'!�,� �� �$$�!�,�
&$�9$$���$����'���)�5�1"���#%��%��������,$������� "��!��8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
����
������
�������



����������
���� ����������

�
����
	�����
��
� �������������
��!�
��
�� ���
!�

�����������
���������
������"���
�
�����
#�
�
������	
��
����������
������
������
���
�������
�
$� ����� ���	������ �� %�	��
&�� '
���
�� �
� ����� 	����
� �
�� $� ����� ����� ����
�
��
	����
�������������
�����	����
���


�
�
A�4� B- $&*+%�,#+!��$��+##)*% ��)<)%)9(����'�
�
���� ��$� ���� !"� �$""� �$� 9��� ��$�� ��$� '�11���!�,� ��$�  �""!�,� ��� ��$� ���+�
1���+$$�'������$��'"$������,'�9�$����$!��$G!'�$� $�!'�1���������$��!""9�""�5��+�
����,$�$���5"���	

;�H�	
�;M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��)%*)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��-/&-# 'D�
�
����+������'���0���,�����������6�$'�!��8�
�
��$� &!�)'� ��$� ���� &$!�,�  �""$)� &��� ��$� &$!�,�  �1���$)� ��)� ��+$�� ��� �� '��$�
1"� $�9�$�$���$����$�"��+$)����$����)���$��$,�"��"��!�'1$ �$)�&����0$�$�!�����
'��,$���&�����$����"��,$��!����$�9!")���)���$���$�$���$���������$�����$��������$�
$�0!����$��8�
�
��!'�!'���$� �$�1$����)�$�'!$��9������ �����"���1��$��!�""��!�0�'!0$����7���!0$�
'1$ !$'�&$���$�!��$'��&"!'�$'���"��,$���)�9!)$'1�$�)�1�1�"��!��8���
�
��$��(���'�����&"!,��!�����)$�� ��$� ���$����!���"����0$��!������-!�)!0$�'!���
��� �����"����$��)! ��$�!�0�'!0$����7���!0$�'1$ !$'�9�! �����$��$��&!�)!0$�'!���
�

Page 15



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�A�

��!'�!'���$��(�4�0$���$��D'�1�$�$��$)��11��� ��'$������!����$���0�'!0$����7
���!0$� �1$ !$'� �����$,�� ���� 4�$��� -�!��!�8� � ��� !'� !�� "!�$� 9!��� ���!���"� ��)�
!��$����!���"� 1�"! �� ��� !�0�'!0$� '1$ !$'�� ��)� ��'� ��$� '�11���� ��� ��$� "$�)!�,�
&!�)� ��'$�0��!��� ���!�����$�����"��� !$���������$�5���$ �!������-!�)'8�
�
��$� �!""9�""� 5��+� ����,$�$��� 5"��� 9!""� &$� �$0!'$)� !�� ��$� "!,��� ��� ��!'�
!�������!��8�
�
�� ��0$� �� 1$�'���"� � �)$�! � !��$�$'�� !�� ��!'� ����$�� ��)� 9!""� &$� �$$�!�,� ��$�
-����,��� �"�,!'�����)!' �''�!�8���'���0���,��!'�0$���9$" ��$����*�!���'8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
��
��������
������ ���



��$� ��5-� �$ $!0$� ��"�!7�!""!��� 1���)� ���)!�,� ����� ��2�%� ��)� ���$��
!�������!��� $G!'�'� ����� ��$� �!�� !'� ��� $��)! ��$� ��$'$� &!�)'� &�� �� ���&$�� ���
�$���)'8� � �'� ��$���&!�$���$�&$�� �9��$� ����� ��$�$� !'� �� &�),$�� ��� B

�


�
�""� ��$)������$��0�"������$�>>�&!�)'����!��9!)$M�
�
������	
��
����������
�����
������
���
�������
�
����������9��$���� ��$�&�),$��)$��!"'��&��� !���'���0���,��9��")� ��$� ��� *�!��
�$������$��$$�!�,�9!�����$�-����,��� �"�,!'���9$� ���)!' �''���$�����$����""�8�
�
�

F�� �����G����������
�
��$���������)$��!'��$1���������$����� !"��$$�!�,��$G�$�)!�,���9$" ��$�����""�
1�$'$�����)�1���! �"��"��������%������"0!��9���9�'����$�)!�,��!'��!�'������ !"�
�$$�!�,��'����$�!����!$���G$ ��!0$8�
�
��$������� ���$��$)��������$��$$�!�,�9�'�&$!�,��$")������$�$0$����'��!+$�
� �!���&��'��$�	��!""!���1�&"! �'$ ����9��+$�'��,�!�'��4�0$���$���1��1�'�"'�
����  ���,$'� ��� 1$�'!��� �����,$�$��'8� � #$� �))$)� �!'� �9�� '�11���� ��)�
$G1�$''$)�  �� $��� ��� ��$� 1�''!&"$� !�1"! ��!��'����>�
�


����$�1�&"! � *�&'�
&$!�,� "�'�� &��	
�>8� ���$������� �$"�� !��9�'�)!',�� $��"� �����1$�1"$�9��")�&$�
$G1$ �$)� ���9��+� ���� "��,$�� ���� "$''����$���9�!"'��&��+$�'�9��")�&$� "��,$"��
�����$ �$)�� 9!��� ��"�� �� '��""� !� �$�'$� !�� ��$� &��+!�,� "$0�� 1��1�'$)� &�� ��$�
4�0$���$��8��#$��$��$)��������&��+$��'� !$���9��")��$'�"�8������!'� �1� !����'�
�������$�9�'�"��+!�,����1���$ ���""��$'!)$��'�!����$� �����!��8�
�
��$������� �$�$��$)� ��� ��$� �$ $���)$ !'!��� ����''!'��'��)$��'� !�� ��$�-����,��
9��� 9��")� &$� ���$ �$)� &�� ��$� 4�0$���$��D'� ��%�  ��'8� � ��$� ������ 9�'�
1"$�'$)���������� $���������� !"���G�9�'����&$����.$��������$���!�)��$���!����
��98� �#!'� �!�'���$��� !�����! $���)�&$$��)��!���$)�&�� ��$�$ ����! � �!'!'� �����
9�'�$G1$ �$)����9��'$��,!0$��4�0$���$���1�"! ����!"��$'8��#�9$0$���)$'1!�$�
 ��'� ����� ��)� ��� &$���)$�� ��9$�� #��"$�'�  ���!��$)� ��� 1��0!)$� ��$$� ���$�
 ��$�� 9�'�  ���!��$)� ��� '�11���!�,� ��$� ���)��� �!0!�,� :�,$� ��)� 9�'�
1��0!)!�,����$��$9����$'�������������$��"� �"�������!��8����$������������$��
'���$)� ����� �$� '�11���$)� ��$�  ��1�!,�� &�� ($�� �!0!�,'���� ��� �$)� $� ���0$"�
���$'8�
�

Page 16



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�<�

��$� ������ ��$��  ���$��$)� ��� �$ $��� ���)� �  !)$��'� ��� -�9� ����)�&�����
9�! ����)��$'�"�$)�'�)"�� !�� ��$�)$���'���� � "!'�'�-�!������"!�,���)��0!�"����
�$�$' �$�+��� $G1�$''!�,� ��$� �1!�!��� ����� ��$'$�  ��")� ��0$�&$$���0�!)$)� !��
��$��$ ���$�)��!��'�������� !"����! $�'���)�&$$���$$)$)�&�����8�
�
��$��$�)$����� ��$���*��!���4���1���)��$�)$�'���� ��$��!���!���4���1'�$� ��
�$'1��)$)�&�!$�"�������$������D'��$1���8�
�
�

��� �����������
�������B��������������������������
�����������
�
����� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��1���"1-/��-@*&����'D�
�
������$��������$""��$�9����� �!��'��$�!'���+!�,����"!�!�����!'� !�"�&$��0!����!��
��$�-�! +����$���)��")�����$)!� ������!�����$�����:$�0$�'�:��)��'1$ !�! �""��
'��$$����!���!�����)�"��$��!,�����!'$M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��(*1��(! 1��� 3-&2��)2+#'D�
�
:$� ��$� $G��$�$"�� ,"�)� ����� -�! +� ���$� ��'� &$ ��$� '� �� �� 1�1�"��� 0!'!����
)$'�!���!��� ��9$0$�� 9$� ��$� 9��+!�,� ���)� ��� $�'��$� ����� �$'!)$��'� ��$� ����
�$,��!0$"��!�1� �$)�&����$�"��,$�0!'!�������&$�'8��
�
:$���$���+!�,���$'$�!''�$'�$G��$�$"��'$�!��'"����)�9$���0$�)$0$"�1$)����$$�
��!���$'1��'$'8�
��
2!�'�"��� ���� ��'�� !�1������� �$'��� $'� ��$� ��$� �#��'8� ��� )��$� ��$� �#����
��0$��$1���$)��	
�!� !)$��'����1�&"! ���!���!���!��-�! +����$���)���$'$�9!""�&$�
1��'�$)� �����,�� ��$�  ����'� ���� 1��'$ ��!��8� :$� 9!""� &$� '�$11!�,� �1� ��$'$�
1����"'��0$����$����!'���'�1$�!�)����$�'��$�����11��1�!��$��$'1��'$8��
�
�� !)$���""�������'��$��$�&$�'�9!""�&$�!��$�$'�$)�����������'$�����#��'���'�
&$$��'��'�  $''��"� ������$9������'���9�!����)� $)��$9��������� $�$���
���! $�'8�
�
�$ ��)"��� 9$� ��0$� �"'�� ��9� !����)� $)� �� &����,�� 9!)$� )�!�+!�,�  �����"�
��)$��� !�� "!�$�9!������$�����)���-����,�'� �!� "�)!�,��$9������)�#� +�$���
9�! ��9!""�,!0$���$�1�"! $���)� ��� !"����$�1�9$�'����)$�"�9!���!''�$'���!'!�,�
�����'��$$��)�!�+!�,8��
�
2!��""��9$���0$�����	
�1����$�'�!1�1�"! $��1�������)$)�&���� ���!��$��������
��!'� �)�!�!'����!��8� ��$�� ��$� �� �''$)� ��� �� +"!�,�  �!�$� !''�$'�9�! ����'��
���$ ����$�"� �"� �����!��8�
�
������	
 ��
 ��

��������	
 ��������
 ����
����������
�!"
#�!��
�����

�$%�

�
'��
������ �
���� ���
�� ��� �� �
����	(� ����	�
������
��
�� ��������
� ��
���
�
��������!���
�������
������
�������
����������
������������
��
�������
��#�
�
�

Page 17



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�@�

������	
��
����������
&��!
#���!��
���
������
�
$��
��
���
�� �������
�	��
�������������������
� ��
���� ���� $����������(����
������������
����
���������$�������������������
�����
�����	����������')�(�����
�
�����
�������
�����
�����
�������
����������������
�
�
���� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#�� & #�	+/1$'D�
�
:!""� ��$� ������ 1��0!)$� )$��!"'� ��� �$$�!�,'� �$")� &$�9$$�� �!�'$"��� �!'�
�)�!�!'����!�����)����! $�'���)���$� ��1������0!�,��0$��'�9�! ��"$)������$�
��9� �� $""$)�1"�������!�$�������!�!����6���$�4��)$�'��������!'���'���)��$9�
R$��� $"$&���!��'M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��)%*)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��-/&-# 'D�
�
����+��������� !""���4�")'����������6�$'�!��8� ���$�������)!)�������0$�����
�$$�!�,'�9!�����$� ��1������0!�,�K$��$8���
�
���! $�'��������$�%��'���)��0$��'��$����$��������!�$'�9!�����0!�,�K$��$����
��$���!�!����6���$�4��)$�'����4��1��*$ ���'���""�9'=��
��
���	<���2$&������	
�����$����)���'!�$��$$�!�,Q�
���	?�)�����	
�����$�1��*$ ��9�'�)!' �''$)Q�
����
���3�"��	
�����$�$�9�'��������$��'!�$��$$�!�,Q���)��
��$� �@��� �$1�$�&$�� 	
��� ��$�$� 9�'� �� �$$�!�,� ��� )!' �''� ���� "! $�'!�,�
�11"! ��!��8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
����������
'����
(��!���
�
���
�����	�������������
���!���������!
�!�(������ �����
��������!���
������
�
���������!�
�����
������*�����
����
��
�����!�
���������������!�
����
����
����
��
�
�� ���� ��!���� ��
������� ��������
��������������� ������	�	�
���� �����
��
�
���
�����(��
������ �
� ������	�
���
����
��������
����
��������������
��
�
#�
�
������	
��
����������
�����
������
���
������
�
��	�
���
����
� 	�	��
�� ��� 
��� 	�!
�� 	�
���� ���� ��
��!���� � � �+,�
	�
���	�
�����
��!���� ��
!���)���!�
�����!�
������
�����	����
���*�������
�!���
����
������!�	�����
�������������������
����������
�
�
��4� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��!2�
(*& /+.@'D�
�
������$��������$""��$�9����'�$1'�)!)���$� ��� !"���+$����'�11����1��$��'���)�
'��������$ �$)�&����$�'�))$���$�1������ "�'��$����4"��!'�������!������'$���
!��$��"����0$�&$����)�9����1"��'���$�!��1"� $����$�'��$���$�'�'��!��&!"!������
��!'�'$�0! $�����"� �"�1��$��'���)� �!")�$�M�
�
�

Page 18



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�>�

� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��)%*)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��-/&-# 'D�
�
4"��!'� ������!��� ���'$��� !'� �� 0�"������� '$ ���� )��� ���'$��� ���� &�� ��
����,$�$�������!��$$8��
�
%'�'�����'���$����"��R$��'��$�0! $�9�'�!�����$)��������$����'$���9��")�����
&$��1$�!�,�������)�������!�,����?�'��� ��&$��9$����$�1�$)���� ���� �� ��$�
���'$�����)����$��'�11���8���
�
��$� 2��!"�� ��������!��� �$�0! $� 1��0!)$)� ��$� ����,$�� ��� ��$� ���'$��� 9!���
!�������!��� ��� ���$�� ���'$�!$'� !�� ��$� ��$�8� � ��$� ���� !"� ���$�$)� &��+$��,$�
'�11����9�$���$6�$'�$)�����!�)��"�$����!0$� �!") ��$�������$� �!")�$�����$�)!�,�
4"��!'8���
�
��� !'� $G��$�$"�� !�1������� ����� ��$�$� !'�  �!") ��$� 1��0!'!��� ���� ���!"!$'� !�� ��$�
���)9$""���$�8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
����������
#�	
)����������
�
$�� ���� ���
���%�	��
����
����� ��!�����
�
��&�!�
!�

���
�������
�� ��
� �����
������
�
�
��
�#�������
��������� �
��
������-.�����	�!�����
��!����
��	�
��
+�
����
����
��!���� ������������
������������������
����
��������� ��������
��
��
� !�		�
���� ������ ��
��!��� �
�� �
��
�� ����� ��	������ �
�� 
��� �������������

�
��
���
������
��
�����
�#�
�
������	
��
����������
�����
������
���
������
�
*���������������
���
�����
�����
��
�����������!����
�
��
������
���������!!����
����/!����
��
�
��
����!��������0�
�
�
���� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��+0+/��*)('D�
�
�'� ��$� "$�)� �$�&$�� �9��$� ��� ��$� �11�""!�,� ��$�1"���$��� �!,��$'� �$ $��"��
�$"$�'$)�9�! ��'��9��������$�1"���$�������,'������,�1$�1"$�!'���9��&�0$�
���!""!���� ��''���$��(���)����������������$'$�����,�1$�1"$���$��� !�,��$��'�
��� ��$� )�"$� �'� �� �$'�"�� ��� ��$� �&*$ �� ��!"��$� ��� ��$� ���)$�� ,�0$���$��D'�
1�"! !$'���)�9��")���$�"$�)��$�&$��'���9�����$�'��$'���$� ��� !"�!'���+!�,�
���������)��!�!,��$���$�9��'��$��$ �'������$�,�0$���$��D'���!"$)�1�"! !$'M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��(),*H-/�
)H- ���)"*% &�� !" #� ,+#�?+"$�)%1�
�@*//$'D�
�
��'$"��� ��$���������)��""� ��$��)�!�!'����!�����$� �� $��$)��&���� ��$�R�����
��$�1"���$���2!,��$'8���� ��1"$�$"���,�$$��������$��!,��$�������!""!�������,�
��$�1"��$)� !'� �� '���+� �$�!�)$�� ��� ��9� ��$� ���'$�0��!0$7"$)�  ��"!�!���
4�0$���$�����'���!"$)���!'� ������8���
�
:����!'���'�� �� $��!�,��&������!'��!,��$�!'������!���$1�$'$��'���$������$������!'�
 ������8���#�9� ���9$�$�'��$�9$���$��&"$����,��9����������!'�,"�&�"��$ $''!���
!��9$���$�����!�0$'�!�,�!����������,�1$�1"$M�

Page 19



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�;�

�
��$� ��� ��$� ��!�� 9��'� 9$�  ��� �$"1� ��� !�1��0$� ��$� ������ ��$�1"���$���
�!,��$'� !'� ��� $�'��$� ��$�� ��$� �&"$� ��� ,�!�� ��$� '+!""'� ����� 9!""� &$� �'$��"� ���
$�1"��$�'8� ��� ��!'� $�)� 9$� ��$� &�!�,!�,� &� +� ��%� ��� ��9$�� #��"$�'8� ��$�
�����D'� �)� ��!��� %9��)� 9!""� $�'��$� ����� �""� ����,� 1$�1"$�  ��� '���� ��� ���
' ���"���)�,�!����$�'+!""'���$���$$)����,�!��$�1"���$��8����
�
:$���$��"'��$�'��!�,� ����� ��$����� !"�$�1"��'��'������ "� �"�����,�1$�1"$�
�'� 1�''!&"$� 7�:$� ��0$� ��$� ���� !"� ,��)���$� 1��,����$�9�! ��9!""� $�1"���
���!'�!'����)$)�&����$��""� ��!���!����$���$�)�$����""����������)$������$�"�'��
&�),$��Q� 9$� ��0$� ��$� �����D'� %11�$��! $'�!1� 1��,����$Q� ��)� ��9$��
#��"$�'�#��$'�!'��"'�����$�!�,�����11�$��! $'�!1�1��,����$8��
�
:$� ��$� �"'�� )$0$"�1!�,� 1��,����$'� ��� �$"1� �""� �$'!)$��'�� !� "�)!�,� ����,�
1$�1"$� !����9��+�� !� "�)!�,� B�8	�������2� ���)!�,� ��� '�11���� ,����'� ��� ��!�)�
'$ ���� ��,��!'��!��'� �$"1!�,� �$'!)$��'� !����9��+Q� ��)� �� 1!"��� 1��*$ �� ��� �$"1�
9��$�������$���! ��!���!���&� +,����)'��0$� ��$�&���!$�'����$�1"���$��8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
����������
*�+��
������
�
�
�� ���� ���
�� ��� ���� ��
�� �!�
�	�!� ��
�!����� �����
�� �
� �
!
����� �
�
�
�	����	�
�� ��� ��� ��� 122(222� �
� �� ���
� �
�� ����� ���!�����
�� �
�� ����
����
�� ����� ���� )��	��!� �����
������ ��� �
��
�� ���
�� ��� �
��
�
�� �
��
�	����	�
����
���
����
��������#�
�
������	
��
����������
��������
,������
���
������
�
3��(�������	�
���
����
��������������
����
�������������%���
��
��$������������
��
�������	����
��������.) ),������!�
��	�
���	����	�
����
���!����������
�
����	�
�	�	����4(222�5������
�����
���	�����
�����
���������
��������
�
��
�������
�
�
���� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��)#/+�	*""$'D�
�
������$��������$""��'���9����������'��)'����$�"� �"����!"!$'����$�)$)���$�
��9$��#��"$�'�2!�$9��+'�)!'1"��'���!'��$��M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��)%*)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��-/&-# 'D�
�
�0$��""���$����$$��!�$9��+'�)!'1"��'�� ��''���$�&����,��9$�$���,�$���'�  $''��
9!���:$�0$�'�2!$")'������ �!�,������)!$� $�����<�


���!""9�""�5��+�<


���)�
-���"$���5��+�?�


8���
�
��9�'�1"$�'$)�9!�����$���� ��$�&$ ��'$�����*��!���������!"!$'����$�)!�,���$�
)!'1"��'�9$�$����������&����,���9�! ��9�'�����!�8�����!'�9�'�$0!)$����'���$�
��*��!������ ��)!$� $'� ��������$�)$)����!0$)���� �����9�! ��9�'� ���!��$)�&��
��$�����)��������,$������!""9�""���)��'"��)�4��)$�'�9����)0!'$)�������'$����
��$�����9�'� ��'!'�$���9!�������1! �"������)���$0$�!�,8�
�
�

Page 20



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

�
�

������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
����������
�����
(������
�
������������� �
� ���������
�!�����
��������
��
���� ��������
��
!����� ��������
&��
���
���
�6�!��
�����
���
����������	�����!������������
��������
�/�	������78�
��
���
��
�!�	��
��������74�82���
���
��
� ��������
�� � ����� �����	������
�
���� ��
� ����+������ ����������
���������
�����
�
��� ������!�	���������
�� ���
��
� ���
��#� � ��� ���� �!!���� ����� ���� ��!����
� 
��� ��� ����� ���� 6�!��
��� ��
��
�������������
�
���
������� ���� 
�9�
������ ���� ���
�� 
�/�� ���
� ��� �����	�
��
��������
�����������
5����������
�#�
�
������	
��
����������
�����
������
���
�����



���� ��������� ����� ���
� ��
��	�
�� �!!�������� ��� ��!��� ����������� ���� ��!���
��/����
�������
����
��
��
����� �3��
��������
��
������	����
� ��� �
�!�
�
���� ���
���
����������
��������.����+�����
�6�!��
�����
�����!��������
�����	�
����!���
�����������
5�������)��	��!��
�/����		�
���
�
�
��A� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��*!��#.( #'D�
�
%'�����!)7��0$�&$��9���!'���$����K� ��$��������� �$'�$�����)��!��������
��� ��$��!'��'���$��'�!""������1$���!���"��)$'1!�$� ��$� ���!��$������� ��!'�&$!�,�
,!0$��!����� ��	
�
M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��(*1��(! 1��� 3-&2��)2+#'D�
�
R��� ��$� ���� �"��$� !�� &$!�,�  �� $��$)� �&���� ��!'� �'� �� ��0$� �"'�� ��)$�
$�6�!�!$'8�
�
���$��!�$�9�'���+$�����&�!�,� ��,$��$�� ��$�+$��'��+$��")$�'� !�0�"0$)� !�� ��!'�
!�!�!��!0$8��#�9$0$����� $�9$���)� ��1"$�$)���$�'��0$�'��1��$��!�"� ����� ���'�
9$�$��$6�!�$)����'�&�!���$���)�'���$�$��'���!'+��''$''�$��'���)��$�"�����)�
'��$���!�������!���������$���1$����9��+��$6�!�$)8��%�)$"���9�'�$G1$�!$� $)�!��
�$1�$�&$����)�� ��&$���'�$''$��!�"���!��$��� $�9��+��$$)$)����&$� ���!$)�
���������$�'�'�$�8��
�
��!'��$�������������$'��� $'� ��")�&$�'1��$)���� �����������$�9��+����($"'���
#��'$8���
�
��$� ���$���'!����!���!'��������$��$9�����'�!��$�'���0$�&$$��1����1����($"'���
#��'$���)� ��$� "!�+�&� +� �����"&$����5"� $�1��0$�8� �%""� ��$�9!�!�,����($"'���
#��'$���'�&$$�� ��1"$�$)�������!'� ��$�����)��""�9$���0$����)��!'�!�'��""���
������ '9!� �� ��� �""�9� ��$�  ���$ �!��� ��� ��$�  ��$��8� ���%�� ��$����$��� 9$�
$'�!���$���!'�9��+�9!""�&$� ��1"$�$)�&����$�$�)������0$�&$��	
��8�
�
#�9$0$��������������11���&������$��!�$���!'���'���+$�����&$��$'�"0$)8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
����������
-��
#�������
�
$���������	������	�
���
���
�����
������	����
��
�����
����������
�����
����
����/!�������
�������������'/�!�������
����������!�	�
�������
��
�#�

Page 21



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	
�

�
������	
��
����������
&��!
#���!��
���
������
�
$������������
��
����������
�����
�/��������
�
�
��F� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#�E()/ $��11*%��(! 1'D�
�
���� ��$� ������ 1��0!)$� �'� 9!��� ��� �1)��$� ��� ��$�:��+!�,� �$!,�&������)�
2��)� �0�"���!���� ��)� 1��0!)$� �'� 9!��� ��� !�)! ��!��� ��� 9�$�� !�� 9!""� &$�
 ��1"$�$)M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��(),*H-/�
)H- ���)"*% &�� !" #� ,+#�?+"$�)%1�
�@*//$'D�
�
��$� :��+!�,� �$!,�&������)� 2��)� 9�'� ��� !�1������� ,�0$���$��� ' �$�$�
!�1"$�$��$)�&����$�"�'����&����4�0$���$��8���%'�9$���0$��$��)�$��"!$��!��!'�
 "$����������!'� ���$���4�0$���$�����'���9�$�$��$�����!'�"$0$"���� ���!��$���
����$"1!�,���$���$�1"��$)��!�)�*�&'8��
�
%'� ���� +��9� ��$� )$"!0$��� ��� ��$� :��+!�,� �$!,�&������)'� 2��)� �:�2��
1��,����$� �!�!'�$)� ��� ?�'����� ��	
��8� ��!� $� ��$�� ��$�:�2�5��,����$�
����,$�$����$�����)���$��G�$���"��0�"�����'���0$� ���!$)����������,$����
� �!0!�!$'� !� "�)!�,� 0$�!�! ��!��� ��� ($�� ��� ��$'���)� ���1��'��!� "�)!�,� 3�&�
��� ��$'� ��)� ���!�!�,� ���1��'�Q� 1�$1����!��� ��� 1��*$ �� �$1���'� ���� �""�
��,��!'��!��'� ���9� ��1"$�$���)� �$ $!0$)�&���$�)���,��!'��!��'�)$"!0$�!�,�
:�2�1��*$ �'����)���$��0�"���!����$1����������$��0$��""�1��,����$8�
�
:$� $G1$ �� ��� �$ $!0$� ��$� 2!��"� �0�"���!����$1���� &�� ��$� $�)� �����0$�&$��
	
��8���!'�9!""���$��&$�1�&"!'�$)������$����� !"�9$&'!�$8�

������	
 ��
 ��

��������	
 ��������
 ����
 ����������
 ������
 .!!��

#���!��

*��
����������'
��
�
����+�
����������
������������� ���
��#�

������	���
����������
��������
,������
���
��������

�������������
���
�����
�����
��
�����
���

�
�
���� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#�
)#-%��*)('D�
�
�'� ��$� "$�)� �$�&$�� �9��$� ����� ��$� ���)$�� ,�0$���$��� !'� '$$+!�,� ���
' �1$,�����!,����'� ���� ��$��&*$ �� ��!"��$���� ��$!�� $ ����! �1�"! !$'���)� �����
��$����0$� ���!''!��$)��� �$1����9�! ����'� �$ ���$�)$)� !�1�'!�,����!,��
�!��� !�"����$'��")�&$���$����!"!$'� ���&$���!�$)�!����!'� ����������)�9��")���$�
"$�)��$�&$���,�$$� ���������1�"! ��9�! ��'��1'�-�!�!'�� !�!.$�'������!�,� ��$�
'1��'$���$��9!'�������������)����&$���!�$)�9!�����$!��'1��'$���)� �!")�$��!'�
�$1�$�$�'!&"$���)������ ��$� ��� !"�'���")���+$��$1�$'$����!��'����&$��"�����
��$� ����'��)'� ��� 1$�1"$� !�� ��9$�� #��"$�'� 9��� 9!""� &$� �)0$�'$"�� ���$ �$)�
9$�$�'� ����1�"! �����&$�!�1"$�$��$)�&����$����)$��,�0$���$��M�

Page 22



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	��

�
� $3+%$ � "2� �+-%.*//+#� �/*"+#� �(+-1(-#2�� �)"*% &� � !" #� ,+#�
� $+-#. $'D�
�
������+����� !""����!��������!'�6�$'�!��8�R$'����)��'���$������ �� $��'��&����
4�0$���$��� 1��1�'�"'� ��� ��!'$� ��$� !� ��$� ���$'��")� ���� ���'$� 9!'�!�,� ���
&�!�,���'1��'$���� �!")����"!0$�!��-�!��!�8�
�
��$� 4�0$���$��D'� 1��1�'$)� �$9� ���$'��")� ��� B�;�@

� 7� B	<�>

� 9!""�
$��$ �!0$"��&�����"�� ��$�1�1�"��!��� �����&�!�,!�,� !���� '1��'$����1����$�� �����
�&���)8������!�+���!'�!'�,��''"������!�8��
�
�''$��!�""����$�4�0$���$��L'��11��� ����0���'���$�&$��$�����8�����������$�!����$�
��1���"�������$�!� ��$�)!'��!&��!�������D�$��+8��-���!��������$�!����$�&��������"��
������$�����9$" ��$8�
�
��$'$��$�'��$'�9!""���0$���)!�$ ��!�1� ��������!"!$'�!����9$��#��"$�'8����$�
"��,$'�� ,���1� ��� 1$�1"$� &���$)� �����  ��!�,� ���-�!��!�� ��)$�� ��$� 1��1�'�"'�
9��")�&$�9��$���������)!���5�+!'������$1�"���)�-��,"�)$'�8��
�
:$� 9!""� &$� ��+!�,� �$1�$'$����!��'���� ��$� 4�0$���$��� $G1�$''!�,����� 0!$9�
����� ��$�4�0$���$��L'�1��1�'$)��$9� ���$'��")� !'� �����!,�8� �:$�9!""��"'��&$�
$G1�$''!�,����� �� $����&������$�'��$''������ ��")�&$�1"� $)���� �!")�$����)�
���!"!$'����$ �$)��'����$'�"�������$'$��$ ���$�)��!��'8�
�
���������	�
��
���������
���������

�
�
���� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��(*#*)�E()&-%'D�
�
������$��������$""��$�9�����$)� �!��'���0$�&$$����)$����'��$$�� "$��!�,�!��
��$�-����,����)���9��$�)$ !)$)�9�! ������$'���� ��M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��()( 1��/*���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��%<*#+%! %&'D�
�
����+��������� !""�����!�!��(���������������6�$'�!��8� ��������$'���0$�&$$��
 ��������'��$$�� "$��!�,8�
�
��$�&�),$���������$$���"$��!�,�9�'�'$����)��,�$$)�&��2�""����� !"�!��"!�$�9!���
��$����� !"D'��$)!��� �$��� �!��� !�"� 1"��8� �5�!��� ��� ��!'�)$ !'!��� ��$����� !"�
'9$1�� ��$���*��!������ �$'!)$��!�"� ���)'� !�� ��$�&����,����� "$�'�� ���$$� �!�$'���
9$$+Q���$����$���9�'9$1���9! $���9$$+8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��
���
����
����������
������
��������
�
$�� ����%���
� ���
�� ��� ���� �
!
����
�� �����!� ����������!���
������ ���� ��
��!��
�
����������6�������
�	�
����
������������
����#�
�
�
�
�

Page 23



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

		�

������	
��
����������
�����!
#����
���
������
�
�������	�
���
����
� �����
����
�������������
����!���
�
���
����!�����
�
��� ���
������ �!��	�� ���� �
�
���!��� �
� "���
��� ,
��
� ����(� ���
�� ������
�� ��
��

����!��� ����� 
������ ��!��� ��
� ����
������ ��� �������� ��� 
������� ���������
 ��
!����
�+��
���:����
�������!�	���������
������������������
��������	���
�
�
����� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��#��!!)�?+% $'D�
�
:���� ��"$� )�$'� ��$� ���� !"� ��0$� !�� $�'��!�,� ��$� '��$��� ���  � "!'�'� !�� ��$�
&����,�M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��()( 1��/*���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��%<*#+%! %&'D�
�
����+����� ���������6�$'�!��8� � �����'��$� �� '1$�+� ����$0$����$� !��$G1�$''!�,�
���� ��)�"$� $'� ��� ��$���!$�)'���)����!"�����-�!������"!�,��<;�����#���'"�9��
9$'�����)����9���9�'�+!""$)������$�-�9�����)�&�������	A���� ��&$�Q���)����
��$���!$�)'���)����!"������0!�"�����$�$' �$�+���?A�����-�9��9���)!$)���������
��0$�&$�����$���� �""!'!���9!������!11$����� +8����$!��)$���'���$�'�� +!�,���)�
�!,�"!,�����$�,��9!�,�)��,$�'����� � "!'�'�!�����)��8�
�
����'1���� �������)�����������$� �$'1��'!&"$� ���� ��$�'��$������ � "!'�'���� ��$!��
���)'� !�� ��$� &����,�8� �:�$������ !����)� $)� ��$� �9���� "$���1$��!,�9��'��
���� !"����! $�'�)!' �''$)��""� ��$!��'��$��� �� $��'�9!�����$�8������������$"��
��$����� !"D'�'�,,$'�!��'�9$�$� �$*$ �$)�&$ ��'$�1�!��!���9�'�,!0$�� ��� �����! �
 �1� !��8� � ��)"�� '!� $� ��$�� 9$� ��0$� ��)� �9��  � "!'�� ����"!�!$'� ��� ��$� -�9�
����)�&������ "$���1$��!,�9��8�
�
��$� ������ ��'�  �""$)� ��� ��$� ������ ��� ���)��� -��!'� 3���'��� ��� !�'��� ��
����'1�����������)������1��� � "!'�'D�'��$����!�'����)�"��+��,�!�������$�'��$������
��$'$� �� "$� ��1$��!,�9��'8� � ��$� ������ ��'� �"'�� 9�!��$�� ��� 5$�$�� #$�)���
����!''!��$���������'1�����������)�������)!' �''�'��$����$�'��$'8�
�
�� ��� ��$� 0$���  �� $��$)� ����� -��!'� 3���'��� 9�'� ���9��$� ��� �� 0!��"� �$1����
1��)� $)� &�� 3� �&'����'�"��� �� 9�! �� �$ ���$�)$)� '!,��"!'$)�  ��''!�,'�
����  � "!'�'� ��)� 1$)$'��!��'� ��� �9�� ���'� ��� ��$� *�� �!���� ��,$��$�� 9!��� ���7
 ���!�,$9��� � "$�"��$'8�����,�$$�9!�����$� ���$��'������$���!$���G$ ��!0$����
��$� ���)��� �� "!�,� ���1�!,�� ����� S!�D'� �� ���,$)�� !�� ��'� ��+$�� �9��  � "!'��
)$���'� !�����$$�9$$+'����&�!�,���!'�0!��"��$1���������$�)��,$�'����-�9������$�
�����D'����$��!��8F����
�
:$�  �""� ��� -��!'� 3���'��� ��� !�1"$�$��� ��$� �$1���D'� �$ ���$�)��!��'� ���
��+$���$�*�� �!��'�'��$8�
�
��$����� !"���'�1��0!)$)� � "$� ���!�!�,�9�! ���0$�� ��$�1�'�� �9���$��'��0$��
A


�  � "!'�'� ��0$� &$�$�!��$)� ����8� � ��$� ���� !"� ��'� �"'�� 9��+$)� 9!��� ��$�
�$���1�"!����5�"! $���)��������)$"!0$�������&$�����&!+$��9��$�$''�$0$��'���)�
 ��1�!,�'�'� ���'�E�G ���,!�,�5"� $'F�'$''!��'� �����!'$��9��$�$''���� ��$�
)��,$�����#4K���)� � "!'�� ���"! �'8���
�

Page 24



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	?�

��'���$�����$����� !"�!�!�!��$)���0�"���$$���� "$����,$�'�1��*$ �����)$0$"�1���
1��"�������,$�'�9��� "�'$"�����!����"� �"� � "$�����$'���)�� ���'� ���1!��'�
!��1�����!�,�����9�"+!�,���)� � "$��$�9��+����"� �"�1$�1"$8��
�
��$����� !"� !'��"'��9��+!�,�9!��������%�����)���$���%����)$"!0$�� ����$'�
���� ���)� ��)� �����,�� 6�!$�$�� ��$�'8� ��$'!,�!�,� ���� ��.��)'� !'� ��� !�1�������
1���������!'�1�� $''8�
�
��$��$���1�"!����5�"! $���0$��"'�����,$�$)���$!���� "$���'+��� $����+$��'!�$'�
�"��,� ��&"$� ���$$�� !�� �$'1��'$� ���  ��1"�!��'� �&���� ��$�  ���"! �� &$�9$$��
 � "!'�'���)�1$)$'��!��'8�
�
��$����� !"�!'� ���!��$)����$�'��!�,��'�&$'��!�� �����$�'��$������ � "!'�'�!����$�
&����,�8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
����������
��
%���
/������
�
���
��������������
���
�!�
����
������!!���
���
�*����
���� �����������')��
�
������ �� �
���
!�� ��
�
�� 
���� ���
� ��
����� ��� �
���
�� ����!���
� �
����!�
�
!
��!��
���
����
��������!�������
�!�!���#�
�
������	
��
����������
�����!
#����
���
������
�
$������������
�	���
�����	��������������!����
���������')��
�����	�
������
��
����� �����
�� �
�� �
��
� !�
����
����
� �
�� �
���� ��� ��
��!���
� !�
���!��
������
�!�!�����(�������
��
���
��	���
������
�����
���/�	�
����
�
�
����� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#�
 /)/��11*%'D�
�
������$������� ���!���9�$��$����������!G$)��$����$��� !$'�9!""�&$�!����)� $)�
!����9$��#��"$�'M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��)"*%)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#�
+-$*%9'D�
�
��$���������)�����0$� ��'!'�$��"���11�'$)�������0$�����!G$)��$����$��� !$'8��
����'����� ����!'��$���9$��$'1��)$)������$�4�0$���$��L'� ��'�"���!��������!'�
!''�$���)�����)$�!�� "$����������$����� !"L'�1�'!�!���9�'��'���""�9'=�
�

L:$��$��!���!���!����$�&$"!$�������'$ ��!�������$��� !$'�'���")�&$���$�1�$�$��$)�
�1�!����������!,��1$� $���,$�����$����'�!��'� !�"����'!�,888�:$���$� �� $��$)�
��������$�!�,� ����,� ���!"!$'� '����$�� �!G$)� �$��� �$��� !$'�9!""� !�1� �� ��� ��$!��
"��,7�$��� )$0$"�1�$��� ��)� '�'��!��&!"!��8� ��!")�$�� ����!�� �!,�$�� � �)$�! �
'���)��)'�9�$����$��"!0$�!��'�!��&"$�'$ ��$����'!�,���)����!"!$'�&$�$�!�������
��$�'� !�"��$�9��+'�)$0$"�1$)�"� �""�8D�
�

:$� ��$� !�� ��$� 1�� $''� ��� )$0$"�1!�,� ���� �1)��$)� �$��� �� 1�"! �� ��)� ����
 ���!��$������"!�$"��,��$��� !$'���)�'�'��!��&"$�����$)� �����!�!$'�9!""�&$�
��� ��$� �$���� ��� ��!'� 1�"! �8� � � :$� 9!""� $�'��$� ����� ��9$�� #��"$�'� #��$'�
 ���!��$'�������$��"!�$"��,��$��� !$'8��
�

Page 25



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	A�

��$��� �"!'��-!""�	
�����'�*�'��&$$��1�''$)���)��$6�!�$'�"� �"�������!�!$'����
'$�� ���� �� '����$,! � "$��!�,'� 1�"! �� ��� ,!0$� ,�!)�� $� ��� 9�$��$�� �!G$)7�$���
�$��� !$'� '���")� &$� !����)� $)8� � #�9$0$�� ��!'� !'� ,�!)�� $� ��"�� ��)� 9$�
 ��������� $��$,!'�$�$)�1��0!)$�'������""�9���!'8��
�

�� ��� )�!�,� �""� ��  ��� 9!��!�� ��$� 1�9$�'� ,!0$�� ��� �$� &�� ��$� ����$��
4�0$���$��������+$�����1�'!�!��� "$�����)�$�'��$�9$��$)� $���$����&$�����
�!G$)��$����$��� !$'�!����$�&����,�8�
�
������	
��
��

��������	
��������
����
����������
,����
.!!����
�
 �
�$��������������
�����
�
!�������������������������������
�������	���
��
����!�������
�����������!��������
��"�
�����#�
�
������	
��
����������
������
������
���
������
�
3�������� ���� ����� $� ����� ���	������ ��	����
� ��
� ������� ����
� �
� ���� ���
���
�
���
������
���
� ��� ���� ��!�� ����� ����,���

	�
�� ��� �����
�� ������ �
�
�������
��!���������
���
��!����
����
���;����
��
�
�&��
��
�������!���
�����
���!���
������
��!��
���
�
����
�	�
�������
���
�����
�
�
�*! �/*!*&�,+#�*& !�
�
%�� ��!'� 1�!��� ��$� ���!�� !�����$)� ��$� �$$�!�,� ����� ��$� �!�$� �""� ��$)� ����
�$�&$�'D�T�$'�!��'���)�$G1!�$)8���
�
T�$'�!��'�;8�	� ���;8�;�9$�$� ��$�$���$�����1������ ��$��$$�!�,�)�$� ��� "� +����
�!�$8� �:�!��$�� �$'1��'$'� 9��")� &$� 1��0!)$)� ��� ��$'$� 6�$'�!��'� �'� '$�� ����
&$"�9=7�
�
�
����� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��& 3()%* ��)&+%'D�
�
���")���$��$�)��$�&$�� ���$��������$���0$�&$��	
�����'�$)��� �"�%�$��
��!")�$�L'��$�0! $'�1���!"$�9�! ���$1���'���������$���� ��$�?� �!")�$�L'����$'�
�����9$�$� !�'1$ �$)�9$�$� L���'���)!�,L� ��)���'��9$�$��$�$"�� L'��!'�� ����LM��
:���� '1$ !�! � 9$�+�$''$'� 9$�$� !)$��!�!$)� &�� ��'�$)� !�� �$"��!��� ��� ��$�
-����,�L'�  �!")�$�L'� ���$'M� � ���� �� &$� �)0!'$)� 9�$��$�� ��$�$� ��$� ����
'��$,���)!�,�  �� $��'� ��!'!�,� ����� ��$� 9$�+�$''$'� ��)� 9���� 1"��'� ��$� !��
1"� $����&�!�,��""���$���!")�$�L'����$'�������"$�'����L,��)L�'���)��)M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��/*-#��)(!)%���)"*% &�� !" #� ,+#��(*/1# %=$�
� #<*. $'D�
�
��$���!")�$�D'��$�0! $�%''$''�$������+�!���� ��'!)$���!����""�!�'1$ �!��'��1�
�����$�$�)����%�,�'��	
��8���!� $���$� ��7����1�!��������&$�����!�'1$ �!��'����
 �!")�$�D'����$'���0$���+$��1"� $8����$'$��$ $���!�'1$ �!��'���$������$��1�
���)��$���)���$�$���$��  ����$��$�"$ �!������'$�0! $'�!����$�&����,�=7�
�

Page 26



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	<�

•� %�� �������� $)� !�'1$ �!��� ��� �!' �0$��� #��$� 9�'�  ��)� �$)� ��� �@���
�$1�$�&$��	
�����)�9�'����$)��'�E,��)F8��

•� -!'��1'�:���9�'�!�'1$ �$)����	@����$1�$�&$��	
�����)����$)��'�E,��)F8��
•� �!' �0$���#��'$��9�! ����)�����$0$��&$$��!�'1$ �$)�1�!��� ��� ��$�%�,�'��

 ��7����� 9�'� !�'1$ �$)� ��� 	?�)� �$1�$�&$�� 	
��� ��)� 9�'� ���$)� �'�
E���'���)!�,F8��

��
��$�$�9$�$����'��$,���)!�,� �� $��'���!'$)�!��1�$0!��'���'�$)��$1���'8����$�
��$�'���� �� $���9$�$��)�!�!'����!���1�� $''$'���)�1�� $)��$'�9�! ����0$�
��9�&$$���$ �!�!$)8�
�
��+!�,� ��$'$��$ $��� !�'1$ �!��'� !�����  �������""� �!")�$�D'����$'�9!��!�� ��$�
&����,����$����$)��'�$!��$��,��)�������'���)!�,8�
�
�
���4� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��%%)��2%.('D�
�
:!��� �$'!)$��'� '���,,"!�,� 9!��� �!'!�,� "!0!�,�  �'�'� ��)� ,�0$���$��� ���)!�,�
�0�!"�&"$� ��� �  ��1$�'��$� ���� �!'$'��9!""� ��$�������  ���!�� ��� �����'!�,� ���)�
1�$''$)� �$'!)$��'� ���� �))!�!���"� !� ��$� ��)� ��$$.!�,� ���� !"� ��G� ����
	
�	��?M�
�
� $3+%$ � "2� �+-%.*//+#� �/*"+#� �(+-1(-#2�� �)"*% &� � !" #� ,+#�
� $+-#. $'D�
�
���"!$�� ��!'�'���$�� ��$���������)$��� "$��� ���!��$��� �����$$.!�,� ��� !"�
��G� ���� �����$�� �$��8� � ���! $�'� 9$�$� !�'��� �$)� ��� )��9� �1� �� &�),$�� 9�! ��
!� "�)$)�����$$.$�!������ !"���G8����!'�9!""�&$���$���!�)��$���!������9����� !"�
��G���'�&$$�����.$�8�
�
%'� ����9!""� ��0$� �$�)� !����'�� ��)� �!�$� ��$������� ��'� ��9� ������ $)� ��!'�
��$$.$�����$"1����!"!$'�1"�����$!���!��� $'��$G���$��8���
�
���!'�!�1���������� "��!����������! �5! +"$'D������� $�$��������,�����������$$.!�,�
���� !"���G�!'����$�'"�����$�!�,���$����"!�!���!'�,!0!�,����� !"'8����!'�!'�����
�����,�!�,��$0$��$�'��$��8����!'�!'�'!�1"������$�����"��1�'���9�! ��9!""�����
 �0$����$�!� ��$�9$�9��")���0$��$ $!0$)��������!'!�,����� !"���G8���
�
���&$� "$�����!'�9�'���1��� �!0$� ��! $�&����$������� !��1�!��!�!'!�,�9��'�9$�
 ��� �$"1� �$'!)$��'� �� !�,� '��$� ��� ��$� 9��'�� ���� +'� ��� ��$!�� ���'$��")�
!� ��$���)�9��'��!� �$�'$'�!��"!0!�,�$G1$�)!���$8�
�
�
����� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#�	/+#*)��(* % /'D�
�
:!""� ��$�������$G1"�!��9�����!6�$�����,'�����)��� "� �"�������!�!$'��$���'�
���� '!,�$)��1� ��� ��$����)���5$��!��� �$�$� ���  ����)!���$� '��$$����)� ���)�
9��+'M�
�
�
�

Page 27



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	@�

� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��()( 1��/*���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��%<*#+%! %&'D�
�
��$�$� ��$�  ���$��"�� '!G� &����,�'� ����� ��0$� ���� *�!�$)� ��$� ' �$�$���)� ��$�
��*��!��������$'$���$���9�1��,�$''!�,�����)�1�!�,�1$��!�'��'���$�A������� �$�
����11"! ��!��'8����!'�!� "�)$'���9$��#��"$�'����� !"8��
�
�
����� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#�C %*&(��)(!)%'D�
�
������$���������+$�1�&"! "���0�!"�&"$�����""�"!'�����1�����"!���$'1��'!&!"!�!$'�����
��$��$�&$�'�����!'���&!�$����)��G$ ��!0$�%)0!'$�'M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��(*1��(! 1��� 3-&2��)2+#'D�
�
��$���&!�$��1�'!�!��'���$��'���""�9'=�
�
�""����!)�%��$)���$1����������
�""�����!6�$��))!��%��$)����&!�$���$�&$�������$,$�$���!���
�""������$)�%"!����&!�$���$�&$��������0!����$���
�""��%&)�"�%'�)����&!�$���$�&$������#$�"�����)�:$""&$!�,�
�""��%"!&�������)��������&!�$���$�&$�������$'��� $'�
�""������!6�"�#�6�$����&!�$���$�&$������3�&'���)��+!""'�
�""����&!���(�������&!�$���$�&$������#��'!�,�
�""�����!��(�������&!�$���$�&$��������"���$�
�""���"!�������������&!�$���$�&$��������!")�$�D'��$�0! $'�
�""����!����!������&!�$��%)0!'���������$�?�)��$ ����
�""��(�&!��%��$)����&!�$��%)0!'����
�
��$������D'��G$ ��!0$�%)0!'$�'���$=�
�

�����:!��$�&��������$,$�$���!�����)��$0$"�1�$���
4�"�����&&��!��%)�"�'���)���!")�$��#$�"�����)�:$""&$!�,�
���+��$))����������! ��!��'�
����!)���"!+���6��"!�!$'�
�! ��$"�%�&��'$��R�����5���! !1��!���
%�!��"�����)����-�'!�$''�
��������!�����1���'���)��"��1! '�
������$)�3�&�!���������!�!$'�������! ��!��'�
�
�
���A� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��)<*1��%+81+%'D�
�
:!""� ��$� ������ 1"$�'$�  ���$��� ��� ��$� �0�!"�&!"!��� ��� ���)� 9�'�$� �$ � "!�,�
&�,'M��$!��$����$��'"$������,'�"!&����������$��������:������)$�'�����$���0$�
��)� ���� ���� 1�&"! � )!'��!&��!��� ���������9$$+'8� �:�$��9!""� ��!'� '!����!��� &$�
�$ �!�!$)M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��()( 1��/*���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��%<*#+%! %&'D�
�
%""� �)$�� ����$'�� ��$� ���1'� ���1'��"!&���!$'� ��)� ��$� ��9�� #�""��$ $!0$� ��
9$$+"��)$"!0$���������)�9�'�$�&�,'���)�1!�+��$ � "!�,�'� +'8���

Page 28



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	>�

�
�����"� ��!���)�$'������$ $!0$���$�)$"!0$������$����$��'+$)�����$1������!'������$�
�"$�����)�4�$$���$�0! $8���
�
�������:����� �)$������$� ���!��$)����2�!)����;�����0$�&$������� ��$����0$�
�$ $!0$)���)$"!0$������ ���)�9�'�$�&�,'8� ���$� �'"$������,'��!&����� ���!��$)�
����� ��$�$���'�&$$����'"!,���)$"��� !���$ $!0!�,����)�9�'�$�&�,'���)���!'���'�
��9� &$$�� ��!'$)� 9!��� K$�"!�� 9��� 9!""� &$� !� �$�'!�,� ��$� ������� ��� &�,'�
)$"!0$�$)������$��!&����8�
�
�
���F� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#��#)*9��$&+%'D�
�
2�""�9!�,�����������$�'�  $''��"�2!�$9��+'�)!'1"��'�!��-���"$���5��+��:$�0$�'�
2!$")'���)���$��'"$������,'��9��")���$�������1"$�'$� ���$������9����$�)!)�
����'$$+� ��1����$�'1��'��'�!1�&���)!�,�'1��'��'�!1�������$�$0$������)�9���
 ���!�!$'�9$�$�����$� ����,$)������+$� �""$ �!��'������$�$����� $'M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��)%*)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��-/&-# 'D�
�
����+��������� !""���%'�������������6�$'�!��8���
�
�1��'��'�!1�  ��1��!$'� "��+� ���� $'��&"!'�$)� $0$��'� 9!��� �� +��9�� 1��$��!�"�
������""� ��)�&$�$�!�'8� ��1��'��'�!1�9�'����� ��$�$���$� '��,��� !��	
����'� ��!'�
9�'� ��$� $'��&"!'�!�,� �$��8� � :$� ��$� ��9� !�� �� 1�'!�!��� ��� � �!0$"�� '$$+�
'1��'��'�!1� ���� 	
�	� &�'$)� ��� $0!)$� $)� ������""�� ���,$�� ��)!$� $� ��)�
&���)!�,�1��$��!�"8��
�
����!�!$'���$�9$" ��$)�����11"����� �""$ ��������� !"�$0$��'���)���$�'�&*$ ��
�����$��'��"��$�"�����)�'��$��� �$ +'8�
�
�
����� B- $&*+%�,#+!��+-%.*//+#�C)#)��)<*$'D�
�
%�� ��$��$1�$�&$�� 	
���2�""� ���� !"��$$�!�,�� ��$����� !"� �$'�"0$)� I����� �!��
3����� ���,�"�4��)$�'���!""9�""�5��+���)��'"��)�4��)$�'�9!""��$��!��'�"$"��
������$��'$�����$'!)$��'���)� �����!���,���1'�������$�1��1�'$'�����$ �$��!����
"$!'��$� ��)� '1���'8D� � :!""� ��$� ������  ���!��� ����� ��!'� ���!��� 9!""� &$�
!�1"$�$��$)���)� ����� ���$� !�"�$0$��'�9!""�����&$�1$��!��$)� ��� ��+$�1"� $�
�����$'$�1��+'M�
�
� $3+%$ �"2��+-%.*//+#��)%*)�E()%���)"*% &�� !" #�,+#��-/&-# 'D�
�
����+��������� !""�����0!'����������6�$'�!��8���
�
%��� ���� !"� ���!��� ����� ��'� �!��� !�"� !�1"! ��!��'� ��'� ��� &$� &���,��� ���
��&!�$�� ����  ��'!)$���!��8� � ��  ��� ���!��� ������� �$1���� ��� ��!'�����$��9!""� &$�
&���,��������&!�$��!��3������8�
�
�
�

Page 29



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	;�

�()%9 �&+��#1 #�+,��-$*% $$�
�
���� !""�����������3��$'����������)����� !""����!��%� �$������������
�� 1�� $)���"� ���!��� H� E����� ��)$�� 1�� $)���"� ��"$� �A8�8?� ��$� ��)$�� ���
&�'!�$''�&$�0��!$)�����""�9����!����	8;����&$� ��'!)$�$)��'��$G��&�'!�$''8F�
�
��$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18�
�
�
������ B- $&*+%$�&+�&( ��)2+#�)&��+-%.*/�!  &*%9$�
�
���� !""���5$�$��4�")'���)����� !""����!��%� �$���"�$�$)���$�9��)!�,������$!��
���!���!���  ��)�� $�9!������� !"�5�� $)��$���"$��<8;8�8�
���
���� !""���5$�$��4�")'����������)����� !""����!��%� �$����������� ��$�
���!����'���$�)$)8���
�
2�""�9!�,� )$&��$�� ��$� ���!��� �'� ��$�)$)� 9�'� 1��� ��� ��$� 0��$� ��)� 9�'�
)9#  1���%  ��)!�,"��!��9�'=7�
�
���������
�
�(*$� �+-%.*/� %+& $� ����� ��$� ������ ��'� �$'$�0$)� �""� )$ !'!��� ��+!�,� ���
�!�'$"����)������������� !"��$�&$����'�����)$"$,��$)�������!��8�
�
��!'� !� "�)$'����� !""��'�9�����$�)$'!,���$)���&!�$���$�&$�'�&�����'���'�
&$$�� ���!��$)�&�����! $�'����0$����������!��������+$�����)$ !'!��8�����
�
��$�$���$�!����""�9'������6�$'�!��'�&������ !""��'��$,��)!�,����� !"�1�"! ����)�
)$ !'!��'� ��+$��&�������� '���")� &$���'9$�$)�&�� ��$������� �!�'$"���9�!"'��
$�'��!�,��������$�������!'������$'���!�$)�!���!'��!,�������))�$''���$��$$�!�,8�
�
�( ��+-%.*/� &( # ,+# � # $+/< $� �����$�)�����)!�,���)$���	8	� ��� � �!$0$�
��!'�$�)���)�����$�)=�
�
����� B- $&*+%$� +%� �+&*. � )&� �-//� �+-%.*/�� ��&*$ �� ��� ��"$� �	8?�� ��� ���
��)!����� ��� �G�����)!����� �$$�!�,� ��� ��$� ���� !"� �� �$�&$�� ���� �'+� ��$�
���!�����$������������$����!�������������!��$$������&�����!��$$���6�$'�!���
�&���� ���� ����$�� !�� �$"��!��� ��� 9�! �� ��$� ���� !"� ��'� 1�9$�'� ��� )��!$'� ���
9�! �� ���$ �'� ��$� &����,�8� T�$'�!��'� ��� ��� �G�����)!����� ���� !"� �$$�!�,�
��'���$"��$����������$�����������,$�)�8�
�
T�$'�!��'� �$"��!�,� ����G$ ��!0$� ��� �!��'� ��)�)$ !'!��'� ��+$��&�� ��$�������
9!""� &$� 1��� ��� ��)� '���")� &$���'9$�$)� &�� ��$� 1$�'��� �$'1��'!&"$� ���� ���'$�
)$ !'!��'�����$"����$����������"$''��$�)$"$,��$'�'� ����)$ !'!�����������$��
�$�&$��9���9!""���$�$���$�&$��$'1��'!&"$�������'9$�!�,���$�6�$'�!��8�
�
�����$��&'$� $������$���������$��$1����������9!""���'9$��6�$'�!��'�)!�$ �$)�
�����$������8���
�
�

Page 30



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

	
�

��� ��������������
���7�������������
���������G��������������
�

���� � 8��2 /)8$�,+#��)#@$�)%1��3 %��3). $��
�
��$� ���� !"�  ��'!)$�$)� ��$� �$1���� ��� ��$� ���1����$� �!�$ ����� ������!�!$'��
�� �"!�!$'� ��)���"���$�� 1��1�'!�,� �$9� &�$"�9'� ���� ��$� &����,�D'� 1��+'� ��)�
�1$��'1� $'8����
�
���� !""�������$)�%"!���������)����� !""�����!)�%��$)���������� ��$�
�$ ���$�)��!��'�!����$��$1���8��2�""�9!�,�)$&��$����$��$ ���$�)��!��'�9$�$�
1��������$�0��$���)�9$�$�)9#  18��%  ��)!�,"���!��9�'�7�
�
���������
�
�8� ����� � ��$� ��+!�,� ��� ��$� �$9� -�$"�9'� ���� ��$� &����,�D'� 5��+'� ��)�

�1$���1� $'�&$��11��0$)��'�'��9��!��%11$�)!G����I�$9�-�$"�9'D�����
��$� �$1���� ��� ��$� ���1����$� �!�$ ����� ������!�!$'�� �� �"!�!$'� ��)�
��"���$Q� ��)� ��$� �$0� ��!��� ��� ��$� �G!'�!�,� -�$"�9'� �� $� ��$� �$9�
-�$"�9'���$� ���!��$)��&$��11��0$)8�

�
	8� ����� ��$� ���1����$� �!�$ ����� ������!�!$'�� �� �"!�!$'� ��)� ��"���$� &$�

������!'$)� &$� ������!'$)� ���""�9!�,�  ��'�"���!��� 9!��� ��$� %''!'�����
��!$���G$ ��!0$� N�$,�"��$�0! $'O�� ���$��$ �� �����$����$�)�$��'� ��� ��$�
1��1�'$)��$9�-�$"�9'�!����$�$0$��������'�&'$6�$��������$��$$�!�,����
2�""����� !"���)�1�!��� ���'�&�!''!��� ��� ��$��$ �$������������$�����4�
�$6�!�$�'� ����$�)�$��'����&$���)$8�

�
?8� �����!��&$����$)��������$��$9�-�$"�9'�9!""��11"�������$�1��+'���)��1$��

'1� $���$�'�"!'�$)�9!��!��� �$)�"$���P�	� ����!�$)�9!��!��%11$�)!G���
�����$��$1���8�

�
A8� �����!��&$����$)��������$�$���$������,$����!''�$'���)����$� $'��"�$�)��

 �0$�$)� &�� 1�!����� "$,!'"��!���9�! �� ��$� ��$�$���$� $G "�)$)� ����� ��$�
�$9�-�$"�9'���'����"!�$)�!��%11$�)!G�?������$��$1����8�

�
<8� �����!��&$����$)��������$��$9�-�$"�9'�9!""��$$)����&$��11��0$)�&����$�

�$ �$������������$�1�!��� ��� �����"��)�1�!��8� ����$���$�)�$��'���0$�
&$$����)$� ��� ��$����4D'���)$"� -�$"�9'�� �'� '$�� ���� !�� 1���,��1�'�
A8	8@����A8	8
������$��$1���8�����! $�'���0$�$�,�,$)�!��)!' �''!��'�9!���
���4����$�'��$���$'$���$�)�$��'���0$���$!���11��0�"8��

��
�
�()%9 �&+��#1 #�+,��-$*% $$�
�
���� !""��� %"!&��� ����)����� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� (�&!�� %��$)�
������������1�� $)���"����!���H� E�������)$��1�� $)���"���"$��A8�8?� ��$�
��)$����� &�'!�$''�&$�0��!$)� ����""�9����!����	8�	� ���&$� ��'!)$�$)��'��$G��
&�'!�$''8F�
�
��$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�1 , )& 18�
�

Page 31



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?
�

���� !""��� ���!�� �.7/����� ��$�� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� 3�'���� 5$ +�
���������� �� �����$�� 1�� $)���"� ���!��� H� E����� ��)$�� 1�� $)���"� ��"$�
�A8�8?���$���)$�����&�'!�$''�&$�0��!$)�����""�9����!����	8>����&$� ��'!)$�$)�
�'��$G��&�'!�$''8F�
�
��$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18�
�
�
���F� �-33+#&*%9�&( ��#)1 ��%*+%$�*%�&( *#�.)!3)*9%�&+��1 , %1�&( �

�+.)/�	+< #%! %&�� %$*+%��.( ! �
�
���� !""���%������� �����������)����� !""���-!""�����$������������ ��$�
���!����'�1�!��$)�!����$��,$�)�8�
�
���� !""�����0!)����9)������������)����� !""����!��%� �$������������
��&)"/ 1���$�)�$����'���""�9'=7�

E�$"$�$��""����$��I��$����� !"����$'D���)�!�'$��=7�

I��$�,�0$���$�����'���,$��$'1$ ��������$����)79��+!�,�1$�1"$�9���+$$1�����
0!��"�'$�0! $'�����!�,���)�&$"!$0$������!��!'�9���,���� �""���'��!+$�9�!"'����"+'�
��$���)$��9��8��

��$�,�0$���$�����'�$�'��$)�����������$�9���!'�9!��!���$���$��'����
�$�!�$�$���9!""�&$��&"$�����$�!�$������$!�� ���$����$��'8��

��$�"�9$'��1�!)�9!""�&$�$G$�1������� ���,$'8�

�0$����$����$�,�1�&$�9$$�����'$�!���$ $!1�����1�!0��$���)�1�&"! �1$�'!��'�9!""�
�$��!���!,�8�

%�����!�$�9�$��9$���$����!�,����,$����$�$ ������&� +����!�'��$$�����'��!+$�!'�
��$�"�'����!�,������$��$$)'D8F��

%��$��)$&��$���$���$�)�$���9�'�1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�1 , )& 18�
�
���� !""��� ���!�� �.7/����� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� 3�'���� 5$ +�
������������1�� $)���"����!���H�E�������)$��1�� $)���"���"$��A8�8�
���$�
6�$'�!���&$���9�1��8F� � ���$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��� ��� ��$�0��$���)�9�'�
)9#  18�
�
��$� ���!��� �'� 1�!��$)� !�� ��$� �,$�)�� 9�'� ��$�� 1��� ��� ��$� 0��$� ��)� 9�'�
)9#  18��%  ��)!�,"��!��9�'�7�
�
���������
�
�( ��+-%.*/�%+& $'�
�

•� ������""���!��'�!�0�"0$)�!����$��45����0$��,�$$)����&�""�������!�)�'��!�"�
� �!����'�1������������1�$ $)$��$)��""!�� $����5�&"! ��$ ������!��'������
 ��")�'$$�?��!""!���9��+$�'�'��!+!�,���,$��$��!����0$�&$�����)$�$�)���$�
�45�8�

�

Page 32



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?��

�( ��+-%.*/�,-#&( #�%+& $'�
�

•� �����"� �"�&��� �$'������$����)$���!��'���$�� �!0$"�� ��1�!,�!�,���,$��$��
������$�1��1�'$���=�

�
7� �$����!�,���I�$'�0��$D�!����$!���$'1$ �!0$�&�""��'Q�
7� 1�&"! !'!�,���$��$,��!0$���)�����!��!�1� �����9������!'�,�0$���$���!'�

1��1�'!�,�!���$"��!������1�&"! �'$ ����1$�'!��'Q�
7�  ��""$�,!�,��!'!�������!���)!''$�!���$)�&����!'�,�0$���$����&������$�

�������)�&!"!��������$��45�8��
�
�(*$��+-%.*/�# $+/< $�&+'�
�

•� 5"$),$�����'�11���������$����)$���!��'�!����$!�� ��1�!,�����)$�$�)���$�
�45����)�9$��,�$$����*�!��)$���'����!��'���)�1! +$��"!�$'�!����9$��
#��"$�'�!��'�11�������!�)�'��!�"�� �!��8�

�

•� ��+$���1�&"! �'���$�$������'�11����!���$"��!��������!'8��
�
�

���� �����������������������B������������?����������	�������
�����7���������	�����������5������6��
�
��$�$�9�'����&�'!�$''���)$����!'��$�)!�,8�
�
�

���� ��
�������������
�

����� �# )$-#2��)%)9 ! %&��&#)& 92��&)& ! %&���*%*!-!�� < %- ��#+<*$*+%�
�+/*.2��&)& ! %&�)%1��%%-)/��%< $&! %&��&#)& 92�����I����
�
��!'�!�$��9�'����� ��'!)$�$)�)�$������$��!�$�"!�!��������$��$$�!�,���0!�,�&$$��
�$� �$)8�
�
�

���� ���������������������������������������������
�����������
�
�()%9 �&+��#1 #�+,��-$*% $$�
�
���� !""������!���.7/�����!+< 1����)����� !""���3�'����5$ +�$ .+%1 1��
�� 1�� $)���"� ���!��� H� E����� ��)$�� 1�� $)���"� ��"$� �A8�8?� ��$� ��)$�� ���
&�'!�$''�&$�0��!$)�����""�9����!��'��	8	���	8�?���)��	8	�����&$� ��'!)$�$)�
�'��$G��&�'!�$''8F�
�
��$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18�
�
�
����� �( ��+-%.*/=$��+%$&*&-&*+%�
�
���� !""��� 3�'���� 5$ +� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� ���!�� �.7/�����
������������$����!����'�1�!��$)�!����$��,$�)�8���

Page 33



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?	�

�
%�� ��!'� 1�!��� ���$� ����� �
� �$�&$�'� ��'$� ����� ��$!�� '$��'� ��� �$6�$'�� ��
�$ ��)$)�0��$���� ��$����!��� !���  ��)�� $�9!���5�� $)���"���"$��>8A8� ���$�
���!��� 9�'� ��$�$���$� 1��� ��� �� �$ ��)$)� 0��$� ��)� �$�&$�'� !�)! ��$)� ��$!��
0��$'��'���""�9'=7�
�
2�����$����!����?<����� !""��'��
�
���� !""���3�'����5$ +�
���� !""���5$�$��4�")'�
���� !""���#$"�"�%&&�'�
���� !""���(��"$'��))!��%��$)�
���� !""�����*!&�%��$)�
���� !""����!������%� �$��
���� !""������!,�%'����
���� !""���/������0!'�
���� !""�����$1���!$�������
���� !""�����0!)��),���
���� !""������ �2��� !'�
���� !""���3�)!���4��)!�$��
���� !""������"��4!&&'�
���� !""������"!�#��1$�75$�����
���� !""����!��*�"��'"���
���� !""���%���3� +'���
���� !""����$�!'$�3��$'�
���� !""�����������3��$'�
���� !""���%�9���(����
���� !""�����!�!��(������
���� !""���%������� ��
���� !""���������$)�%&)�"���+!���-��
���� !""���%��$)���$��
���� !""����$'"$��5�0!���
���� !""���/$�!����������
���� !""����� ��$"�����)$�'�
���� !""�����0!)����9)���
���� !""���4"��!����!$�$"�
���� !""���-!""�����$��
���� !""���#$"�"��))!��
���� !""���(�'����))!��
���� !""���%&)�"��""���
���� !""������!���.7/�����
���� !""���%���:�!�$"� +�
���� !""����!.���������)��������$����!��������� !"��
�
%,�!�'����$����!�����!"����� !""��'��
�
%&'��!�$)���A����� !""��'���
�
���� !""���(�&!��%��$)�
���� !""�����!)�%��$)�
���� !""�����$"!���%+����

Page 34



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

??�

���� !""�������$)�%"!�
���� !""���%&)�"�%'�)�
���� !""���������-$,���
���� !""���%"!&�������)�����
���� !""�������!6�"�#�6�$�
���� !""���%�!����(����
���� !""�����&!���(����
���� !""������!��(����
���� !""���2�.�"��!���
���� !""���#������!���
���� !""�����!����!���
�
��$����!���9�'��  ��)!�,"��)9#  1���)�!��9�'=7���
�
���������
�
�(*$��+-%.*/�%+& $'�
�

•� �������$�1�9$�������$�)���$����� !"D'����'�!���!���!'��$'$�0$)����2�""�
���� !"8�

�

•� ����������&$����� ��'�!���!���"�!''�$'���0$���!'$��'!� $���$�!����)� �!���
�����$�������"���)$"�!����9$��#��"$�'8�

�
�(*$��+-%.*/�# $+/< $'�
�

•� ����))���$���1"���$��������$,������$�1�!'$������$,���:�'�$������$,����)�
5��+'������$,�������$�"!'�����'����$,!$'��$'$�0$)����2�""����� !"8�

�

•� ����$6�!�$���$��11�!���$������"� �"�������!���' ���"�,�0$����'����&$�
�11��0$)�&����$�4$�$��"�5��1�'$'�����!��$$�

�

•� �����+$���$� ��'!)$���!��������$�)�$��'������$����� !"L'� ��'�!���!�����
�$'1��'!&!"!��������$�4$�$��"�5��1�'$'�����!��$$�

�

•� �����$�,�,$�$��������!$�����! $�'�����1$����$���1�'!�!��'����!��$�!��
1�'!�!��'�����0$�����$$������'��9!""�&$������,����$������"��$ ��!��$���
1�� $''��0$�'$$��&����$�#������!��$$��

�

•� ����$���$���$����!��������� !"����$��1$�+$��������� !"���)�)$'!,���$���$�
�1$�+$����$�-����,�L'�2!�'���!�!.$�8�

�

•� ������!�����$���)$�����1�$ $)$� $����� !0! �$0$��'�!����$����� !"D'�
���'�!���!����9!�����$�-����,�L'�2!�'���!�!.$���$1�$'$��!�,���$����� !"����
�!0! ��$�$���!�"���� �!��'�!����$�-����,��!� "�)!�,=�

�
� K!'!�'������$�����"�2��!"����)�)!,�!���!$'�
� �!0! ��$ $1�!��'��"�� �$��'���)�)!��$�'�
� 2��$��"�����$���!�"�'$�0! $'�
�� �$"!,!��'�'$�0! $'�

Page 35



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?A�

� 5�!.$�,!0!�,'�
�
� %�)�$0$��'����'!)$���$�-����,��!� "�)!�,=�
�
� ���)�������������)��D'�$0$��'�
� ��0!���!��'���������$��2!�'���!�!.$�'������$!��-����,�8�
� ���)��������D'�%''� !��!����0$��'�
�
��!'�9��")�����1�$ "�)$���$����$�)�� $���)�!�0�"0$�$��������$���������)����
���$������ !""��'8�
�
�
�()%9 �&+��#1 #�+,��-$*% $$�
�
���� !""��� �!�� %� �$��������� ��)� ���� !""��� ���!,� %'�������������� ��
1�� $)���"����!���H�E�������)$��1�� $)���"���"$��A8�8?���$���)$�����&�'!�$''�
&$�0��!$)�����""�9����!����	8?����&$� ��'!)$�$)��'��$G��&�'!�$''8F�
�
���$� ������
��$�&$�'� ��'$� ����� ��$!�� '$��'� ��� �$6�$'���� �$ ��)$)�0��$����
��$�1�� $)���"����!���!���  ��)�� $�9!���5�� $)���"���"$��>8A8� �%��$ ��)$)�
0��$�9�'���$�$���$���+$����)��$�&$�'�!�)! ��$)���$!��0��$'��'���""�9'=7�
�
2�����$����!����?A����� !""��'��
�
���� !""���3�'����5$ +�
���� !""���5$�$��4�")'�
���� !""���#$"�"�%&&�'�
���� !""���(��"$'��))!��%��$)�
���� !""�����*!&�%��$)�
���� !""����!������%� �$��
���� !""������!,�%'����
���� !""���/������0!'�
���� !""�����0!)��),���
���� !""������ �2��� !'�
���� !""���3�)!���4��)!�$��
���� !""������"��4!&&'�
���� !""������"!�#��1$�75$�����
���� !""����!��*�"��'"���
���� !""���%���3� +'���
���� !""����$�!'$�3��$'�
���� !""�����������3��$'�
���� !""���%�9���(����
���� !""�����!�!��(������
���� !""���%������� ��
���� !""���������$)�%&)�"���+!����-��
���� !""���%��$)���$��
���� !""����$'"$��5�0!���
���� !""���/$�!����������
���� !""����� ��$"�����)$�'�
���� !""�����0!)����9)���
���� !""���4"��!����!$�$"�

Page 36



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?<�

���� !""���-!""�����$��
���� !""���#$"�"��))!��
���� !""���(�'����))!��
���� !""���%&)�"��""���
���� !""������!���.7/�����
���� !""���%���:�!�$"� +�
���� !""����!.���������)��������$����!��������� !"��
�
%,�!�'����$����!����?����� !""��'��
�
���� !""�����$1���!$�������
���� !""���2�.�"��!���
���� !""���#������!���
�
%&'��!�$)���	����� !""��'��
�
���� !""���(�&!��%��$)�
���� !""�����!)�%��$)�
���� !""�����$"!���%+����
���� !""�������$)�%"!�
���� !""���%&)�"�%'�)�
���� !""���������-$,���
���� !""���%"!&�������)�����
���� !""�������!6�"�#�6�$�
���� !""���%�!����(����
���� !""�����&!���(����
���� !""������!��(����
���� !""�����!����!���
�
��$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'��  ��)!�,"��)9#  18�
�
�
���4� � .+#1*%9�+,��+-%.*/��  &*%9$�� �
�
���� !""����!��%� �$�����������)����� !""�����0!)����9)�������������
��$����!����'�1�!��$)�!����$��,$�)�8�
�
2�""�9!�,�)$&��$�����$� ������
��$�&$�'���'$��������$!��'$��'� ����$6�$'����
�$ ��)$)�0��$���� ��$����!��� !���  ��)�� $�9!���5�� $)���"���"$��>8A8� ���$�
���!��� 9�'� ��$�$���$� 1��� ��� �� �$ ��)$)� 0��$� ��)� �$�&$�'� !�)! ��$)� ��$!��
0��$'��'���""�9'=7�
�
2�����$����!����	>����� !""��'��
�
���� !""���3�'����5$ +�
���� !""���#$"�"�%&&�'�
���� !""���(��"$'��))!��%��$)�
���� !""�����*!&�%��$)�
���� !""�����0!)��),���
���� !""������ �2��� !'�
���� !""���3�)!���4��)!�$��

Page 37



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?@�

���� !""������"��4!&&'�
���� !""������"!�#��1$�75$�����
���� !""����!��*�"��'"���
���� !""���%���3� +'���
���� !""����$�!'$�3��$'�
���� !""���%�9���(����
���� !""�����!�!��(������
���� !""���%������� ��
���� !""���������$)�%&)�"���+!����-��
���� !""���%��$)���$��
���� !""����$'"$��5�0!���
���� !""���/$�!����������
���� !""����� ��$"�����)$�'�
���� !""���-!""�����$��
���� !""���#$"�"��))!��
���� !""���(�'����))!��
���� !""���%&)�"��""���
���� !""������!���.7/�����
���� !""���%���:�!�$"� +�
���� !""����!.���������)��������$����!��������� !"��
�
%,�!�'����$����!�����!"����� !""��'��
�
%&'��!�$)��	������ !""��'��
�
���� !""���5$�$��4�")'�
���� !""���(�&!��%��$)�
���� !""�����!)�%��$)�
���� !""�������$)�%"!�
���� !""����!������%� �$��
���� !""���%&)�"�%'�)�
���� !""������!,�%'����
���� !""���������-$,���
���� !""���%"!&�������)�����
���� !""���/������0!'�
���� !""�����$1���!$�������
���� !""�������!6�"�#�6�$�
���� !""�����������3��$'�
���� !""���%�!����(����
���� !""�����&!���(����
���� !""������!��(����
���� !""���2�.�"��!���
���� !""���#������!���
���� !""�����!����!���
���� !""�����0!)����9)���
���� !""���4"��!����!$�$"�
�
��$����!���9�'���$�$���$�)9#  18��%  ��)!�,"��!��9�'=7�
�
�
�

Page 38



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?>�

���������
�
�(*$��+-%.*/�%+& $'�
��

•� !���"�$�)����'���$��&!"!�������$ ��)��$$�!�,'������$���""����� !"�9!������
!� ���!�,��))!�!���"� �'��

�

•� �����!��!'���$�)$ !'!��������""����� !"��'����9�$��$���$$�!�,'� ���&$�
�$ ��)$)Q�&����

�

•� ��������! $�'���0$��)0!'$)��������$�6��"!������0!)$����)���)!���$ ��)!�,'�
�'!�,���$�$G!'�!�,�$6�!1�$�������&$�1���8��

��
�(*$��+-%.*/�" /* < $'�
��

•� �������$��$ ��)!�,������""��$$�!�,'������$����� !"�9��")�� ���'���'����,�
!� $��!0$����$�'��$�1��1$�� ��)� ������$�&$�'��'�9$""��'��$�&$�'������$�
1�&"! �1�$'$���

�

•� �$ ��)!�,'������""��$$�!�,'������$����� !"� ��")�&$����'$��"��$'��� $����
'$��"!�,�)!'�,�$$�$��'���!'!�,��������$'$��$$�!�,'8�

��
�(*$��+-%.*/�)9#  $'�
��

•� �������������!�"�1$�!�)����?������'��""��$$�!�,'������$���""� ��� !"�&$���)!��
�$ ��)$)���)�'���$)8��

�

•� ����������$�$�)������$���!�"�1$�!�)���$�6��"!��������$��$ ��)!�,'�&$��$0!$9$)�
��)�!����$�"!,��������!'���)$ !'!���&$���)$����9�$��$������$ ��)������$�
�$$�!�,'����)�!��'��9�$��$�����1�&"!'����$��$ ��)!�,'������$�9$&'!�$8�

�
�
�:& %$*+%�+,�&*! �/*!*&�,+#�&( �!  &*%9�
�
���� !""��� �� ��$"� ����)$�'� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� �$'"$�� 5�0!���
������������1�� $)���"����!���H�E�������)$��5�� $)��$���"$��<8��8>���$�
�$$�!�,�  ���!��$� ���� �� �����$�� �
� �!���$'�� ��� ���!"� ���!��� �	8�?� ��'� &$$��
 ��'!)$�$)��9�! �$0$��!'���$�'���$�8F����$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��������$�
0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18�
�
���
����4� �+.*)/��)# �
�
���� !""��� �� ��$"� ����)$�'� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� �$'"$�� 5�0!���
������������$����!����'�1�!��$)�!����$��,$�)�8�
�
���� !""��� %"!&��� ����)����� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� (�&!�� %��$)�
���������� ��� ��$�)�$��� H� E����� ��$� �!�'�� "!�$� ��� 1���,��1�� 	� ��""�9!�,�
I��!'����� !"����$'D�&$���$�)$)�����$�)=�I�������$����� !"��,�$$)������+$�UD�
��$��!�)$���'�1�!��$)����)���$��!�'��"!�$����1���,��1��A���""�9!�,�I��!'����� !"�

Page 39



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?;�

&$"!$0$'D� &$���$�)$)� ��� �$�)=� I����� ��$����� !"� ��0!�,��,�$$)� ��$�'�0!�,'�
1��1�'�"'�UD���$��!�)$���'�1�!��$)�8F��
�
2�""�9!�,�)$&��$�����$� ������
��$�&$�'���'$��������$!��'$��'� ����$6�$'����
�$ ��)$)�0��$������$���$�)�$���!���  ��)�� $�9!���5�� $)���"���"$��>8A8��%�
�$ ��)$)� 0��$� 9�'� ��$�$���$� ��+$�� ��)� �$�&$�'� !�)! ��$)� ��$!�� 0��$'� �'�
��""�9'=7�
�
2�����$���$�)�$�����A����� !""��'��
�
���� !""���(�&!��%��$)�
���� !""�����!)�%��$)�
���� !""�����$"!���%+����
���� !""�������$)�%"!�
���� !""���%&)�"�%'�)�
���� !""���������-$,���
���� !""���%"!&�������)�����
���� !""�������!6�"�#�6�$�
���� !""���%�!����(����
���� !""�����&!���(����
���� !""������!��(����
���� !""���2�.�"��!���
���� !""���#������!���
���� !""�����!����!���
�
%,�!�'����$���$�)�$����	@����� !""��'��
�
���� !""���3�'����5$ +�
���� !""���#$"�"�%&&�'�
���� !""���(��"$'��))!��%��$)�
���� !""�����*!&�%��$)�
���� !""�����0!)��),���
���� !""������ �2��� !'�
���� !""���3�)!���4��)!�$��
���� !""������"��4!&&'�
���� !""������"!�#��1$�75$�����
���� !""����!��*�"�!'"���
���� !""���%��$�3� +'���
���� !""����$�!'$�3��$'�
���� !""���%�9���(����
���� !""�����!�!��(������
���� !""���������$)�%&)�"���+!����-��
���� !""���%��$)����$��
���� !""����$'"$��5�0!���
���� !""���/$�!����������
���� !""����� ��$"�����)$�'�
���� !""���-!""�����$��
���� !""���#$"�"��))!��
���� !""���(�'����))!��
���� !""���%&)�"��""���
���� !""������!���.7/�����

Page 40



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

?
�

���� !""���%���:�!�$"� +�
���� !""����!.���������)��������$����!��������� !"��
�
%&'��!�$)��;����� !""��'��
�
���� !""���5$�$��4�")'�
���� !""����!������%� �$��
���� !""������!,�%'����
���� !""���/������0!'�
���� !""�����$1���!$�������
���� !""�����������3��$'�
���� !""�����0!)����9)���
���� !""���4"��!����!$�$"�
�
��$���$�)�$���9�'��  ��)!�,"��1 , )& 1��
�
�����$�'�&'����!0$����!���&$!�,�1��������$�0��$�����$�������
��$�&$�'���'$�
����� ��$!�� '$��'� ��� �$6�$'�� �� �$ ��)$)� 0��$� !�� �  ��)�� $� 9!��� 5�� $)���"�
��"$��>8A8����$�'�&'����!0$����!���9�'���$�$���$�1���������$ ��)$)�0��$���)�
�$�&$�'�!�)! ��$)���$!��0��$'��'���""�9'=7�
�
2�����$����!����	>����� !""��'��
�
���� !""���3�'����5$ +�
���� !""���#$"�"�%&&�'�
���� !""���(��"$'��))!��%��$)�
���� !""�����*!&�%��$)�
���� !""�����$1���!$�������
���� !""�����0!)��),���
���� !""������ �2��� !'�
���� !""���3�)!���4��)!�$��
���� !""������"��4!&&'�
���� !""������"!�#��1$�75$�����
���� !""����!��*�"��'"���
���� !""���%���3� +'���
���� !""����$�!'$�3��$'�
���� !""���%�9���(����
���� !""�����!�!��(������
���� !""���������$)�%&)�"���+!����-��
���� !""���%��$)���$��
���� !""����$'"$��5�0!���
���� !""���/$�!����������
���� !""����� ��$"�����)$�'�
���� !""���-!""�����$��
���� !""���#$"�"��))!��
���� !""���(�'����))!��
���� !""���%&)�"��""���
���� !""������!���.7/�����
���� !""���%���:�!�$"� +�
���� !""����!.���������)��������$����!��������� !"��
�

Page 41



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

A
�

%,�!�'����$����!�����!"����� !""��'��
�
%&'��!�$)��	������ !""��'��
�
���� !""���5$�$��4�")'�
���� !""���(�&!��%��$)�
���� !""�����!)�%��$)�
���� !""�����$"!���%+����
���� !""�������$)�%"!�
���� !""����!������%� �$��
���� !""���%&)�"�%'�)�
���� !""������!,�%'����
���� !""���������-$,���
���� !""���%"!&�������)�����
���� !""���/������0!'�
���� !""�������!6�"�#�6�$�
���� !""�����������3��$'�
���� !""���%�!����(����
���� !""�����&!���(����
���� !""������!��(����
���� !""���2�.�"��!���
���� !""���#������!���
���� !""�����!����!���
���� !""�����0!)����9)���
���� !""���4"��!����!$�$"�
�
��$����!���9�'���$�$���$�)9#  18��%  ��)!�,"��!��9�'=7�
�
���������
�
�(*$��+-%.*/�%+& $'�
�
�8� �����9$���$�!�����!�$����'!,�!�! ���� ���,$�!����9�'� !�"� ��$�!'�1��0!)$)�

!����9$��#��"$�'��9!����$�&"$�$�����)�1$�'���"!'��!��� ���,!�,���9�
1$�1"$��$"��$����'$�0! $'8���
�

	8� �������$���)$1$�)$��������� ��'$������+$���'!,�!�! ����1��1���!��������$�
�����"$)�,�0$���$��D'� ��'������)��! !"!���� ��$�7�B	�>?��


������,��
�$)� !�,�)$���)�����)��! !"!���� ��$������,���$�&"$�$�����)� ���!�,���$�
!�����'$�)��! !"!���� ��$�'$�0! $���)�B��?

�


������,���$7
 ���!''!��!�,8��
�

�(*$��+-%.*/�" /* < $'�
�
�8� �����9�!"'����$�$���$�'�$1'������ ���&$���+$�������+$�"$,!�!���$�'�0!�,'�H�

&"� +� ����� �'�����$�������$G1$�'!0$�'1���1�� ��'!�,����)�!� �$�'!�,���$�
!�)$1$�)$� $����'��$�'$�0! $��'$�'������,��!��$�'!0$�$��"��'�11�������$�$�
��$�'!,�!�! ���� �� $��'8��

�
	8� ��$���0$�����$�&"$�$�����'��&$�)�!0$��&��9����!'�&$'������0�"�$��&"$�

1$�1"$������ �'�� ���!�,8��

Page 42



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

A��

�
?8� �������$�!�����'$�'$�0! $�9�'�9!)$"���$ �,�!'$)��'����$G $""$���'$�0! $�

��)���������� ����� �$)� ��$�������$1"� $'�!����'��&$� ���!''!��$)������$�
&�'!'������$�'��$��!,��'���)��)'8�

�
A8� �������$���)$1$�)$������������0!�,�1������9��)��!'�'�0!�,'�1��1�'�"'��

��)����$'1��'!&!"!������+$$1���$�������� +�H�)$"��'�!����+!�,�'�0!�,'�
�$��������$����1"���$)� ��'����0!��"�'$�0! $'8���

�
<8� �������$�1$�1"$������9$��#��"$�'�)$'$�0$����$G1"����!�������9�����$�

)��! !"!���� ��$� ����� �'�9$�$�)$"��$)8����!'� �'�� !� ��B;

�


�H�
���$�������9!""���9���0$����&$� ��������$"'$9�$�$8���

�
@8� �����'!� $�� ��&$��	


��""��$9�"��,��$���1� +�,$'�������$� ��$�'�11����

��0$�&$$�� ���!''!��$)������$G�$���"�'�11"!$�'8���
�
>8� �������'���1���������$�&�),$��1�� $''����$���)$1$�)$�����������9$)�&� +�

����!'���!,!��"�1��1�'�"����$�)��""�!�����'$�1��0!'!������)��! !"!���� ��$�
���$��������$�&"$�$��8��

�
;8� �����'��$�"��,��$���'$�0! $��'$�'����!�����'$�)��! !"!���� ��$�1� +�,$'�

��$���9�&$!�,���0$)������� ����� �$)����� ��$�1��0!)$�'������$!�������"�
�$0!$9'����)�'��$���$��������)���$�&$!�,�1$��!��$)����'����!�����'$8��

�
�(*$��+-%.*/�# $+/< $'�
�
�8� ��� �""������$���)$1$�)$�����������������'1��$� �������9�)$ !'!��'���$�

��)$����9�! ��"��,��$���'$�0! $��'$�'��$��!��!�����'$�1��0!'!������)�
9�! ����0$���� ����� �$)�1��0!'!��8��

�
	8� ��� �""������$���)$1$�)$�����������������"�������0!�,�1$�1"$��9��������

!�����'$�1��0!'!������!"� ��� !""��'���)���$�1�&"! ���0$���)���""�1�&"! �
����'1��$� ����)�)$&��$8���

�
?8� ��� ���!��$����'1$�+��1��������'$�"� �"�1$�1"$�9����$ $!0!�,�"$''������

��$�&$'��6��"!������ ��$8����
�
A8� ��� �""������$���)$1$�)$���������������'9$�'������$�B;

�


����

���$ $''���� ��'8���
�
�
�:& %$*+%�&+�&*! �/*!*&�,+#�&( �!  &*%9�
�
���� !""��� ���!�� �.7/����� ������� ��)� ���� !""��� 3�'���� 5$ +�
������������1�� $)���"����!���H�E�������)$��5�� $)��$���"$��<8��8>���$�
�$$�!�,� ���!��$������� �����$���
��!���$'�� ���$��&"$� ��'!)$���!���������!���
�	8	�8F����$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'�1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18�
�
����'� � ���� !""��� ���"!� #��1$�75$������ ��0!�,� )$ "��$)� �� 1�$*�)! !�"�
!��$�$'�� !�� ��$� �$G�� !�$��� "$��� ��$� ���� !"� ����&$�� &$���$�  ��'!)$���!���
��$�$��8�

Page 43



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

A	�

�
�
��������,,+#1)"/ �� %&�
�
���� !""���#$"�"��))!�����������)����� !""���3�)!���4��)!�$������������
��$����!����'�1�!��$)�!����$��,$�)�8�
�
2�""�9!�,�)$&��$������ !""���3�)!���4��)!�$�����������)����� !""���-!""�
����$��������������1�� $)���"����!���H�E�������)$��5�� $)���"���"$�
�A8�8�
���$�6�$'�!���&$���9�1��8F����$�1�� $)���"����!���9�'���$��1��������$�
0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18�
�
��$�'�&'����!0$����!���9�'���$��1��������$�0��$���)�9�'�)9#  18��
%  ��)!�,"��!��9�'=7�
�
���������
�
�(*$��+-%.*/�%+& $'��
�
�8� %  ��)!�,����!�'��9��#��'!�,������$,�����9$��#��"$�'��� $'����

E!��$�'$F�'$��������'!�,� ��""$�,$'�!� "�)!�,��"��'���
�


�
�0$� ��9)$)����'$��")'�"!0!�,�!��!�'�'� !�"��$��$)����'!�,8���$� ����! �
'�����,$���������)�&"$����'!�,�!����9$��#��"$�'�!'��� �!'!'�������$�
�$�"����$ ����! �1��'1$ �'���)�9$""&$!�,����!�'� !�!.$�'8��

�
	8� ��)$����&���� �����"����$����� !"��$'1��)$)������!'� �!'!'�&��

 ��'!'�$��"��&�!")!�,����$������)�&"$����$'�������������$�����)���
&����,�8�

�
?8� ��$�����7"$)� ��"!�!���,�0$���$�����'���)$���,$� ��'������$�

�����)�&"$����'!�,�&�),$�8������+$��1���$�'������""����'���$9�'���$�
'�&'!)!'$)����$'�9!""�&$�'!,�!V ���"�����$�$G1$�'!0$���)�"$''�'$ ��$�
��������)!�!���"�'� !�"��$��$)����$'�7��1����;
W�������+$���$��'���)�
9!����$��� !$'��'�'������'��9���$��'8���!'��$9��$���$�!'� �""$)�
E%����)�&"$��$��F8��

�
A8� %'�9$""��'���'���$9����$'�&$!�,�E%����)�&"$��$��F����$�,�0$���$���

��'��"'��,!0$��!�'��11��0�"��������'!�,��''� !��!��'����E ��0$��F�
$G!'�!�,�'� !�"7�$��$)����$'������$��$9�%����)�&"$��$���"$0$"�9�$��
��$��&$ ��$�0� ����������$���$)� !�,���$����&$�����,$��!�$"��
�����)�&"$����$'��������'$�9����$$)���$�8�

�
�(*$��+-%.*/�" /* < $'�
�
�8� E%����)�&"$��$��F�!'��$�������$��$G��1"$������$������1����D'��&'$''!���

9!���)$ !���!�,�����'�� +����'� !�"����'!�,�7���!'��!�$�&���� +!�,��1�
�$��'������+$�'��$��������$�1$�1"$�9����$$)�'� !�"����'!�,���'����$�
��$���$'�9����!''����8��

�
	8� ��9$��#��"$�'����� !"D'����&$����$����'!�,�1�!��!�����'��&$����&�!")�

���$����$'������!�'��$'!)$��'� ��������)���)�9�������"!0$�!�8������'��)��

Page 44



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

A?�

��!'�!����$� ���$G��������$ ����! ��$ $''!����������'�'�!X$)���$�
���'$&�!")!�,�!�)�'�������)���,�0$���$�����)����������������$�
'����,"���11�'$)������$�!)$�"'������$�9$"���$�'���$8��

�
?8� ��$�$���$��11�����!�!$'�����9$�+�E%����)�&"$��$��F������+$�!�����$�

9��+�&"$�������1���! �"�����$�8�2���$G��1"$�����!"�7'!.$)�1��1$��!$'�
 ��")�&$� ���,$)����<
W�������+$���$��'�!�������'!�,��''� !��!��� ���
 ���,$��!,�$���$��'����'��""$��1��1$��!$'8�%"�$����!0$"�����$����� !"�
 ��")� ����!&��$�'��$�"��)�!���$���������"�9$���$��'��� $���$����$'�
��$�&�!")8��

�
A8� ��$�$���$����$��9��'����&�!")�'� !�"����'!�,��$8,8������,��'$ �!����
@�

�,�$$�$��'8�#�9$0$�����$'$���$���"!+$"�����)$"!0$����$�0�"��$�����$9�
���$'������9$��$$)8��

�
�(*$��+-%.*/�� $+/< $'�
�
�8� ��� �""������$����������1�&"!'���� "$�����)�����'1��$���1�"! �� �0$�!�,�

��$���""�9!�,=��
�
�8������G!����1$��!��$)� �$��� "$0$"'� ���� $� �� '!.$� ��� 1��1$���� !�� $� ��
9��)������9$��#��"$�'��
�
&8������9���$����� !"�9!""�$0�"���$�$� ��1��1�'�"�����E%����)�&"$��$��F�
���$'�!����9$��#��"$�'��
�
 8��������11�'$����'!�,��''� !��!��'�E ��0$��!�,F�$G!'�!�,�'� !�"��$��$)�
���$'����%����)�&"$��$������)�!��9���� !� ��'��� $'��

�
	8� ��� �""������$������������+$��� ���!��$�����"�����'�11����&!)'�����

#�%����)!�,������)$"!0$�����$'����'$��������#��'!�,�:�!�!�,��!'�� ���
�����)�����$�����)�9�! ��+$$1���$����&$������$7"$�'������$'$��!,�$���$���
"$0$"'��������&'�"��$��!�!���Q�

�
?8� ��� �""������$�����������$��0$��������9$��#��"$�'����� !"D'�"!'�����

5�$�$��$)�5����$�'����������$�)$0$"�1�$�����������'!�,��''� !��!���
'�&�!��!�,���&!)�����#�%����)!�,�9�! ��9��")��$'�"��!��$!��$���$9�
���$'�����$7"$�'� �'�!�,�>
�1$�� $���������$���������+$���$��'Q�

�
A8� ��� �""������$����������!�'��� �����! $�'���������,�$$����������$�)�$���

�����$�"$,�"�����'�$��%,�$$�$���&$�9$$����$����)���-����,�����
��9$��#��"$�'���)���'�� +�����'�$������$��&"!�,���$�"��$�����"$������$��
 ��� !"����$'�������7'� !�"��$���"$0$"'Q�

�
<8� ��� �""������$�����������$1����&� +����2�""����� !"������$���� ��$����

��!'��$��D'�&!))!�,�����)�����#�%����)!�,��9!��!�����$$������'��������
)$ !'!��'�&$!�,������� $)8�

�
�
���!��'� �	8�Q� �	8AQ� �	8<Q� �	8@Q� �	8��Q� �	8�	Q� �	8�AQ� �	8�<Q� �	8�@Q� �	8�>Q�
�	8�;Q� �	8�
Q� �	8	
Q� �	8		� ��)� �	8	?� 9$�$� ����  ��'!)$�$)� )�$� ��� ��$� �!�$�

Page 45



���������	
����	
��� ���������������������������
�

AA�

"!�!��&$!�,��$� �$)8����&"$)���$�)�$��'�������!��'��	8����)��	8A�9$�$�����
��0$)���  ��)!�,"�8�

�
�

��$��$$�!�,�$�)$)������8	?�18�8��
�
�
�
�

�1$�+$����
���� !"�

�

Page 46



  

  
LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 

 
COUNCIL MEETING 

 
WEDNESDAY 25TH JANUARY 2012  

 
PETITIONS 

 
REPORT OF THE SERVICE HEAD,  

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 

 

 
 
SUMMARY 
 
1. The Council’s constitution as amended provides that a maximum of three 

petitions are received at any meeting.  These are taken in order of receipt.  
This report sets out the valid petitions submitted for presentation at the 
Council meeting on Wednesday 25th January 2012.   

 
2. The deadline for receipt of petitions for this meeting is noon on Thursday 19th 

January.  However, at the time of agenda despatch three petitions had been 
received as set out overleaf which is the maximum number to be heard. 

 
3. In each case the petitioners may address the meeting for no more than three 

minutes.  Members may then question the petitioners for a further four 
minutes.  Finally, the relevant Cabinet Member or Chair of Committee may 
respond to the petition for up to three minutes. 

 
4. Any outstanding issues will be referred to the relevant Corporate Director for 

attention who will respond to those outstanding issues in writing within 28 
days. 

 
5. Members should confine their contributions to questions and answers and not 

make statements or attempt to debate. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 47



  

5.1 Petition from Wapping Allotments Association: 
 
“We, the undersigned, call on Tower Hamlets Council to hand over the land on 
Vaughan Way, derelict for more than 40 years, to create allotments for the people of 
Wapping.” 
 
 
5.2 Petition regarding environmental proposals for the canal side,  Ocean 
 Estate: 
 
“We, the undersigned strongly object to the demolition of garages, sheds and other 
environmental proposals that landscape architects are putting forward to the 
residents of the following blocks:  Azov House, Moray House, Emmott Close, James 
House, Sandlewood Close and Broadford House.  We ask the Council to stop this 
happening.  We demand that these unnecessary proposals are reviewed by the 
Council as a matter of extreme urgency.” 
 
 
5.3 Petition regarding antisocial behaviour in the area of Vallance Road: 
 
“We the undersigned would like to submit this petition due to the antisocial behaviour 
caused by prostitutes operating along north of Vallance Road and surrounding 
streets.” 

Page 48



  

 

  
LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 

 
COUNCIL MEETING 

 
WEDNESDAY 25TH JANUARY 2012 

 
QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
REPORT OF THE SERVICE HEAD,   

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 

 

 
 
SUMMARY 
 
1. Set out overleaf are the questions submitted by members of the public, for 

response by the Mayor or appropriate Cabinet Member or committee chair at 
the Council Meeting on 25th January 2012.   

 
2. The Council’s Constitution sets a maximum time limit of twenty minutes for 

this item. 
 
3. A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one brief 

supplementary question without notice to the Member who has replied to his 
or her original question.  A supplementary question must arise directly out of 
the original question or the reply.  Supplementary questions and Members’ 
responses to written and supplementary questions are each limited to two 
minutes.  

 
4. Any question which cannot be dealt with during the twenty minutes allocated 

for public questions, either because of lack of time or because of non-
attendance of the questioner or the Member to whom it was put, will be dealt 
with by way of a written answer. 

 
5. Unless the Speaker of Council decides otherwise, no discussion will take 

place on any question, but any Member of the Council may move, without 
discussion, that the matter raised by a question be referred for consideration 
by the Cabinet or the appropriate Committee or Sub-Committee. 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 49



  

QUESTIONS 
 
Four questions have been submitted as set out below:- 
 
 
6.1 Question from Miss Sultana Begum: 
  
What does the Mayor think about the Conservative Mayor Boris Johnson’s recent 
rises in London transport fares?  
 
 
6.2 Question from Mr Len Aldis: 
 
Could the Mayor update me on his conversations with LOCOG regarding the 
controversial sponsorship of the Olympic Games by Dow Chemical?  
 
 
6.3 Question from Ms Catherine Tuitt: 
 
In light of the Stephen Lawrence case concluding with two convictions, what further 
steps will the Mayor be taking to monitor, and eradicate, racial and hate crime and 
promote equality in the borough?  
 
 
6.4 Question from Ms Sayeeda Nasima: 
 
What steps is the Mayor taking to respond to the demand in the community for 
Bengali language teaching in mainstream primary schools in Tower Hamlets? 

Page 50



 

  
LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 

 
COUNCIL MEETING 

 
WEDNESDAY 25TH JANUARY 2012 

 
QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY 
MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

 
REPORT OF THE SERVICE HEAD,  

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 

 

 
SUMMARY 
 
1. Set out overleaf are the questions submitted by Members of the Council for 

response by Members of the Executive at the Council meeting on Wednesday 
25th January 2012. 

 
2. Questions are limited to one per Member per meeting, plus one 

supplementary question unless the Member has indicated that only a written 
reply is required and in these circumstances a supplementary question is not 
permitted. 

 
3. Oral responses are time limited to one minute.  Supplementary questions and 

responses are also time limited to one minute each. 
 
4. There is a time limit of thirty minutes for consideration of Members’ questions 

with no extension of time allowed and any question not answered within this 
time will be dealt with by way of a written response.  The Speaker will decide 
the time allocated to each question. 

 
5. Members must confine their contributions to questions and answers and not 

make statements or attempt to debate. 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 51



MEMBERS’ QUESTIONS 
 

25 questions have been received from Members of the Council as follows:- 
 
8.1 Question from Councillor Judith Gardiner: 
 
“The Government has recently announced that it will be changing the law to 
make unauthorised subletting a criminal offence.  What extra measures will the 
Mayor be taking to crack down on this and other abuses of the allocation process to 
ensure that those in genuine housing need are not disadvantaged or taken 
advantage of by cheats?” 
 
 
8.2 Question from Councillor Peter Golds: 
 
“Does the Mayor support the Government’s announcement that it will seek to 
criminalise sub-letting of socially rented property?” 
 
 
8.3 Question from Councillor Motin Uz-Zaman: 
 
“Housing Benefit changes will have a profound impact on our residents and it will 
lead to some having to leave the borough because the housing allowance will not 
cover their full rent. Can the Mayor inform the Council the number of meetings he 
has had with the Minister responsible for these changes to highlight the impact on 
residents of Tower Hamlets?” 
 
 
8.4 Question from Councillor Fozol Miah: 
 
“Will the Mayor and lead member celebrate with me the bringing to justice of two of 
Stephen Lawrence’s killers and congratulate all those involved in achieving this and 
above all Neville and Doreen Lawrence,  but also regret that police incompetence, 
racism and maybe even corruption botched the original enquiry and may lead to his 
other murderers continuing to evade justice, and will they also agree that, whilst 
there have been significant improvements in policing in London since the landmark 
Macpherson report, there are still serious problems, for example in the abuse of 
“stop and search” powers and in the lack of ethnic minority appointment to senior 
management positions in the Metropolitan Police, and will they agree to make 
representations to the new Commissioner  and to the borough commander that the 
concept of “total” policing should include making the police reflect at all levels of the 
force and, above all, respect all of the communities they police?” 
 
 
8.5 Question from Councillor Lesley Pavitt: 
 
“Can the Mayor please tell me why the number of complaints about One Stop Shops 
went up by 29% in the first half of 2011/12?” 
 
 

Page 52



8.6 Question from Councillor Zara Davis: 
 
“Why has the Mayor ignored the motion agreed by Full Council in September 2011, 
which resolved that “Sir John McDougal Gardens, Millwall Park and Island Gardens 
will remain solely for the use of residents and community groups for the purposes of 
recreation, leisure and sports?” 
 
 
8.7 Question from Councillor Shiria Khatun: 
 
“Can the Mayor tell this Council what is being done to increase recycling in the 
borough?” 
 
 
8.8 Question from Councillor Maium Miah: 
 
“Can the Mayor inform the Council on whether the Rich Mix Centre has repaid its 
£850,000 short-term loan, as agreed by Michael Keith when he was Council 
Leader?” 
 
 
8.9 Question from Councillor Helal Uddin: 
 
“How does the Mayor justify the recently announced significant rent rise, which will 
hit tenants already struggling with rising costs in other utilities, falling wages and 
benefit changes, and rising fees and charges for parking and other Council Services, 
and what measures will he be taking to mitigate its effect?” 
 
 
8.10 Question from Councillor David Snowdon: 
 
“Will the Mayor please outline what measures he is taking to promote the teaching of 
history in Tower Hamlets schools?” 
 
 
8.11 Question from Councillor Kosru Uddin: 
 
“Following the EDL visit and the riots last year and lack of involvement of THEOs in 
supporting the borough's residents, has a revised strategy been agreed in terms of 
THEOs involvement in community safety if future disturbances on the scale 
witnessed last year were to be repeated?” 
 
 
8.12 Question from Councillor Stephanie Eaton to the Deputy Mayor: 
  
“Would the Deputy Mayor agree that the 41% increase in burglary over the past 12 
months in Bethnal Green North is a serious concern and would he join with me to 
urge the Borough Commander and the BGN Safer Neighbourhood Team to 
undertake an immediate review of the ward and implement burglary prevention 
measures in the ward?” 

Page 53



 
 
8.13 Question from Councillor Carlo Gibbs: 
 
“Can the Mayor please tell me how many visits were made by residents 
to Rushmead One Stop Shop last year regarding Housing Benefit?” 
 
 
8.14 Question from Councillor Gloria Thienel: 
 
“Considering the rising incidents of metal theft from public memorials; how many 
incidents of metal theft from a public memorial in Tower Hamlets has taken place in 
the last year, will the Mayor please inform the Council what measures he has taken 
to ensure that war memorials are protected in the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets?” 
 
 
8.15 Question from Councillor Khales Uddin Ahmed: 
 
“Can the Mayor tell me how many jobs so far have been taken up by Tower Hamlets 
residents as a result of the deal made between him and LOCOG?” 
 
 
8.16 Question from Councillor Harun Miah: 
 
“Will the Mayor and the lead member agree with me that the Private Finance 
Initiative was an unnecessary accounting trick which has not produced value for 
money for the taxpayer but has instead lumbered taxpayers with very large and 
potentially unsustainable future debts and could they confirm which PFI schemes 
imposed on Tower Hamlets schools have run into financing problems, what the 
implications are of these problems and what the council is doing to sort these 
problems out?” 
 
 
8.17 Question from Councillor Anna Lynch: 
 
“Can the Mayor tell me how many times he has met ministers of the Department for 
Health in the last six months, on what occasions and what issues he raised on each 
occasion?“ 
 
 
8.18 Question from Councillor Craig Aston: 
 
“Will the Mayor provide an update on energy efficiency in the Town Hall building?” 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



8.19 Question from Councillor Zenith Rahman: 
 
“Given the reductions he has already made in street cleaning in the borough, what 
measures is the Mayor taking to ensure that the increasingly filthy streets will not 
negatively impact on Tower Hamlets securing City Status?” 
 
 
8.20 Question from Councillor Lutfa Begum: 
 
“What has been done to help overcrowded families who are reluctant to move to Car 
Free Properties?” 
 
 
8.21 Question from Councillor Tim Archer: 
 
“Will the Mayor provide an update on the progress of the motion agreed by full 
Council on 15 September 2010, to bring the Henry Moore statue back to the borough 
and explain to the Council  why this is taking so long, what meetings/discussions 
have taken place and will the statue be back in time for the Olympics?” 
 
 
8.22 Question from Councillor Kabir Ahmed: 
 
“Could the Mayor tell us what has been the impact of his significant investment in 
tackling drugs and anti-social behaviour?” 
 
 
8.23 Question from Councillor Dr Emma Jones: 
 
“How many people sacked from Tower Hamlets employment have accidentally 
continued to be paid in the past year?” 
 
 
8.24 Question from Councillor Aminur Khan: 
 
“How has the Mayor progressed on his pledge to make sure Registered Social 
Landlords deliver on their service agreements?” 
 
 
8.25 Question from Councillor Shafiqul Haque to the Cabinet Member for 

Housing: 
 
“Many housing estates in the borough are benefiting from regeneration.  I would like 
to thank the Mayor for bringing this much needed investment.  However many of our 
leaseholders are suffering in the current financial climate, with increasing inflation, 
fuel prices and worries around employment.  How are we ensuring that leaseholders 
will be charged fairly for any major works?” 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

REPORT OF THE CABINET 
 

7 DECEMBER 2011 
 

To receive the report of the Cabinet at its meeting held on Wednesday 7 December 2011. 
 
 
Mayor and Councillors in attendance at the meeting: -  
 

Cabinet: 
Mayor Lutfur Rahman  
Councillor Ohid Ahmed (Deputy Mayor) 
Councillor Rofique U Ahmed  (Cabinet Member for Regeneration) 
Councillor Shahed Ali (Cabinet Member for Environment) 
Councillor Abdul Asad (Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing) 
Councillor Alibor Choudhury (Cabinet Member for Resources) 
Councillor Shafiqul Haque (Cabinet Member for Jobs and Skills) 
Councillor Rabina Khan (Cabinet Member for Housing) 
Councillor Oliur Rahman (Cabinet Member for Children’s Services) 
 
 
Other Councillors: 
Councillor Kabir Ahmed (Executive Advisor to the Mayor and Cabinet) 
Councillor Ann Jackson (Chair, Overview & Scrutiny Committee) 
Councillor Motin Uz Zaman (Deputy Leader of the Labour Group) 
 
 
1. Substance Misuse Strategy (CAB 054/112)  
 

The report (attached as Appendix A to this council report) informed the Mayor and 
Cabinet that: - 

• On 8 December 2010 the government launched its new drug strategy, 'Reducing 
demand, restricting supply, building recovery: supporting people to live a drug-
free life'. 

• Tower Hamlets is an area of high deprivation with low income households, both 
of which are associated with a greater level of harm resulting from substance 
misuse. 

• Average rates of alcohol consumption across Tower Hamlets are relatively low 
due to a large proportion of the population who do not drink, estimated to be 
33%.  However 43% of people who do drink have harmful or hazardous drinking 
patterns.  Levels of all recorded alcohol related crime, alcohol related violent 
crime and alcohol related sexual offences are significantly worse than the 
national average.  In addition, the borough sees high rates of male alcohol 
specific and alcohol attributed hospital admissions.

Agenda Item 9.1

Page 57



• It is estimated there are around 3795 Opiate and Crack Users in Tower Hamlets 
and 52% of residents who responded to the Annual Residents Survey (2010/11) 
said that drug misuse or dealing was a very or fairly big problem.  During the 
period April to July 2011, Tower Hamlets saw the highest number of class A 
offences in London. 

• Tower Hamlets have made considerable progress in reducing the harm caused 
by drug and alcohol misuse.  The London Borough of Tower Hamlets and NHS 
East London and the City, alongside treatment providers, the Metropolitan 
Police and London Probation have worked hard together to ensure that we 
support healthy lifestyle choices, provide high quality treatment and tackle drug / 
alcohol related crime and anti-social behaviour. 

• The Partnership is keen to build upon progress to date and further improve the 
approach to tackling the harms associated with drug and alcohol misuse in the 
borough.  The substance misuse strategy has been drafted by partners to 
outline the partnership approach for 2012-2015. 

The Mayor 

• Welcomed the Strategy, commenting that it was important that residents of the 
borough considered that the Council was making a positive difference to their 
lives. Significant resources had been invested in addressing substance misuse 
and he looked forward to seeing the anticipated outcomes of that. He was well 
aware of the potential for substance misuse to destroy the lives of young people. 
He concluded by strongly recommending that full Council to adopt the Strategy. 

• Agreed the recommendations as set out in the report before the Cabinet for 
consideration, with minor amendments. 

 
Decision 

 
That the contents of the report (CAB 054/112) be noted, 
 
That the Substance Misuse Strategy appended to the report (CAB 054/112) be 
endorsed; and 
 
That Council be recommended to adopt the Substance Misuse Strategy as set out in 
the report (CAB 054/112). 

 
 

Council is therefore recommended to: - 
 
Approve Substance Misuse Strategy, attached at Appendix 1 to the report (CAB 
054/112) (Attached at Appendix A to this Council report). 
 
 
 

Lutfur Rahman 
Mayor 

Page 58



 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 
LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 

 
Brief description  Tick if copy  If not supplied, 
of “background paper” supplied name and telephone 
number of holder 
 
Draft Cabinet minutes  Angus Taylor 
07/12/11  020 7364 4333  
 
 

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 

Committee/Meeting: 

 
Full Council 
 

Date: 

 
25/01/2012 

Classification: 
 

Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  

 
Corporate Director: Stephen Halsey 
 
Originating officer(s) Rachael Sadegh, 
Interim DAAT Co-ordinator 

 

Title: Substance Misuse Strategy 

 
 
Wards Affected: All wards 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Cllr Ohid Ahmed 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A Prosperous Community 
A Safe and Cohesive Community 
A Healthy and Supportive Community 

Strategic Priority 
 

  

 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1. On 8 December 2010 the government launched its new drug strategy, 

'Reducing demand, restricting supply, building recovery: supporting people 
to live a drug-free life'.  The strategy places emphasis on providing a more 
holistic approach to recovery, aims to reduce demand, takes an 
uncompromising approach to crack down on those involved in drugs supply, 
and puts power and accountability in the hands of local communities to 
tackle drugs and the harm they cause. 

1.2. In Tower Hamlets, we have over recent years made considerable progress 
in reducing the harm caused by drug and alcohol misuse.  The London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets and NHS East London and the City, alongside 
treatment providers, the Metropolitan Police and London Probation have 
worked hard together to ensure that we support healthy lifestyle choices, 
provide high quality treatment and tackle drug / alcohol related crime and 
anti-social behaviour. 

1.3. The Partnership is keen to build upon progress to date and further improve 
the approach to tackling the harm associated with drug and alcohol misuse 
in the borough.  The substance misuse strategy has been drafted by 
partners to outline the partnership approach for 2012-2015. 

Page 61



  

 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 

2.1 Full Council is recommended to:- 
- Consider the strategy and approve for adoption by LBTH  

 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 The strategy supports the achievement of objectives within three of the four 

Community Plan themes: 

• A Prosperous Community 
- Supporting more people into work and improving employment skills 
- Supporting residents through national welfare reform 

• A Safe and Cohesive Community 
- Focusing on crime and anti-social behaviour 
- Reducing re-offending 
- Reducing the fear of crime 

• A Healthy and Supportive Community 
- Helping people to live healthier lives 
- Keeping vulnerable and high risk children, adults and families safer and 

minimising harm and neglect  
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1. The Council has an obligation under section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998 to formulate and implement strategies in conjunction with other 
specified responsible authorities for combating the misuse of drugs, alcohol 
and other substances.  There is Partnership agreement that the strategic 
approach to drug and alcohol abuse should be come together in one 
overarching Substance Misuse Strategy as many of the issues are replicated 
across the client groups. This strategy will support the Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Strategy in Tower Hamlets (the Community Safety Plan). The 
Community Plan also refers to alcohol / drug strategies within both the Safe 
and Cohesive Community theme and the Healthy and Supportive Community 
theme reflecting widely held local concerns about these issues. 

 
4.2. Doing nothing would fail to address the needs of client groups and the 

concerns of residents. It would fail to address the concerns of the Partnership 
or adequately evolve services to become more effective in a period where 
resources face unprecedented pressures. This is not considered an option.  

 

Page 62



  

5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1. Tower Hamlets is an area of high deprivation with low income households, 

both of which are associated with a greater level of harm resulting from 
substance misuse.   

 
5.2. Average rates of alcohol consumption across Tower Hamlets are relatively 

low due to a large proportion of the population who do not drink, estimated to 
be 33%.  However 43% of people who do drink have harmful or hazardous 
drinking patterns.  Levels of all recorded alcohol related crime, alcohol related 
violent crime and alcohol related sexual offences are significantly worse than 
the national average.  In addition, the borough sees high rates of male 
alcohol specific and alcohol attributed hospital admissions. 

 
5.3. It is estimated there are around 3795 Opiate and Crack Users in Tower 

Hamlets and 52% of residents who responded to the Annual Residents 
Survey (2010/11) said that drug misuse or dealing was a very or fairly big 
problem.  During the period April to July 2011, Tower Hamlets saw the 
highest number of class A offences in London. 

 
5.4. By working in partnership, we can address the problems associated with drug 

and alcohol misuse.  Via this strategy, LBTH and partners aim to help people 
who are affected by substance misuse or dependent upon drugs or alcohol. 

 
 
6. BODY OF REPORT 
 
6.1. The Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-15 is the first combined drug and 

alcohol strategy for Tower Hamlets.  It is a 3 year partnership strategy and 
has been developed in conjunction with all partners and other significant 
stakeholders.   

6.2. Two documents have been produced; the full technical document and a 
shorter summary document aimed at residents and parties requiring an 
overview. 

6.3. The Strategy is divided into two chapters, drugs and alcohol.  Each chapter is 
further divided into three pillars;  

• prevention and behaviour change,  

• treatment,  

• enforcement / regulation.   

6.4 The three pillars are underpinned by a partnership commitment to improving 
data, intelligence and surveillance.  

6.5 Prevention and behaviour change commitments within the Strategy include 
information, promotion and prevention activities, multi-agency 

Page 63



  

communications plan, expansion of screening for alcohol problems, access to 
good quality education in schools. 

6.6 Treatment commitments within the Strategy include improving access to and 
effectiveness of treatment, redesigning the drug / alcohol treatment system to 
improve outcomes and localise services, targeted outreach for difficult to 
engage drinkers and drug users, improving our response to parental 
substance misuse, embedding a recovery focus within treatment services. 

6.7 Enforcement and regulation commitments within the strategy include actions 
to enforce law relating to alcohol and drugs and reduce associated antisocial 
behaviour and crime, implementation and enforcement of borough wide 
alcohol control zone, under age sales test purchases, operations to uncover 
illicit alcohol, dealer-a-day initiative, joint tasking approach to drug / alcohol 
related crime and ASB.  

6.4. A communications plan is currently in development to determine how the 
Strategy will be publicised to stakeholders and residents. An action plan will 
also be developed for all 3 strands of the Strategy and overseen by the DAAT 
Board to ensure accountability and demonstrable improvement activity.  The 
Strategy also calls for the designation of anti drug / alcohol champions across 
the borough and this is in accordance with the National Drugs Strategy. 

6.5. A wide consultation process was undertaken in July / August 2011 via 
stakeholder focus groups and an online survey.  Online responses were 
received and additional feedback gained via focus groups from service users, 
service providers, partners, councillors and residents.  Feedback has been 
taken into account and changes to the Strategy approved by the Strategy 
Steering Group and DAAT Board.  Formal responses to each consultation 
response have been written and will be available on LBTH and NHS East 
London and the City websites. 

6.6. Contribution to the Community Plan 

6.6.1. A Prosperous Community 

Opiate and Crack Users are amongst the most disadvantaged groups in 
society, frequently having physical and mental health problems as well as 
offending histories, often coupled with limited skills or employment 
experience.  Many employers are reluctant to recruit current or ex drug users, 
particularly if they have a history of offending.  DWP estimates indicate that 
there is a higher than average percentage of benefit claimants who are Opiate 
and Crack Users in Tower Hamlets (9.24% of Job Seekers Allowance 
claimants, 11.27% of Income Support claimants, 5.15% of Disability Living 
Allowance claimants, 9.53% of Incapacity Benefit claimants).  Whilst the same 
information is not available for alcohol misusers, there will also be an impact 
of alcohol misuse on worklessness.  This group will also be affected by 
changes within the Welfare Reform Bill. 
 
The Strategy commits to embedding recovery into treatment services to 
enable, empower and support drug / alcohol users to progress along a 

Page 64



  

journey of sustainable improvement to their health, wellbeing and 
independence, and focus support for them to secure accommodation, 
education and employment, and to reconnect with their local communities. 

 
6.6.2. A Safe and Cohesive Community 

Alcohol intoxication is associated with almost half of assaults and more than a 
quarter of domestic violence incidents.  In Tower Hamlets, alcohol related 
crime is significantly higher than the national average.  Similarly there are well 
documented associations between dependent Class A drug use and 
acquisitive crime.  In 2010/11, where mandatory drug tests were undertaken, 
31% of those tested had a positive result for opiates or cocaine.  Residents’ 
surveys show that residents are concerned about drug / alcohol associated 
anti-social behaviour and this is addressed by including enforcement and 
regulation as a central pillar of the strategy.  The Strategy commits to a wide 
range of actions to tackle drug / alcohol related crime and antisocial behaviour 
as well as strategies to reduce re offending by individuals with a drug / alcohol 
addiction. 

 
6.6.3. A Healthy and Supportive Community 

Regular heavy drinking is leading to a rapid rise in liver disease and alcohol 
misuse causes breast and mouth cancer, reduces fertility, damages unborn 
babies and affects cardiovascular health.  Approximately 15% of hospital 
admissions are alcohol related and 1 in 5 general hospital beds are occupied 
by a patient with an alcohol related issue.  People who misuse drugs may 
present with a range of physical and mental health problems including 
thrombosis, abscesses, overdose, hepatitis B and C, HIV, depression, anxiety 
and paranoia. 
 
The treatment pillar of the Strategy commits to a range of activities to improve 
wider health outcomes for all individuals who use drugs and / or alcohol as 
well as addressing their addiction specifically.  The prevention and behaviour 
change pillar addresses the early intervention and prevention activities 
required to help individuals recover from addiction and discourage individuals 
from misusing drugs / alcohol. 

 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 There are no specific financial implications emanating from this report, the 

funding of drug / alcohol services in the borough is mostly via external 
funding.  From 2013/14, the pooled treatment, drug intervention programme 
and PCT mainstream budgets will be incorporated within the Public Health 
budget transferred to the Local Authority.  The strategy covers the period for 
this arrangement and relies upon funding both external and internal to 
redesign the treatment system to be lean and flexible in delivering value for 
money. 

 

Page 65



  

8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
(LEGAL SERVICES) 

 
8.1. It is proposed to introduce a substance misuse strategy, which will contain a 

Tower Hamlets Partnership approach to tackling the problems associated with 
drug and alcohol misuse in the borough. 

 
8.2. The Council has an obligation under section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998 to formulate and implement strategies in conjunction with other specified 
responsible authorities for – 

 

• Reduction of crime and disorder 

• Combating the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances 

• Reduction of re-offending. 
 
8.3. The proposed strategy may fulfil the Council’s obligation in relation to the 

second of the areas specified in paragraph 8.2.  Pursuant to section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council is required, before adopting the 
strategy to have due regard to the likely effect of the strategy on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder, misuse of 
drugs and alcohol and re-offending in Tower Hamlets. 

 
8.4. Under section 11 of the Children Act 2004, the Council is required in the 

discharge of its functions to have regard to the need to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children.  The Council is also required by section 175 
of the Education Act 2002 to make arrangements for ensuring its education 
functions are exercised with a view to safeguarding and promoting the welfare 
of children.  The proposed strategy may be considered consistent with these 
requirements to the extent that it will focus on education for children and 
young people. 

 
8.5. The Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) 

Regulations 2007 require there to be a strategy group to prepare strategic 
assessments and to prepare and implement a partnership plan for Tower 
Hamlets on behalf of the responsible authorities.  For the purposes of 
preparing the strategic assessment and plan, the strategy group is required to 
engage with persons who live and work in Tower Hamlets about specified 
matters.  Before adopting the strategy, the Council will need to be satisfied 
that the required consultation has taken place. 

 
8.6. The report draws links between the proposed strategy and the Tower Hamlets 

Community Plan.  The links with the Community Plan may provide power for 
the Council to carry out the actions falling to it under the strategy.  The 
Council is empowered under section 2 of the Local Government Act 2000 to 
do anything which it considers likely to promote the social, economic or 
environmental well being of Tower Hamlets, provided the action is not 
otherwise prohibited by statute.  This power includes the ability to incur 
expenditure or to give financial assistance to or enter into arrangements or 
agreements with any other person.  The power may be exercised in relation 
to, or for the benefit of: (a) the whole or any part of Tower Hamlets; or (b) all 

Page 66



  

or any persons resident in Tower Hamlets.  In exercising the power, regard 
must be had to the Community Plan and there should be evidence to 
demonstrate the likely benefits. 

 
8.7. The council actions proposed under the strategy may in addition be 

supportable by reference to a number of the Council’s other statutory 
functions.  For example, in relation to the supply of alcohol the Council has 
functions under the Licensing Act 2003 as both a licensing authority and an 
enforcing authority.  A key objective under the Licensing Act is the prevention 
of crime and disorder and the Government’s guidance on licensing makes 
further reference to how authorities may relevantly exercise their powers.  
There are thus opportunities for the Council in the exercise of its Licensing Act 
functions to achieve objectives under the substance misuse strategy.  In 
respect of these and other statutory functions it will be for officers to ensure 
that the Council acts lawfully within its statutory functions. 

 
8.8. Before adopting the strategy, the Council must have due regard to the need to 

eliminate unlawful conduct under the Equality Act 2010, the need to advance 
equality of opportunity and the need to foster good relations between persons 
who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t.  Some form of 
equality analysis will be required and the report indicates that an equality 
impact assessment will be prepared by the Partnership. 

 
8.9. The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 

2000 provide that the making of a crime and disorder reduction strategy 
pursuant to sections 5 and 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 is a function 
that is required not to be the sole responsibility of the Council’s executive.  
This prescription is reflected in Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution, which 
includes a crime and disorder reduction strategy in the policy framework.  
Paragraph 4.1 of the report indicates that the substance misuse strategy 
forms a part of the Council’s crime and disorder reduction strategy and, on 
this basis, it will need to be agreed by Full Council. 

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 Individuals who misuse drugs and / or alcohol are often marginalised 

members of the community many of whom are in poverty.  Implementation of 
this Strategy has implications for; reducing inequalities, ensuring community 
cohesion and strengthening community leadership.  

 
9.2 Substance misuse issues affect significant numbers of residents in Tower 

Hamlets directly or indirectly.  Treatment and enforcement and regulation 
activities are provided directly to the public and are covered by the Strategy.  
All treatment services are monitored regularly to ensure equality of access 
and outcomes across all 9 protected characteristics.  A partnership EQIA is 
currently being conducted to establish the full impact of the Strategy and 
implement any measures necessary to mitigate against any differentials. 

 
9.3 Treatment services have been developed to appeal to various different 

population groups within Tower Hamlets.  The Strategy commits to a 

Page 67



  

redesign of the treatment system and it is essential that a new system 
continues to offer equitable access to all client groups and those individual 
groups do not perceive access to services or allocation of resources to be 
unfair. 

 
9.4 The Strategy consultation process involved a wide range of community 

groups.  It commits to ongoing engagement with community groups to 
support them in providing an impetus for sustained, coordinated action 
aimed at reducing drug related crime and strengthening community 
resilience. 

 
8. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 There are no environmental implications associated with this strategy.   
 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 The risks to successful implementation of this strategy relate to; the strength 

of the Partnership, availability of resources, and the continued prioritisation 
of strategies to tackle issues associated with substance misuse.  The life of 
the Strategy includes the Olympics period and this will represent a 
challenging time for the management of substance misuse issues. 

11.2 The Partnership currently operates a well attended Drug and Alcohol Action 
Team (DAAT) Board with representatives from all key stakeholders.  
Members of the DAAT Board are also proactive in Safe and Cohesive and 
Healthy and Supportive Community Plan Delivery Groups.  The strategy 
action plan will be monitored through the DAAT Board to ensure Partnership 
involvement. 

11.3 Drug and alcohol focussed services are currently funded via external grants, 
LBTH funds and NHS ELC funds.  With the advent of Public Health England 
and the transfer of Public Health responsibilities to Local Authorities, future 
funding streams are uncertain both in terms of size and ringfencing 
restrictions.  However, partners acknowledge the wider savings and benefits 
that are possible via investment in drug / alcohol services. 

11.4 Whilst residents remain concerned about the impact of drug / alcohol misuse 
in the borough, it is envisaged that strategies to tackle substance misuse will 
be prioritised though this cannot be guaranteed by all partners in the current 
economic climate.  The Mayor has committed resources to substance 
misuse focussed enforcement and treatment services and has identified 
substance misuse as a priority. 

11.5 During the Olympics period, it is expected that there will be a rise in drug / 
alcohol related crime and antisocial behaviour and transport logistics will 
present operational difficulties for treatment services.  LBTH is working in 
partnership with the NHS and the Police to agree and implement actions to 
minimise the impact upon residents and service users. 

 
10. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 One of the three defining pillars of the strategy is Enforcement and 

Regulation.  Key commitments outlined within this pillar include: 

Page 68



  

- Implementation and utilisation of a borough wide alcohol control zone to 
reduce anti-social behaviour 

- Creation of an environment where anybody under the legal drinking age is 
restricted from obtaining alcohol from licensed premises 

- Improvements to the management and planning of the night time economy 
- Disruption of the supply of drugs through effective enforcement 
- Implementation of a results focused Integrated Offender Management 

Programme 
- Work to be undertaken with community groups to support them to provide an 

impetus for sustained, coordinated action aimed at reducing drug related 
crime and strengthening community resilience. 

 
12.2 We will measure success against these commitments via; residents’ 

perceptions in the Annual Residents’ Survey, Dealer a Day data and 
substance misuse related re-offending data. 

  
11. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1 It is estimated nationally that for every £1 spent on alcohol treatment, £5 is 

saved elsewhere and for every £1 spent on drug treatment in Tower Hamlets, 
£3.95 is saved on health and crime costs. 

 
13.2 The majority of financial resources for drug / alcohol activities are via external 

grants though there is a significant investment from LBTH.  The strategy 
commits to a substantial redesign of the drug / alcohol treatment system.  This 
redesign process starts in October 2011 and is scheduled to be completed by 
October 2012.  The redesign process is necessary to develop a lean, flexible 
and client centred treatment system which eliminates duplication, is cost 
efficient and delivers excellent value for money. 

 
14. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015 
Summary 

Appendix 2 – Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015 
Technical Document 

Appendix 3 – Substance Misuse Strategy Action Plan  
 
 

 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

  

Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 
 

Population estimates of problematic drug 
users in England who access DWP 
Benefits: A feasibility study, DWP 
Working Paper No 46 

Rachael Sadegh, LBTH, 0207 364 4594, 
Anchorage House, Clove Crescent 

Drug Treatment Value for Money Tool – Rachael Sadegh, LBTH, 0207 364 4594, 

Page 69



  

calculation of estimated benefits from 
drug treatment in Tower Hamlets (NTA 
tool) 

Anchorage House, Clove Crescent 

Papers referred to in the Substance 
Misuse Strategy that are not publicly 
available 

Rachael Sadegh, LBTH, 0207 364 4594, 
Anchorage House, Clove Crescent 

 

Page 70



TOWER HAMLETS

SUBSTANCE MISUSE

STRATEGY 2012-2015

SUMMARY

D
R
A
F
T

Page 71



2

SUMMARY DRAFT

Helping individuals who abuse drugs and

alcohol on to the road to recovery is key

to our success in tackling drug and

alcohol misuse. But I know that the harms

caused by excessive use of these

substances extend far beyond the user to

affect their families, communities and

neighbourhoods.

I want people to feel safe in their homes

and neighbourhoods and so tackling

crime and anti-social behaviour, including

that associated with alcohol and drug

misuse, is my top priority.

The strategy is based on ‘three pillars’ of

action: prevention and behaviour change,

treatment, and enforcement and

regulation. These areas represent an

holistic approach which will help

individuals choose not to abuse alcohol or

drugs, encourage those who do so to

engage in treatment, and target and

punish those who sell illegal substances

in the borough.

The council will continue to work in

partnership with the NHS, Police, Fire

Service, Probation and the voluntary

sector to achieve these aims.

I have invested £1.3m this year in a range

of partnership initiatives to enforce

against drug misuse and offer treatment

options for those addicted to drugs or

alcohol. This money has contributed to

the funding of an extra 21 police officers,

called the Partnership Taskforce. The new

officers are already working closely with

communities and partner agencies to

tackle anti-social behaviour and drug-

related offences, and are a visible

presence on the borough’s streets. They

are continuing the successful ‘Dealer a

Day’ programme, which last year led to

the arrest of over 400 dealers.

The Partnership Taskforce is backed up by

a team of Tower Hamlets Enforcement

Officers, or THEOs, which I fund to target

low-level anti-social behaviour and to

provide a high-visibility reassurance in our

communities.

This year we have also introduced the

Responsible Drinking Borough. An

overwhelming majority of residents

backed our proposals to introduce the

scheme, which provides the council and

police with the power to react quickly and

effectively to drunken troublemakers.

Additionally, our Drug and Alcohol Action

Team (DAAT) and Drug Intervention

Programme (DIP) have achieved some

excellent results over recent years and are

amongst the best performing teams in the

country. My Deputy Mayor reflects on

some of these achievements in his

introduction, below.

This strategy consolidates the actions we

have already taken to tackle drug and

alcohol misuse, as well as setting out new

ways of working to ensure we are

building on our past success. We have the

highest aspirations for our borough;

working together to deliver this strategy

will help realise these aspirations.

Mayor of Tower Hamlets,

Lutfur Rahman.

FOREWORD FROM THE MAYOR

Page 72



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

3

DRAFT

I welcome this strategy, which sets out

how we will work to reduce the impacts

of drug and alcohol misuse within our

borough over the next three years.

It has been developed in conjunction with

our partners and further demonstrates our

commitment to the issues as already

demonstrated by the work of our Drug

and Alcohol Action Team (DAAT) and Drug

Intervention Programme (DIP). In recent

years, these teams have positioned

themselves amongst the best performing

drugs teams in the country.

Via a range of DAAT commissioned

treatment programmes and local health

services, Tower Hamlets has attracted an

increasing number of drug and alcohol

users into treatment in successive years

and now treats more Opiate and Crack

users than any other London borough.

DIP ensures that drug-misusing offenders

are offered appropriate treatment

interventions and Tower Hamlets DIP has

been successful in attracting increasing

numbers of Class A drug using offenders

into structured treatment interventions,

achieving levels of engagement 15%

above the national average.

Alongside alcohol treatment interventions,

these approaches ensure that individuals

suffering from substance misuse are

given the opportunity to recover and

reintegrate within their communities,

reducing the harm to themselves and

others.

Our pioneering approach to the treatment

of those who misuse drugs / alcohol

works in tandem with the enforcement

actions we are taking against drug

dealers, as explored above. Together they

will make our community a safer place for

all our residents.

Deputy Mayor of Tower Hamlets,

Cllr Ohid Ahmed

FOREWORD FROM THE DEPUTY MAYOR

Page 73



INTRODUCTION

4

SUMMARY DRAFT

1.1 This strategy summary outlines Tower

Hamlets Partnership’s approach to

tackling the problems associated with

drugs and alcohol misuse in the borough.

It presents the key actions the Partnership

intends to take from 2012-2015, as

detailed in the full Substance Misuse

Strategy technical document, which is

published alongside this strategy

summary, and which combined should be

read and considered as our one Strategy

for drugs and alcohol

1.2 In Tower Hamlets, we have over recent

years made considerable progress in

reducing the harm caused by drug and

alcohol misuse. The London Borough of

Tower Hamlets and NHS East London & The

City , alongside treatment providers, the

Metropolitan Police, and London Probation,

have together worked hard to ensure that

we support people to make healthy lifestyle

choices, provide high quality treatment and

support when needed, and tackle the

antisocial behaviour and crime associated

with drugs and alcohol

1.3 The Health and Wellbeing Board

provides an excellent opportunity to

strengthen the Partnership’s joined up

approach in addressing the wide ranging

individual and societal harms caused by

drug and alcohol misuse

1.4 The Partnership is keen to build on its

progress to date, to further improve our

approach to tackling the harm associated

with drug and alcohol misuse in the

borough, and intends to do so through

this strategy

Some successes to date

During 2010/11, there were 1,630 drug users in effective treatment in

Tower Hamlets, significantly in excess of our target, and the highest in

London, and our treatment services are accessed by people from Black

& Minority Ethnic communities at a higher rate than other similar areas.

During 2010/11, there were 409 arrests of dealers of Class A and Class

B drugs in the borough, taking the total number of arrests above our

target of 365 per year in the dealer a day programme.

We have successful attracted and secured funding to commission

three elements to our local alcohol treatment system; a primary care

enhanced service, delivery of an acute hospital Trust screening and

brief interventions service and the community alcohol team providing

health promotion, assessment, community detoxification, referral to

residential treatment and management of complex patients.

Protecting children and young people affected by parental substance

misuse remains a local priority. We continue to strengthen the

strategic response across the full range of services to target

effectively the problems that families face.

Page 74



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

WHAT WE KNOW ABOUT LOCAL

DRUG AND ALCOHOL ISSUES

5

DRAFT

2.1 In preparing this strategy, we have

researched information available

regarding the nature and scale of drug

and alcohol misuse in the borough, and

the effects on individuals and the local

community. Some of the key facts we

have established as part of our

research, and which have underlined

our need for a new strategy, are

detailed below

Key local facts: drugs

• 52% of residents who responded to

the Annual Residents Survey

(2010/11) said that drug misuse or

dealing was a very, or fairly big

problem

• As a recent snapshot Tower Hamlets

saw 1232 drug related offences

(dealing and possession) during April

to July 2011, accounting for 12% of

all notifiable offences in the borough.

During this same period, Tower

Hamlets saw the highest number of

class A offences in London.

• Where mandatory drug tests in police

custody suites were undertaken, 31%

of those tested in 2010/11 had a

positive result for opiates or cocaine

(mostly crack cocaine). There are well

documented associations between

dependent Class A drug use and

acquisitive crime

• The most recent estimate (2010/11)

suggests that there are around 3,795

people with problematic drug use in

Tower Hamlets; Of this number,

1,775 (47%) are estimated to have

not yet engaged with treatment.

2.2 It has been estimated nationally that the

cost of alcohol misuse is huge, with at least

£6 billion wasted every year. However, it is

also a fact that treatment can be cost

effective – for every £1 spent on treatment,

£5 is saved elsewhere. For drug misuse

treatment, similar financial benefits are

possible: for every £1 spent on drug

treatment in Tower Hamlets, £3.95 is saved

on health and crime costs.

Key local facts: alcohol

• Although the average rate of

alcohol consumption across

Tower Hamlets is relatively low,

due to a large proportion of the

population who do not drink,

43% of people who do drink

have harmful or hazardous

drinking patterns

• Despite the large proportion of

the population who do not

drink, we have higher than the

London average alcohol-related

admissions to hospital (most

recent available data suggests

that Tower Hamlets saw 1,841

per 100,000 alcohol related

hospital admissions in 2009/10

compared to a rate of 1,684 in

London and 1,743 in England)

• There is a considerable body of

international literature showing

that treatment for alcohol

problems is both effective and

cost-effective. In 2010/11, 602

Tower Hamlets residents

received structured alcohol

treatment.

Page 75



THE TOWER HAMLETS APPROACH

6

SUMMARY DRAFT

3.1 We believe that by working in

partnership we will more effectively

address the problems associated with

drug and alcohol misuse than if we were

to work alone. The commitments

contained in this strategy are therefore

the commitments of the Partnership,

including the London Borough of Tower

Hamlets, NHS East London & The City, the

Metropolitan Police, London Probation

and voluntary sector providers

3.2 The Partnership aims to help people

who are affected or dependent to recover,

by enabling, empowering and supporting

them to progress along a journey of

sustainable improvement to their health,

well-being and independence

3.3 The Partnership is very aware of the

serious social, psychological and physical

complications of poly drug use as well as

combined substance misuse and mental

health problems (known as dual

diagnosis). We believe that our services

are particularly attuned to the needs of

complex clients and while this is a

historically challenging client group for

traditional drug services, we will aim to

ensure that Tower Hamlets services

continue to develop to effectively meet

their needs

3.4 Carers and family members of

substance misusers can often become

isolated and feel stigmatised. It is

important that the services offered by the

Partnership as described in Tower

Hamlets Carers Strategy and

Commissioning Plan include the needs of

substance misusers. We will review the

existing provision of mainstream support

to carers of people with substance

misuse issues and seek to better address

their needs

3.5 Alcohol and drug misuse and

domestic violence are strongly linked.

The Partnership is committed to reducing

domestic violence and places

safeguarding at the heart of its work to

identify and address substance misuse in

the family

3.6 To make it clear that we can only

continue to progress in our approach to

tackling the problems associated with

drug and alcohol misuse through

partnership working, we have organised

our commitments around the three cross-

cutting pillars of prevention and behaviour

change, treatment, and enforcement and

regulation

Our Partnership Vision

In Tower Hamlets, we will support

people and families to make healthy

lifestyle choices; we will reduce

harm to those at risk, and empower

those who are addicted or

dependent to recover. We will

relentlessly bear down on the crime

and anti-social behaviour associated

with drug and alcohol misuse that

impacts on our communities.

Page 76



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

7

DRAFT

‘THREE PILLARS’ APPROACH

Information

Education

Support to parents

Health messages

Communications

Screening and

identification

Assessment and

care planning

Effective

treatment

Aftercare and

reintegration

Dedicated drug

task force

Integrated

offender

management

‘Dealer a day’

operations

Licensing

enforcement

Prevention
and Behaviour

Change

Treatment Enforcement
and

Regulation

Data and intelligence gathering and analysis

• Prevention and Behaviour Change

Prevention includes the actions we

will take to address the wider

determinants of health and factors

which we know increase vulnerability

to drug and alcohol misuse. Such

factors include poor quality housing,

lack of employment or educational

opportunities and intergenerational

influences

The National Social Marketing

Strategy1 lays out a framework for

addressing both individual and

societal push (e.g. peer pressure) and

pull (e.g. alcohol advertising) factors

Prevention and Behaviour Change also

includes the actions we will take to

ensure that high quality information is

available on drugs and alcohol,

promotion and prevention activities

are developed, and advice and initial

support options are made available to

people who might have early stage

problems with drugs and alcohol

• Treatment includes the actions we

will take to improve the access to and

effectiveness of treatment options for

people who are dependent on, or who

have problems with, alcohol or drugs

• Enforcement and Regulation includes

the actions we will take to enforce the

law as it relates to alcohol and drugs,

and tackle the anti-social behaviour

and crime associated with drug and

alcohol misuse

1 Changing behaviours, improving outcomes: A social

marketing strategy for public health

Department of Health (2011)

Page 77



ALCOHOL HARM REDUCTION:

OUR COMMITMENTS

8

SUMMARY DRAFT

4.1 The aim of our strategy is to reduce

alcohol-related problems to improve the

quality of life for both Tower Hamlets

residents and visitors. We seek to

encourage and promote a culture of

responsible drinking coupled with

responsible management of licensed

premises. Our strategy sets out our

priorities for addressing alcohol misuse

and how we intend to coordinate and

deliver them, with key areas set out

below

4.2 ACTION ON ALCOHOL:

PREVENTION AND BEHAVIOUR

CHANGE SUMMARY

4.2.1 We will ensure identification and

brief advice and, where appropriate,

referral on to other agencies, is routinely

undertaken on adult patients and clients

attending key frontline services e.g.

probation, health and the police. We will

explore the potential for this approach to

be expanded to paediatric and youth

services

4.2.2 We will develop a multi agency

communications plan for adults and

young people with a focus on harm

reduction, safe drinking levels and

targeting communities with high level of

alcohol related harm2

4.2.3 We will ensure that young people

have access to reliable alcohol education,

and support schools to develop effective

policies through a “whole schools

approach”3 to alcohol

4.3 ACTION ON ALCOHOL: TREATMENT

SUMMARY

4.3.1 We will increase access and uptake

and improve outcomes from services

across primary care, secondary care and

specialist services

4.3.2 We will further ensure that access to

our services is equitable for all of our local

communities. Integral to this process will

be the role of our redesigned treatment

system

4.3.3 We will strengthen our approach to

actively encourage difficult to engage

people, such as street drinkers and

offenders, into treatment and support,

through effective interagency work

2 The Chief Medical Officer for England recommends

that children should have an alcohol free childhood. If

young people aged 15 to 17 years old drink alcohol, it

should always be with the guidance of a parent or carer

or in a supervised environment.

http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/category/publications/
3 The whole schools approach includes:

‘A supportive school climate, environment and culture

created and owned by pupils, parents, carers, governors,

teachers, school staff and community organisations Whole

school policies and practice developed in line with legal

requirements and non-statutory guidance and which

complement the aims of the drug education programme.’-

see Department for Education and NICE for nationally

recognised definitions

Page 78



4.3.4 We will ensure that family based

interventions are integral to treatment

provision

4.3.5 We will implement a new treatment

model for young people which will

devolve responsibility for lower level and

threshold services to generic front line

youth services. The new model will

require clearer care pathways, a strong

interface with more specialist support and

treatment services, information sharing

and workforce development

4.3.6 We will ensure that there is rapid

access to intensive specialist support for

those young people whose alcohol

misuse is already starting to cause harm

and for the most vulnerable young people

this will include locally delivered multi-

agency packages of care with the aim of

preventing escalation

4.4 ACTION ON ALCOHOL:

ENFORCEMENT AND REGULATION

SUMMARY

4.4.1 We will implement and enforce a

borough wide alcohol control zone to

reduce anti- social behaviour

4.4.2 We will create an environment

where anybody under the legal drinking

age is restricted from obtaining alcohol

through working with licensed premises

to ensure responsible alcohol sales,

enforcement of any minimum alcohol

pricing, and promotion of the available

treatment services

4.4.3 We will improve the management

and planning of the night time economy

through strengthening the role of local

residents in regulating the environments

where alcohol can be obtained through

utilisation of licensing, planning and other

regulatory powers

4.5 ALCOHOL HARM REDUCTION: HOW

WE WILL MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

4.5.1 We will measure our success

against our commitments as detailed

above, and in the full Substance Misuse

Strategy technical document, by

publishing our performance against the

outcome indicators below:

• We will reduce the ill-health caused by

alcohol, alcohol related accidents and

hospital admissions

• We will tackle alcohol related

violence, crime, anti social behaviour

and related domestic violence

• We will reduce the impact of alcohol

related anti-social behaviour as

measured by the perception of our

local communities

• We will reduce the level of alcohol

related harm to children and young

people.

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

9

DRAFT

Page 79



DRUGS: OUR COMMITMENTS

10

SUMMARY

5.1 The aim of the drugs chapter of our

strategy is to reduce the demand for drugs

through effective education and

prevention, to increase the number of

service users entering, engaging with and

completing treatment in order to recover

from drug misuse and to relentlessly bear

down on the crime associated with drugs.

Our strategy sets out our priorities for

addressing drug misuse and how we

intend to coordinate and deliver them,

with a summary of key areas set out

below. The complete list of strategic

priorities is included in the strategy

technical document

5.2 ACTION ON DRUGS: PREVENTION

AND BEHAVIOUR CHANGE SUMMARY

5.2.1 We will support people to make

healthy lifestyle choices by providing

targeted communication and community

education including information about the

support services available alongside

targeted support for those who are at risk

5.2.2 We will ensure that our drug

information and prevention activity is

integrated within our broader health

promotion and prevention programmes, to

ensure that we offer helpful and accessible

information consistently across agencies,

and that front-line staff in all relevant

settings have the right skills and

knowledge to provide information and

support, including regarding mental health

and wellbeing

5.2.3 We will work across the Partnership to

develop services that address the wider

social determinants of health and wellbeing,

such as access to accommodation,

employment support, economic wellbeing,

educational achievement

5.2.4 We will work in partnership with

schools to provide good quality drug

education through Social and Emotional

Aspects of Learning (SEAL), Personal Social

Health Education (PSHE) and pastoral care

5.2.5 We will combine universal prevention

activity through schools with a commitment

to intervening early, offering targeted

support to vulnerable groups of young

people at increased risk of substance

misuse to prevent this or when problems

first arise. We will ensure rapid access to

intensive specialist support for those young

people whose substance misuse is already

starting to cause harm and devise locally

delivered multi agency packages of care

5.3 ACTION ON DRUGS: TREATMENT

SUMMARY

5.3.1 During 2011/12, we will complete a

redesign of treatment services in the

borough. The redesign will help us to

develop our model for drug treatment in a

way that fits with the current and future

need of our population, and the evidence

available on what works well, and will inform

our commissioning intentions for 2012/13

and beyond. We intend that the redesign will

help us to simplify access arrangements,

strengthen the importance of service user

involvement and work across the system to

develop a “whole systems” approach. Such

an approach entails all providers working

together to provide a seamless approach to

support for service users

5.3.2 We will work across the Partnership

to develop and impement our vision for a

recovery orientated treatment service,

helping adults who are addicted or

dependent to recover, by enabling,

empowering and supporting them to

progress along a journey of sustainable

DRAFT

Page 80



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

11

improvement to their health, well-being

and independence, and focussing support

for them to secure accommodation,

education and employment, and to re-

connect with their local communities

5.3.3 We will support our adult treatment

and children’s services to improve their

response to the needs of children of drug

misusers. We will embed good practice

and develop a protocol between children’s

services (including safeguarding) and

treatment providers, train workers and

support staff to identify and respond to

drug using parents and their children

5.3.4 We will target treatment naïve drug

misusers and those who have disengaged

with treatment, in order to motivate them

towards (re) engaging in treatment and

progress towards recovery

5.3.5 As with alcohol, our approach will

combine universal prevention activity

through schools and youth services with a

commitment to intervening early, offering

targeted support to vulnerable groups of

young people at increased risk of

substance misuse to prevent this or when

problems first arise

5.3.6 As with alcohol, we will implement a

new treatment model for young people

which will devolve responsibility for lower

level and threshold services to generic front

line youth services. The new model will

demand clarity around care pathways into,

and interface with more specialist support

and treatment services, information sharing

and workforce development

5.3.7 As with alcohol, we will ensure there

is rapid access to intensive specialist

support for those young people whose

substance misuse is already starting to

cause harm and for the most vulnerable

young people, this will include locally

delivered multi-agency packages of care

with the aim of preventing escalation

5.3.8 As with alcohol, we will ensure that

family based interventions are integral to

treatment provision

5.4 ACTION ON DRUGS: ENFORCEMENT

SUMMARY

5.4.1 We will disrupt the supply of drugs

through effective enforcement, including

investment in primary policing

enforcement via the ‘dealer-a-day’

initiative to target drug dealers in the

borough, and the coordination of a

dedicated drug task force which will focus

solely on addressing drug related crime

and anti-social behaviour

5.4.2 We will implement a results-focused

Integrated Offender Management (IOM)

programme to ensure drug misusing

offenders receive a holistic support

package aimed at stopping offending and

drug dependence

5.4.3 We will work alongside community

groups such as Communities Against

Drugs & Alcohol Abuse to support them in

providing an impetus for sustained,

coordinated action aimed at reducing

drug related crime and strengthening

community resilience

5.4.4 We will respond to, and reduce,

community concerns about drug use and

drug dealing through on-going dialogue

and effective communication of

successful operations to the public

5.5 DRUGS: HOW WE WILL MEASURE

OUR SUCCESS

5.5.1 We will measure our success against

our commitments as detailed above, and in

the full Substance Misuse Strategy – drugs

chapter, by publishing our performance

against the outcome indicators below:

• We will increase the number of drug

users entering, engaging with and

completing treatment

• We will reduce the impact of drug

related crime and anti-social

behaviour as measured by the

perception of our local communities

• We will continue to demonstrate our

successes in restricting the drugs trade

through our “Dealer a Day” initiative.

DRAFT

Page 81



UNDERPINNING THE

FOUNDATIONS OF THE

SUBSTANCE MISUSE STRATEGY

12

SUMMARY DRAFT

6.1 We believe it is critical to the

effectiveness of this strategy to have firm

foundations to underpin the three pillars.

To this end, we wish to improve our

understanding of the needs of our local

population in the context of new

emergent trends in drug and alcohol use,

and to ensure that our treatment system

leads to effective outcomes for the whole

community

6.2 USE OF DATA, INTELLIGENCE AND

SURVEILLANCE

6.2.1 We wish to understand the impact

on our population of the use of new drugs

such as “legal highs”, steroids, and over

the counter and prescribed medicines,

and will ensure that these areas are

considered in future needs assessments

6.2.2 We wish to develop our

understanding of drug markets,

distribution and trafficking, to inform our

approach to enforcement and community

development

6.2.3 We wish to benchmark our

treatment outcomes data against other

boroughs, to measure how effective our

services are, and to help us to further

improve them

6.2.4 We wish to ensure that our services

and interventions are meeting the needs

of the entire Tower Hamlets community,

regardless of age, disability, gender

assignment, marriage or civil partnership,

pregnancy or maternity, race, religion and

belief, sex, and sexual orientation, and will

therefore work with our commissioned

providers to monitor equity of access

through audit

6.2.5 We wish to ensure that we have

robust mechanisms in place to monitor

drug-related deaths, and where

appropriate to investigate contributory

factors, and learn from them

6.2.6 We intend to ensure that our

analysis of need and demand is carried

out in a structured and ongoing manner,

informed by and in the context of our

Partnership Joint Strategic Needs

Assessment

6.3 GOVERNANCE

6.3.1 We will keep under review the

Partnership governance arrangements for

drug and alcohol planning and delivery, to

ensure that they are robust and have the

capacity and capability to deliver this

strategyPage 82



6.3.2 We believe that service users and

carers have a uniquely valuable

contribution to make in the development,

improvement and monitoring of services.

We will, therefore, further develop

mechanisms for effective service user

engagement, including developing and

implementing a Service User and Carer

Charter and supporting the development

of peer support/mentors and service user

recovery champions. We will also ensure

that support is available for carers or

significant others who are affected by

someone else’s drug or alcohol misuse

6.3.3 The Drug and Alcohol Action Team

Board will oversee the implementation of

the strategy. As drug and alcohol misuse

affects many of the Partnership’s strategic

priority areas, reports on progress will

also be provided for other relevant boards

such as the ‘Safe and Cohesive’, ‘Healthy

Communities’ and Health and Wellbeing

Boards as appropriate

6.3.4 Responsibility for developing and

implementing the children and young

people’s substance misuse plan lies with

Tower Hamlets Children and Families

Trust; representatives of which attend the

DAAT board

6.3.5 We will strengthen our cross

partnership work by designating within

each organisation a senior champion to

own, and contribute to the effective

delivery of this strategy

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

13

DRAFT

NEXT STEPS

7.1 Our strategy has been developed

through an analysis of local need, a review

of the evidence base for effective

intervention, and by listening to the views

of local stakeholders. We are committed

to ongoing consultation with stakeholders,

including service users, the public,

children and young people, professionals

and community representatives, to further

refine our vision and associated actions for

the three years ahead

7.2 We recognise and value the expertise

and interest among partners in tackling

substance misuse in Tower Hamlets. We

intend to develop the Strategy’s action

plan in close collaboration with them

through a time limited steering group
Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



TOWER HAMLETS
SUBSTANCE MISUSE
STRATEGY 2012-2015

TECHNICAL DOCUMENT

D
R
A
FT

Page 85



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

1

DRAFT

Chapter 1: Alcohol .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 3

1. Executive summary .................................................................................................................................................................................. 4

Key objectives .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 4

Priorities.................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4

Prevention and Behaviour Change ........................................................................................................................................ 4

Treatment .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5

Enforcement and Regulation ........................................................................................................................................................ 5

2. Introduction.......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6

3. The need for a strategic response to alcohol misuse in Tower Hamlets ............................ 7

4. What do we know about the use of alcohol locally and its effects? ........................................ 9

Understanding local patterns of alcohol consumption behaviour .............................. 9

Understanding the alcohol treatment profile .......................................................................................... 9

Enforcement and regulation activity .................................................................................................................. 9

Gaps in our knowledge ..................................................................................................................................................10

5. Our response: objectives and priorities ...................................................................................................................... 11

5.1 Our aim ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 11

5.2 Our objectives ............................................................................................................................................................................ 11

5.3 Our priorities .................................................................................................................................................................................. 11

Prevention and Behaviour Change .................................................................................................................... 11

Treatment .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 12

Enforcement and Regulation.................................................................................................................................... 13

6. Current responses in tackling local alcohol related harm and challenges

encountered .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 13

6.1 Prevention and Behaviour Change .................................................................................................................. 13

Current responses: .............................................................................................................................................................. 13

Challenges remaining: ...................................................................................................................................................... 13

6.2 Treatment .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 14

Current responses: .............................................................................................................................................................. 14

Challenges remaining: ...................................................................................................................................................... 15

6.3 Enforcement and Regulation.................................................................................................................................... 17

Current responses: .............................................................................................................................................................. 17

Challenges remaining: ...................................................................................................................................................... 18

7. Underpinning the foundations ................................................................................................................................................ 20

CONTENTS

Page 86



DRAFT

2

Appendix 1: Additional local epidemiology and service data ...................................................................... 21

Prevention and Behaviour Change data: .......................................................................................... 21

Figure A: Prevalence of harmful/hazardous drinking by age and

ethnic group .......................................................................................................................................................................... 22

Treatment data .................................................................................................................................................................. 22

Enforcement and licensing data.................................................................................................................. 23

Appendix 2: From the evidence: what interventions are likely to have the

greatest impact? .............................................................................................................................................................. 24

Evidence for Pillar 1: Prevention and Behaviour Change ........................................ 24

Evidence for Pillar 2: Treatment .............................................................................................................. 26

Evidence for Pillar 3: Enforcement and Regulation ........................................................ 27

Chapter 2: Drugs .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 29

Glossary of abbreviations .............................................................................................................................................................................. 30

1. Executive summary................................................................................................................................................................................ 31

Key objectives .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 31

Strategic priorities.................................................................................................................................................................................... 32

2. Introduction ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 37

3. The need for a strategic response to drug misuse in Tower Hamlets ................................ 39

4. What do we know about the use of drugs locally and where are the

gaps in our knowledge ...................................................................................................................................................................... 41

5. Our response: aims, objectives and strategic priorities ........................................................................ 46

Our aims and objectives.................................................................................................................................................................. 46

Our strategic priorities ...................................................................................................................................................................... 47

6. Current responses ................................................................................................................................................................................ 52

7. Underpinning the foundations ................................................................................................................................................ 53

Use of data, intelligence and surveillance ................................................................................................................ 53

Implementation, monitoring and review .................................................................................................................... 53

Appendix 1. National prevalence of drug misuse ...................................................................................................... 54

Appendix 2: National policy framework .................................................................................................................................. 55

Appendix 3: Tower Hamlets policy context ........................................................................................................................ 56

Appendix 4: What are the benefits to the local community of drug treatment?................ 59

Appendix 5: Current operational responses to tackle drug misuse and

further actions required .......................................................................................................................................... 61

Prevention and Behaviour change ............................................................................................................ 61

Treatment .................................................................................................................................................................................. 62

Enforcement.......................................................................................................................................................................... 69

Page 87



D
R
A
FT

TOWER HAMLETS
SUBSTANCE MISUSE
STRATEGY 2012-2015

TECHNICAL DOCUMENT
CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

Page 88



Key objectives

Drawing on the local epidemiology, gap

analysis, evidence of what works and

previous experience and history in Tower

Hamlets of tackling alcohol related harm,

and to contribute to longer term

population health benefits, we aim to

achieve the following within the three year

time frame of this document:

• To reduce the chronic (long term) and

acute (immediate) ill health caused by

alcohol, alcohol related accidents and

hospital admissions

• To reduce alcohol related violence,

crime, anti social behaviour and

related domestic violence

• To reduce the percentage of people

who perceive alcohol related anti

social behaviour to be a problem in

their area

• To improve the management and

planning of the night time economy

• To reduce the level of alcohol related

harm to children and young people

• To strengthen the cross partnership

work with a designated high level

champion in partner agencies who

will help achieve the strategic vision

Priorities

The priorities for achieving these

objectives are outlined below against the

three pillars of the Substance Misuse

Strategy: Prevention and behaviour

change, treatment and enforcement and

regulation. Additionally it is important to

ensure that alcohol is prioritised within

the wider substance misuse agenda.

Prevention and Behaviour Change

• We will ensure identification and brief

advice (IBA) for alcohol related harm is

routinely undertaken on adult patients

and clients across key frontline services

e.g. probation, health and the police. We

should explore the potential for this to

be expanded to paediatric and youth

services.

• We will develop a multi agency

communications plan for adults and

young people with a focus on harm

reduction, safe drinking levels1 and

targeting communities with high

levels of alcohol related harm

• We will ensure that young people

have access to reliable alcohol

education and support schools to

develop effective policies through a

“whole schools approach” to alcohol2

• There is a high prevalence of

substance misuse and dual diagnosis

amongst hostel users and ex

offenders. There is therefore a

significant opportunity to strengthen

joined up working between hostels

and treatment services to address the

needs of these clients

4

DRAFTCHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1 The Chief Medical Officer for England recommends
that children should have an alcohol free childhood and
should not consume alcohol before the age of 15 years.
If young people aged 15 to 17 years old drink alcohol, it
should always be with the guidance of a parent or carer
or in a supervised environment.
http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/category/publications/

2 The whole schools approach includes: ‘a supportive
school climate, environment and culture created and
owned by pupils, parents, carers, governors, teachers,
school staff and community organisations. Whole school
policies and practice developed in line with legal
requirements and non-statutory guidance and which
complement the aims of the drug programme’ – see
Department of Health and NICE for nationally recognised
definitions.

Page 89



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

Treatment

• We will increase access and uptake

and improve outcomes from services

across primary care, secondary care

and specialist services ensuring that

access to our services is equitable for

all of our local communities. Integral

to this process will be the role of our

redesigned treatment system

• We will strengthen our approach, to

actively encourage difficult to engage

people, such as street drinkers and

offenders, into treatment and support

through effective interagency work

• Ensure family based interventions are

integral to treatment provision

• We will strengthen our commitment

to reduce domestic violence and

place safeguarding at the heart of our

work to identify and address

substance misuse in the family

• Carers and family members of those

affected by substance misuse can

often become isolated and feel

stigmatised. It is important that the

services offered by the Partnership as

described in the Tower Hamlets

Carers Strategy and Commissioning

Plan include the needs of substance

misusers. We will review existing

provision of mainstream support to

carers of people with substance

misuse issues and seek to better

address their needs

• We will implement a new treatment

model for young people which will

devolve responsibility for lower level

and threshold services to generic

front line youth services. The new

model will require clearer care

pathways, a strong interface with

more specialist support and treatment

services, information sharing and

workforce development

• We will ensure that there is rapid

access to intensive specialist support

for those young people whose

substance misuse is already starting

to cause harm and for the more

vulnerable young people this will

include locally delivered multi-agency

packages of care with the aim of

preventing escalation

Enforcement and Regulation

• We will implement and enforce a

borough wide alcohol control zone to

reduce anti- social behaviour

• We will create an environment where

anybody under the legal drinking age

is restricted from obtaining alcohol

through working with licensed

premises to ensure responsible

alcohol sales, enforcement of any

minimum alcohol pricing and

promotion of the available treatment

services

• We will improve the management and

planning of the night time economy

through strengthening the role of

local residents in regulating the

environments where alcohol can be

obtained through utilisation of

licensing, planning and other

regulatory powers

How we will measure our success

We will measure our success against our

commitments above and in the Substance

Misuse Strategy Summary document by

publishing our performance against the

following indicators:

• We will reduce the ill health caused by

alcohol, alcohol related accidents and

hospital admissions

• We will tackle alcohol related

violence, crime, antisocial behaviour

and related domestic violence

• We will reduce the impact of alcohol

related antisocial behaviour as

measured by the perception of our

local communities

• We will reduce the level of alcohol

related harm to children and young

people

5

DRAFT

Page 90



6

This is the first chapter of the supporting

technical strategy document, aimed at an

audience involved and interested in

progressing action to address alcohol

misuse. The complete strategy technical

document consists of two chapters. This

first focussing on alcohol and the second

on drug misuse. A shorter, more accessible

summary document is also available for the

public, service users and carers, and those

who require an overview of key points. The

summary covers the two chapters of the

Substance Misuse Strategy, both drugs and

alcohol, together in one document.

Whether it has been in relation to reported

increased sales, the relationship to crime

and disorder, binge drinking and its effect

on young people or the health hazards

attached to excessive consumption,

alcohol has seized both national and local

headlines for a variety of different reasons.

The impact of alcohol cannot be denied; it

has grown to be a key component of the

leisure industry and in many cases an

underlying contributor to increased

economic wealth in providing

employment to many of our communities.

The last decade has heralded significant

advances in alcohol policy and legislation.

The Licensing Act 20033 brought about

important changes to the rules

surrounding the sale of alcohol across the

country together with enforcement

procedures relating to the management of

licensed premises. Changes to the

opportunities for treatment for those

affected by excessive alcohol

consumption were detailed in the NHS

document Models of Care for Alcohol

Misuse (2006)4.

This Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse

Strategy – alcohol section, has not been

created to prohibit the consumption of

alcohol, but seeks to encourage and

promote a culture of responsible drinking

coupled with responsible management of

licensed premises.

The aim of this document is to reduce

alcohol-related problems to improve the

quality of life for both Tower Hamlets

residents and visitors. This document sets

out our priorities for addressing alcohol

misuse and how we intend to coordinate

and deliver them.

The Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse

Strategy supports the Government’s

National Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy

for England (2005)5 and the publication

Safe, Sensible, Social - The next steps in

the National Alcohol Strategy (2007)6. It

identifies key areas of activity to be

prioritised by two of our key partnerships,

Healthy Communities and Safe and

Cohesive, as well as our Health and

Wellbeing Board over the next three years.

For Tower Hamlets to deal effectively with

the many issues brought about by alcohol,

we must harness all the energies of our

partner agencies and work together to

deliver an effective and resilient response

whilst providing reassurance to our

communities that Tower Hamlets has a

safe and thriving environment in which to

work, visit and invest.

DRAFTCHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

INTRODUCTION

3 The 2003 Licensing Act: Alcohol use and Anti Social
Behaviour in England and Wales – Loveday B (2005)

4 Models of Care for Alcohol Misuse’ NHS/NTA (2006)
5 Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy for England’ Prime
Ministers Strategy Unit – (2004)

6 Safe. Sensible. Social. The next steps in the National
Alcohol Strategy – (2007)

Page 91



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

Although alcohol has formed part of

British culture for centuries and is used

sensibly by most, its misuse has become

part of a worsening public health problem

in the UK with far reaching consequences

affecting the individual, family and wider

society.

Tower Hamlets is an area of high

deprivation with households on low

income both of which are associated with

a greater level of harm resulting from

alcohol misuse7,8. Historically the political

focus has tended to be on illegal drug use

and treatment with much higher levels of

resources deployed in this area. In 2004,

the Department of Health established that

an average of £197 was spent on each

dependent drinker, compared to £1,744

for each dependent drug user. Yet, while

alcohol dependence affects 4% of the

population, and alcohol misuse

considerably more, problem drug use

rates are closer to 0.5%9. More recently it

has become widely accepted that alcohol

misuse leads to greater harm in terms of

cost to both the individual and society10.

Alcohol intoxication is associated with

almost half of assaults and more than a

quarter of domestic violence incidents.

The latest National data suggested that, in

2009/10 nearly half of all violent crime

was alcohol related crime and anti-social

behaviour. Regular heavy drinking is

leading to a rapid rise in liver disease,

which is now the fifth biggest cause of

death in England and twice as high as ten

years ago. Alcohol misuse causes breast

and mouth cancer, reduces fertility,

damages unborn babies, leads to

miscarriages and affects cardiovascular

health. This leads to overuse of health

services with associated costs. Problem

drinkers GP attendance rate is double

compared to other patients11.

Approximately 15% of hospital

admissions are alcohol related12 and 1 in 5

general hospital beds are occupied by a

patient with an alcohol-related issue13.

In June 2007, the Department of Health

and the Home Office jointly launched an

updated alcohol strategy ‘Safe, Sensible,

Social: the next steps in the National

Alcohol Strategy’ with a clear vision to

“minimise the health harms, violence and

antisocial behaviour associated with

alcohol, while ensuring that people are

able to enjoy alcohol safely and

responsibly”.

The Strategy emphasised that efforts

needed to focus on the significant

minority of drinkers who experience, and

are responsible for, most of the crime,

health and social harm associated with

7

DRAFT

THE NEED FOR A STRATEGIC
RESPONSE TO ALCOHOL IN
TOWER HAMLETS

7 Healthy lives, healthy people: our strategy for public
health in England. Department of Health 2010

8 Dr. Ian Basnett Joint Director of Public Health NHS
Tower Hamlets London Borough of Tower Hamlets
Health Inequalities:
A response to the Comprehensive Area Assessment
report and the national Strategic Review of Health
Inequalities

9 http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200910/
cmselect/cmhealth/151/15109.htm#note121 accessed
3/1/2011

10 Nutt DJ, King LA, Phillips LD, on behalf of the
Independent Scientific Committee on Drugs (2010)
Drug harms in the UK: a multicriteria decision analysis.
The Lancet, Volume 376, Issue 9752, Pages 1558 1565

11 Deehan, A et al. Low detection rates, negative attitudes
and the failure to meet “Health of the Nation” targets.
Drug and Alcohol Review 1988; 17

12 Pirmohmed M et al. Alcohol abuse and the burden on
the NHS. Quarterly Journal of Medicine 2000

13 Mullally S. Alcohol – A nursing issue: A message from
the Chief Nursing Officer. Alcoholism 2000

Page 92



DRAFT

alcohol misuse. Local research14 suggests

that this focus should be on 16-34 year

olds who drink alcohol, many of whom

are drinking more than they used to only a

few years ago; the binge drinkers, a

minority of whom are responsible for the

majority of alcohol-related crime and

disorder in the night-time economy; and

harmful drinkers, whose patterns of

drinking damage their physical or mental

health and who may be causing

substantial harm to others15.

To continue to reverse the local trend in

hazardous and harmful drinking is a major

challenge which will require high level

strategic support, accountability and long

term commitment from all member

organisations of Tower Hamlets

Partnership including, of most

importance, the alcohol industry itself.

While the cost of alcohol misuse is huge

with at least £6billion wasted every year16

treatment can be cost effective – for every

one pound spent on treatment, five are

saved elsewhere17 demonstrating the

value in timely intervention and continued

investment in effective treatment.

It should be acknowledged however that

such changes take time to implement and

in countries that have succeeded in

reducing the harm caused by alcohol, it

has taken 10 years or more for reductions

in consumption to lead to lower levels of

alcohol associated disease or ill-health.

This document builds on the 2007

strategy and has been compiled following

an extensive review of the 2007 strategy

involving surveys, qualitative interviews

with key stakeholders, focus groups with

members of the public and stakeholder

events, reflection of local needs and a

review of best practice in alcohol harm

reduction. The Substance Misuse

Strategy’s (alcohol chapter) priorities are

contained within three pillars:

• Prevention and Behaviour Change

• Treatment

• Enforcement and Regulation

14 NHS Tower Hamlets, social marketing project: ‘Young
People’s attitudes and reasons for street drinking, 2009

15 Tower Hamlets Adults Health & Lifestyles Survey, 2009
16 150 years of the Annual Report of the Chief Medical
Officer: On the state of public health 2008 Copyright
holder: Crown

17 Review of the Effectiveness of the Treatment for
Alcohol Problems (NTA, 2006)

CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

8

Page 93



WHAT DOWE KNOW ABOUT
THE USE OF ALCOHOL LOCALLY
ANDWHERE ARE THE GAPS IN
OUR KNOWLEDGE?

DRAFT

Local data paints an interesting picture of

alcohol related harm to health, quality of

life and community in Tower Hamlets. The

following key ‘high level’ points illustrate

the need for a focused local strategy18:

Understanding local patterns of alcohol

consumption behaviour

• Although rates of alcohol

consumption19 are relatively low in

Tower Hamlets due to a large

abstinent population, high risk

drinking amongst the population who

do drink is common

• 43% of people who drink in Tower

Hamlets have harmful or hazardous

drinking patterns20

• 3 in 10 of Tower Hamlets children

have ever had an alcoholic drink

compared to 7 in 10 nationally

(reflecting the large Muslim

population in the borough). Young

consumers of alcohol are less likely

than non-users to rate advice given in

schools as helpful21

Understanding the alcohol treatment

profile

• Despite the relatively low prevalence

locally of alcohol use, a rate of 1,841

per 100,000 alcohol related hospital

admissions were seen in 2009/10 (our

most recently available data)

compared to a rate of 1,684 in London

and 1,743 in England during the same

time period

• 602 adult clients were seen in

structured alcohol treatment services

in 2010/11

• 117 young people with substance

misuse related issues were treated in

2010/11, 54% of whom were

receiving treatment for alcohol misuse

Enforcement and regulation activity

• 309 test purchase operations were

conducted in 2010/11

• In 2010/11, 14 licensing reviews

triggered by Trading Standards

resulted in a range of assertive

actions including revocation of

licences, suspensions and extra

conditions added to existing licences.

Other actions included the temporary

closure of premises, written warnings

issued as well as serving of fixed

penalty notices. Repeated concerns

with specific premises resulted in

prosecution e.g. in one instance for

repeated sales to underage drinkers

18 Please refer to appendix 1 for additional
epidemiological, need and service level data

19 Government guidelines suggest that women should not
regularly consume more than 3 units19 per day and that
men should not regularly exceed more than 4 units per
day because of the progressive health risks associated
with this. Drinking above sensible drinking levels,
particularly when this is done over an extended period
of time, causes risks to health.

20 Dr Ian Basnett, NHS Tower Hamlets: Annual Report of
the Joint Director of Public Health 2009 2010

21 Taken from results to Tellus 4 survey Tower Hamlets
(2010) Department for Children, Schools and Families
HM Government

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

9

Page 94



• During 2010/11, 1356 brief

interventions were provided by the

Drug and Alcohol Outreach team in

close collaboration with the Tower

Hamlets Enforcement Officers

(THEOs) and Joint Enforcement Team

(JET)

Gaps in our knowledge

While a considerable volume of data is

used to inform our work from a range of

different sources, we are aware of gaps in

the information available to us. Such gaps

include:

• Data capturing deaths due to alcohol

(directly and indirectly attributable to

alcohol consumption)

• Alcohol related Accident and

Emergency department attendances

• Prevalence of poly-drug users (alcohol

and drugs) both in the borough and

accessing frontline services

CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

10

DRAFT

Page 95



5.1 Our aim

To reduce the harm to health, violence

and anti-social behaviour associated with

alcohol while ensuring that people are

able to enjoy alcohol safely and

responsibly.

5.2 Our objectives

Drawing on the local epidemiology, gap

analysis, evidence of what works and

previous experience and history in Tower

Hamlets of tackling alcohol related harm,

and to contribute to longer term

population health benefits, we aim to

achieve the following within the three year

time frame of this strategy:

• To reduce the chronic and acute ill

health caused by alcohol, alcohol

related accidents and hospital

admissions

• To tackle alcohol related violence,

crime, anti social behaviour and

related domestic violence

• To reduce the percentage of people

who perceive alcohol related anti

social behaviour to be a problem in

their area

• To improve the management and

planning of the night time economy

• To reduce the level of alcohol related

harm to children and young people

• To strengthen the cross partnership

work with a designated high level

champion in partner agencies who

will help achieve the strategic vision

5.3 Our priorities

The priorities for achieving these

objectives are outlined below against the

three pillars of the Substance Misuse

strategy (alcohol chapter): Prevention and

Behaviour Change, Treatment and

Enforcement and Regulation. Additionally

it is important to ensure that alcohol is

prioritised within the wider substance

misuse agenda.

Prevention and Behaviour Change

• Ensure Identification and brief advice

(IBA) for alcohol related harm is

undertaken on all adult patients and

clients across frontline services

• Develop a multi agency

communications plan for adults and

young people with a focus on harm

reduction, safe drinking levels22 and

targeting communities with high

levels of alcohol related harm

• Enable young people to receive

trustworthy alcohol education and

support schools to develop effective

policies through a whole schools

approach to alcohol.

• There is a high prevalence of both

substance issue and dual diagnosis in

the borough particularly among hostel

residents and ex offenders. There is a

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

11

DRAFT

OUR RESPONSE:
AIM, OBJECTIVES AND
PRIORITIES

22 The Chief Medical Officer for England recommends
that children should have an alcohol free childhood and
should not consume alcohol before the age of 15 years.
If young people aged 15 to 17 years old drink alcohol, it
should always be with the guidance of a parent or carer
or in a supervised environment.
http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/category/publications

Page 96



DRAFT

significant opportunity to strengthen

joined up working between hostels

and treatment services to address the

needs of these clients

Treatment

• Increase access and uptake and

improve outcomes from services

across primary care, secondary care

and specialist service. Integral to this

will be the role of our redesigned

treatment system

• Strengthen the multi agency

approach, to actively encourage

difficult to engage clients into

treatment e.g. street drinkers,

offenders, some members of migrant

communities

• Ensure equality of access and

outcomes for all service provision and

undertake monitoring to demonstrate

this across the nine protected

characteristics

• Ensure family based interventions are

integral to treatment provision

• Alcohol, drug misuse and domestic

violence are strongly linked. The

Partnership is committed to reduce

domestic violence and places

safeguarding at the heart of its work

to identify and address substance

misuse in the family

• Carers and family members of

substance misusers can often feel

isolated and become stigmatised. It is

important that the services offered by

the Partnership as described in the

Tower Hamlets Carers Strategy and

Commissioning Plan include the

needs of substance misusers. We will

review existing provision of

mainstream support to carers of

people with substance misuse issues

and seek to better address their

needs

• We will ensure that there is rapid

access to intensive specialist support

for those young people whose

substance misuse is already starting

to cause harm and for the more

vulnerable young people this will

include locally delivered multi-agency

packages of care with the aim of

preventing escalation

• We will implement a new treatment

model for young people which will

devolve responsibility for lower level

and threshold services to generic

frontline youth services. The new

model will require clearer care

pathways, a strong interface with

specialist support and treatment

services, information sharing and

workforce development

Enforcement and Regulation

• Implement and enforce a borough

wide alcohol control zone to reduce

anti- social behaviour and, through

information sharing, joint tasking and

better joined up working across

agencies, further reduce alcohol

related anti- social behaviour

• Create an environment where

anybody under the legal drinking age

is prohibited from obtaining alcohol

• Work with licenced premises to

ensure responsible alcohol sales,

enforce any minimum alcohol pricing

and promote the availability of

treatment services

• Ensure local residents have a central

role in regulating the environments

where alcohol can be obtained

through enhanced utilisation of

licensing, planning and other

regulatory powers

CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

12

Page 97



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

13

DRAFT

CURRENTRESPONSES IN TACKLING
LOCAL ALCOHOL RELATEDHARM
ANDCHALLENGES ENCOUNTERED

Since the preceding Alcohol Harm

Reduction Strategy in 2007, significant

progress has been made locally and

nationally in highlighting the harm that

excessive alcohol consumption has both on

the individual and community at large but it

is important to acknowledge that

challenges remain and these should be

prioritised for action over the next 3 years23.

6.1 Prevention and Behaviour Change

Current responses:

• Supported national campaigns with

locally developed community

appropriate resources

• Undertook the Health & Lifestyle

Survey to obtain robust estimates of

alcohol consumption patterns within

Tower Hamlets

• Supported our young people to

receive relevant and effective alcohol

and drugs education advocating a

whole schools approach to alcohol

through the appointment of a

dedicated alcohol education adviser

and delivery of pilot alcohol peer

education programmes in Local

Authority Partnerships (LAPs) 2 & 7

• Used social marketing techniques

aimed at

Young people: understanding

street drinking and drinking in

public spaces

Older people: understanding

hazardous and harmful drinking in

over 65 year olds

Improving systematic delivery of

brief interventions in A&E

• Invested in a Tower Hamlets Drug and

Alcohol Outreach Team which,

working closely with Tower Hamlets

Enforcement Officers (THEOs)

provides targeted street based brief

interventions to adult street drinkers

and others involved in street based

activity and supports vulnerable adults

to enter formal treatment and other

services where appropriate

• Commissioned the delivery of

systematic ‘identification’24 and brief

advice25 26 (IBA) for alcohol in the

following settings;

Primary Care (GP Surgeries)

A&E and acute hospital trust –

dedicated alcohol nurse specialists

(ANS)

Challenges remaining:

• Alcohol is more readily available with

longer opening hours of licensed

venues, supply at ever cheaper prices

23 Current responses and those recommended for future
focus have emerged from evidence of best practice the
details of which are provided in Appendix 4. Additional
detail of current work and identified gaps can be found
in Appendix 5 (briefing paper)

24 Screening for alcohol is undertaken using a short series
of questions, Audit C, and this enables an assessment
and PAT of whether an individual is consuming alcohol
at levels harmful to their health/

25 Brief interventions vary in their content but often
contain information about the health impact of
continuing to drink above recommended limits and
information on how to cut down on alcohol
consumption. For a more detailed description of the
types of BI and their application see:
http://www.alcohollearningcentre.org.uk/_library/
Clarifying_Brief_Interventions.pdf

26 Screening and Identification and brief advice (IBA) for
alcohol are recognised to be particularly effective in
individuals who consume alcohol at levels potentially
harmful or hazardous to health but are unlikely to be
aware of potential harm or seek help to reduce their
consumption.

Page 98



14

and promotion using powerful, well

resourced national media campaigns

alongside products designed to

appeal to younger taste preferences

• Reductions in national and local

funding will impact on the extent and

nature of future alcohol behaviour

campaigns

• Young people’s reported rates of

satisfaction with the provision of

alcohol education in schools remains

lower than both the London and

national averages. The challenge

remains in embedding alcohol

education throughout the school

curriculum, with teachers feeling

confident to detect and refer

appropriately pupils with alcohol

issues, in a climate of financial austerity

and reduced leverage to ensure alcohol

remains a school priority

• The protective factors of a first and

second generation large Muslim

population are being modified through

a process of acculturalisation with a

small number of young males and

females of Bangladeshi ethnic origin

binge drinking at levels far in excess

of safe limits. Alcohol misuse, in the

form of ‘binge drinking’, remains

prevalent among young people with

no sign of abating

• Alcohol, drug misuse and domestic

violence are strongly linked. The

Partnership is committed to reduce

domestic violence by supporting

those affected through provision of

services that identity and address

substance misuse in the family

• Older people are most commonly

admitted to hospital for alcohol

related harm but A&E attendances are

not uncommon among young

women. Local evidence suggests that

these two groups require targeted

work to effect cultural change to safer

levels of alcohol consumption

• Local businesses require support to

develop and implement alcohol

policies to support employees with

problematic consumption patterns

and for employers to access training

and advice

• There is a high prevalence of both

substance misuse and dual diagnosis

amongst hostel users and ex-

offenders. There is a significant

opportunity to strengthen joined up

working between hostels and

treatment services to address the

needs of these clients

6.2 Treatment

Current responses:

• Both the young people and adult

community alcohol teams have been

re-commissioned which has

increased the availability of services27

• The Local Enhanced Service in Primary

Care has greatly increased the number

of alcohol screens undertaken, but has

not yet resulted in many structured

interventions in primary care settings,

though over 100 members of staff

have been trained

• Identification and Brief Advice (IBA)

training has been delivered within

hostels and drug treatment services

and an arrest referral scheme is in

operation to screen, provide brief

interventions and refer offenders

voluntarily into alcohol treatment

services

27 Commissioning of treatment services has been in line
with the Department of Health’s Models of Care for
Alcohol Misuse (MoCam), implemented in Tower
Hamlets, which provides a stepped care approach
across four tiers with an escalating level of intervention
depending upon the severity of alcohol related harm

DRAFTCHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

Page 99



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

15

DRAFT

• In A&E and the rest of the acute

hospital trust the ANS (alcohol nurse

specialist) has embedded a

standardised screening tool to improve

identification and referral to brief

interventions, trained clinical staff,

developed protocols to manage alcohol

withdrawal; created pathways into

specialist treatment, created a hospital

strategy group and raised the index of

suspicion for admissions for conditions

not obviously related to alcohol

• Drug and alcohol outreach workers

work across the borough to engage

with street drinkers and refer them into

treatment as well as help them to find

and maintain adequate accommodation

• Probation services’ dedicated alcohol

worker works with probation clients

experiencing problems with alcohol,

particularly those subject to an

Alcohol Treatment Requirement (ATR)

• Treatment services for adults and

young people requiring structured

treatment include: Tower Hamlets

Community Alcohol Team, Lifeline

Young People’s Service, CAMHS (child

and adolescent mental health services)

Children’s Specialist Substance Misuse

Service (CSSS), Island Day Programme

and inpatient detoxification and

residential rehabilitation programmes

purchased on an individual basis. In

addition a specialist midwife service

operates from the Royal London

Hospital and delivers specialist care for

pregnant drug and alcohol users and

their babies in conjunction with the

Specialist Addiction Unit, children’s

services and other key professionals

Challenges remaining:

• In order to address the challenges

identified, there will be a redesign of

treatment services in the borough

which will inform commissioning

decisions. The redesign will consider

the evidence base and local needs for

different forms of alcohol and drug

treatment and NICE/NTA guidance, as

well as considering the skill-sets of the

workforce. The redesign will take into

account value for money and the need

to simplify access arrangements,

strengthen the importance of user

involvement and will also focus on

treatment outcomes ensuring

equitable outcomes across the nine

protected characteristics. The redesign

will be delivered during 2011/12 and

will inform the commissioning

• Treatment services have focused on

dependent drinkers as they are easier

to identify, suffer the most harm and

are most likely to be referred. The

future success of services in reducing

harm to both individuals and society

lies in the earlier identification of the

full breadth of alcohol related harm by

a range of service providers

• Greater focus of community

detoxification towards the most

appropriate clients is needed to increase

the likelihood of a positive outcome

• 28Notwithstanding the widespread

commitment from practices to deliver

28 The new face of local health service commissioning, Tower
Hamlets GP commissioning consortia, face challenging
decisions to identify local population level health related
priorities, strike a balance between appropriate investment
in prevention and treatment, forecast future provision,
utilisation and effective configuration of cost effective
services; all in the face of substantial competing priorities.
If primary care is to focus its quality improvement and
individual patient care efforts on those conditions or issues
that have the greatest effects on health and are the most
cost effective, it is important to ensure that GPs have
evidence based information about effective preventive
alcohol reduction services, brief interventions and their
delivery to ensure that the profile of alcohol related harm is
maintained, and to continue to emphasise the critical role
of primary care providers in achieving sustained changes in
alcohol consumption behaviour. Primary care providers are
ideally placed to deliver alcohol harm reduction brief
initiatives due to their ability to deliver interventions
opportunistically, their unique contact with a large
proportion of the community, the low threshold of access
to primary care and the emphasis on holistic health which
enables them to readily identify the links between
problematic alcohol consumption or risk of this, and other
related conditions.

Page 100



brief interventions, this has not

resulted in unequivocal delivery of the

alcohol local enhanced service or of

uptake of interventions by all eligible

candidates. Understanding is needed

of the reasons why such interventions

are not being delivered and of the

kind of support required by GPs to

expand the delivery of brief

interventions

• A strategy for the widespread, routine

and enduring implementation of

Identification and brief advice (IBA) is

recommended. A programme of

support and care that integrates the

full range of healthy lifestyles

interventions including alcohol would

be most palatable for service users,

cost effective and a more efficient

use of providers’ expertise and time29

• IBA as an evidence based approach to

tackle hazardous and harmful drinking

among adults has been used to great

effect across a range of Tower

Hamlets settings including primary

care and A&E. We should explore the

potential for this to be expanded to

paediatric and youth services as well

as other frontline services e.g. police

• Greater consideration is needed of

how to better address the needs and

challenges of the most severely

dependant drinkers with highly

complex needs who may be resilient

to, or inappropriate for, alcohol

treatment interventions e.g. dual

diagnosis clients

• Efforts need to remain focused on

hazardous and harmful drinkers

presenting to the A&E department not

just those dependent or admitted

patients

• An innovative and robust approach is

needed to aftercare and relapse

prevention to address the issue of

repeat admissions to hospital and

repeat A&E attendances

• The goal of all treatment, for drugs or

alcohol, is to enable people to

overcome dependence and achieve

sustainable recovery. While the notion

of ‘recovery’ is typically applied to

drug misuse, the concept can be

applied to alcohol addiction also.

‘Recovery’ suggests that beyond

tackling the symptoms and causes of

dependence, it is also about enabling

people to successfully reintegrate into

their communities and play an integral

part within them. Central to this are

the roles of education, training,

employment, housing, family support

services, wider health services and,

where relevant, prison, probation and

youth justice services

• To ensure that services meet the

needs of all users and carers requires

their continued involvement in

shaping services at a strategic and

operational level

• Street drinkers continue to generate

considerable numbers of low level

public disorder offences. A joint

approach using enforcement officers

alongside outreach workers has had

some success and consideration is

needed as to how such initiatives

could continue and retain the

appropriate focus on alcohol after

March 2012. when funding of the

outreach team will be reduced

CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

16

29 Healthy Living Pharmacies, Portsmouth
Healthy Living Pharmacies (HLPs) have to demonstrate
consistent, high quality delivery of a range of services
such as stopping smoking, weight management, advice
on alcohol and reviews of the use of their medicines in
order to achieve HLP status. They proactively promote
a healthy living ethos and work closely with local GPs
and other health and social care professionals.
www.portsmouth.nhs.uk/Services/Guide to services/
resources for professionals.htm

DRAFT

Page 101



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

17

DRAFT

• In order to continue to provide high

quality treatment services for young

people with a reduced financial

envelope, a new treatment model is

being implemented acknowledging

the need to devolve responsibility for

lower level and threshold services to

generic front line youth services

• Given the challenges of funding

availability in the current fiscal climate

there is a need and a challenge to use

existing resources even more

effectively which may translate to

improved Partnership working across

multiple agencies to achieve better

outcomes for families

• Hidden harm can be understood as the

impact of parental drug or alcohol

misuse on children. The hidden harms

associated with alcohol and drugs are

profound. Accordingly, we have worked

to improve the identification, response

and support to children affected by

parental substance misuse. Treatment

services must include whole family

interventions to support affected family

members and break intergenerational

cycles of addiction. Affected family

members, carers and partners should

be able to access support services in

conjunction with or independently from

the substance misuser

• We will review the existing provision

of mainstream support to carers of

people with substance misuse issues

and seek to better address their

needs. Carers and family members of

substance misusers can often be

isolated and stigmatised. It is

important that the services offered by

the Partnership as described in the

Tower Hamlets Carers Strategy and

Commissioning Plan include the

needs of substance misusers

• We know that some services e.g.

probation and the police, regularly

come into contact with clients who

have drug or alcohol issues and who

are not currently seeking treatment.

We will roll out delivery of training and

resources to support the adoption of

IBA in key frontline services e.g.

probation, police and social services

• Challenges remain in maintaining high

standards and compliance with

nationally recommended standards

for drug and alcohol workers. There

are continued health improvement

investments to be made in increasing

capacity and brief interventions

training for staff across all agencies

including those in partner agencies

across the statutory and voluntary

sector

6.3 Enforcement and Regulation

Current responses:

• A Joint Deployment Group brings

together front-line services to

understand and identify hotspots and

emerging trends in alcohol related

antisocial behaviour and crime.

Decisions are then taken to deploy

appropriate resources in response to

such issues

• The THEOs (Tower Hamlets

Enforcement Officers) are a

uniformed civil enforcement team

whose primary role is to deal with low

level anti-social behaviour and

environmental concerns with powers

delegated by the Metropolitan Police

service under the Community safety

Accreditation Scheme e.g. to require a

person’s name and address for

engaging in anti-social behaviour,

seize alcohol from a person drinking

within a drinking control zone and

deal with underage drinkers

• The drug and alcohol outreach team

work closely with enforcementPage 102



officers to ensure that those who

refuse support and engage in anti-

social behaviour are identified and

monitored

• Police officers support the Safer

Neighbourhood Teams (SNT) across

the borough in dealing with alcohol

related anti-social behaviour and

response to incidents outside

licensed premises

• The council’s domestic violence team

co-ordinates a programme of work

across the Partnership in preventing

domestic violence, a significant

proportion of which is alcohol related;

protecting and supporting victims and

bringing perpetrators to justice

• Hostel accommodation within the

borough means that many homeless

people are attracted to the area either

as residents or visitors. The

community safety care plan service

identifies individuals coming to the

attention of enforcement agencies.

Attempts are made to support them

into treatment by the outreach team.

Where they refuse to engage, a more

robust enforcement approach is

adopted

• Regulation of alcohol sales takes

place within the national framework

set by the Licensing Act. Local

implementation is undertaken by the

Licensing Sub Committee of LBTH

which decides upon new applications,

amendments and, where necessary,

removal or restrictions

• Local trading standards undertake

alcohol underage test purchases on

licensed premises. Encouragingly

whilst the number of tests has

increased the number of successful

underage purchases has decreased.

The full range of licensing powers are

utilised with temporary restrictions on

licenses and revocation being used

for persistent breaches of license

conditions

• Joint work is undertaken between

Tower Hamlets Trading Standards and

HMRC (Her Majesty’s Revenue &

Customs) to reduce the availability of

counterfeit or illegally imported

alcohol products

Challenges remaining:

• A borough-wide drinking control zone

is being implemented in Tower

Hamlets. Such a zone will ensure that

the police and council enforcement

officers are empowered to respond to

issues as they arise including growth

of the night-time economy, alcohol

related anti-social behaviour and

street drinking

• Growth in visitor numbers to Brick

Lane and Canary Wharf has

encouraged a significant number of

new licensed premises to open up in

and around the Brick Lane centre. The

demand placed on services to

manage and respond to the

associated issues will increase and

the effective management and

enforcement of licensed premises will

become increasingly important to

mitigate the impact on the community

and support responsible drinking

behaviour

• The further development of Alcohol

Arrest Referral (AAR) schemes is

needed coupled with provision for

Alcohol Treatment Requirements

(ATR) to support the work to manage

those who pose the greatest risk to

the community as a result of their

alcohol problems

• Coordination of community safety

should continue to develop

particularly Partnership work to tackle

CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

18

DRAFT

Page 103



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

19

DRAFT

street drinking in vulnerable localities

and development of plans to deliver

appropriate treatment services,

interventions and enforcement in

those areas e.g. more frequent Action

Weeks targeting alcohol anti-social

behaviour and expanded off-licence

checks regarding underage sales in

hotspot areas and problem premises

• There has been significant success in

regulation and enforcement of

tobacco through a formal alliance with

joint working and shared resources

between the NHS and council, and

this may prove to be an exemplar for

closer links with and application to the

alcohol harm reduction context

Page 104



UNDERPINNING
THE FOUNDATIONS

20

Use of data, intelligence and

surveillance

In order to accurately assess the needs of

the population in Tower Hamlets in

relation to all alcohol misuse, we need to

improve our analysis of health surveillance

information and data e.g. health issues

such as local rates of hospital admissions,

accident and emergency department

attendances, primary care data. We also

need to look more closely at our

treatment outcomes data and benchmark

this against regional performance so we

can measure how effective our services

are. Equity audits should be carried out in

our treatment system and reported in our

annual needs assessment.

Our analysis needs to be carried out in a

structured and ongoing manner, which

informs and cross references with the

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

We need to ensure that the data, analysis

and intelligence is prioritised by the

Partnership and ensure that this underpins

decisions on future provision and any

review of DAAT structures.

Implementation, monitoring and review

The DAAT board will oversee the progress

of the strategy and take reports from

working groups that are responsible for

implementing the respective action plans.

Responsibility for developing and

implementing the children and young

people’s substance misuse plan is with

Tower Hamlets Children and Families

Trust, representatives of which sit on the

DAAT board.

There will be a comprehensive

programme to review progress from the

previous year, assessing developing

needs and gaps and setting out how the

DAAT partnership will meet its targets and

objectives. We recognise and value the

expertise and interest among partners in

tackling substance misuse in Tower

Hamlets. We intend to develop the

Strategy’s action plan in close

collaboration with them through a time

liited steering group.

We recognise and value the expertise and

interest among partners in tackling

substance misuse in Tower Hamlets. We

intend to deliver the strategy’s action plan

in close collaboration with them through a

time limited steering group.

DRAFTCHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

Page 105



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

APPENDIX 1: ADDITIONAL LOCAL
EPIDEMIOLOGY AND SERVICE DATA

21

Prevention and Behaviour Change data:

(findings from the Tower Hamlets Health

and Lifestyle Survey)

• Tower Hamlets has approximately

4,620 dependent drinkers

• 1 in 2 adults have not had an alcoholic

drink in the past year but in the white

population, 4 in 10 are classified as

harmful30 drinkers compared to 2 in 10

nationally31

• 43% of people who drink in Tower

Hamlets have harmful or hazardous

drinking patterns, though this varies

across the borough from 38% in the

north west (LAP 6) and south east

(LAP 8) to 48% in the south west (LAP

4) and northernmost corner of the

borough (LAP 5). Of the total

population 21.7% have harmful or

hazardous drinking patterns, and

again this is particularly high in LAPs 4

and 5, where 27.5% and 26.1% of the

population have harmful or hazardous

drinking patterns32

• Alcohol use has an inverse social

gradient, being more common

amongst educated and employed

residents and those who live in

private sector homes

• Younger residents are more likely to

drink than older residents. Younger

drinkers are more likely to drink in a

harmful or hazardous way than older

residents

• Men are more likely to drink than

women (54% vs. 45%) and are more

likely to drink at hazardous or harmful

levels (24% vs. 19%)

• Migrants (defined as respondents

who had changed address in the

previous year) are significantly more

likely to be drinkers than non migrants

(68% vs. 46%) and to have patterns of

‘risky drinking’ (35% vs. 19%). This

remains the case when the analysis is

restricted to the white population.

51% of migrants drank at hazardous

or harmful levels compared to 34% of

non-migrants. The highest levels are

seen in migrants of white ethnicity

from outside the borough but within

the UK (60%)

• Hazardous and harmful drinking is

more common amongst people who

are employed than those who are

unemployed (30% and 9%

30 An ‘alcohol problem’ is based on the level and pattern
of alcohol consumption — categorized into hazardous
drinking, harmful drinking, and alcohol dependence.
This is based on the World Health Organization (WHO)
International Statistical Classification of Diseases and
Related Health Problems, tenth revision (ICD 10),
categorization of alcohol use disorders. Hazardous
drinking is drinking above safer drinking limits.
However, the person has so far avoided significant
alcohol-related problems. Binge drinking is defined as
drinking over twice the recommended units of alcohol
per day in one session. This is considered more than 8
units for men or more than 6 units for women. Harmful
drinking is drinking above safe levels (usually beyond
those of hazardous drinking) with evidence of
alcohol related problems. These people may show a
mild level of dependence (even if it is only an
importance of alcohol in their lifestyle). Alcohol
dependence is defined in ICD 10 as a cluster of
physiological, behavioural, and cognitive phenomena in
which the use of alcohol takes on a much higher priority
for a given individual than other behaviours.

31 Dr Ian Basnett, NHS Tower Hamlets: Annual Report of
the Joint Director of Public Health 2009 2010

32 Tower Hamlets Ipsos Mori Health and Lifestyle Survey,
2010

DRAFT

Page 106



respectively), and amongst those who

are educated (GCSEs or above)

compared to those who have no

qualifications (27% and 9%

respectively amongst all residents,

and 44% and 19% in the white

population)

Treatment data

• In 2010/11 among offenders in

contact with the Criminal Justice

System who had an assessment

completed; 49% had an alcohol

problem33

• In 2010/11: a total of 1356

interventions were provided by the

Drug and Alcohol Outreach team to

individuals who were misusing

substances or were involved with

street lifestyles. These interventions

offered general harm reduction advice

and information or signposting into

other services

• Latest available data from 2009/10

suggests that: 13,814 adult patients

were screened for alcohol problems

in GP surgeries; 130 adult individuals

completed community detoxification

and 83 clients accessed inpatient

detoxification / residential

rehabilitation services for alcohol

problems

• 117 young people with substance

misuse related issues were treated in

2010/11, 54% of whom were

receiving treatment for alcohol

misuse. The average age of a young

person in treatment was seventeen

and 66% of those in treatment were

male

CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

22

49%

15%

3%
1%

16-34 years 35-54 years 55+ years

10%

36%

3%
0%

18%

asian

black

white

Figure A: Prevalence of harmful/hazardous drinking by age and ethnic group

Source: NHS Tower Hamlets Health and Lifestyle Survey 2008/09

33 Offenders are deemed to have an Alcohol misuse
problem if flagged as linked to offending behaviour

DRAFT

Page 107



Enforcement and licensing data

• During 2010/11, there were 309 visits

to Licensed premises. Consequently,

14 Licensing reviews were triggered

by Trading Standards resulting in 1

revocation, 2 suspensions and the

remainder had extra conditions added

to the premises licence. In addition, I

premises was closed for 48 hours for

persistent under age sales, 11 written

warnings were issued, 2 prosecutions

are currently under way, 1 fixed

penalty notice was served for under

age sales, and 1 prosecution achieved

against a business owner selling

under age alcohol (acquitted at

Thames Magistrates’ Court)

• Domestic violence is a significant

problem in Tower Hamlets, with the

police dealing with an average of 11

incidents every day. Findings from a

review of the British Crime Surveys

revealed that 44% of domestic

violence offenders were under the

influence of alcohol when they

committed acts of physical violence

and there is some evidence to

suggest that domestic violence can

cause alcohol use in those on the

receiving end of domestic violence or

exacerbate existing use

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

23

DRAFT

Page 108



APPENDIX 2: FROM THE EVIDENCE:
WHAT INTERVENTIONS ARE LIKELY TO
HAVE THE GREATEST IMPACT?

24

DRAFTCHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

Evidence for Pillar 1: Prevention and

Behaviour Change

The most recent alcohol related

publication from NICE (National Institute

for Health and Clinical Excellence) on

prevention of harmful and hazardous

drinking34 provides authoritative

recommendations, based on best

available evidence of effectiveness, to aid

prevention and early identification of

alcohol-use disorders among adults and

adolescents both at a population and at

an individual level.

The guidance identifies how government

policies on alcohol pricing, its availability

and how it is marketed could be used to

combat such harm.

Policy options which are most likely to be

successful at combating alcohol related

harm include imposing restrictions on

price through the introduction of a

minimum price per unit e.g. 50pence per

unit as suggested by the latest guidance

issued from the Chief Medical Officer;

restricting availability by limiting the

number, type and conditions under which

outlets distribute alcohol and by limiting

young people’s exposure to alcohol

advertising as this has a known

association with increased susceptibility

to consume alcohol. Changes in policy in

these areas are likely to be more effective

in reducing alcohol-related harm among

the population as a whole than actions

undertaken by local health professionals.

A summary of the most pertinent detailed

recommendations for practice and

application on an individual basis which

support and reinforce the policy and cut

across the three pillars of the Substance

Misuse Strategy follow:

• Licensing

• Resources for identifying and helping

people with alcohol-related problems

• Children and young people aged 10 to

15 years – assessing their ability to

consent, judging their alcohol use,

discussion and referral to specialist

services

• Young people aged 16 and 17 years –

identification, offering motivational

support or referral to specialist

services

• Adults – screening, brief advice,

motivational support or referral

Identification and Brief Advice (IBA) are

known to be effective in a range of

settings including A&E, specialist hospital

services such as sexual health or

maxillofacial services, criminal justice

settings and primary care. The evidence

indicates that for every 8 people who

receive simple alcohol advice, one will

reduce their drinking to within lower risk

levels. This compares favourably with

smoking where only 1 in 20 will act on the

advice given35. Best practice in treatment

has many benefits. It has been identified

34 Alcohol use disorders: preventing harmful drinking
(2010) NICE

35 Moyer, A., Finney, J., Swearingen, C. and Vergun, P.
(2002) Brief Interventions for alcohol problems: a

meta-analytic review of controlled investigations in

treatment -seeking and non-treatment seeking

populations, Addiction, 97, 279-292
Page 109



that such treatment can save over £1000

per dependent drinker and decrease

hospital bed days36. In the UK Alcohol

Treatment Trial, 1 in 4 patients had

positive outcomes with no further alcohol

issues37. This lends strength to the case

for expanding current provision of SBI.

Approximately 20% of patients presenting

to primary care are likely to be hazardous

drinkers, which means on average each

GP will see 364 excessive drinkers a

year38. Identification and Brief Advice (IBA)

are therefore important options in primary

care. Identification via screening is itself

an effective prevention strategy39. It can

help people think about their alcohol

consumption and increase awareness

about the possible risks and

consequences of excessive drinking. Brief

advice can reduce alcohol consumption

by over 20%40. The use of Audit C as a

screening tool (in addition to the regular

and systematic recording of units of

alcohol consumed) has been shown to be

effective for streamlining patients and has

been used in Tower Hamlets to great

effect.

NICE guidance published in 200741 put

forward a series of recommendations

focused on encouraging children not to

drink, delaying the age at which they start

drinking and reducing the harm it can

cause among those who do drink.

Specific evidence based

recommendations include:

• alcohol education should be an

integral part of the school curriculum

and should be tailored for different

age groups and different learning

needs

• a ‘whole school’ approach should be

adopted, covering everything from

policy development and the school

environment to staff training and

parents and pupils should be involved

in developing and supporting this

• where appropriate, children and

young people who are thought to be

drinking harmful amounts should be

offered one-to-one advice or should

be referred to an external service

• schools should work with a range of

local partners to support alcohol

education in schools, ensure school

interventions are integrated with

community activities and to find ways

to consult with families about

initiatives to reduce alcohol use.

Evidence supporting social marketing

exists in areas such as smoking, sexual

behaviour and nutrition but direct

evidence concerning alcohol is still

emerging. The national alcohol social

marketing strategy improves access to

identification and brief advice through

using marketing techniques to engage

higher risk drinkers and ‘nudge’ them

toward lower risk drinking behaviour.

Identification of high level champions to

provide strategic leadership within partner

organisations and a focus on collaborative

action to reduce alcohol related harm is a

high impact change strongly advocated by

the Alcohol Learning Centre. While a will

exists to move forward with this agenda

and high level champions exist in some

local agencies, this is not the case for all

partner organisations. Clearly local

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

25

DRAFT

36 UKATT Research Team (2005b). Cost effectiveness of
treatment for alcohol problems: Findings of the UK
Alcohol Treatment Trial. British Medical Journal, 331,
544 547.

37 UKATT Research Team (2005a). Effectiveness of
treatment for alcohol problems:
Findings of the randomised UK Alcohol Treatment Trial
(UKATT). British Medical Journal, 311, 541 544.

38 Anderson, G. (1993) Management of alcohol problems:
the role of the general practitioner. Alcohol &
Alcoholism. Vol.

39 Primary Care Alcohol Information Service Factsheet:
Screening Tools for Healthcare Settings, Alcohol
Concern re settings

40 Freemantle et al. Brief interventions and alcohol use.
Effective Health Care Bulletin 1993

41 Interventions in schools to prevent and reduce alcohol
use among children and young people. NICE (2007)

Page 110



champions within the NHS, the acute

hospital Trust, the mental health Trust,

social services, Local Authority, elected

members, Probation, the Police and

others would have a function in

galvanizing action resulting in

organisational change. Champions can

also help in building the case for local

investment and potential savings to the

NHS, the community and to the public

purse. The recommendation is for every

acute hospital to have a named

Consultant as their ‘Alcohol Lead’ from

whatever acute specialty is pragmatic for

that hospital. This individual should have

time allocated within their weekly job

plan42. Beyond the acute hospital setting,

the need exists also for a clinical

champion who can influence and support

positive change in the attitudes and skills

of those within the full array of health

settings to respond to the needs of those

with alcohol related problems.

As a further example of an initiative which

has proven capacity to influence positive

change among community partners is the

Community Trials Project43 which lists a

number of key elements in making

progress on alcohol harm including such

qualities as community leadership,

making local alliances, working with local

politics and making the case for and

seeking additional resources.

Evidence for Pillar 2: Treatment

The Royal College of Physicians actively

encourages specialist alcohol liaison nurses

to be based in every acute NHS Trust to

work with an alcohol lead to improve:

medical management, bridges to the

community services, education for hospital

staff and targeted intervention in hospitals

of high risk individuals and on the spot

health promotion education. This strategy

was used at the Royal Liverpool Hospital

and over a year and a half prevented 258

admissions. The cost of the programme

was approximately 10% of the costs saved

overall44. Other strategies such as recruiting

third sector workers to be based in the

emergency department have also been

employed successfully45 and could be

considered locally. A similar function,

working across acute and primary care has

been developed by Liverpool PCT, operating

as a lifestyles team, and has received

national acclaim46. The deployment of

dedicated alcohol nurse specialists has

been extremely successful in effectively

diverting dependent and problem drinkers

away from the acute hospital. The challenge

now is in maintaining the work and raising

the profile within the hospital of the need to

focus on those drinkers whose attendance

to the A&E department is not obviously

alcohol related.

Models of care for alcohol misusers

(MoCAM) describes a four tier system of

stepped care for alcohol misusers47

adopted across Tower Hamlets and the

Review of the effectiveness of treatment

for alcohol problems provides the

evidence base for effective treatments48.

A series of studies have demonstrated the

cost effectiveness of investing in early

intervention services and in effective

treatment. McKenna et al49 showed that

CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

26

42 Alcohol can the NHS afford it? London: Royal College
of Physicians, (2001)

43 Moore, R.S., and Holder, H.D. (2003) ‘Issues surrounding
the institutionalization of local action programmes to
prevent alcohol problems. Results from a community
trial in the United States. Nordic Studies on Alcohol and
Drugs, Vol. 20, English supplement, pp. 41 55

44 Alcohol - can the NHS afford it? London: Royal College
of Physicians, (2001) London: Royal College of
Physicians, (2001)

45 Middlesbrough voluntary sector partnership -best
practice example. Middlesbrough James Cook
University Hospital

46 Liverpool Alcohol Services Lifestyle Team
47 Department of Health (2006). Models of care for alcohol
misusers (MoCAM). DH

48 National Treatment Agency (2006). Review of the
effectiveness of treatment for alcohol problems.
London: NTA

49 McKenna, M., Chick, J., Buxton, M., Howlett, H.,
Patience, D. and Ritson, B.(1996) The SECCAT Survey 1.
The costs and consequences of alcoholism, Alcohol

and Alcoholism, 3196): 565-576.

DRAFT

Page 111



alcohol dependent service users were

more costly in terms of health costs than

those with other levels of alcohol abuse -

£1222 compared to £632 over a six month

period in 1994 prices - and have poorer

health. The UK Alcohol Treatment Trial

(UKATT) shows that, over a 6-month

period, specialist treatment delivered

savings of nearly £1138 per dependent

drinker treated and reduce hospital

stays50. Of note, 25% of patients involved

in the UKATT study had a successful

outcome, reporting no continuing alcohol-

related problems and 40% of patients

reported being much improved, reducing

their alcohol problems by 66%51.

IBA (Identification and Brief Advice) is

known to be effective in a range of

different settings including primary care,

criminal justice settings and A&E

departments. There is a very large body of

research evidence supporting IBA in

primary care for example including

approximately 56 controlled trials52. A

Cochrane Collaboration review also

provides substantial evidence for the

effectiveness of IBA53.

Evidence for Pillar 3: Enforcement and

Regulation

This document is reinforced by a raft of

legislation including the Licensing Act

2003 and the Criminal Justice and Police

Act 2001. Measures included in this

legislation support authorities to manage

the impact of alcohol related disorder and

crime and while the evidence regarding

the effectiveness of initiatives to address

alcohol related crime is limited, a number

of initiatives have shown some promise

across the country.

The following are approaches advocated

by the Home Office’s Crime Reduction

Toolkit on Alcohol Related Crime54:

• Establishing intelligence gathering

systems regarding violence in close

proximity to licensed premises assists

the problem solving process

• Enhancing the profile of police

officers in licensing units to enforce

Licensing Acts and coordinate

partnership responses

• Enforcing drink driving legislation

using a high profile media strategy

supports the reinforcement of the

negative consequences of alcohol

misuse

• High visibility policing in areas

surrounding licensed premises can

deter criminal behaviour

• Ensuring door staff are trained in

diffusion/de-escalation techniques

when confronted with

aggression/violence as staff are

acknowledge to play a crucial role in

management of alcohol related

aggression

More effective use of laws, regulations

and controls available to local partners to

minimise alcohol related harm and use of

the Local Development Framework to

enable planners to reject inappropriate

proposals at an early stage has been

acknowledged to effect a reduction in

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015

27

50 UKATT Research Team (2005b). Cost effectiveness of
treatment for alcohol problems: Findings of the UK
Alcohol Treatment Trial. British Medical Journal, 331,
544 547.

51 UKATT Research Team (2005a). Effectiveness of
treatment for alcohol problems: findings of the
randomised UK Alcohol Treatment Trial (UKATT). British
Medical Journal, 311, 541 544.

52 Moyer, A., Finney, J., Swearingen, C. and Vergun, P.
(2002) Brief Interventions for alcohol problems: a
meta analytic review of controlled investigations in
treatment seeking and non treatment seeking
populations, Addiction, 97, 279 292

53 Kaner E, Beyer F, Dickinson H, Pienaar E, Campbell F,
Schlesinger C, Heather N, Saunders J, Bernand B. Brief
interventions for excessive drinkers in primary health
care settings. Cochrane Database of Systematic
Reviews 2007, Issue 2. Art No.:CD004148 DOI:
10.1002/14651858.CD004148.pub3

54 www.crimereduction.gov.uk/toolkits

DRAFT

Page 112



antisocial behaviour. Such

recommendations are sustained by the

most recent alcohol related publication

from NICE (National Institute for Health

and Clinical Excellence) on prevention of

harmful drinking55which provides

authoritative recommendations, based on

best available evidence of effectiveness,

to aid prevention and early identification

of alcohol-use disorders among adults

and adolescents.

In one example, the work undertaken by

Citysafe, Liverpool’s Community Safety

Partnership, a package of initiatives

including the expansion of the PubWatch

and Best Mar None schemes to promote

good practice in the licensing industry.

The creation of a ‘radio link’ to enable

staff to share information about potential

problems and to notify police of problem

incidents more quickly, the use of

handheld knife detectors at pubs and

clubs to discourage the carrying of

weapons, and the promotion of the use of

polycarbonate glasses to reduce the

likelihood of these being used as

weapons in assaults have all been

commended as good practice in reducing

alcohol related antisocial behaviour. This

Citysafe initiative has helped to reduce

assaults, robbery and antisocial behaviour

by over 28% in the city centre compared

with the previous year. The overall figures

represent the lowest in the centre for

many years.

CHAPTER 1: ALCOHOL

28

DRAFT

55 Alcohol use disorders: preventing harmful drinking
(2010) NICE

Page 113



TOWER HAMLETS
SUBSTANCE MISUSE
STRATEGY 2012-2015

TECHNICAL DOCUMENT
CHAPTER 2: DRUGS

D
R
A
FT

Page 114



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

30

ACMD Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs

BBV Blood Borne Viruses

BME Black and Minority Ethnic Groups

CARAT Counselling, Assessment, Referral, Advice and Through-care (prison)

CDRP Crime Disorder Reduction Partnership

CDT Community Drugs Team

CJS Criminal Justice System

CLG Community and Local Government

DAAT Drug and Alcohol Action Team

DIP Drug Interventions Programme

DH Department of Health

DRR Drug Rehabilitation Requirement

GPwSI GP with Specialist Interest

ICP Integrated Care Pathways

JCP Job Centre Plus

JSA Job Seekers Allowance

LAAS London Analysis Support Site

LBTH London Borough of Tower Hamlets (i.e. the Borough Council)

LES Local Enhanced Service

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board

NDTMS National Drug Treatment Monitoring System

NFA No Fixed Abode

NTA National Treatment Agency

OASys Offender Assessment System

OCU Opiate and Crack User

ONS Office for National Statistics

PCT Primary Care Trust

PDU Problem Drug User

PPO Prolific Priority Offender

SURG Service User Representative Group

TOP Treatment Outcomes Profile

VFM Value for Money Tool

YP Young People

NHS ELC NHS East London and the City (a cluster of 3 primary care trusts:

NHS City and Hackney, NHS Newham and HHS Tower Hamlets)

GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS

Page 115



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

31

Key objectives

The objectives of the drugs chapter of the

strategy are as follows:

• To tackle drug related crime and anti

social behaviour

• To reduce the impact of drug related

crime and anti-social behaviour as

measured by the perception of our

local communities

• To commission and deliver high quality

drug education, prevention, health

improvement and treatment services

monitoring their uptake and outcomes

across the protected characteristics

• To increase the number of drug using

adults and young people entering,

engaging with and completing

treatment and remaining drug free

• To reduce associated social and

health problems via harm reduction

approaches as part of a wider

recovery focussed treatment system

• To deliver services that support

recovering drug users to secure

accommodation and employment/

education, to re-connect with their

local communities and ensure that

services are responsive to the client’s

wider needs

• To ensure that young people are able

to make informed decisions about

drug use, based on high quality drug

education and prevention approaches.

Rapid access to treatment services if

problems develop and access to

alternative activities and opportunities

• To develop an interagency response

to reduce the actual and potential

effects of parental substance misuse

on children, young people and

vulnerable adults ensuring that all

services take a family centred

approach where appropriate

• To ensure that family based

interventions are integral to treatment

provision

• To develop systematic data and

intelligence gathering processes and

analysis to ensure we actively plan

and commission an integrated

response to substance misuse which

is evidence based, cost effective and

addresses local priorities

Key indicators

Progress will be monitored using 12 key

indicators. We will know we have been

successful if we achieve the following:

1. Reduced perceptions of drug use or

drug dealing as a problem (Source:

Annual Residents’ Survey)

2. Achieve a minimum of 365 sanctioned

detections per year from our ‘dealer a

day’ operations. (Source: Police

performance figures)

3. Achieve a decrease in the serious

acquisitive crime rate. Analysis

indicates that this is strongly

associated with drug related offending.

(Source: Police performance figures)

4. Achieve an increase in the number of

adult drug users in effective treatment

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 116



(a planned exit or at least 12 weeks

retention in treatment) (NDTMS)

5. Increase the number of successful

exits from the drug treatment system

(NDTMS)

6. Improve outcomes and reduce re-

presentation levels to treatment

services by treatment matching, good

care planning and support (Source:

NDTMS/TOP/NTA)

7. Improve the numbers of recovering

drug users in stable accommodation

and education, training and

employment (TOP)

8. Improve uptake by drug users of BBV

testing, vaccinations and treatment for viral

hepatitis (NDTMS& local data)

9. Improve coverage of needle exchange

services (local data)

10. Ensure our substance misuse

services deliver an open accessible

and equitable service demonstrated

by an equity audit cycle against the

protected characteristics

11. Support 100% of local schools and

youth services in developing and

implementing drug/alcohol policies

12. Increase the number of children and

young people affected by parental

substance misuse identified,

assessed and receiving support

Strategic priorities

A summary of the priorities for achieving

these objectives are outlined below

against the three pillars of the strategy:

prevention and behaviour change,

treatment and enforcement and

regulation.

Strategic priorities - Prevention and

Behaviour Change

• We will reduce the demand for drugs

and the harms associated with drug

misuse through our drug prevention

and health improvement work

• We will integrate our drug campaigns

with other health and wellbeing

issues where appropriate, for example

alcohol, mental health. This will allow

us to benefit from economies of

scale, share resources and skills. We

will also undertake joint campaigns

across the Tower Hamlets Partnership

• Through working with our partners we

will develop services that address the

wider social determinants of health

and wellbeing, as well as drug

misuse, including accommodation,

employment, social support and

education

• We will support people to make

healthy choices by providing targeted

communication and community

education about the harms caused by

drugs, how to minimise these and

providing information about the

support services available

• We will provide targeted outreach to

at-risk young people and their parents,

signposting them to appropriate

support services to address wider risk

factors (e.g. educational attainment)

with the aim of preventing escalation

of use and harm

• We will explore possibilities to

support parents in addressing drug

and alcohol misuse with their children

• We will work in partnership working

with schools to provide good quality

education through Social and

Emotional Aspects of Learning

(SEAL), Personal Social Health

Education (PSHE) and pastoral care

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

32

Page 117



Strategic priorities - Treatment

Adult treatment

• During 2011/12, we will complete a

redesign of treatment services in the

borough. The redesign will help us to

develop our model for drug treatment

in a way that fits with the current and

future need of our population, and the

evidence available on what works

well, and will inform our

commissioning intentions for 2012/13

and beyond. We intend that the

redesign will help us to work across

the system to develop a “whole

systems” approach to helping people

to recover from problems associated

with drug use and dependency, where

all providers work together to provide

a seamless pathway of support for

service users. Commissioners will

work with the treatment providers to

develop a local whole systems

approach to recovery. This will involve

ensuring that each individual is

offered:

A comprehensive assessment and

response to individual and/or family

health and social needs. An

integrated recovery plan that is

personalised and client

centred/driven offering a choice of

appropriate treatment

interventions, which addresses a

range of health and social needs

and sets goals for treatment

High quality assessment and

integrated care planning to address

the range of needs presented by

each client including for example

mental health issues, physical,

social, or emotional issues

Swift and effective referral to other

treatment agencies where more

appropriate to the clients identified

needs, as well as referral to a

range of support services such as

housing, employment, support to

fulfil parenting roles, mental health

and wider health needs

Co-ordinated care planning,

reviews and case management for

each service user to guide them

through their treatment and ensure

that they receive the best and most

appropriate services to meet their

needs at the right time

We will develop, sign up to and

monitor performance against a

Service User And Carer

Engagement Charter. This will set

clear criteria for service user and

carer involvement in service

planning, commissioning and

performance monitoring. We will

support the development of peer

support/mentors and service user

recovery champions. Furthermore

we will ensure all treatment

services sign up and display an

agreed service user and carer

charter

• We have focussed on improving

successful treatment completions for

some time. As the formula for

calculating the Pooled Treatment

Budget is changing next year from

numbers entering treatment to

successful completions, we will

redouble our efforts to focus

resources to improve the proportion

of successful treatment completions,

drug free outcomes and reduction in

re-presentation rates

• Hidden harm can be understood as

the impact of parental drug or alcohol

misuse on children. The hidden harms

associated with alcohol and drugs are

profound. Accordingly, we have

worked to improve the identification,

response and support to children

affected by parental substance

misuse. Treatment services must

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

33

Page 118



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

34

include whole family interventions to

support affected family members and

break intergenerational cycles of

addiction. Affected family members,

carers and partners should be able to

access support services in

conjunction with or independently

from the substance misuser

• We will further develop our treatment

and children’s services to improve our

response to the needs of children of

drug misusers. We will embed good

practice into everyday assessment

and casework by developing and

implementing a jointly owned referral

protocol between children’s services

and treatment providers, train workers

in addressing ‘hidden harm’, support

staff to identify and respond to drug

using parents and their children

• We will work with stakeholders to

develop a clinical governance

framework that addresses the entire

treatment system including primary

care. The Department of Health

Operating Framework 2010/11 sets

quality as the guiding principle of the

NHS1. Clinical governance is usually

thought of as a framework containing

a number of domains to be addressed

that impact on the quality and safety

of care. The Darzi review2 found that

for the NHS, quality should include

the following aspects:

1. Patient safety

2. Patient experience

3. Effectiveness of care

These three areas are known as

quality dimensions and cover issues

such as: adherence to NICE

guidelines, Serious Untoward

Incidents, service user involvement,

etc

• We will identify and nurture links with

wraparound support services that

address education, training and

employability (ETE). We will support

service users to become actively

involved in development of ETE

opportunities for those in, and exiting

treatment

• We will target treatment naïve drug

misusers e.g. through our work in

hostels in order to motivate them

towards engaging in more structured

treatment and progress towards

recovery

• The Olympics in 2012 will see the

arrival of workers, tourists, spectators

and athletes. The potential impact for

services and clients will be

considered and planned for ahead of

the games

Young people’s substance misuse

services

• Our approach will combine universal

prevention activity through schools

and youth services with a

commitment to intervening early,

offering targeted support to vulnerable

groups of young people at increased

risk of substance misuse to prevent

this or when problems first arise

• We will implement a new treatment

model for young people which will

devolve responsibility for lower level

and threshold services to generic

front line youth services. The new

model will require clearer care

pathways, a strong interface with

more specialist support and treatment

services, information sharing and

workforce development

1 The NHS operating framework for England for 2010/11
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/
Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_110107

2 Quality and the NHS Next Stage Review, Lancet.

Page 119



• We will ensure there is rapid access

to intensive specialist support for

those young people whose substance

misuse is already starting to cause

harm and, for the most vulnerable

young people this will include locally

delivered multi agency packages of

care with the aim of preventing

escalation

• We will review referral pathways into

specialist services to ensure that all

young people with a need access

treatment with a particular focus on

looked after children and those

attending accident and emergency

(A&E) services for drug and alcohol

related issues.

• We will monitor the trend in the

increasing number of non treatment

naïve young people in treatment and

undertake further research/analysis

into the reasons for high re-entry and

focus on ways that services might be

better provided to ensure services are

responsive to the needs of all young

people

• We will work with providers to

develop rational outcome targets with

which to monitor and measure the

effectiveness of our treatment

services for young people

• We will work with young people’s

services to ensure support for the

whole family and encourage family

support for the young person

• We will review the existing provision

of mainstream support to carers of

people with substance misuse issues

and seek to better address their

needs. Carers and family members of

substance misusers can often be

isolated and stigmatised. It is

important that the services offered by

the Partnership as described in the

Tower Hamlets Carers Strategy and

Commissioning Plan include the

needs of substance misusers

Strategic priorities - Enforcement

We will disrupt the supply of drugs

through effective enforcement. This will

involve:

• Continuing to invest in primary policing

enforcement via the ‘dealer-a-day’

initiative to target street drug dealers

and crack houses in the borough.

Additionally we will tackle mid-tier

dealers and those who supply the mid-

tier. These operations will involve

making the maximum possible use of

our enforcement powers including

closure orders, injunction and eviction.

The Mayor of Tower Hamlets is making

considerable investment in policing,

specifically to tackle drug related anti-

social behaviour and crime, alongside

his additional investment in drug

treatment.We will evaluate our

enforcement campaigns to measure

effectiveness in terms of reducing

complaints about drug dealing by

undertaking ‘before and after’ surveys

with local residents. We will include

information on these enforcement

operations in our communications with

the public

• We will implement a results-focused

Integrated Offender Management

(IOM) programme to ensure drug

misusing offenders:

Receive a holistic support package

aimed at stopping offending and

drug dependence

Are supported by criminal justice

agencies to access treatment

voluntarily

Have effective pathways between

services, including between those in

prison and those in the community

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

35

Page 120



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

36

Where appropriate are assertively

identified and managed to ensure

compliance with legal

requirements

This will be developed on the basis of

a clear framework setting out specific

roles and responsibilities, and the use

of available resources in a co-

ordinated fashion to produce better

and more sustainable outcomes.

• We will develop the Drug Intervention

Programme (DIP) to increase the

number of drug misusing offenders

engaging in the structured treatment

system using existing powers within

the 2005 Drugs Act3. We will deliver

targeted outreach to encourage drug

misusing adults (generic and CJS

clients) into or back into treatment

alongside a more robust approach to

breaches and compliance for DIP/DRR

clients

• We will target treatment naive

probation clients by supporting the

probation service to identify drug

misusing clients and effectively

address their treatment needs by

ensuring the probation workforce

have appropriate training, support and

are consulted in the development of

our new treatment service model

• We will work with social, and where

possible commercial, landlords to

tackle the use of premises in the

borough used for the manufacture

and distribution of drugs by

identifying drug-related activities and

pressing for prosecution

• We will work alongside community

groups e.g. CADAA (Communities

Against Drugs & Alcohol Abuse) to

support them in providing an impetus

for sustained, coordinated action

aimed at reducing drug related crime

and strengthening community

resilience against drugs

• We will improve our understanding

and intelligence about local drugs

markets, distribution and trafficking

networks develop and operate e.g.

mapping the local market and

measuring the effects of any

interventions by surveying local

residents

• We will respond to and reduce

community concerns about drug use

and drug dealing through:

On-going dialogue, gathering

information and intelligence; and

The effective communication of

successful operations to the public

3 “Drugs Act 2005”. Opsi.gov.uk. accessed 08.09.11

Page 121



This is chapter two of the strategy

technical document aimed at an audience

involved and interested in progressing

action to address drug misuse. It

comprises one chapter of the Tower

Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy

technical document; the other chapter

focussing on alcohol harm reduction. A

shorter, more accessible summary

document is also available for the public,

service users and carers, and those who

require an overview of key points. The

summary covers the two chapters of the

Substance Misuse Strategy, both drugs

and alcohol, together in one document.

Drug misuse impacts all aspects of society,

“From the crime in local neighbourhoods,

through families forced apart by

dependency, to the corrupting effect of

international organised crime, drugs have a

profound and negative effect on

communities, families and individuals”4.

The Mayor of Tower Hamlets, NHS East

London and City and the Coalition

Government are committed to ensuring

that the drugs agenda remains a priority at

national and local level and thus aims to

further shift power to local partnerships for

its effective delivery. In Tower Hamlets, we

welcome the renewed focus on the needs

of families and communities within the

new Government drugs strategy moreover

we are pleased to see prevention and

recovery for the individual at the core.

People who misuse drugs may present

with a range of health and social

problems5 other than dependence, these

may include:

• physical health problems (for

example, thrombosis, abscesses,

overdose, hepatitis B and C, HIV, and

respiratory and cardiac problems)

• mental health problems (for example,

depression, anxiety, paranoia and

suicidal thoughts)

• social difficulties (for example,

relationship problems, financial

difficulties, wider determinants of

health and wellbeing problems such

as unemployment and homelessness)

• involvement in crime and the criminal

justice system

In Tower Hamlets, we have over recent

years made considerable progress in

reducing the harm caused by drug and

alcohol misuse. The London Borough of

Tower Hamlets and NHS East London & The

City, alongside treatment providers, the

Metropolitan Police, and London Probation,

have worked hard together to ensure that

we support people to make healthy lifestyle

choices, provide high quality treatment and

support when people become dependent,

and tackle the antisocial behaviour and

crime associated with drugs and alcohol.

The Partnership is keen to build on its

progress to date. Our strategy aims to

address the challenges presented by

disrupting the supply of drugs and

reducing both the demand and the harms

associated with drug misuse. We want to

get more drug users into effective

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

37

INTRODUCTION

4 Reducing Demand, Restricting Supply, Building
Recovery : Supporting People to Live a Drug Free Life,
Dec 2010, HM Government

5 Drug misuse, psychosocial interventions, National
Clinical Practice Guideline Number 51, NICE,

Page 122



treatment which results in positive

outcomes and supports them to recover

fully. We want to increase the levels of

drug and asset seizures and the number

of individuals being brought to justice for

dealing drugs.

These ambitions will be prioritised by our

key partnerships, Healthy Communities

and Safe and Supportive, and through our

Health and Wellbeing Board over the next

three years. We will consult with local

people about drug misuse issues and

inform the public about our successes.

We will consult our service users and plan

our services to better meet their needs.

Through this work we can also play a

valuable role in contributing to a reduction

in levels and perceptions or fear of crime

and antisocial behaviour.

For Tower Hamlets to deal effectively with

the many issues brought about by drug

misuse, we must continue to harness the

energies of our multiple partner agencies

to deliver an effective response while

providing reassurance to our local

communities that Tower Hamlets is a safe

and thriving environment in which to

work, invest and visit.

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

38

Page 123



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

39

THE NEED FOR A STRATEGIC
RESPONSE TO DRUG MISUSE
IN TOWER HAMLETS

The new National Drug Strategy

‘Reducing Demand, Restricting Supply,

Building Recovery: Supporting People to

Live a Drug Free Life’6 focuses its

priorities around three definite themes;

reducing demand, restricting supply and

building recovery into communities.

These three themes sit at the heart of

this, Tower Hamlets’ first, substance

misuse strategy.

We are developing our local strategic

response to drug misuse for a number of

reasons, a sample of which are explained

below:

Residents’ views

Resident’s concerns have driven the

drugs agenda for a number of years and

have prompted interest and investment, in

treatment and enforcement, from local

politicians. Tower Hamlets, as an area of

high deprivation, experiences a greater

impact from drug misuse than many other

areas. This is understood by residents,

52% of those who responded to the

Annual Resident’s Survey (2010/11), said

that drug misuse or dealing was a very or

fairly big problem7. Although there has

been a reduction over the last three years

in the numbers of residents who perceive

drug misuse as a problem; drug misuse

and the impact of this remain an area of

concern for the local community.

London ambulance callouts

The LASS site provides data which shows

the number and ward where ambulance

callouts described as dealing with drug

overdose occurs. The data does not

differentiate between deliberate and

accidental overdose or between different

drugs. Therefore the figures may include

licit as well as illicit drugs e.g.

paracetamol, insulin, or OTC (Over The

Counter) drugs.

The wards with the highest level of

callouts for drug overdose are Bethnal

Green South, East India and Lansbury,

Mile End and Globe Town. Tower Hamlets

has the 8th highest rate of ambulance call

outs for drug overdose (8 per 10,000) in

London; higher than neighbouring

Hackney but lower than Newham (7 per

10,000 and 12 per 10,000 respectively).

Blood borne virus (BBV) transmission

The recent ‘Shooting up’8 report provides

information about national levels of

injecting drug users BBV infections and

shows that needle and syringe sharing

has declined in recent years, but almost

one-fifth of injecting drug users continue

to share.

Infections are common among injecting

drug users. Around one-half of injecting

drug users have been infected with

hepatitis C, one-sixth with hepatitis B, and

about one-third reported a symptom of a

bacterial infection (such as a sore or

abscess) at an injecting site in the past

year.

6 Reducing Demand, Restricting Supply, Building
Recovery: Supporting People to Live a Drug Free Life’
December 2010, HM Government

7 Tower Hamlets Annual Resident’s Survey 2010/11
8 Shooting Up, Infections among injecting drug users in
the UK 2009, An update: November 2010. Health
Protection Agency

Page 124



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

40

The prevalence of HIV among those who

have injected drugs remains low and is

estimated to be 1.5% overall in the UK.

However, it varies across the country from

0.6% in Scotland to 4.1% in London.

Drug dealing and possession offences

Police data for the period April to July

2011 indicates that drug related offences

in Tower Hamlets accounted for 12% of

all notifiable offences dealt with by the

police. Tower Hamlets saw the most Class

A and C offences in London and was 4th

highest in relation to Class B offences.

Harm caused by parental drug misuse

For some drug users being a parent may

encourage them to enter treatment,

stabilise their lives and seek support. For

some children it may lead to harm, abuse

or neglect and for others it will mean

taking on inappropriate caring roles putting

their health and/or education at risk.

The ACMD (Advisory Council for Misuse

of Drugs) Report on ‘Hidden Harm’9

estimates there are between 250,000 and

350,000 children of problem drug users

(the former term for OCUs, opiate and

crack users) in the UK; approximately one

child for every problem drug user.

Research into the link between parental

substance misuse and child maltreatment

suggests that dependence on substances

is present in at least 50% of the families

who come to the attention of the

authorities. Children who live with

substance misusing parents as part of

their everyday life may run a greater risk

of having mental health problems, a

greater risk of substance misuse and

alcohol use in adolescence, impaired

intellectual function, higher levels of

anxiety lower self esteem and

depression10.

In Tower Hamlets out of the six Serious

Case Reviews completed between

2006/07 and 2009/10 (most recent

available data), two have involved parental

substance misuse. A further two featured

the young person’s drug and alcohol

misuse11.

Lord Laming’s Report12 2009 refers to the

Hidden Harm report key findings and

recommends: All police, probation, adult

mental health and adult drug and alcohol

services should have well understood

referral processes which prioritise the

protection and wellbeing of children.

These should include automatic referral

where domestic violence or drug or

alcohol abuse may put a child at risk of

abuse or neglect.

Further to the Laming report, the Munro

Review 2011 recommends provision of

early intervention services for children,

young people and families and that

children and young people’s wishes,

feelings and experiences are central.13

9 Hidden harm, responding to the needs of children of
problem drug users. ACMD, 2003

10 Identifying substance abuse in maltreating families: A
child welfare challenge, Dore, Doris and Wright 1995.

11 Tower hamlets Hidden harm strategy,
12 The protection of children in England, a progress report,
The Lord Laming. 2009

13 The Munro Review of Child Protection: Final Report A
child centred-system (2011) Department for Education,
HM Government

Page 125



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

41

WHAT DOWE KNOW ABOUT THE USE
OF DRUGS LOCALLY ANDWHERE
ARE THE GAPS IN OUR KNOWLEDGE?

Local data is primarily drawn from our

adult and young people’s substance

misuse needs assessments which are

produced annually. Locally and nationally,

policy has focussed on those whose drug

misuse causes them and their community

most harm, i.e heroin and crack users.

Therefore we have better data and

monitoring systems for this type of drug

use. The national drug strategy14 urges

development of services and enforcement

that addresses drug misuse of all kinds.

For this reason the partnership

acknowledges the need to improve

monitoring and information about other

drugs of choice that can be used

problematically in order that services can

be planned on an informed basis.

Consumption patterns are hard to

determine due to the illicit nature of most

drug misuse. Users are naturally reticent

to be identified and counted. However we

may be able to obtain a clearer picture of

drug consumption in the future by cross

referencing data from less obvious

sources such as accident and emergency

department attendances, service user

surveys, etc. We need to develop a more

systematic way of collecting and

analysing intelligence and data that can

inform our approaches.

Understanding local patterns of drug

consumption behaviour

Substance misuse by young people

The Tellus survey directly informed National

Indicator 115: Substance misuse by young

people between 2006 and autumn 2009.

The indicator measures the percentage of

young people in the survey who reported

being drunk or using illicit substances twice

or more in the 4 weeks prior to the survey.

The responses to the questions on alcohol

and drug use are combined to give a single

percentage for the proportion of young

people who frequently use any substance

which may result in harm.

The 2010 survey findings indicated an

increase between Tier 3 and Tier 415 of 4

percentage points (ppts) to 6.7% in the

proportion of young people who reported

using substances frequently. This increase

was greater than both the London and

national average and saw LBTH exceeding

the London average on this indicator by

0.2 percentage points. The percentage of

young people that say they used misused

substances remained below the national

average of 9.8%.

14 Reducing Demand, Restricting Supply, Building
Recovery : Supporting People to Live a Drug Free Life,
Dec 2010, HM Government

15 Description of tiers of treatment
Tier 1 Interventions are provided from general
healthcare and other services that are not specialist
drugs services, for example hospital A&E departments,
Pharmacies or GPs. Tier 1 services offer facilities such
as information and advice, screening for drug misuse
and referral to specialist drugs services.
Tier 2 provides open-access drug treatment (such as
drop-in services) that does not always need a care plan
and covers triage assessment, advice and information
and harm reduction given by specialist drug treatment
services.
Tier 3 constitutes drug treatment in the community with
regular sessions to attend, undertaken as part of a care
plan. Prescribing, structured day programmes and
structured psychosocial interventions (counselling,
therapy etc) are always Tier 3. Advice, information and
harm reduction can also be Tier 3 if they are part of a
care plan.
Tier 4 Equates to residential drug treatment – inpatient
treatment and residential rehabilitation. Treatment
should include arrangements for further treatment or
aftercare for clients finishing treatment and returning to
the community.
Taken from Specialist drug and alcohol services for
children and young people – a cost benefit analysis.
Department for Education (date of publication
unavailable) – accessed 08.09.2011

Page 126



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

42

Cannabis was reportedly used by 32.5%

of the cohort compared to 82.5%

reporting use of alcohol in contrast to

findings from a review of young people’s

drug treatment data.

The survey also suggested that 20% of

substance users had used ‘other’ drugs

which includes class A substances and

17.5% of the group reported using volatile

substances such as solvents, glue or gas.

British Crime Survey data examines the

extent and trends in illicit drug use among

a nationally representative sample of 16-

59 year olds in households in England and

Wales. It is important to be mindful of

concerns regarding the applicability of the

survey’s findings to the Tower Hamlets

population; however the most recent data

(2010/11) suggests that 8.8 per cent of

adults aged 16 to 59 had used illicit drugs

and that 3.0 per cent had used a Class A

drug in the last year16. For further details

please refer to Appendix 1.

There is scant reliable data on drug

consumption patterns among the Tower

Hamlets population (particularly among

those not known to treatment and across

the full range of substances, licit and

illicit) and this remains a considerable gap

in our intelligence regarding local need16.

Crime related to drug use

Police data – dealing and possession

The London Analysts Support Site (LASS)

provides data from theMetropolitan police

service and other datasets. The LASS data

shows that there has been an increase in

trafficking (dealing) offences which mirrors

the increased investment and assertive

police operations against dealers, and a

reduction in possession offences since 2009.

Acquisitive crime

There are well documented associations

between dependent class A drug use and

acquisitive crime. From our DIP monitoring

data we can see that this link is apparent

where mandatory drug tests in police

custody suites have been undertaken

The majority of those testing positive

were arrested for drug possession,

however the majority of the rest of

offences were acquisitive crime i.e. theft,

robbery and burglary.

Diversity of the drug using population

and equity in treatment services

Our equity audit17 looked at the six

equality strands age, gender, ethnicity,

sexuality, religion and disability. It

considered all OCUs (opiate and crack

users, formerly PDUs an acronym for

problem drug users) in the borough not

just those in treatment services and

generated a series of expected estimates

under the 6 equality strands.

Age – 55% of OCUs were identified as

being between the ages of 19-49 years

old, supporting data to suggest that a

large proportion of this group are naive to

treatment and particularly in the 18-24

year age group.

Gender – 77% of all OCUs were

estimated to be male; however, there

appears to be equitable access to

treatment services between males and

females with 42% of males and 41% of

females OCUs in treatment.

Ethnicity – the analysis shows that an

estimated 71% of all OCUs in Tower

Hamlets are white British however; only

24% are recorded as receiving treatment.

In contrast, 85% of black OCUs and 93%

of Bangladeshi OCUs were in treatment,

16 Drug misuse declared: Findings from the 2010/11
British Crime Survey England and Wales (2011) Home
Office, HM Government

17 NHS Tower Hamlets, Equity audit of access to
substance misuse services. Matrix consultancy, 2010.

Page 127



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

43

although these groups represent only 2%

and 10% of OCUs respectively. This

would appear to suggest there is good

access to treatment among black and

Bangladeshi clients and that access is

more of an issue among white British

clients.

Disability – The data shows that an

estimated 17% of OCUs in Tower Hamlets

were estimated to have a disability or long-

standing illness. Analysis suggests that

there are some inequities when compared

to those that do not have a disability. Only

5% of OCUs with a disability are in

treatment, whereas 20% of OCUs without

a disability are in treatment.

Sexuality – The vast majority of the OCU

population are heterosexual (79%), of

which an estimated 12% are receiving

treatment. There are inequities when

compared to gay or lesbian and bisexual

groups - only 0.5% of gay or lesbian OCUs

and 0.4% of bisexual OCUs are estimated

to be in treatment.

Religion – It was not possible to investigate

by religion/belief as incomplete prevalence

or treatment data was available.

Equity audit analysis relied on existing

estimates notably the ‘Glasgow estimates’

of drug use prevalence and as such should

be interpreted in this context and should

not be considered 100% accurate.

Understanding the profile of those in

drug treatment

Adult treatment data18

The most recent ‘Glasgow Estimate’19

suggests that there are around 3,795

OCUs20 in Tower Hamlets; Of this number,

1,775 (47%) are estimated to be naïve to

treatment. The estimate for opiate users

is 2,837 33% of whom are thought to be

treatment naive. The estimate for crack

users is 2,600 43% of whom are

treatment naive. Significant numbers of

OCUs are poly-drug users. Estimating the

number of OCUs is a difficult task and as

such these figures should be treated with

some caution.

Substantial numbers of the treatment

naïve population are known to the criminal

justice system (36% of treatment naive

OCUs are known to DIP and prisons).

85% of OCUs identified heroin as their

first drug. 56% of those that did not

identify crack as their first drug identified

it as their second drug

7% of those in the adult structured

treatment services were aged between 18

- 24, 50% were between 25 - 34 and 43%

were older than 35.

15% said they were currently injecting,

with 58% saying they had never injected.

Compared with other areas this

represents a smaller number of injecting

drug users.

Adult offenders

Clients entering the treatment system via

a criminal justice route can have multiple

and complex needs such as mental ill

health, low/no education and

homelessness21. Between January and

December 2010, 1242 offenders received

18 Tower Hamlets substance misuse needs assessment
2011/12

19 The Glasgow Estimates are developed using a capture
recapture estimation technique. This method pulls
together a sample of drug users from a number of
different data sources e.g. Drugs Intervention
Programme (DIP), National Drug Treatment Monitoring
System (NDTMS) and other Police and Prison data
sources. It counts the overlap in the number of clients
within each of these samples and uses this overlap
count to estimate the size of the whole population.

20 The acronym OCU stands for Opiate and Crack User.
This term formerly replaces the acronym PDU (problem
drug user).

21 Breaking the Cycle: Effective Punishment,
Rehabilitation and Sentencing of Offenders. Ministry of
Justice Dec 2010.

Page 128



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

44

statutory supervision by probation locally.

This figure includes both those on

community orders and those on licences.

Of these, 45% (553) recorded drugs as a

criminogenic need (OASys probation

database).

In 2010/11 Criminal Justice referrals into

structured treatment increased from

previous years. 22% of individuals

entering treatment came from a criminal

justice source (19% in 2008/09 and

2007/2008)mainly from DIP.

As shown above, 30% of those who had a

mandatory drug test in the police station

in 2009/10 showed a positive result for

cocaine and/or opiates. Around 21% were

aged under 35.

The table opposite shows the ‘funnel’

process from drug testing through to

treatment. In 2009/10 from 748 initial

positive tests 268 clients started

treatment.

Outcomes of treatment

Leaving treatment in ‘a planned way’22 is

seen as a proxy measure for a successful

outcome of treatment.

With regard to the reasons for leaving

treatment, 37% had a planned exit, of

which 22% were referred on to another Tier

3 or Tier 4 service and 63% had an

unplanned exit of which 7% went to prison.

Using the TOP outcome tool analysis we

know that positive outcomes are gained

from drug treatment. For example the

number of individuals who have injected

in the previous 28 days falls dramatically,

acute housing problems and housing risks

fall the longer a client is in treatment, and

crime committed over the last 28 days

falls the longer a client is in treatment.

We understand that people who remain in

the treatment system for a long time, (4

years plus), tend to have worse outcomes

in terms of their opiate use. We need to

unpick this issue and consider whether

these long term clients are receiving the

right treatment for them which is regularly

reviewed to ensure it continues to meet

their needs.

Needle exchange

Needle exchange data is a potentially rich

source of information regarding clients

who are either engaged at a low or

intermittent level within the treatment

system or who are not known to

treatment services at all. We need to

improve the data we gather on individuals

in contact with needle exchange services

in order to characterise service users and

plan services that can target this group, to

motivate them to engage in drug

treatment and reduce/cease high risk

injecting behaviour.

There are currently 5 specialist services in

Tower Hamlets offering needle exchange

and 4 pharmacies. Most recent available

data suggests that between April 2009

and March 2010 approximately 85,000

needles were dispensed to injecting drug

users. We estimate that this is insufficient

to cover the level of injecting occurring in

the borough. Fewer than half were

returned to drug treatment agencies /

Trigger arrests and positive drug tests

Number arrested for trigger 2711

offence & drug tested

Number of Tower Hamlets 851

clients testing positive

% of Tower Hamlets clients 31%

testing positive

Data Source: DIMIS reports 2010/11 & mi-case (local data)

22 Leaving treatment in a planned way is defined by the
NTA, in the case of adults, as leaving treatment drug
free or being retained in treatment for 12 weeks

Page 129



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

45

pharmacies but further investigation is

required to understand the proportion of

needles returned elsewhere e.g. hostels

or discarded.

Parental drug misuse

51% of the total number in treatment in

2010/11 said that they were a parent (61%

of women said they were a parent and

48% of men).

Young people’s drug and alcohol

treatment

Local NDTMS data suggests that in

2010/11, 117 young people entered Tier 3

or Tier 4 treatment.

In Tower Hamlets, as with other Local

Authorities in London, the majority of

young people enter treatment for either

alcohol and/or cannabis misuse. Of the

117 young people entering treatment in

2010/11, 54 were accessing treatment for

alcohol misuse.

70% of young people entering treatment

between 2010 and 2011 were reported as

being from an “Asian or Asian British”

background. This is in-line with the Asian

population in Tower Hamlets, where

69.1% of young people are Asian or Asian

British.

Most recent available data suggests that

Tower Hamlets has an estimated benefit

of £4.45 for every £1 spent on young

people’s drug and alcohol treatment. This

is not an immediate saving, but reflects

the benefit of treatment over the long-

term23.

309 individuals referred to their borough of residence

542 eligible to be taken onto DIP case load

88% of those eligible taken onto case load

100% of those taken onto the case load received a

Tier 2 intervention. 71% of those taken onto case load

referred to Tier 3 or 4 intervention.

74% of those referred start treatment.

DIP clients 2010/2011

From arrest to treatment

851 positive tests

477 taken onto caseload

341 referred to treatment

253 treatment starts

23 Tower Hamlets Young people’s substance misuse
needs assessment 2011/12, draft.

Page 130



Our aims and objectives

Aims

We aim to disrupt the supply, reduce the

demand and social and health harms

associated with drug misuse in Tower

Hamlets. We want to engage more drug

users into high quality drug treatment

which results in positive outcomes and

supports them to recover. We want to

increase the levels of drug and asset

seizures and the number of individuals

brought to justice for the supply of drugs.

We will consult with local people about

drug misuse issues and inform the public

about our successes. Through this work we

can also play a valuable role in contributing

to a reduction in levels and perceptions or

fear of crime and antisocial behaviour.

Objectives

The objectives pertaining to the

Substance Misuse Strategy – drugs

chapter are as follows:

• To tackle drug related crime and anti

social behaviour

• To commission and deliver high

quality drug education, prevention,

health improvement and treatment

services monitoring their uptake and

outcomes across the protected

characteristics

• To increase the number of drug users

entering, engaging with and

completing treatment and remaining

drug free

• To reduce associated social and

health problems via harm reduction

approaches as part of a wider

recovery focussed treatment system

• To deliver services that support

recovering drug users to secure

accommodation and employment,

and to re-connect with their local

communities

• To reduce the impact of drug related

crime and anti-social behaviour as

measured by the perception of our

local communities

• To ensure that young people are able

to make informed decisions about

drug use, based on high quality drug

education and prevention approaches,

rapid access to treatment services if

problems develop and access to

alternative activities and opportunities

• To develop an interagency response

to reduce the actual and potential

effects of parental substance misuse

on children, young people and

vulnerable adults

• To develop systematic data and

intelligence gathering processes and

analysis to ensure we actively plan

and commission an integrated

response to substance misuse which

is evidence based, cost effective and

addresses local priorities

• To ensure that family based

interventions are integral to treatment

provision

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

46

OUR RESPONSE:
AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Page 131



Key indicators

Progress will be monitored using 12 key

indicators. We will know we have been

successful if we achieve the following:

1. Reduced perceptions of drug use or

drug dealing as a problem (Source:

Annual Residents’ Survey)

2. Achieve a minimum of 365 sanctioned

detections per year from our ‘dealer a

day’ operations. (Source: Police

performance figures)

3. Achieve a decrease in the serious

acquisitive crime rate. Analysis

indicates that this is strongly

associated with drug related

offending. (Source: Police

performance figures)

4. Achieve an increase in the number of

adult drug users in effective

treatment. (a planned exit or at least

12 weeks retention in treatment).

(NDTMS)

5. Increase the number of successful

exits from the drug treatment system.

(NDTMS)

6. Improve outcomes and reduce re-

presentation levels to treatment

services by treatment matching, good

care planning and support. (Source:

NDTMS/TOP/NTA)

7. Improve the numbers of recovering

drug users in stable accommodation

and education, training and

employment. (TOP)

8. Improve uptake by drug users of BBV

testing, vaccinations and treatment

for viral hepatitis. (NDTMS & local

data)

9. Improve coverage of needle exchange

services. (local data)

10. Ensure our substance misuse

services deliver an open accessible

and equitable service demonstrated

by an equity audit cycle against the

protected characteristics.

11. Support 100% of local schools in

developing and implementing

drug/alcohol policies.

Our strategic priorities

The priorities for achieving the objectives

are outlined below against the three

pillars of the strategy: prevention and

behaviour change, treatment and

enforcement.

Strategic priorities – Prevention and

Behaviour Change

We will reduce the demand for drugs and

the harms associated with drug misuse

through our drug prevention and health

improvement work. We will prioritise:

• reducing the demand for drugs and

the harms associated with drug

misuse through our drug prevention

and health improvement work

• integrating our drug campaigns with

other health and wellbeing issues

where appropriate, for example

alcohol, mental health. This will allow

us to benefit from economies of

scale, share resources and skills. We

will also undertake joint campaigns

across the Tower Hamlets Partnership

• working with our partners to develop

services that address the wider social

determinants of health and wellbeing,

as well as drug misuse, such as

accommodation, employment,

economic wellbeing and education

• supporting people to make healthy

choices by providing targeted

communication and community

education about the harms caused by

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

47

Page 132



drugs, how to minimise these and

providing information about the

support services available

• providing targeted outreach to at-risk

young people and their parents,

signposting them to appropriate

support services to address wider risk

factors (e.g. educational attainment)

with the aim of preventing escalation

of use and harm

• exploring possibilities to support

parents in addressing drug and

alcohol misuse with their children

• working in partnership with schools to

provide good quality education through

Social and Emotional Aspects of

Learning (SEAL), Personal Social Health

Education (PSHE) and pastoral care.

• strengthening joined up working

between hostels and treatment

services to address the needs of

hostel based clients in recognition of

the high prevalence of both substance

misuse and dual diagnosis amongst

hostel users and ex-offenders

Strategic priorities - Treatment

Adult treatment

• During 2011/12, we will complete a

redesign of treatment services in the

borough. The redesign will help us to

develop our model for drug treatment

in a way that fits with the current and

future need of our population, and the

evidence available on what works well,

and will inform our commissioning

intentions for 2012/13 and beyond. We

intend that the redesign process will

help us to work across the system to

develop a “whole systems” approach

to helping people to recover from drug

addiction and dependency, where all

providers work together to provide a

seamless pathway of support for

service users.

• Commissioners will work with

treatment providers to develop a local

whole systems approach to recovery.

This will involve ensuring that each

individual is offered:

A comprehensive assessment and

response to individual and/or family

health and social needs. This will

include an integrated recovery plan

that is personalised and client

centred/driven offering a choice of

appropriate treatment

interventions, which addresses a

range of health and social needs

and sets goals for treatment

High quality assessment and

integrated care planning to address

the range of needs presented by

each client including for example

mental health issues, physical,

social, or emotional issues

Swift and effective referral to other

treatment agencies where more

appropriate to the clients identified

needs, as well as referral to a

range of support services such as

housing, employment, support to

fulfil parenting roles, mental health

services and services to address

wider health needs

Co-ordinated care planning,

reviews and case management for

each service user to guide them

through their treatment and ensure

that they receive the best and most

appropriate services to meet their

needs at the right time

We will develop, sign up to and

monitor performance against a

Service User and Carer Engagement

Charter. This will set clear criteria for

service user and carer involvement

in service planning, commissioning

and performance monitoring. We

will support the development of

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

48

Page 133



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

49

peer support/mentors and service

user recovery champions.

Furthermore we will ensure all

treatment services sign up to and

display, an agreed service user and

carer charter

• We have focussed on improving

successful treatment completions for

some time. As the formula for

calculating the Pooled Treatment

Budget is changing next year from

numbers entering treatment to

successful completions, we will

redouble our efforts to focus

resources to improve the proportion

of successful treatment completions,

drug free outcomes and reduction in

re-presentation rates

• Hidden harm can be understood as

the impact of parental drug or alcohol

misuse on children. The hidden harms

associated with alcohol and drugs are

profound. Accordingly, we have

worked to improve the identification,

response and support to children

affected by parental substance

misuse. Treatment services must

include whole family interventions to

support affected family members and

break intergenerational cycles of

addiction. Affected family members,

carers and partners should be able to

access support services in

conjunction with or independently

from the substance misuser

• We will further develop our treatment

and children’s services to improve our

response to the needs of children of

drug misusers. We will embed good

practice into everyday assessment and

casework by developing and

implementing a jointly owned referral

protocol between children’s services

and treatment providers, train workers

in addressing ‘hidden harm’ and

support staff to identify and respond to

drug using parents and their children

• We will work with stakeholders to

develop a clinical governance

framework that addresses the entire

treatment system including primary

care. The Department of Health

Operating Framework 2010/11 sets

quality as the guiding principle of the

NHS24. Clinical governance is usually

thought of as a framework containing

a number of domains to be addressed

that impact on the quality and safety

of care. The Darzi review25 found that

for the NHS, quality should include

the following aspects:

Patient safety

Patient experience

Effectiveness of care

These three areas are known as quality

dimensions and cover issues such as:

adherence to NICE guidelines, Serious

Untoward Incidents, service user

involvement, etc

• We will identify and nurture links with

wraparound support services that

address education, training and

employability (ETE) and wider needs

of the family. We will continue to

implement the protocol between Job

Centre Plus and drug treatment

services to access support and we

will support service users to become

actively involved in development of

ETE opportunities for those in, and

exiting treatment

• We will target treatment naïve drug

misusers e.g. through our work with

hostels in order to motivate them

towards engaging in more structured

treatment and progress towards

recovery

24 The NHS operating framework for England for 2010/11
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/
Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_110107

25 Quality and the NHS Next Stage Review, Lancet.

Page 134



• The Olympics in 2012 will see the

arrival of workers, tourists, spectators

and athletes. The potential impact for

services and clients will be considered

and planned for ahead of the games

Young people’s substance misuse

services

• Our approach will combine universal

prevention activity through schools

and youth services with a

commitment to intervening early. We

will offer targeted support to

vulnerable groups of young people at

increased risk of substance misuse

• We will implement a new treatment

model for young people which will

devolve responsibility for lower level

and threshold services to generic

front line youth services. The new

model will require clearer care

pathways, and a strong interface with

more specialist support and treatment

services, information sharing and

workforce development

• We will ensure there is rapid access

to intensive specialist support for

those young people whose substance

misuse is already starting to cause

harm and, for the most vulnerable

young people this will include locally

delivered multi agency packages of

care with the aim of preventing

escalation

• Wewill review referral pathways into

specialist services to ensure that all

young people with a need access

treatment with a particular focus on

looked after children and those attending

accident and emergency services for

drug and alcohol related issues

• We will monitor the trend in the

increasing number of re-presenting

young people in treatment and

undertake further research/analysis into

the reasons for high re-entry and focus

on ways that services might be better

provided to ensure services are respon-

sive to the needs of all young people

• We will work with young people’s

services to ensure support for the

whole family and encourage family

support for the young person

• We will work with providers to

develop rational outcome targets with

which to monitor and measure the

effectiveness of our treatment

services for young people

Strategic priorities - Enforcement

We will disrupt the supply of drugs through

effective enforcement. This will involve:

• Continuing to invest in primary policing

enforcement via the ‘dealer-a-day’

initiative to target street drug dealers

and crack houses in the borough.

Additionally we will tackle mid-tier

dealers and those who supply the mid-

tier. These operations will involve

making the maximum possible use of

our enforcement powers including

closure orders, injunction and eviction.

The mayor of Tower Hamlets is making

considerable investment in policing,

specifically to tackle drug related anti-

social behaviour and crime, alongside

his additional investment in drug

treatment. We will evaluate our

enforcement campaigns to measure

effectiveness in terms of reducing

complaints about drug dealing by

undertaking ‘before and after’ surveys

with local residents. We will include

information on these enforcement

operations in our communications with

the public

• Beginning in 2011/12 a dedicated task

force will provide a holistic multi-agency

approach to drug related offending and

anti-social behaviour. This will include

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

50

Page 135



targeting PPOs with drug misuse

problems and known offenders linked

to acquisitive crime. The task force will

also target venues such as pubs and

clubs where there is suspicion of drug

misuse. There will be increased patrols

at known hotspots. The task force aims

to provide an enhanced level of

intervention to address drug-related

anti-social behaviour and crime and fits

into the Integrated Offender

Management model. The intended

outcome of the task force is the

reduction in the drugs problems that

bother local people the most

• We will implement a results-focused

Integrated Offender Management

(IOM) programme to ensure drug

misusing offenders:

Receive a holistic support package

aimed at stopping offending and

drug dependence

Are supported by criminal justice

agencies to access treatment

voluntarily

Have effective pathways between

services, including between those in

prison and those in the community

Where appropriate are assertively

identified and managed to ensure

compliance with legal

requirements

This will be developed on the basis of

a clear framework setting out specific

roles and responsibilities, and the use

of available resources in a co-

ordinated fashion to produce better

and more sustainable outcomes.

• We will develop the Drug Intervention

Programme (DIP) to increase the

number of drug misusing offenders

engaging in the structured treatment

system. We will deliver targeted

outreach to encourage drug misusing

adults (generic and CJS clients) into or

back into treatment alongside a more

robust approach to breaches and

compliance for DIP/DRR clients

• We will target treatment naive

probation clients by supporting the

probation service to identify drug

misusing clients and effectively

address their treatment needs by

ensuring the probation workforce

have appropriate training, support and

are consulted in the development of

our new treatment service model

• We will work with social, and where

possible commercial, landlords to

tackle the use of premises in the

borough used for the manufacture

and distribution of drugs by

identifying drug-related activities and

pressing for prosecution

• We will work alongside community

groups e.g. CADAA (Communities

Against Drugs & Alcohol Abuse) to

support them in providing an impetus

for sustained, coordinated action

aimed at reducing drug related crime

and strengthening community

resilience against drugs

• We will improve our understanding and

intelligence about local drugs markets,

distribution and trafficking networks

develop and operate e.g. mapping the

local market and measuring the effects

of any interventions by surveying local

residents

• We will respond to and reduce

community concerns about drug use

and drug dealing through:

On-going dialogue, gathering

information and intelligence; and

The effective communication of

successful operations to the public

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

51

Page 136



Appendix 5 describes in detail the actions

we are currently taking to address drug

use across the three pillars.

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

52

CURRENT
RESPONSES

Page 137



Use of data, intelligence and

surveillance

In order to accurately assess the needs of

the population in Tower Hamlets in

relation to ALL drug misuse we need to

improve our analysis of health surveillance

information and data e.g. health issues

such as local rates of BBV infections,

hospital admissions, accident and

emergency department attendances,

primary care data. We also need to look

more closely at our treatment outcomes

data and benchmark this against regional

performance so we can measure how

effective our services are. Equity audits

should be carried out in our treatment

system and reported as part of the annual

needs assessment.

In addition we need to build our

knowledge base around non-PDU drug

use e.g. steroid use, emerging trends of

‘legal highs’ and use of OTC (over the

counter) drugs and prescribed medicines.

Furthermore gathering intelligence about

drug markets, distribution and trafficking

will inform enforcement and community

interventions.

Our analysis needs to be carried out in a

structured and ongoing manner, which

informs and cross references with the

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

We need to ensure that the data, analysis

and intelligence is prioritised by the

Partnership and ensure that this underpins

decisions on future provision and any

review of DAAT structures.

Implementation, monitoring and review

The DAAT board, reporting to both the

Safe and Cohesive Community Plan

Delivery Group and the Health and Well

Being Board, will oversee the progress of

the Substance Misuse strategy and take

reports from working groups that are

responsible for implementing the

respective action plans.

Responsibility for developing and

implementing the children and young

people’s substance misuse plan is with

Tower Hamlets Children and Families

Trust, representatives of which sit on the

DAAT board.

There will be a comprehensive

programme to review progress from the

previous year, assessing developing

needs and gaps and setting out how the

DAAT partnership will meet its targets and

objectives.

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

53

UNDERPINNING
THE FOUNDATIONS

Page 138



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

54

APPENDIX 1: NATIONAL PREVALENCE
OF DRUG MISUSE

The British Crime Survey (BCS)26 provides

estimates of illicit drug use among adults

aged 16 to 59 within the general

household population in England and

Wales.

The 2009/10 BCS estimates that 8.6 per

cent of adults had used illicit drugs

(almost three million people) and that 3.1

per cent had used a class A drug in the

last year (around a million people). 41% of

these are frequent drug users (that is,

using a drug more than once a month on

average in the last year).

Last year use of any illicit drug by 16 to 59

year olds in 2009/10 was at its lowest

level since measurement began (1996),

falling from 11.1 per cent in the 1996 BCS

(and from 10.1% in 2008/09) to 8.6 per

cent in the 2009/10 BCS, mainly due to

successive declines in the use of

cannabis since 2003/04.

Use of any illicit drug among young

people (16 – 24) in the last year has fallen

since 1996 (29.7%) and since 2008/09

(22.6%), in large part due to a decline in

cannabis use.

The economic and social costs of class A

drug use in England and Wales have been

estimated at £15.4 billion27.

26 Drug Misuse Declared: Findings from the 2009/10
British Crime Survey, England and Wales, Jacqueline
Hoare and Debbie Moon (Editor), July 2010 13/10

27 Gordon, L., Tinsley, L., Godfrey, C. and Parrott, S. (2006)
The economic and social costs of Class A drug use in
England and Wales, 2003/04, In Singleton, N., Murray,
R. and Tinsley, L. (eds) ‘Measuring different aspects of
problem drug use: methodological developments.’
Home Office Online Report 16/06

Page 139



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

55

APPENDIX 2:
NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK

The development of the Tower Hamlets

Substance Misuse Strategy is taking place

during a time of profound political and

economic change. Some of the national

policies and agendas that are impacting or

will impact on this agenda are set out

below.

National Drug strategy

The new national drug strategy ‘Reducing

Demand, Restricting Supply, Building

Recovery: Supporting People to Live a

Drug Free Life’28 has three main themes.

Reducing demand, restricting supply and

building recovery into communities; and

two overarching aims:

1. Reduce illicit and other harmful drug

use; and

2. Increase the numbers recovering from

their dependence

The strategy covers how the Government

will address trafficking and dealing,

prevention, education and information and

how treatment outcomes will be

improved. For the first time the strategy

covers treatment for drug use as well as

serious alcohol dependency.

Some of the most relevant points of the

strategy locally in terms of enforcement

are:

• The introduction of Police and Crime

Commissioners (PCCs), bringing local

democratic accountability to the

police and who will be responsible to

local people for reducing crime and

disorder, including drug related crime.

• Developing further integrated local

enforcement with local

neighbourhood police gathering

intelligence on local dealers and

providing a visible deterrent.

Strengthening partnerships between

police and local partners. Where non

class A drugs (cannabis, steroids,

ecstasy or others) are a problem

locally, partnerships will be supported

to test new ways to address them.

• Integrated Offender Management (IOM)

brings together the police, probation

service, youth offending teams, DIP,

local authorities and voluntary and

community groups. Together they will

identify, support and manage priority

offenders, including drug misusing

offenders and PPOs, and divert them

away from drug use and crime.

In terms of prevention the strategy

commits to establishing a ‘whole-life’

approach to preventing and reducing the

demand for drugs by:

• breaking inter-generational paths to

dependency by supporting vulnerable

families;

• providing good quality education and

advice so that young people and their

parents are provided with credible

information to actively resist

substance misuse;

• encouraging individuals to take

responsibility for their own health;and

• intervening early with young people

and young adults;

28 Reducing Demand, Restricting Supply, Building
Recovery : Supporting People to Live a Drug Free Life,
Dec 2010, HM Government

Page 140



Key points of the strategy for us locally in

terms of drug treatment are:

• The White Paper proposal that local

Directors of Public Health based in the

local authority, will have oversight and

commissioning of drug and alcohol

treatment services as a core part of

their work.

• ‘Payment By Results’ pilot schemes

will be initiated.

• The strategy encourages treatment

services to become more ambitious in

terms of full recovery for service

users. Recovery activities and

therapies will therefore need to be

made available and become part of all

treatment care plans. Substitute

prescribing will still have a key role to

play within a recovery focussed

system.

• A new framework for treatment

delivery will be published, to replace

the ‘Models of Care 2006 update’.

Defining recovery can be difficult as it

means different things to different people

and covers a range of processes from

harm reduction to abstinence based

treatment options. A useful definition has

been provided by the Scottish

Government below:

“What do we mean by recovery? We

mean a process through which an

individual is enabled to move on from

their problem drug use, towards a drug-

free life as an active and contributing

member of society. Furthermore, it

incorporates the principle that recovery is

most effective when service users’ needs

and aspirations are placed at the centre of

their care and treatment. In short, an

aspirational, person-centred process.”

The road to recovery: A new approach to

tackling Scotland’s Drug Problem, The

Scottish Government, May 2008

The National Treatment Agency

business plan 2010/11

The key themes of the NTA 2010/11

Business Plan are also relevant locally.

The NTA’s key priorities are:

• Improving outcomes for those in

treatment; focussing on sustained

recovery and outcomes. Performance

will be measured based on outcomes,

measured by the TOP (Treatment

Outcome Profile) tool and NDTMS.

Centrally allocated resources will be

allocated based on performance. Tower

Hamlets DAAT therefore has the

opportunity to increase future allocation

of resources by improving performance.

in relation to successful completion

rates and reducing representations.

• Providing better value for money from

central investment; aiming to get more

for less. In Tower Hamlets we will be

utilising the NTA ‘Value for Money’ tool

to benchmark our performance.

• Championing abstinence-focussed

treatment; there will be new guidance

on substitute prescribing in line with the

evidence base which will aim to steer

patients and practitioners away from

long term maintenance prescribing.

• Re-balancing the system to ensure a

consistent approach to commissioning

community and residential

rehabilitation. A set of criteria will be

developed which will assist in

determining appropriate care pathways

and treatment matching.

• A new recovery-oriented blueprint for

the treatment system will be published

by the NTA to replace the current

framework, Models of Care for

Treatment of Adult Drug Misusers

(update 2006).

• Practitioner skills will be developed

further with a skills development

framework and programme to underpin

the cultural and structural shift towards

recovery/abstinence focussed

treatment.

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

56

Page 141



Breaking the cycle green paper, 201025

This consultation paper focuses on locally

developed Integrated Offender

Management solutions and assisting

offenders to ‘get off drugs for good’ and

payment by results for both adult and

youth offenders services. As such, it is a

driver to increasingly co-ordinate services

around offenders and ex-offenders and to

prevent youth drug misuse.

NHS white paper ‘Equity and excellence:

Liberating the NHS’ July 2010

Key components of the paper which will

be aligned within NHS ELC and DAAT

partnership treatment plans are:

• Putting patients and public first

Further developing service user

involvement and choice and

personalisation of treatment and

support,

• Improving healthcare outcomes

Improving outcomes for those in

treatment and developing outcomes

targets.

• Autonomy, accountability and

democratic legitimacy

The developing GP consortia will have

responsibility for most local health

commissioning mechanisms

although, it is proposed, drug

treatment will be overseen by Public

Health.

• Cutting bureaucracy and improving

efficiency

Efficiency savings within the NHS will

be reinvested to support

improvements in quality and

outcomes; reduction of management

costs which will be reinvested in the

‘front line’.

Public health white paper ‘Healthy

people, healthy lives’ November 2010

The paper responds to the Marmot report

‘Fair society, healthy lives’ which

advocates a ‘life course’ approach to

improving public health, from early years

onwards, emphasising personalised,

preventative services and focussing on

outcomes.

The paper emphasises localism and local

authority’s responsibility being the heart

of improving health and wellbeing on

issues such as drug and alcohol misuse

whilst retaining a national lead on health

protection where appropriate.

The paper proposes a ‘radical new

approach’ which incorporates a focus on

key outcomes, demonstrated through a

new public health outcomes framework. A

commitment to ‘what works’ is given and

use of the evidence base to achieve

behaviour change.

There is an emphasis on personal

responsibility and promotion of healthy

choices using a ‘ladder of interventions’ to

minimise intrusion and avoid regulation.

No health without mental health,

Feb 201126

This cross-governmental strategy

recognises the close links between

substance misuse, mental health and

homelessness and recommends

improved co-ordination of services. As

with other policy areas it promotes

localisation of services, personalisation of

care, diversification of supply and a focus

on outcomes.

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

57

Page 142



Drug misuse is a cross-cutting issue and

as such this strategy aligns itself with key

local strategic policy documents and

partners to ensure our priorities are

addressed in the most effective and cost

effective way. Key areas of alignment are

highlighted in the following local strategy

documents:

• Tower Hamlets community plan. This

is the main partnership plan which

has four key priorities for making

Tower Hamlets :

1. a great place to live,

2. a prosperous community,

3. a safe and cohesive community

4. a healthy and supportive

community.

• The second chapter of the Substance

Misuse Strategy, consisting of the

alcohol harm reduction technical

document

• Stronger and Safer communities,

Tower Hamlets Partnership, Outline

crime and drugs reduction strategy

and Safe and cohesive delivery plan

2011/12

• Tower Hamlets Children and Young

People’s Plan.

• Improving Health and Wellbeing in

Tower Hamlets, a strategy for primary

and community care services 2006-

16.

• Integrated Offender Management

Plan (in development)

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

58

APPENDIX 3:
TOWER HAMLETS POLICY CONTEXT

Page 143



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

59

APPENDIX 4: WHAT ARE THE BENEFITS
TO THE LOCAL COMMUNITY OF DRUG
TREATMENT?

Costs and benefits of drug misuse and

treatment

In Tower Hamlets we fund a

comprehensive treatment system for drug

misuse and we can show the difference it

makes using the NTA Value For Money

(VFM) tool. The VFM tool helps

partnerships to measure the cash benefits

of drug treatment versus the costs of

drug misuse.

Using the VFM tool we can estimate how

many drug related crimes can be

prevented as a result of drug treatment if

the numbers in treatment remain static as

per the table below.

The VFM tool shows significant benefits

in terms of the numbers of acquisitive

crimes prevented, increasing yearly.

The VFM tool also allows us to estimate

the cash benefits in terms of spend on

treatment versus cash benefits to local

partnerships. It shows for every £1 spent

on treatment £3.95 is saved on health and

crime costs.

National Indicator 38

NI3829 measures and drives local

performance in reducing offending by

(class A) drug misusers identified in the

course of their contact with the criminal

justice system. The measure is a proxy

measure which monitors the level of

proven offending by known (class A) drug

misusing individuals who have been

identified through their contact with the

Criminal Justice system and subsequently

have a proven conviction for any offence.

In 2009/10 LBTH had a cohort of 182

individuals (102 DIP and 80 Probation)

who were monitored and their proven

offending was measured against their

actual offending. LBTH was the fourth

best performing London borough re-

offending was just 57% of that that was

expected.

29 Proven reoffending of identified offenders

Page 144



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

60

Numbers in effective treatment 2010/11 1,599

Mean time in effective treatment in one year 69%

Number of successful completions for those in effective treatment 170

Number of unsuccessful completions for those in effective treatment 243

Sustaining recovery rate for those in effective treatment 40%

New 166

Existing 671
Clients sustaining recovery

Crimes prevented

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

Robbery 274 307 346

House burglary 137 154 173

Business burglary 867 973 1094

Theft of a vehicle 228 256 288

Theft from a vehicle 684 768 864

Shoplifting 16924 18994 21370

Bag snatch 319 358 403

Cheque or credit 365 410 461

card fraud

An estimate of

crimes

prevented if

numbers in

drug

treatment

remain static

Page 145



The Tower Hamlets Partnership have

commissioned, developed and delivered a

raft of services, operations and projects to

address local needs. The sections below

summarise current responses and areas

where further action is required.

Prevention and Behaviour change

Current responses:

• The DAAT coordinate a drug

awareness week campaign which

involves targeted campaigns on BME

media such as Channel S and local

Ramadan radio. The total number of

people reached through direct contact

during the campaign in 2010 is

calculated to be just over 1,000 with

15,000 reached indirectly

• We have invested in a Tower Hamlets

Drug and Alcohol Outreach Team who

work closely with Tower Hamlets

Enforcement Officers (THEOs)

providing targeted street based brief

interventions to those involved in

street based activity and supporting

vulnerable adults to enter formal

treatment and other services where

appropriate

• As part of the schools Strengthening

Families programme, drug education

and awareness sessions have been

delivered to parents in schools

settings. More in-depth training

sessions are also delivered to youth

workers, front-line workers, residents

etc

• Nafas deliver educational drug

awareness sessions in schools across

the borough and, in 2010/11,

delivered workshops to 2156 pupils

• The Tower Hamlets Healthy Lives

Team provides central training (open

to all staff from all schools across The

Borough) on good practice in Drug

Education and Drug Education and

Incidents Policy development for

schools. In 2010-2011, 37 primary

teachers and 15 secondary teachers

attended central training on Drug

Education (policy support is in the

near future)

• Individual school INSET / staff

meetings on good practice in Drug

Education are also provided by

Healthy Lives. In 2010-2011, 220

school staff received this training. The

team also moderating schools’ Drug

Education and Incident Policies to

make sure they are adequate and up

to date

• Healthy Lives has developed a

resources website (Fronter) that

provides access to schemes of work

and lesson plans on drug education

for schools and teachers;

advice/guidance on drug policy

development; links to external

agencies and resources

• THDAAT and Nafas work closely with

imams and mosques across the

borough to deliver drugs focussed

khutbahs and provide culturally

appropriate advice and education for

drug users

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

61

APPENDIX 5: CURRENT OPERATIONAL
RESPONSES TO TACKLE DRUG MISUSE
AND FURTHER ACTIONS REQUIRED

Page 146



Further action required:

• We need to ensure our prevention

and health promotion work around

drug misuse is integrated with other

health and wellbeing areas to improve

coverage, make best use of limited

resources and improve effectiveness

• We need to encourage and support

schools to uniformly prioritise drug

education, some find difficulty fitting

it in due to competing priorities and

time constraints

• Youth Services are taking on

responsibility for the provision of Tier

2 services for young people. We need

to ensure our targeted support

through the Integrated Youth Support

Services acts as the focal point for

early interventions with vulnerable

young people and groups and support

delivery through capacity building

youth services and actively monitoring

delivery activity

• We will prioritise the retention of

specialist drug and alcohol work

within the YOT and ensure appropriate

support for young people within the

youth justice system with clear

referral mechanisms to specialist

support and treatment where

appropriate

• We need to work in partnership with

children and family services to break

intergenerational cycles of

disadvantage and minimise the harm

caused by parental substance misuse.

This will involve:

Ensuring that the gains we have

made with regard to the hidden

harm agenda are not lost and

development of working protocols

between treatment and family

services

Working in partnership with family

services to ensure a

comprehensive whole-family

response to drug misuse whenever

possible

Continuing to develop the effective

partnership between children’s

social care and treatment providers

by building skills, developing

pathways and protocols to ensure

the safeguarding of the children of

those with drug problems and

embedding safeguarding and

substance misuse into everyday

assessment and casework practice

Seeking funding sources to

continue to provide parenting

programmes that support

substance misusing parents

Treatment

Current responses:

An overview of the treatment services

available in LBTH is outlined below:

• Primary care services are a key

element of the treatment system in

Tower Hamlets. A Local Enhanced

Service is commissioned from GPs to

provide treatment to clients, from

local GP surgeries supported by

specialist drug treatment services

• Health E1 offers primary care services

to homeless people and employs

specialist nurses and doctors who

prescribe and undertake keyworking

for drug users under their care.

Needle exchange and BBV services

are also available from HE1

• Needle exchange – following

reconfiguration of harm reduction

services, needle exchange is now

available at Health E1, CDT, Isis, SAU,

Dellow Day Centre and four

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

62

Page 147



community pharmacies (one of which

operates for 100 hours per week)

• Blood Borne Virus Team – the BBV

team offer a wide range of

interventions including access to BBV

screening, immunisation and

treatment, wound care, safe injecting,

advice and sexual health screening.

The team operate from a range of

locations including; CDT, Health E1,

SAU, Isis, Aldgate Hostel and Dellow

Day Centre

• The Island Day Programme (IDP) -

community based drug treatment

programme based on the principles of

the Twelve Step fellowships of

Narcotics Anonymous (NA) and

Alcoholics Anonymous (AA). This

programme is abstinence based and

support includes one-to-one and

group sessions, lectures,

assignments and aftercare

• Tower Hamlets Specialist Addiction

Unit (SAU) - this is a multidisciplinary

service which provides structured

drug treatment to adults with complex

drug related needs, including physical

health, mental health, and chaotic

drug or alcohol use

• NAFAS – a Tier 3 service which also

provides a culturally sensitive

structured day programme, structured

counselling, and referral to prescribing

services. Nafas carries out extensive

work with the families and friends of

drug users from the Bangladeshi

community and has worked closely

with the Harbour Recovery Centre

since it opened. The Abstinence

Support Network (ASN) programme

supports recovering drug users who

are abstinent to develop life skills and

engage in ETE programmes

• Tower Hamlets Community Drug

Team (CDT) – key working, shared

care prescribing, structured

counseling, group work,

complimentary therapies and access

to community care assessment for in-

patient detoxification and residential

rehabilitation

• Health E1 – NHS homeless person’s

medical centre providing a range of

services to drug users

• City Roads (tier 4) - provides in-patient

detoxification for drug users in crisis

and structured group programmes.

City Roads offers a maximum 3 week

stay and can refer on to residential

rehabilitation

• Harbour Recovery Centre - provides

in-patient detoxification for non-

injecting male drug users with non-

complex needs who are primarily

Bangladeshis under the age of 30.

The partnership commissioned this

service following consultation with

the Bangladeshi community

• The Drug Intervention Programme

(DIP) acts as a ‘bridge’ for offenders

to gain access to the drug treatment

system. DIP can access tier 4

interventions directly where

appropriate. DIP will be one essential

element of the new Integrated

Offender Management model. DIP is

composed of a range of services to

meet the needs of substance

misusing offenders. The main source

of referrals is through the Arrest

Referral Team (based in the custody

suite at Police stations). Individuals

arrested for certain (mainly acquisitive

crime) offences are drug tested and

those that test positive for opiates or

cocaine have to see a drug worker for

a mandatory assessment. In 2010/11

31% of those who were tested,

tested positive – a total of 748 people.

We are reviewing and restructuring

our DIP service aligning it with best

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

63

Page 148



practice guidance, integrating it into

our Integrated Offender Management

model and building capacity for

assertive outreach to engage/re-

engage clients in treatment

• The DIP Group Programme is

commissioned by DAAT using pooled

treatment budget funding – for

criminal justice clients referred from

Probation and DIP for structured

psychosocial support delivered via an

8 week programme. The DIP now also

hosts shared care prescribing and a

comprehensive BBV service. Clients

are referred from here to most other

agencies across the treatment

system

• Isis – Community drug service for

women offering shared care

prescribing, structured counselling

and general health screening

• A specialist midwife service operates

from the Royal London Hospital and

delivers specialist care for pregnant

drug and alcohol users and their

babies in conjunction with the

Specialist Addiction Unit, childrens

services and other key professionals

• Dual Diagnosis Service – offers low

threshold access to specialist mental

healthcare to people with dual

diagnosis issues in a wide spectrum

of settings across the borough. The

service does not report to NDTMS but

offers triage, assessment and referral

into structured treatment if required

• Tier 4 Services including local services

such as Harbour and City Roads –

other block contracted and spot

purchased residential services widely

available at treatment centres

nationwide

• NACRO deliver a satellite advocacy

and support service within CDT, Isis

and other treatment services. The

specialist worker provides practical

support for drug users around

accommodation, education and

employment and financial needs

• In 2010/11, Intuitive Recovery were

commissioned to deliver 3

programmes across the borough. The

programme is focussed on recovery

from addiction and received very

good feedback. Results are being

monitored in consideration for future

commissioning

• The Dellow Day Centre employs a

specialist drugs worker, funded by

PTB, to promote treatment options

and provide harm reduction advice

and information and needle exchange.

BBV interventions are also available at

the Dellow Day Centre

• Drug and alcohol outreach workers

work across the borough to engage

with street drinkers and refer them

into treatment as well as help them to

find and maintain adequate

accommodation. During 2010/11 the

Outreach Team provided a total

of 1356 interventions for individuals

who were misusing substances or

were involved with street lifestyles.

These street based interventions

offered people general harm

reduction advice and information,

regular ongoing support or

signposting into other services (both

drugs and alcohol)

• The Probation Service supports and

monitors offenders in the community.

The most recent available data

suggests that 1589 ex-offenders were

recorded as commencing supervision

with Tower Hamlets Probation in

2009/10. Of these, 112 are recorded

by Probation of commencing a Drug

Rehabilitation Requirement which is a

court order to attend treatment.

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

64

Page 149



A smaller number (36 individuals) are

recorded by treatment agencies as

entering the treatment system in

2009/10 from Probation via other

referral routes

• Practice has been standardised in

terms of assessment and care

planning across the borough. We

have implemented a common

referral, triage, assessment and care

planning tool across all tiers. An

Integrated Care Pathways steering

group has been set up and aims to

encourage provider agencies to offer

a more integrated and effective

treatment journey where clients

transfer between treatment agencies

where their needs can be most

appropriately met

• There has been an emphasis on

workforce development with the

delivery of ongoing training to all

provider agencies in relation to the

pathway development. A significant

amount of external training has also

been commissioned to enhance

practitioners competence

• Tower Hamlets has a relatively young

population but 18-24 year olds are not

represented in drug treatment in

proportion to the population. A pilot

project has been set up to assist 18-

24 year olds access treatment,

focused on cannabis, cocaine and

experimental drug use and will take a

more psychosocial approach to

treatment

Service User Involvement

• The Service User Involvement Group

(SURG) meets monthly and has held

quarterly events in 2010/11 to discuss

service user needs as well as

updating on service provision in the

borough. The chair has regularly

attended the London Regional Users

Committee and has now been elected

onto its steering committee

• A research project on unplanned

discharges was undertaken by SURG

working with the DAAT, and SURG

members designed the research

questions; carried out all research and

participated in the production of the

final report

• SURG is working with NHS East

London and the City Tower Hamlets

Public Health Department concerning

an evaluation of the borough's needle

exchange scheme

Children and young people service

responses

• Drug Treatment for young people is

commissioned by the Children,

Schools and Families service and

provided by Lifeline Young People’s

Service and the CAMHS Specialist

Substance Misuse Service (CSSS).

Between April 2010 and March 2011,

117 young people (i.e. under 18 years

old) received structured care planned

interventions via these services

• Young people’s services focus on

preventing the escalation of use and

harm with a view to stopping young

people from becoming dependent

adults. The Youth Offending Team

also provide a level of support to

young people with substance misuse

problems and the Integrated Youth

Support Service will now be playing a

significant role in the provision of

targeted support services to young

people

• Breaking the Cycle (BtC) in Tower

Hamlets is a service providing support

for families affected by parental or

carer alcohol or substance misuse. It

aims to break the generational cycle

of alcohol or substance misuse within

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

65

Page 150



a family by taking a holistic family

approach using systemic family

therapy. The main referrals that BtC

receive are from Children’s Social

Services but there is an interface

between BtC and some of the drug

and alcohol providers

Hidden Harm

There has been a focus across all services

on ‘Hidden Harm’, addressing parental

substance misuse and supporting

children of drug and alcohol misusers.

Tower Hamlets Hidden Harm priorities

are:

• Development of a coherent and

coordinated approach towards hidden

harm embedded in Tower Hamlets

services

• The implementation of clear referral

protocols and procedures between

Children’s Social Care Teams and

adult drug and alcohol providers

• Inter-agency training to ensure the

identification of children and young

people affected by parental substance

misuse and recognising parental

substance misuse and addictive

behaviour

• Clear referral pathways and guidance

on when to refer

• Development of a Hidden Harm

Handbook to include pathways

guidance and protocols

• Delivery of Moving Parents and

Children Together (M-PACT)

programme to ensure that parents are

able to recognise how substance

misuse impacts on both their own

parenting skills and family life. This

eight week programme supports

families affected by substance

misuse

Further action required

Some basic principles

We believe that anyone experiencing a

drug problem should have access to

effective, evidence-based treatment.

Needle exchange, Blood borne virus

interventions, substitute prescribing,

abstinence based programmes,

detoxification services, Psycho-social

interventions such as CBT based

programmes, twelve step programmes,

structured day services, residential

rehabilitation and other services all have

their part to play. It is of paramount

importance to ensure that people are

getting the right service for them,

delivered in the right way and at the right

time. There are many routes into drug

problems and so there needs to be a

choice of routes out of them. We will

therefore promote choice in treatment

services. Our treatment services should

support both harm reduction and

abstinence-based approaches. Our

treatment providers must work with all

people in treatment to assist them to

(re)build their lives and move on in their

recovery. Abstinence and recovery are the

ultimate outcomes for drug users, when

and where these are realistic and safely

achievable. We are equally committed to

supporting harm reduction as an

appropriate goal for clients as part of their

individual treatment journeys.

The system must put people first. Care

pathways out of drug problems and

dependency must be personalised , this

means putting service users at the centre

of care planning and addressing health

and social needs that come along with the

drug misuse. This will mean supporting

clients to access a range of ‘wraparound’

support services such as housing,

training/employment, health and fitness

and peer support.

Relationships between clients and the

workforce matter. As recognised in many

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

66

Page 151



Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

67

other fields, such as mental health, the

values, skills and attitudes of our

workforce in drug treatment services can

be as important as the particular

intervention they are delivering30. We

need to ensure our workforce is fit for

purpose, skilled and effective.

Some people in the drug treatment

system have multiple needs and damaged

lives. We know that people can struggle

to address a drug problem successfully if

they face stigma and isolation, are not

helped to address past abuse and trauma,

they continue to experience

homelessness and/or have no access to

training, employment, or other meaningful

activity. Care pathways out of addiction

are about a lot more than drug treatment

alone31.

Adults treatment

• Our equity audit highlighted inequities

in treatment access for certain

population groups. The

recommendations of the audit report

for commissioning were to review the

whole treatment system using a

multi-criteria decision analysis model.

This would take into account cost,

evidence base, targeting equity

groups, and setting objectives for the

treatment model. Benefit criteria

would need to be identified and then

services ranked/scored accordingly.

Once funds have been identified,

commissioning decisions can be

made accordingly

• We are committed to monitoring the

equitable use (by protected

characteristics) of our treatment

services on an annual basis

• Commissioners and treatment

providers need to continue to work in

partnership with hostels/supported

housing to enable better access to

harm reduction services, engagement

into treatment and provide a

supportive and conducive

environment for recovery

• We need to work with our partners to

ensure there are appropriate support

structures in place during and post-

treatment to prevent relapse, we will

identify service and service user

‘Recovery Champions’. ‘Recovery

champions’ ensure recovery and

reintegration activities are a central

focus of service delivery and provide

an ongoing challenge that ensures

service improvement to meet

developing service user needs32

• The Drug and Alcohol Outreach Team

have been resourced through time

limited ‘You Decide’ funding. In

2011/12 DIP and public health funds

are being used to continue the

service. Future options (2012

onwards) for an alternative funding

stream need to be agreed, as well as

further developing and clarifying the

role and remit of the team

• The relationship between services is

important. There is great potential for

improved recovery journeys across the

treatment system which may be

facilitated by better co-ordinated

treatment pathways between

treatment services given the particular

needs and choices of service users.

Therefore we need to further improve

30 Drug treatment at the crossroads What it’s for, where
it’s at and how to make it even better. Drugscope 2009.
Available at
http://www.drugscope.org.uk/Resources/Drugscope
/Documents/PDF/Good%20Practice/Drugtreatmentatth
ecrossroads.pdf accessed 27/4/2011

31 Drug treatment at the crossroads What it’s for, where
it’s at and how to make it even better. Drugscope 2009.
Available at
http://www.drugscope.org.uk/Resources/Drugscope/
Documents/PDF/Good%20Practice/Drugtreatmentatthe
crossroads.p df accessed 27/4/2011

32 Commissioning for recovery. Drug treatment,
reintegration and recovery in the community and
prisons: a guide for drug partnerships. 2010 NTA.

Page 152



and monitor use of treatment

pathways between treatment services

• SURG will become involved in

monitoring of service delivery in the

different service providers. To build

the capabilities of both the service

user representatives and service

users, skills based training will need

to be provided

• There is a need to monitor new and

emerging drug trends, uptake of

treatment, unmet needs and non-PDU

drug use, so that the partnership can

provide services that are able to

intervene

• A training needs analysis is needed to

ascertain the competence of the

workforce to deliver the recovery

agenda (treatment, primary care,

probation, DIP) across the borough.

This will inform a strategic approach

to training and development making

use of shared resources and skill

sharing. The training needs analysis

should be a part of the wider review

of the treatment system

• Completion and implementation of

the DIP review will identify DIP service

priorities. We will develop the

recovery agenda and ensure the

workforce has the skills to increase

levels of treatment uptake, reducing

attrition and improving outcomes. We

will clarify and streamline pathways

into treatment from the CJS,

strengthening our partnership work

with criminal justice partners.

Outreach services will be embedded

in DIP and will provide an assertive

approach to following up clients who

have disengaged

• DIP will develop managed pathways

from YOT services for young adults in

transition between young peoples and

adults services

• There is a need to address the high

level of re-presentation to treatment

services, improve rates of successful

treatment completion and improve

outcomes. We need to ensure our

workforce is skilled in assessment,

treatment matching, care planning,

delivery of psychosocial interventions

and addressing social problems which

impact on treatment

• Treatment providers need to consider

the needs of clients who spend long

periods in treatment services (2 years

plus) and how these needs might be

best met

• Our substance misuse needs

assessment suggests a particular

focus is needed on improving access

to treatment for Bangladeshi women

and sex workers we therefore need to

address the needs of these two

groups in our new service model

• We need to improve our data and

intelligence about drug users who are

non-PDU i.e. not using crack and

opiates. This will enable us to ensure

appropriate treatment interventions

are provided. This group would

include those who misuse

prescription drugs, legal highs,

steroids, khat etc

• The 18-24 year olds pilot project work

needs to be evaluated and potentially

built upon should it be shown to be

successful at attracting this under-

represented group

• We need to maximise the number of

probation clients who access and

engage with drug treatment services

Young people – further action required

• A ‘safeguarding children of drug

misusing parents audit’ was

completed in April 2011. It has

DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

68

Page 153



allowed us to acknowledge our

strengths and identify our

weaknesses in this area. We will build

our plans to incorporate actions that

will address the gaps. These gaps

include the development of a joint

referral protocol between children’s

and drug treatment services,

strengthening workforce skills around

children’s risks and resilience, as well

as including safeguarding actions in

our commissioning processes

Enforcement

Current responses:

We have disrupted the supply of drugs in

the borough by delivering the following

enforcement approaches:

• Locally drugs related enforcement

which aims to disrupt drug supply,

has been prioritised through the

‘Dealer-a-day’ initiative. This has been

funded by the Council and delivered

by the Police. Activities undertaken

include:

The execution of warrants

Proactive operation targeting

known offenders

Sniffer dog operations

Police overtime to undertake the

covert / overt operations

Hire of vehicles, automatic number

plate recognition and other

resources

Forensics investigations

Seizure of drugs, money and

property belonging to offenders

The target of arresting 365 drug

dealers during 2010/11 has been

exceeded with 404 arrests made

during this period for Class A or Class

B offences

• We have seen a consistent reduction

in perceptions of drug use or dealing

as a problem (National Indicator 42)

between 2006-07 and 2010/11 as

measured by our Annual Residents’

Survey

• Drug enforcement activity has

resulted in a number of seizures of

cash, vehicles and property, as well as

considerable prison sentences

• The THEOs (Tower Hamlets

Enforcement Officers) are a uniformed

civil enforcement team whose primary

role is to deal with low level anti-social

behaviour and environmental concerns

with powers delegated by the

Metropolitan Police. The drug and

alcohol outreach team work closely

with enforcement officers to identify

and work proactively to motivate and

support drug or alcohol using

offenders into treatment services

• The Joint Deployment Group brings

together front-line services, including

the THEOs, to understand and identify

hotspots and emerging trends in drug

related antisocial behaviour and

crime. Decisions are then taken to

deploy appropriate resources in

response to such issues

• The council’s domestic violence team

co-ordinates a programme of work

across the Partnership in preventing

domestic violence, a significant

proportion of which is drug or alcohol

related; protecting and supporting

victims and bringing perpetrators to

justice

• The community safety care plan

service identifies individuals who live

in hostels who may come to the

Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 2012-2015DRAFT

69

Page 154



DRAFTCHAPTER 2: DRUGS

70

attention of enforcement agencies.

Attempts are made to support them

into treatment by the outreach team

Further action required

We underpin our strategy with a strong

focus on enforcement. The Council and

Police will use existing enforcement

powers to target anti-social behaviour

around particular premises and

establishments. Local partners will be

bringing together their enforcement

resources to ensure that effort is targeted

where it is most needed in a co-ordinated

way to achieve maximum impact.

Shared crime data will be used to analyse

crime trends and develop better initiatives

to target crime hotspots. The Partnership

will use the VOLT (Victim, Offender,

Location, Time) model to identify priorities

and target resources effectively.

This strong enforcement approach is

coupled with interventionist support to

address the socio-economic causes of

crime and anti social behaviour. Poverty,

deprivation, poor parenting and a lack of

positive activities often lead people,

particularly young people, into anti-social

and criminal activities. Providing support

for those at risk of criminal activity and

effective treatment for substance and

alcohol misusers, including housing and

employment support for ex-offenders, will

help prevent crime and social exclusion33.

• Tower Hamlets has an excellent

record as a trailblazer in the field of

Integrated Offender Management,

winning a Beacon award for Reducing

Re-offending in 2008/09. However

funding reductions have meant the

loss of some core programmes. As

such the borough is reviewing its

approach to this area as part of the

development of the Integrated

Offender Management model. This

process is being led by the Police.

Integrated Offender Management

(IOM) brings together the police,

probation service, youth offending

teams, local authorities and voluntary

and community groups. Together they

identify, support and manage priority

offenders, including drug misusing

offenders, and divert them away from

drug use and crime

• Implementation of the dedicated

drugs task force team to provide an

enhanced response to drug related

offending

• We need to make our enforcement

targets more outcome based e.g.

numbers of sanctioned detections,

use of local residents survey before

and after operations

33 Stronger and safer communities plan, draft 2011/12

Page 155



Page 156

This page is intentionally left blank



- 
1

 -
 

S
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 M

is
u
s
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 

                  *N
B

: 
A

c
ti
o
n

s
 f

o
r 

N
H

S
 E

L
&

C
 t
o

 b
e

 a
g
re

e
d
 a

n
d

 f
o

llo
w

 

Page 157



- 
2

 -
 

 P
re

v
e
n

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 B
e
h

a
v
io

u
r 

C
h

a
n

g
e
  

 
A

c
ti

o
n

 
T

im
e

fr
a

m
e

 
M

e
a

s
u

re
 /
 K

e
y
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 I
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
P

B
C

1
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 m
u
lt
i-
a
g

e
n
c
y
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 p

la
n
 

fo
r 

a
d
u
lt
s
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 a

 f
o
c
u
s
 o

n
: 

- 
h
a
rm

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 s

a
fe

 d
ri
n
k
in

g
 l
e
v
e
ls

, 
ta

rg
e
ti
n
g
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 w

it
h
 h

ig
h
 l
e
v
e
ls

 
o
f 

a
lc

o
h
o
l 
re

la
te

d
 h

a
rm

 
- 

d
ru

g
 r

e
la

te
d
 h

a
rm

 a
n
d
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

  
 

- 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g

 p
a
re

n
ts

 t
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 d

ru
g

 a
n
d
 

a
lc

o
h
o
l 
m

is
u
s
e
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
ir
 c

h
ild

re
n
. 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
2
 

•
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 p

la
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

•
 

H
e
ig

h
te

n
e
d
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
p
a
th

w
a
y
s
 a

lo
n
g

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
u
m

 
o
f 

n
e
e
d
 

P
B

C
2
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 y
o
u
n
g

 p
e
o
p
le

 t
o
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 s

u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 

m
is

u
s
e
  
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 d

ri
v
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

w
h
o
le

 
s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 w

it
h
 r

e
g
a
rd

s
 t
o
 d

ru
g

s
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 

in
 a

ll 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

. 
 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

T
a
ilo

re
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 t

o
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 a
c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 

•
 

U
p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
te

a
c
h
e
rs

’ 
tr

a
in

in
g
 i
n
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

s
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 m

is
u
s
e
 l
e
s
s
o
n
s
 

•
 

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 r

e
g

a
rd

in
g

 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

lo
n
g

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
u
m

 
o
f 

n
e
e
d
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 p

u
p
ils

, 
te

a
c
h
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

a
re

n
ts

 

•
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
a
d
h
e
re

n
c
e
 t
o
 N

IC
E

 g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
b
a
s
e
d
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 o

n
 

d
ru

g
s
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 

•
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 i
n
to

 y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

P
B

C
3
 

U
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
tr

e
n
d
s
 i
n
 a

lc
o
h
o
l/
 d

ru
g

 
c
o
n
s
u
m

p
ti
o
n
 t

o
 i
n
fo

rm
 t

a
rg

e
t 
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

 
2
0
1
2
 

•
 

H
e
a
lt
h
y
 L

if
e
s
ty

le
s
 S

u
rv

e
y
 r

e
p
e
a
te

d
 t

o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 l
e

v
e
l 
p
a
tt

e
rn

s
 o

f 
a
lc

o
h
o
l 
c
o
n
s
u
m

p
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
in

 5
 y

e
a
rs

 t
im

e
 

•
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
a
n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 

G
P

 d
a
ta

 

P
B

C
4
 

S
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 m

is
u
s
e
 h

a
s
 p

ro
fi
le

 i
n
 o

th
e
r 

re
le

v
a
n
t 

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
: 

- 
to

b
a
c
c
o
 c

o
n
tr

o
l 

- 
c
a
rd

io
v
a
s
c
u
la

r 
d
is

e
a
s
e
 

- 
s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

- 
m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

- 
te

e
n
a
g

e
 p

re
g

n
a
n
c
y
 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

S
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 m

is
u
s
e
 i
n
te

g
ra

te
d
 i
n
 c

ro
s
s
-c

u
tt
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s
 o

f 
re

le
v
a
n
c
e
  

 

Page 158



- 
3

 -
 

 T
R

E
A

T
M

E
N

T
 

 
A

c
ti

o
n

 
T

im
e

 F
ra

m
e

 
M

e
a

s
u

re
 o

r 
K

e
y
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
T

1
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
fi
g

u
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
ru

g
 /
 

a
lc

o
h
o
l 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 
fo

r 
a
d
u
lt
s
  

- 
re

d
e
s
ig

n
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 

- 
fa

c
ili

ta
te

 w
id

e
s
p
re

a
d
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

- 
c
o
n
d
u
c
t 

e
q

u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

 

S
e
p
 2

0
1
2
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

n
e
w

 m
o
d
e
l 
o
f 

d
ru

g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
ra

te
s
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 t

re
a
tm

e
n
t 
o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 

T
2
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t

o
 s

u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 

m
is

u
s
e
 

- 
E

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
n
 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 
- 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
o
n
g

o
in

g
 t
ra

in
in

g
 t

o
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 
p
ro

v
id

e
rs

 i
n
 S

B
I 

a
n
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 d

e
to

x
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 

     

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
2
 

•
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 n

o
. 
o
f 

a
lc

o
h
o
l 
s
c
re

e
n
s
 

 •
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 i
n
to

 s
tr

u
c
tu

re
d
 d

ru
g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 

  

T
3
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t

h
e
 u

p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 

e
n
g

a
g

e
 g

ro
u
p
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 i
n
te

ra
g

e
n
c
y
 

w
o
rk

 
- 

O
u
tr

e
a
c
h
 t
e
a
m

s
 t
o
 o

p
e
ra

te
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 

b
o
ro

u
g

h
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
ls

 i
n
to

 
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
d
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t,
 p

a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 s

tr
e
e
t 

d
ri
n
k
e
rs

 
- 

H
o
s
te

l 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 t

o
 b

e
 l
in

k
e
d
 t

o
 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 
in

d
iv

id
u
a
ls

 i
n
to

 s
tr

u
c
tu

re
d
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
 

- 
T

re
a
tm

e
n
t 
a
g

e
n
c
ie

s
 t
o
 b

e
 t

a
s
k
e
d
 w

it
h
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
e
s
 t
o
 

a
tt
ra

c
t 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 

n
a
ïv

e
 d

ru
g

 u
s
e
rs

 a
n
d
 

re
-e

n
g

a
g

e
 t

h
o
s
e
 w

h
o
 h

a
v
e
 d

is
e
n
g

a
g

e
d
 

 
•
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 n

u
m

b
e
rs

 a
c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

 •
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 r

e
-o

ff
e
n
d
in

g
 r

a
te

s
 f

o
r 

d
ru

g
 u

s
e
rs

 
 •
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f
ro

m
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

Page 159



- 
4

 -
 

T
4
 

E
m

b
e
d
 t
h
e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 
th

e
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
n
u
rs

e
 

s
p
e
c
ia

lis
ts

 i
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

b
ri
e
f 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
o
u
t 
th

e
 a

c
u
te

 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 

T
ru

s
t 
 

 

D
e
c
 2

0
1
2
 

•
 

A
lc

o
h
o
l 
c
h
a
m

p
io

n
s
 i
n
 e

a
c
h
 h

o
s
p
it
a
l 
d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 

•
 

H
o
s
p
it
a
l 
a
lc

o
h
o
l 
s
tr

a
te

g
y
 w

it
h
 b

u
y
 i
n
 f

ro
m

 r
a
n
g

e
 o

f 
s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 

•
 

S
B

I 
p
ro

to
c
o
l 
d
is

s
e
m

in
a
te

d
 t

o
 e

a
c
h
 h

o
s
p
it
a
l 
d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 

•
 

A
ll 

w
a
rd

s
 a

n
d
 d

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a

n
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 

p
o
lic

y
 o

n
 t

h
e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 a
n
d
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

a
lc

o
h
o
l 

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

p
a
ti
e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 o

f 
m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

w
it
h
d
ra

w
a

l 
fr

o
m

 a
lc

o
h
o
l 

a
m

o
n
g

 t
h
e
s
e
 

T
5
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
l 
a
w

a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 p

a
th

w
a
y
s
 

- 
m

a
p
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

p
a
th

w
a
y
s
 a

n
d
 d

is
tr

ib
u
te

 
w

id
e
ly

 
- 

d
e
liv

e
r 

tr
a
in

in
g

 t
o
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
ls

 
 

A
u
g

 -
 

D
e
c
2
0
1
2
 (

in
 

p
re

p
a
ra

ti
o
n
 

fo
r 

a
n
d
 p

o
s
t 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 

s
y
s
te

m
 

re
d
e
s
ig

n
) 

•
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
ra

te
s
 f
ro

m
 a

 w
id

e
 r

a
n
g

e
 o

f 
fr

o
n
t 
lin

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

T
6
 

E
n
s
u
re

 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 b

ri
e
f 

a
d
v
ic

e
 i
s
 

ro
u
ti
n
e
ly

 u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 o

n
 a

d
u
lt
 c

lie
n
ts

 a
c
ro

s
s
 a

 
ra

n
g

e
 o

f 
fr

o
n
tl
in

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
: 

- 
h
o
s
te

ls
 

- 
s
o
c
ia

l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

- 
s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

- 
p
a
ti
e
n
ts

 w
it
h
 l
o
n
g

 t
e
rm

 c
o
n
d
it
io

n
s
 

- 
p
a
ti
e
n
ts

 i
n
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

P
la

n
 a

n
d
 d

e
liv

e
r 

a
 c

o
u
rs

e
 o

f 
tr

a
in

in
g

 s
e
s
s
io

n
s
 

to
 f
ro

n
tl
in

e
 p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
ls

 a
n
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 

re
p
o
rt

in
g
 s

y
s
te

m
s
 t
o
 c

a
p
tu

re
 d

a
ta

 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

s
c
re

e
n
s
 a

n
d
 b

ri
e
f 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 

 •
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 u

p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

T
7
 

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
n
e
w

 m
o
d
e
l 
o
f 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 f

o
r 

y
o
u
n
g

 p
e
o
p
le

’s
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 

- 
M

o
d
e

l 
a
n
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 f

o
r 

y
o
u
n
g

 p
e
o
p
le

’s
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
  

- 
Y

o
u
th

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
 a

lc
o
h
o
l/
d
ru

g
 

p
o
lic

y
 a

d
d
re

s
s
in

g
 t
ra

in
in

g
 f

o
r 

s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 

a
d
d
re

s
s
in

g
 a

lc
o
h
o
l/
d
ru

g
 r

e
la

te
d
 

in
c
id

e
n
ts

 
- 

2
 x

 a
n
n
u
a
l 
tr

a
in

in
g

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 b

y
 L

if
e
lin

e
 

in
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
lc

o
h
o
l 
b
ri
e
f 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 o
n
w

a
rd

s
 t

o
 

y
o
u
th

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 w

o
rk

e
rs

 

M
a
r 

2
0
1
2
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
a
lc

o
h
o
l 
p
ro

b
le

m
s
 a

m
o
n
g
s
t 

y
o
u
th

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

 •
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 i
n
to

 y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

s
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Page 160



- 
5

 -
 

T
8
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 o

ff
e
n
d
e
rs

’ 
( 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 y

o
u
n
g
 

o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

’)
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

 
M

a
r 

2
0
1
3
 

•
 

D
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
b
le

 g
re

a
te

r 
e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

A
lc

o
h
o
l 
T

re
a
tm

e
n
t 

R
e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 

O
rd

e
rs

  

•
 

Y
O

T
 a

n
d
 L

if
e
lin

e
 d

e
liv

e
r 

ta
rg

e
te

d
 d

ru
g

 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
in

te
rv

e
n
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

Y
O

T
 

c
lie

n
ts

 w
h
e
re

 a
lc

o
h
o
l 
is

 f
e
a
tu

re
 o

f 
o
ff

e
n
d
in

g
 b

e
h
a
v
io

r 

T
9
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t

o
 p

a
re

n
ta

l 
s
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 

m
is

u
s
e
 

- 
L
a
u
n
c
h
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

n
d
 s

o
c
ia

l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 h

a
n
d
b
o
o
k
s
 f
o
r 

p
a
re

n
ta

l 
s
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 m

is
u
s
e
 

- 
M

o
n

it
o
r 

re
fe

rr
a
ls

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

- 
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t 
C

A
F

 a
c
ro

s
s
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

- 
E

m
b
e
d
 f
a
m

ily
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 

s
y
s
te

m
 

- 
D

e
liv

e
r 

a
n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
d
ru

g
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 f

o
r 

s
o
c
ia

l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

s
ta

ff
 

M
a
r 

2
0
1
2
 

•
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 u

s
e
 o

f 
C

A
F

 b
y
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

 •
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 s

o
c
ia

l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

 •
 

E
a
rl
ie

r 
in

te
rv

e
n
ti
o
n
 i
n
 p

a
re

n
ta

l 
s
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 m

is
u
s
e
  

T
1
0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 f

o
llo

w
 u

p
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f

o
r 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 
p
re

s
e
n
ti
n
g

 t
o
 A

&
E

 w
it
h
 s

u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 m

is
u
s
e
 

p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 

- 
H

e
a
lt
h
y
 L

iv
e
s
 t

o
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g

a
te

 p
o
s
s
ib

le
 

lin
k
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 A

&
E

 a
n
d
 T

IP
s
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 
to

 e
n
s
u
re

 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 f

o
llo

w
 u

p
 

c
o
n
d
u
c
te

d
 w

it
h
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 
- 

C
S

S
 a

n
d
 L

if
e
lin

e
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 A

&
E

 c
lin

ic
a
l 

s
ta

ff
 w

it
h
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 

p
a
th

w
a
y
s
/p

ro
to

c
o
ls

 a
n
d
 t
h
re

s
h
o
ld

s
 t
o
 

th
e
ir
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

J
u
n
 2

0
1
2
 

•
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 i
n
to

 s
tr

u
c
tu

re
d
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

T
1
1
 

A
p
p
o
in

t 
a
 t
h
e
ra

p
e
u
ti
c
 r

e
c
o
v
e
ry

 c
h
a
m

p
io

n
 t

o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 d

ri
v
e
 t

h
e
ra

p
e
u
ti
c
 r

e
c
o
v
e
ry

 a
c
ro

s
s
 

th
e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 

M
a
r 

2
0
1
2
 

•
 

R
e
s
p
e
c
te

d
 a

n
d
 a

c
ti
v
e
 c

h
a
m

p
io

n
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 

Page 161



- 
6

 -
 

  T
1
2
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 d
ru

g
 /
  

a
lc

o
h
o
l 
u
s
e
rs

 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 w

ra
p
 

a
ro

u
n
d
  
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

- 
E

n
s
u
re

 p
a
th

w
a
y
s
 t

o
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 /
 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

a
re

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

re
d
e
s
ig

n
e
d
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

s
y
s
te

m
 

- 
M

a
x
im

is
e
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 J

o
b
c
e
n
tr

e
 P

lu
s
, 

Id
e
a
s
 S

to
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
 f
o
r 

d
ru

g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
u
s
e
rs

 
- 

In
fo

rm
 t

h
e
 h

o
s
te

ls
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

h
o
s
te

l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 

e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
d
ru

g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 

u
s
e
rs

 a
re

 r
e
fl
e
c
te

d
 w

it
h
 r

e
g

a
rd

s
 t
o
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 n

e
e
d
s
. 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

A
d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 g
iv

e
n
 t

o
 a

ll 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 r
e
g
a
rd

in
g

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t,
 t
ra

in
in

g
, 

h
o
u
s
in

g
, 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 h

e
a
lt
h
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

B
B

V
, 

s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 –
 w

h
e
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a

te
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 u

p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 /
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
/ 

v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n
g

 o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 

b
y
 d

ru
g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
u
s
e
rs

 i
n
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f

o
r 

d
ru

g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
u
s
e

rs
 i
n
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

T
1
3
 

E
m

b
e
d
 a

 r
e
c
o
v
e
ry

 f
o
c
u
s
 i
n
to

 a
ll 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 e

n
a
b
le

 r
e
c
o
v
e
ri
n
g
 d

ru
g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 

u
s
e
rs

 t
o
 r

e
-i
n
te

g
ra

te
 i
n
to

 t
h
e
ir
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

- 
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t 
th

e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 s

ta
r 

m
o
d
e
l 
a
c
ro

s
s
 a

ll 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

- 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
 s

tr
u
c
tu

re
d
 p

a
th

w
a

y
s
 f

ro
m

 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
o
ff

e
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 a
ro

u
n
d
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
, 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
2
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
e
d
 (

d
ru

g
 f
re

e
) 

e
x
it
s
 f
ro

m
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t.

 
 •
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
, 
m

e
a
s
u
ra

b
le

 o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f
ro

m
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Page 162



- 
7

 -
 

 E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
 A

N
D

 R
E

G
U

L
A

T
IO

N
 

 
A

c
ti

o
n

 
T

im
e

 F
ra

m
e

 
M

e
a

s
u

re
 o

r 
K

e
y
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
E

R
1
 

C
o
m

b
a
t 
s
a
le

s
 t
o
 u

n
d
e
ra

g
e
 d

ri
n
k
e
rs

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

p
ro

x
y
 s

a
le

s
 

- 
U

n
d
e
ra

g
e
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
/e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

b
o
u
t 

lic
e
n
s
e
e
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ti
e
s
 f

o
llo

w
e
d
 b

y
 p

u
b
lic

it
y
 a

b
o
u
t 

p
ro

s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s
 

- 
P

ro
v
id

e
 a

d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

tr
a
d
e
rs

 o
n
 

le
g

a
l 
o
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

M
in

im
u
m

 o
f 

2
 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 u

n
d
e
r-

a
g

e
 s

a
le

s
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 p

e
r 

q
u
a
rt

e
r 

b
y
 t

h
e
 

p
o
lic

e
 a

n
d
 t
ra

d
in

g
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 t
e
a
m

s
 

E
R

2
 

C
o
m

b
a
t 
s
a
le

s
 o

f 
c
o
u
n
te

rf
e
it
 p

ro
d
u
c
ts

 a
t 
a
 r

e
ta

il 
le

v
e

l 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
3
 

•
 

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 t

o
 t
ra

d
e
rs

 r
e
g

a
rd

in
g

 c
o
u
n
te

rf
e
it
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
p
ro

d
u
c
ts

 

•
 

C
o
n
d
u
c
t 

4
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 u

n
c
o
v
e
r 

ill
ic

it
 a

lc
o

h
o
l 
w

it
h
 c

u
s
to

m
s
 

a
n
d
 e

x
c
is

e
, 

p
o
lic

e
 a

n
d
 t
ra

d
in

g
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 t
e
a
m

s
 

E
R

3
 

P
ro

d
u
c
e
 r

e
g

u
la

r 
h
o
ts

p
o
t 
a
n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 

k
e
y
 d

a
ta

 
(c

ri
m

e
, 

d
ru

g
s
, 

a
lc

o
h
o
l,
 y

o
u
th

 a
s
b
 e

tc
) 

to
 d

e
liv

e
r 

ta
rg

e
te

d
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
  
  

 

 
•
 

 

E
R

4
 

W
o
rk

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h
 p

o
lic

e
 t

o
 p

re
v
e
n
t/

a
d
d
re

s
s
 

c
ri
m

e
 a

n
d
 d

is
o
rd

e
r 

in
 a

n
d
 a

ro
u
n
d
 l
ic

e
n
s
e
d
 

p
re

m
is

e
s
 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

F
o
rt

n
ig

h
tl
y
 j
o
in

t 
 t
a
s
k
in

g
 m

e
e
ti
n
g

s
 w

it
h
 p

o
lic

e
 

•
 

P
ro

a
c
ti
v
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
/i
n
te

lli
g

e
n
c
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 f
ro

m
 v

ic
ti
m

s
 

E
R

5
 

E
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 

v
ia

  
p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
o
s
it
iv

e
 s

to
ri
e
s
 i
n
 E

a
s
t 

E
n
d
 L

if
e
 

a
n
d
 v

ia
 o

th
e
r 

c
h
a
n
n
e
ls

 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 p

e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
d
ru

g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
re

la
te

d
 a

n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d
 c

ri
m

e
 a

m
o
n
g

s
t 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 
 

E
R

6
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 c

o
o
rd

in
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
y
o
u
n
g

 p
e
o
p
le

’s
 a

n
d
 

a
d
u
lt
s
 o

u
tr

e
a
c
h
 w

it
h
 a

n
ti
 s

o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

r 
h
o
ts

p
o
ts

 
O

n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 a

n
ti
s
o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

b
y
 u

s
in

g
 j
o
in

t 
ta

s
k
in

g
 a

p
p

ro
a
c
h
 a

c
ro

s
s
 f
u
ll 

ra
n
g

e
 o

f 
re

g
u
la

to
ry

 a
n
d
 e

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
p
o
w

e
rs

 

•
 

1
0
4
 o

u
tr

e
a
c
h
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 i
n
to

 s
tr

u
c
tu

re
d
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
a
n
n
u
a
lly

 

E
R

7
 

D
is

ru
p
t 
th

e
 s

u
p
p
ly

 o
f 

d
ru

g
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

M
in

im
u
m

 o
f 

3
6
5
 a

rr
e
s
ts

 f
o
r 

d
ru

g
 d

e
a
lin

g
 o

ff
e
n
c
e
s
 

E
R

8
 

E
n
s
u
re

 d
ru

g
 m

is
u
s
in

g
 o

ff
e
n
d
e
rs

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 a

 h
o
lis

ti
c
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 p
a
c
k
a
g

e
 a

im
e
d
 a

t 
s
to

p
p
in

g
 o

ff
e
n
d
in

g
 

a
n
d
 d

ru
g
 d

e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
. 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
3
 

•
 

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
-f

o
c
u
s
s
e
d
 I
n
te

g
ra

te
d
 O

ff
e
n
d
e
r 

M
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

•
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 r

e
-o

ff
e
n
d
in

g
 r

a
te

s
 a

m
o
n
g
s
t 
d
ru

g
 u

s
e
rs

 

E
R

9
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

n
 i
m

p
e
tu

s
 

fo
r 

s
u
s
ta

in
e
d
, 

c
o
-o

rd
in

a
te

d
 a

c
ti
o
n
 a

im
e
d
 a

t 
re

d
u
c
in

g
 d

ru
g
 r

e
la

te
d
 c

ri
m

e
 

- 
C

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 m

e
e
t 

w
it
h
 C

A
D

A
A

 a
n
d
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
ir
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
e
v
e
n
t 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 p

e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
d
ru

g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
re

la
te

d
 a

n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d
 c

ri
m

e
 a

m
o
n
g

s
t 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 

•
 

P
ro

a
c
ti
v
e
 c

h
a
m

p
io

n
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 

 

Page 163



- 
8

 -
 

 

- 
A

p
p
o
in

t 
a
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 r

e
c
o
v
e
ry

 
c
h
a
m

p
io

n
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 d

ri
v
e
 t

h
e
 

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 a
g

e
n
d
a
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 

E
R

1
0
 

U
ti
lis

e
 p

o
w

e
rs

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 r

e
m

it
 o

f 
th

e
 

b
o
ro

u
g

h
 w

id
e
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
c
o
n
tr

o
l 
z
o
n
e
 t

o
 c

o
n
tr

o
l 

a
lc

o
h
o
l 
re

la
te

d
 a

n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d
 c

ri
m

e
 

- 
T

a
rg

e
t 
p
ro

b
le

m
 a

re
a
s
 v

ia
 j
o
in

t 
ta

s
k
in

g
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 p

e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
d
ru

g
 /
 a

lc
o
h
o
l 
re

la
te

d
 a

n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d
 c

ri
m

e
 a

m
o
n
g

s
t 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 
 

Page 164



LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

REPORT OF THE CABINET 
 

11 JANUARY 2012 
 

To receive the report of the Cabinet at its meeting held on Wednesday 11 January 2012. 
 
Mayor and Councillors in attendance at the meeting: -  
 

Cabinet: 
Mayor Lutfur Rahman  
Councillor Ohid Ahmed (Deputy Mayor) 
Councillor Rofique U Ahmed  (Cabinet Member for Regeneration) 
Councillor Shahed Ali (Cabinet Member for Environment) 
Councillor Abdul Asad (Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing) 
Councillor Alibor Choudhury (Cabinet Member for Resources) 
Councillor Shafiqul Haque (Cabinet Member for Jobs and Skills) 
Councillor Rabina Khan (Cabinet Member for Housing) 
Councillor Rania Khan (Cabinet Member for Culture) 
Councillor Oliur Rahman (Cabinet Member for Children’s Services) 
 
Other Councillors: 
Councillor Kabir Ahmed (Executive Advisor to the Mayor and Cabinet) 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton  
Councillor Marc Francis  
Councillor Judith Gardiner  
Councillor Peter Golds (Leader of the Conservative Group) 
Councillor Ann Jackson (Chair, Overview & Scrutiny Committee) 
Councillor Bill Turner 
 
1. London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 – Section 16 (CAB 

060/112) 
 

The report (attached as Appendix A to this council report) informed the Mayor and 
Cabinet that: - 

• Section 16 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 
grants additional power to a highway authority to serve notice on an occupier, 
who takes or allows someone else to take a motor vehicle across a verge or 
footway where no vehicle crossing (crossover) has been constructed, requiring 
them to stop doing this. In cases of non-compliance with the notice, Section 16 
allows the authority to take enforcement measures (e.g. erection of bollards) 
and to charge the owner or occupier of the premises for the works. 

 

• Most provisions of the London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 
2003 came into effect from 1st January 2004.  However, Sections 4, 5, 7 and 16 
of the Act were expressly excluded from the general commencement, and 
instead made a matter for local determination with regard to implementation (if 
any) and operative dates. In 2005 a report was submitted to Cabinet in order to 
adopt Sections 4, 5 and 7 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for 
London Act 2003 but Section 16 was not included. Section 3 of the Act allows 
each authority to introduce the sections of the Act specified in section 1 of the 

Agenda Item 9.2

Page 165



Act on different dates, subject to the necessary notification and publication 
requirement. 

 

• In order for this part of the legislation to be used by the London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets it is necessary for a resolution to be passed by Full Council, and 
for a date to be published for implementation. The date of implementation can 
not be less than 3 months from the date of publication of the passing of such a 
resolution. 

 

• The current legislative powers under the Highways Act 1980 are limited with 
regard to enforcement provision and the expanded powers under the London 
Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 will allow more robust 
enforcement and ensure the protection of our highways and highway users. 
Section 5 of the report (attached at Appendix A to this council report) detail the 
current and proposed new enhanced powers. 

 
Decision 

 
1. That the enhanced powers available to the Council as Highway Authority under 

section 16 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003, 
concerning vehicles driving over the footway; be noted; also noting that the 
enhanced enforcement powers are an addition to existing powers contained in 
section 184 of the Highways Act 1980; and 

 
2. Agreed that a report go forward to Full Council with a recommendation that Full 

Council fixes a day on which section 16 of the London Local Authorities and 
Transport for London Act 2003 will come into operation [in Tower Hamlets]. 

 
 

Officers have advised that in view of the requirement for publication of the Council’s 
decision at least 3 months prior to the implementation date, 1st May 2012 would be the 
earliest practical date for implementation. 
  
Council is therefore recommended to: - 
 
Determine that Section 16 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for London 
Act 2003 will come into operation in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets on 1st May 
2012. 
 

Lutfur Rahman 
Mayor 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 
LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 

 
Brief description  Tick if copy  If not supplied, 
of “background paper” supplied name and telephone 
number of holder 
 
Draft Cabinet minutes  Angus Taylor 
11/01/12  020 7364 4333  
 Page 166



APPENDIX A 

Committee/Meeting: 

 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 

11th January 
2012 

Classification: 
 

Unrestricted 

 
 

Report No: 
 

CAB 060/112 

Report of:  

Steve Halsey, Corporate Director 
Communities, Localities, and Culture 
 
Originating officer(s): Azizul Goni 
Special Projects Officer 
 

Title:  

London Local Authorities and Transport 
for London Act 2003 – Section 16 
 

Wards Affected: All 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Councillor Shahed Ali, Cabinet member for 
Environment 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A Great Place to Live -  

Strategic Priority 
 

Improving the public realm 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1. Section 16 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 

grants additional power to the Highway Authority to serve a notice on an 
occupier, who takes or allows someone else to take a motor vehicle across a 
verge or footway where no vehicle crossing (crossover) has been constructed 
and requiring them to stop doing it. Ultimately, if they do not comply with the 
notice, this section allows the Authority to take steps to stop it being possible 
to take a vehicle across the footway (e.g. erect bollards) and to charge the 
owner or occupier of the premises for the works. 

 
1.2. In order for this part of the legislation to be used by the London Borough of 

Tower Hamlets it is necessary for a resolution to be passed by Full Council 
and for a date to be published for implementation. The date of implementation 
can not be less than 3 months from the date of publication of the passing of 
such a resolution. 

 
1.3. Most provisions of the London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 

2003 came into effect from 1st January 2004.  Sections 4, 5, 7 and 16 of the 
Act were expressly excluded from the general commencement and, instead, 
provision was made for local authorities to determine individually whether the 
sections should come into effect in their areas and, if so, to fix the date or 
dates on which the sections would come into operation. 

 
1.4. In 2005 a report was made to Cabinet in order to adopt sections 4, 5 and 7 of 

the London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 but section 
16 was not included in that report. This part of the legislation cannot be used 
until a resolution has been passed by the Council. 

Page 167



  

 
 
 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 The Mayor in Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 

2.1 Note the enhanced powers available to the Council as Highway Authority 
under section 16 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for London 
Act 2003, concerning vehicles driving over the footway.  The enhanced 
enforcement powers are an addition to existing powers contained in section 
184 of the Highways Act 1980. 

 
2.2 Agree that a report should go forward to Full Council with a recommendation 

that Full Council fixes a day on which section 16 of the London Local 
Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 will come into operation. 

 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1   To enable the provisions of the London Local Authorities and Transport for 

London Act 2003 to be implemented providing necessary enhancements to 
existing enforcement powers in relation to Vehicle Crossings over footways 
and verges to the benefit of public safety.  

 
 

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 

4.1 The proposal is to adopt Section 16 of the London Local Authorities and 
Transport for London Act 2003 to enhance the Council’s enforcement 
options in relation to habitual crossings across kerbed footways or verges to 
access the highway. 

 

4.2 The alternative is to do nothing and continue to use the powers and 
penalties under the Highways Act 1980.  If the Highways Act notice is 
ignored, this gives the Council powers to install a vehicle crossover and 
recover its costs, either by taking the resident to Court or putting a land 
charge against the property.  The downside to this course of action is that it 
can tie up a significant amount of Council resources, either in terms of 
money or officer time and if the matter is putting pedestrians or other 
highway users at risk the delays may be put lives at risk.  Section 16 offers 
the opportunity to issue a notice requiring the crossings to cease and to back 
that up with prosecution. 

 

 
 
5. BACKGROUND and BODY OF REPORT 
 
5.1 Section 3 of the Act allows each authority to introduce the sections of the Act 

specified in section 1 of the Act on different dates, subject to the necessary 

Page 168



  

notification and publication requirement. The ‘appointed day’ has to be set by 
a resolution of the Full Council and the making of the resolution and the day 
chosen have to be advertised in the London Gazette and in a local 
newspaper with a gap of at least 3 months between publication and the day 
itself. 

 

5.2 The current legislative powers under the Highways Act 1980 are limited with 
regard to enforcement provision and the expanded powers under the London 
Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 will allow more robust 
enforcement and ensure the protection of our highways and highway users. 

 

5.3 Current Powers: 
 

5.3.1   The Highways Act 1980 (S.184) empowers the local authority to serve notice 
upon the occupier of any premises adjoining or having access to a highway 
maintainable at the public expense who habitually takes or permits to be 
taken a mechanically propelled vehicle across a kerbed footway or a verge 
in the highway to or from those premises. 

 

5.3.2 The notice allows the local authority to either execute such works for the 
construction of a vehicle crossing over the footway or verge as may be 
specified in the notice or impose such reasonable conditions on the use of 
the footway or verge as a crossing as may be so specified. 

 

5.3.3 The costs of the construction of such a crossing can be recharged to the 
occupier. A person who contravenes any condition imposed by the notice, or 
knowingly permits it to be so used; he is guilty of an offence and liable to a 
fine not exceeding £20 or, in the case of a second or subsequent offence, to 
a fine not exceeding £50. 

 

5.3.4 A policy and procedure on Vehicle Crossovers already exists, and can be 
found on the Council’s website: 
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=754 

 

5.4 New Enhanced Powers: 
 

5.4.1 The London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 (S.16) 
introduced expanded powers with regard to the cessation of taking or 
permitting to be taken mechanically propelled vehicles across the kerbed 
footway or verge. 

 

5.4.2 The notice that can be served under this legislation allows for the execution 
of works by the local authority to prevent such vehicles being taken across 
the footway or verge. 

 

5.4.3 This differs from the Highways Act notice with regard to the preventative 
measures, which in many cases would be the preferred option, but all works 
are still able to be recharged to the occupier without the need to take the 
matter to court. 

Page 169



  

 

5.4.4 The maximum fine under the London Local Authorities and Transport for 
London Act 2003 is also £1000 but covers the offences of: 

 

(a) knowingly uses a footway or verge as a crossing in contravention of a 
notice; or 

(b) knowingly permits it to be so used; or 
(c) without reasonable excuse removes, damages, alters or defaces any 

works executed under subsection 10 (prevention measures) 
 

5.4.5 Vehicles crossing the footway without the benefit of a duly constructed 
vehicle crossover can cause a safety hazard to pedestrians and vehicles as 
sight lines may be inadequate, pedestrians and other vehicle users will have 
no visual references to prompt an expectation that a vehicle may emerge 
from the premises and it can also damage to the public highway. This 
damage also results in risk to pedestrians and vehicles and is an additional 
cost burden on residents of the Borough as it has to be repaired.   

 

5.4.6 Under Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 the Highway Authority has a 
duty to maintain the highway. If the Council is aware of vehicles crossing the 
footway without a duly constructed vehicle crossover and an accident occurs 
to someone due to damage caused by such action, then the Council could 
be deemed at least partially liable if it had not acted. 

 

5.4.7 The adoption of this legislation would ensure that more effective 
enforcement can take place regarding vehicles crossing the footway or 
verge, the reducing risk to residents and other road users by allowing 
preventative action and reducing incidents of damage to our highways. It is 
therefore proposed that the London Local Authorities and Transport for 
London Act 2003 (S.16) be resolved to be adopted. 

 

5.4.8 It should be noted that these powers will not be applied with regard to 
motorcycles or motability scooters. 

 
 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 

 
7.1 The report requires the Council to pass a resolution to adopt Section 16 of 

the London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 with regard 
to Vehicle Crossings over footways and verges’. The cost of advertising the 
resolution is provided for within the Transportation and Highways budget. 
There are no specific financial implications emanating from this report as 
cost can be recharged to the occupier or fines imposed for offences. 

 
 

Page 170



  

8.1. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
(LEGAL SERVICES) 

 
8.2. The report correctly identifies the need for a council resolution in order for 

section 16 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 
(“the 2003 Act”) to come into effect.  Following such resolution, the Council 
must cause a notice of the resolution to be published in a local newspaper 
circulating in Tower Hamlets and in the London Gazette, specifying the day 
fixed as the day on which the resolution will take effect.  The commencement 
day must not be earlier than three months from publication of the notice. 

 
8.3. When in operation, section 16 of the 2003 Act will enable the Council to take 

action to prevent an occupier of premises from habitually taking or permitting 
a mechanically propelled vehicle to be taken across a kerbed footway or a 
verge in the highway to or from the premises.  The section 16 power will apply 
in circumstances where the Council has not, as highway authority, 
constructed a vehicle crossing for the premises or served a notice under 
section 184 of the Highways Act 1980. 

 
8.4. Section 16 of the 2003 Act permits the Council to serve a notice on the 

occupier of the premises to cease taking or permitting mechanically propelled 
vehicles to be taken across the kerbed footway or verge.  Before issuing a 
notice, the council must have regard to specified matters, namely – 

 

• The need to prevent damage to a footway or verge. 

• The need to ensure safe access to and egress from premises (so far 
as practicable) 

• The need to facilitate passage of vehicular traffic in and parking of 
vehicles on the highway (so far as practicable) 

• The need to prevent obstruction of the highway or verge. 
 
8.5. A notice served by the Council under section 16 of the 2003 Act must give at 

least 28 days before it takes effect.  The occupier has two opportunities to 
challenge a notice.  First, the occupier may object in writing to the notice and 
the Council is required to consider whether it will maintain or withdraw the 
notice.  Secondly, if the Council does not withdraw the notice, the occupier 
may appeal against the notice to the county court. 

 
8.6. If a section 16 notice takes effect, then two consequences follow.  First, the 

Council may carry out works to prevent vehicles crossing the highway or 
verge.  Secondly, the Act imposes criminal sanctions relating to contravention 
of the notice or interference with the Council’s works.  Section 16 of the 2003 
Act creates three specific offences – 

 

• Knowingly permitting a footway or verge to be used as a crossing in 
contravention of a notice served under section 16. 

• Knowingly using a footway or verge as a crossing in contravention of a 
notice served under section 16. 

Page 171



  

• Removing, damaging, altering or defacing works executed by the 
Council, following a notice becoming effective, to prevent mechanically 
propelled vehicles from crossing (without reasonable excuse). 

 
8.7. The Council may take criminal proceedings against not only the recipient of 

the Notice but also the driver of a mechanically propelled vehicle or a person 
who interferes with works. 

 
8.8. A section 16 notice will not, however, operate to prohibit an occupier from 

enjoying the benefit of: a planning permission (made at least 8 weeks before 
section 16 comes into operation); works covered by a certificate of lawfulness 
under section 191 or 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, or 
permitted development under the Town and County Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995. 

 
8.9. As the service of a section 16 notice is classed as enforcement action, then 

the decision to serve the Notice and any subsequent action taken in breach of 
the Notice should be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s 
Enforcement Policy.  The Enforcement Policy provides that the Council's 
approach to enforcement is to be founded on firm but fair regulation, around 
the principles of – 

 

• raising awareness of the law and its requirements 

• proportionality in applying the law and securing compliance 

• consistency of approach  

• transparency about the actions of the Council and its officers 

• targeting of enforcement action.” 
 
8.10. Before making a resolution to appoint a day for commencement of section 16, 

the Council must have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful conduct 
under the Equality Act 2010, the need to advance equality of opportunity and 
the need to foster good relations between persons who share a protected 
characteristic and those who don’t.  The equality analysis that has been 
carried out is referred to in section 9 of the report and in the appendix. 

 
 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 Any enforcement carried out under section 16 of the London Local 

Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 will be done according to the 
Council’s enforcement policy.  The enforcement policy was subject to an 
equality impact assessment prior to its adoption by Cabinet in September 
2010. 

 

9.2 Enforcement action that complies with the five principles expressed in the 
Enforcement Policy and summarised in paragraph 8.9 above should help to 
achieve the objectives of equality and personal responsibility inherent in One 
Tower Hamlets. 

Page 172



  

 
9.3 The Enforcement Policy sets out clear principles to guide officers in 

determining the appropriate level of enforcement action.  It actively seeks to 
promote transparency in decision-making.  To the extent that the policy 
provides officers with relevant considerations, it works against enforcement 
decisions being taken on irrelevant and unlawful considerations such as 
those based on protected characteristics (gender, race, disability, sexuality, 
age, religion or belief). 

 
9.4 Targeted enforcement may in some circumstances fall disproportionately 

heavily on groups with protected characteristics.  However, an analysis of 
the potential impacts of enforcement under section 16 is set out in Appendix 
1 and it is not considered that there are likely to be any such impacts.  The 
analysis makes reference to the provisions in the enforcement policy which 
allow officers to take into account the particular vulnerability of an individual 
when determining the appropriate level of enforcement. 

 
 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 N/A 

 
 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 The risks of damage to the highway, accidents and associated financial 

costs may be reduced if the Council is able to take effective action against 
crossings of kerbed footways and verges.  By utilising the full powers 
contained in section 16 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for 
London Act 2003, the Council will increases its options for taking action. 

 

 
12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 The Offence of knowingly using a footway or verge as a crossing in 

contravention of any condition imposed is criminal in nature. 
 

12.2 The adoption of section 16 of the London Local Authorities and Transport for 
London Act 2003 will allow the Council more options for enforcement. 
Potential offenders should be discouraged by the fines that can be handed 
down by a magistrate under the London Local Authorities and Transport for 
London Act. 

 

12.3 Those that persist on breaking the law can be prevented from doing so 
through the ability to put in preventative measures. 

 
 
 
 

Page 173



  

13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 

13.1 Being able to stop people driving over pavement where a crossover does not 
exist will reduce damage to the pavement structure thus reducing the cost of 
maintenance on the Council. 

 

13.2 The ability to take action without the need to go to court will reduce the 
Council’s cost in legal fees, and save officer time in dealing with individual 
cases.  

 

13.3 Damage to the pavements can lead to accidents occurring, not only causing 
injury to residents but causing liability issues for the Council. Our ability deal 
with offences reported to the Council or identified by officers will reduce 
insurance claims arising as a result of people driving over pavements. 

 
 
14. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – EqIA Test of Relevance and Initial Screening Document 
 

 

 
_______________________________________________________ 

 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

  
None N/A 
 

Page 174



  

Appendix 1: 

Test of Relevance and Initial Screening Document 
 

Page 175



  

 

Page 176



  

 

Page 177



  Page 178



  

 
 

Page 179



Page 180

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee 
 
General Purposes 
Committee 
 

Date 
 
17th January 
2012 

Classification 
 
Unrestricted 

Report No. 
 
 

Report of:  
 
Assistant Chief Executive (Legal 
Services) 
 
Originating Officer(s):   
John S. Williams, Service Head, 
Democratic Services    

 

Title: 
 
Proposed Amendments to the 
Constitution 
 
Ward(s) affected:  All 

 
 

REASONS FOR LATENESS AND URGENCY:  This report was not circulated 
with the Committee agenda as it was not possible to compile the information 
required before that time.  The report is nevertheless recommended for 
consideration at this meeting as it is necessary for the proposed amendments 
to the Constitution to be submitted to the next ordinary meeting of the Council 
(25th January 2012) in order to take effect before the Budget Council meeting. 

 
 

1. Summary 
 
1.1 Council on 29th November amended the terms of reference of the General 

Purposes Committee to include consideration of proposed amendments to 
the Council’s Constitution.   

 
1.2 Prior to this the Constitution Working Party was established to give informal, 

cross-party consideration to Constitutional matters, including making 
recommendations as part of the annual review of the Constitution undertaken 
by the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services).   

 
1.3 The 2011/12 Constitution review commenced on 12th September 2011 and 

the Constitution Working Party subsequently met again on 19th October.  A 
range of matters were discussed in respect of which work will continue and a 
report be brought back to the General Purposes Committee in due course. 

 
1.4 However, there are a number of matters which are either very straightforward 

or on which an urgent decision is required and these are set out in the 
attached report.  The most pressing matter for consideration at this stage 
relates to clarification of certain procedures to be followed at the Budget 
Council Meeting, which is scheduled to take place on 22nd February 2012. 

 

Agenda Item 9.3

Page 181



2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Council be recommended:- 
 

a) To amend the Budget Council Procedure Rules at paragraph 4.2 of Part 
4.1 of the Constitution as proposed at section 4 of this report; 

 
b) To amend the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules at Part 4.3 

of the Constitution as proposed at section 5 of this report;  
 
c) To re-designate the Deputy Chair of Council as ‘Deputy Speaker’; and 
 
d) To amend paragraph 27.1 of the Council Procedure Rules as proposed at 

section 7 of this report to facilitate the trial period of recording Council 
meetings. 

 
e) To authorise the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services) to amend the 

text of the Constitution as necessary to give effect to the agreed changes. 
 
 
3. Review of the Constitution 2011/12 
 
3.1 The Constitution Working Party 2011/12 convened on 12th September 2011 

to begin the annual review of the Council’s Constitution.  The Working Party 
met on two occasions and considered a range of matters proposed by 
officers and Members in relation to possible amendments to enhance the 
efficient operation of the Constitution.   

 
3.2 Further work is required on some of the detailed proposals and this will 

continue.  However, in respect of a number of proposed amendments it is 
possible to bring forward proposals at this stage.  An early decision is 
required in particular on proposed amendments to the Budget Council 
Meeting Procedure Rules so that the changes can be in place ahead of the 
Budget Meeting which is scheduled for 22nd February.   

 
3.3 On 29th November 2011 the Council made the consideration of amendments 

to the Council’s Constitution a responsibility of the General Purposes 
Committee.  The recommended changes to be made at this stage are 
therefore set out below. 

 
 
4. Budget Council Meeting Procedure Rules 
 
4.1 The budget making process in February/March 2011 was the first such 

process in Tower Hamlets under the Mayoral form of executive.  The 
procedures to be followed at the Budget Council Meeting(s), particularly in 
relation to any proposed amendment of the Mayor’s proposals, are 
substantially governed by statutory provisions.  Within this however, a 
number of potential amendments have been identified to the Council’s own 

Page 182



procedure rules to clarify and improve the process, building on the 
experience of 2011. 

 
  (a)  Deadline for amendments 
 
4.2 Currently any amendments for the Budget Meeting must be submitted by 

noon on the day before the meeting.  Officer comments are then drafted and 
circulated with the amendments.  However if the amendments are extensive, 
the comments can take some time to prepare so the amendments may not 
be made available to Councillors until just before the meeting.   

 
4.3 It is suggested that the deadline for amendments should be brought forward 

by 24 hours to noon on the second working day before the meeting and the 
amendments and officer comments should be circulated to the Mayor and all 
Councillors, with any officer comments that are available, at least 24 hours 
before the meeting. 

 
  (b)  Timing of amendments/extension of meeting 
 
4.4 The rules provide that, other than amendments notified in advance as above, 

no further substantial amendment may normally be moved at the budget 
meeting.   However it is important that there is some opportunity at the first 
budget meeting only for Members to move new amendments, to ensure that 
the final outcome of the debate reflects the wishes of the majority of 
Members - for example by omitting, or agreeing a different combination of, 
elements of any amendments that are already on the table.  The rules 
therefore enable the Council to agree, subject to the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer, Section 151 Officer and Head of Paid Service, that an amendment 
without notice can be debated.   

 
4.5 The normal ‘guillotine’ procedure at Council Procedure Rule 9.2 applies 

equally to the Budget meeting.  Under this procedure, at the expiry of the 
time limit for the meeting, any amendments and motions still on the table are 
put to the vote and determined without further debate.   

 
4.6 However, the budget debate must not be curtailed if there are still matters 

that have not been adequately discussed and/or Members who have not had 
the opportunity to speak.  In particular the Council must have adequate time 
to debate any amendment that is moved and accepted for debate.  This may 
be problematic if an attempt is made to move a new amendment close to the 
end of the allocated time for the meeting.    

 
4.7 The Speaker will remind the Council at the start of the meeting of the 

importance where possible of all amendments being moved at the beginning 
of the debate or as soon as the need for the amendment is identified; and 
before moving to the ‘right of reply’ and voting stage of the meeting will give a 
final invitation for any further amendments.   No new amendment may be 
proposed once the call for the vote has commenced. 

 
 

Page 183



4.8 In addition it is proposed that the Constitution be amended as follows:- 
 

• At the first Budget Council meeting, if a new amendment is moved during 
the final 30 minutes of the time allocated for the meeting, the meeting will 
automatically be extended by up to 30 minutes to enable that amendment 
to be debated before the guillotine procedure comes into operation.  This 
will apply even if a previous extension has already been agreed.   

 

• At the end of the 30 minutes if the debate is not complete, the guillotine 
process will come into operation in the normal way and the vote will 
proceed on the amendments and substantive motion the meeting will 
conclude, unless the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 officer advise the 
Speaker that the matter has not been sufficiently discussed – in this case 
the meeting will continue to consider any outstanding amendment(s) and 
any further amendments that may arise directly as a consequence of 
those amendments only. 

 

• Nothing in the above provisions should extend the meeting beyond a total 
duration of five hours, at which point the guillotine process shall come into 
operation. 

 
 

5. Policy Framework 
 
5.1 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 

2000 issued under Section 13 of the Local Government Act 2000 list a 
number of plans and strategies, the adoption of which is reserved to full 
Council.  The Regulations also empower a Council to specify other plans and 
strategies, not included in the mandatory list, that shall also be reserved to 
the Council to adopt.  The mandatory and discretionary plans and strategies 
specified are collectively known as the ‘Policy Framework’ and special rules 
apply to their development and adoption:- 

 

• The adoption or approval of the plan or strategy is the responsibility of 
the full Council;  

 

• The Mayor and Executive have responsibility for preparing the draft plan 
or strategy for submission to the full Council; and 

 

• If the Council wishes to amend the Mayor’s proposals, the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 set out the 
dispute resolution procedure to be followed.  The Council must inform the 
Mayor of any objections which it has to his proposals (i.e. the 
amendments it wishes to agree) and must give the Mayor at least five 
working days to reconsider his proposals and re-submit them (amended 
or not, with reasons) to a further Council meeting.  If at this further 
meeting the Council still wishes to amend the Mayor’s revised proposals, 
such a decision requires a two-thirds majority of the Members present 
and voting.  If no valid amendment at the further meeting receives two-

Page 184



thirds support, the Mayor’s proposals are deemed adopted in accordance 
with the regulations.   

 
5.2 On 29th November 2011, the Council agreed to add four discretionary 

strategies to the Tower Hamlets ‘Policy Framework’:- 
 

- The Employment Strategy; 
- The Enterprise Strategy; 
- The Waste Strategy; and 
- The Open Space Strategy. 

5.3 It is proposed that the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules at Part  
4.3 of the Constitution be updated to reflect that fact that the procedures set 
out at paragraph 5.1 above now apply to these four strategies as to the 
Budget proposals and the other mandatory and discretionary items included 
in the Council’s Policy Framework.  

 
 

6. Deputy Speaker 
 
6.1 The Council on 29th November 2011 agreed that the position of Chair of 

Council would be re-designated as ‘The Speaker of Council’.  The Speaker is 
designated as the Borough’s First Citizen. 

 
6.2 No change was agreed at that time in respect of the designation of the 

Deputy Chair of Council.   
 
6.3 For the avoidance of doubt it is now proposed that the position of Deputy 

Chair of Council be re-designated Deputy Speaker. 
 
 
7. Recording of meetings 
 
7.1 The Council on 29th November 2011 also agreed that for a trial period of 

three months, all meetings of the Council will be audio recorded and stored.   
 
7.2 Currently the Council Procedure Rules do not allow for recording of the 

Council meeting without the express permission of the Speaker.  In order to 
facilitate the trial period agreed by the Council it is proposed that Council 
Procedure Rule 27.1 should be amended to state:- 

 
 ‘No photography or video or audio recording of any kind by Members, guests 

or members of the public may take place at any Council meeting without the 
express permission of the Speaker.  The Council may determine that the 
proceedings of the Council Meeting shall be audio recorded by the officers 
and those recordings stored in accordance with a policy agreed by the 
Council.’ 

 

Page 185



8. Comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 

8.1 This report proposes amendments to the Constitution as detailed in sections 
4 to 7 above.  There are no direct costs arising from the proposals.        

 
 

9. Concurrent report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services) 
 

9.1 The legal implications have been incorporated into the body of this report.  
 
 

10. Implications for One Tower Hamlets 
 
10.1 The Constitution provides for efficient, accountable and transparent decision-

making to the benefit of all local residents and communities.  
 
 

11. Anti-poverty implications 
 
11.1 There are no direct anti-poverty implications arising from the 

recommendations in this report.   
 
 
12. Implications for the reduction of crime and disorder 
 
12.1 There are no direct implications for the reduction of crime and disorder 

arising from the recommendations in this report. 
 
 
13. Strategic Action for a Greener Environment (SAGE) 
 
13.1 There are no direct SAGE implications arising from the recommendations in 

this report. 
 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
 

LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of “background paper”  Name and telephone number of 

holder and address where open to 
inspection 

 
Notes of Constitution Working Party meetings John Williams 

September/October 2011  020 7364 4204 

Page 186



 
 

1 

COMMITT EE 

 
Council 
 

DATE 

 
25 January 2012 

CLASSIFICATION 

 
Unrestricted 

REPORT NO. 

REPORT OF: 
 

Corporate Director-Resources 
 
ORIGINATING OFFICER(S): 
 

Oladapo Shonola – Chief Financial Strategy 
Officer 

TITLE: 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
STATEMENT, MINIMUM REVENUE 
PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND 
ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2011/12 
 

Ward(s) affected:                         All 

 

 

 

 

 

1. SUMMARY 

1.1 The Annual Investment Strategy is one of three strategy documents that the Council is 
obliged to produce in relation to its treasury management arrangements in line with 
Communities & Local Government (CLG) and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice (The Code). The three statements are : 

• A Treasury Management Strategy which sets out the Council’s proposed borrowing 
for the financial year and establishes the parameters (prudential and treasury 
indicators) within which officers under delegated authority may undertake such 
activities; 

• An annual Investment Strategy which sets out the Council’s policies for managing 
its investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those 
investments; and 

• A policy statement setting out the basis on which provision is to be made in the 
revenue accounts for the repayment of borrowing – Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) Policy Statement. 

1.3 All of these documents are regularly reviewed, but particularly so for the Investment 
Strategy to ensure that investment returns are maximised within the constraints of the  
Council’s risk criteria. These reviews are undertaken to ensure that the Strategy is 
adapted to take advantage of new/emerging opportunities in the financial markets whilst 
still maintaining effective control over risk. 

 

2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 

Council is recommended to adopt:- 

2.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement set out in sections 6-10 of Appendix 1. 

2.2 The Revised Annual Investment Strategy set out in section 11 of Appendix 1. 

2.3 The Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement set out in section 12 of Appendix 1. 

 

Lead Member Cllr Alibor Choudhury –  Resources 

Community Plan Theme All 

Strategic Priority One Tower Hamlets 

Agenda Item 11.1

Page 187



 
 

2 

3 REASONS FOR DECISIONS 

3.1 It is consistent with the requirements of treasury management specified by CIPFA, to 
which the Council is required to have regard under the Local Government Act 2003 and 
regulations made under that Act, for the Council to produce three strategy statements to 
support the Prudential Indicators which ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans 
are affordable, sustainable and prudent. The three documents that the Council should 
produce are: 

• Treasury Management Strategy, including prudential indicators; 

• Investment Strategy; and 

• Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement. 

 

3.2 The Treasury Management/Investment Strategies are continually reviewed to ensure that 
returns are being maximised within set credit risk criteria.  Following recent meetings with 
the Council’s treasury management advisors, Sector,, further opportunities to increase  
investment returns without significantly increasing the credit risk criteria have been 
identified. Legislation requires Council to approve the Treasury Management/Investment 
Strategies and any amendments there to.   

 

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

4.1 The Council is bound by legislation to have regard to the CIPFA requirements for treasury 
management.  If the Council were to deviate from those requirements, there would need to 
be some good reason for doing so.  It is not considered that there is any such reason, 
having regard to the need to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, sustainable and prudent. 

4.2 The strategies and policy statement put forward in the report are considered the best 
methods of achieving the CIPFA requirements.  Whilst it may be possible to adopt 
variations of the strategies and policy statement, this would risk failing to achieve the goals 
of affordability, sustainability and prudence.  

 

5 BACKGROUND 

5.1 Full Council approved the current Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy Statement and the Annual Investment Strategy in February 
2011. 

5.2 Officers have operated within the boundaries of the approved treasury management 
policies and statements and the Audit Committee continue to receive regular reports as 
outlined in the reporting framework also approved at Full Council in February 2011 and 
detailed in Appendix 1 of this report.  

5.3 Although investment returns are in line with the budget for 2011-12, and having regard for 
the current uncertainties in the financial markets, the Council’s treasury management 
advisors, Sector, recommended some changes to the current Annual Investment Strategy 
that would increase investment returns without any significant increase in the level of risk 
exposure. 

Page 188



 
 

3 

5.4 The recommended changes are detailed in Section 6 below and have been incorporated in 
the amended Treasury management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
attached as Appendix 1.  

6 PROPOSED CHANGES 

6.1 The Investment Strategy for 2011/12 was put together in recognition of the recent relative 
recovery in the financial sector following the banking crisis that led to a global recession. 
Money markets in the UK have become more stable although Bank of England base rate 
is still being held at the historical low rate of 0.50%.  

6.2 In 2009, the Corporate Director-Resources in response to market uncertainties 
implemented interim credit criteria which restricted term investments to UK institutions 
which had support guarantees from the British Government. But this policy is 
unsustainable in the long term which was why Members were asked to remove this 
restriction in February.  

6.3 The current Strategy does not restrict investment in UK Government instruments or UK 
Government supported institutions (such as RBS and Lloyds Groups), but it dictates that 
investment can only be placed with institutions with high credit quality in countries with the 
highest sovereign ratings (AAA). 

6.4 Officers are continually reviewing the Investment Strategy to ensure that returns are 
maximised within agreed risk parameters. Following meetings with the Council’s treasury 
management consultants, it was suggested that a revision of the Investment Strategy 
could lead to higher returns being achieved without significantly increasing the credit risk 
criteria approved by Council in February 2011.  

6.5  In reviewing the investment strategy, officers along with the Council’s treasury advisers 
are looking to balance risk and reward in a way that result in a balanced and optimised 
investment portfolio for the Council. Therefore, it is proposed that;  

•  the individual/group limit for investment in an institution or group that is 
wholly/partly owned by the UK government is increased to £45m (currently 
£30m). This measure does not increase the portfolio risk profile.  

•  up to £25m (previously £12m) of available cash balances may be invested 
for periods over 364 days and up to 3 years. Although, only £15m can be 
invested between 2 to 3 years maturity. This change is proposed to reflect 
the higher level of cash balances currently held compared to the original 
cash flow forecasts, and 

• the Strategy allows investment in structured products within current 
limits/restrictions to facilitate lock in to premium rates from day one of an 
investment being made. 

The detailed credit criteria are set out in section 11.5.5 of Appendix 1 and it is 
recommended that these criteria be adopted. 

 

6.6 A summary of the credit criteria is detailed in the tables below.. 

 Specified Investments:  

(All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 
year, meeting the minimum ‘high credit’ quality criteria where applicable). The council will 
continue its policy of lending surplus cash to counterparties that have high credit ratings, 
defining ‘high credit rating’ as being F1+ Fitch short-term and AA- long-term credit rating. 

Page 189



 
 

4 

 

 Table 1 

Institution Minimum High 
Credit Criteria 

Use Limit 

Debt Management Office (DMO) Deposit Facility Not applicable In-house £100m* 

Term deposits – Other Local Authorities  Not applicable In-house £10m** 

Term deposits – banks and building societies  Short-term F1+,  
Long-term AA- 

In-house  £30m 

Institutions with Government guarantee on ALL 
deposits by high credit rated (sovereign rating) 
countries. 

Sovereign rating In-house  £30m 

UK Government Gilts Long Term AAA In-house  £20m 

Institutions with UK Government support. 
Sovereign rating In-house £30m 

Institutions that are owned/part owned by the UK 
Government 

Sovereign rating In-house £45m 

Collective Investment Schemes structured as 
Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs) 

 

Money Market Funds AAA rated In-house £10m 

  Definitions of credit ratings are attached at Appendix 2. 

*  Although limit has been set at £100m for the DMO, in reality there is no restriction on placement with the UK government. 

** The group limit for local authorities has been set at £100m. 

 

Non-Specified Investments:  

 All investments that do not qualify as specified investment are termed non-specified 
investments. The credit criteria for non-specified investments are detailed in the below 
table.  

 

  Table 2 

Institution Minimum High 
Credit Criteria 

Use Limit 

Term deposits –  Banks and Building 
Societies  

Sovereign rating AAA 
Short-term F1+,  
Long-term AA- 

In-house  £25m 

Structured Deposits: Fixed term 
deposits with variable rate and 
variable maturities 

Sovereign rating AAA 
Short-term rating F1+ 

Long-term rating AA- 
In-house £25m 

UK Government Gilts Long Term AAA In-house  £25m 

 

6.7 The Council uses Fitch ratings (or equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does not provide 
a rating) to derive its counterparty criteria, but will take into consideration ratings from all 
three main credit ratings providers when compiling its counterparty list. The Council will 
take an overall view on its counterparties so that an organisation could be removed from 

Page 190



 
 

5 

the list if the predominant view of the organisation is pessimistic. Where the overall view of 
the three main ratings agency is pessimistic, the Council is likely to adopt the most 
pessimistic of the available ratings.   

7 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

7.1 The comments of the Chief Finance Officer have been incorporated into the report. 

 

8 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
(LEGAL SERVICES) 

8.1 The Local Government Act 2003 provides a framework for the capital finance of local 
authorities.  It provides a power to borrow and imposes a duty on local authorities to 
determine an affordable borrowing limit.  It provides a power to invest.  Fundamental to the 
operation of the scheme is an understanding that authorities will have regard to proper 
accounting practices recommended by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) in carrying out capital finance functions. 

8.2 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 
require the Council to have regard to the CIPFA publication “Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes” (“the Treasury 
Management Code”) in carrying out capital finance functions under the Local Government 
Act 2003.  If after having regard to the Treasury Management Code the Council wished not 
to follow it, there would need to be some good reason for such deviation. 

8.3 It is a key principle of the Treasury Management Code that an authority should put in place 
“comprehensive objectives, policies and practices, strategies and reporting arrangements 
for the effective management and control of their treasury management activities”.  
Treasury management activities cover the management of the Council’s investments and 
cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions, the effective 
control of risks associated with those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.  It is consistent with the key principles expressed in the 
Treasury Management Code for the Council to adopt the strategies and policies proposed 
in the report. 

8.4 The report proposes that the treasury management strategy will incorporate prudential 
indicators. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 
2003 requires the Council to have regard to the CIPFA publication “Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities” (“the Prudential Code”) when carrying out its duty 
under the Act to determine an affordable borrowing limit. The Prudential Code specifies a 
minimum level of prudential indicators required to ensure affordability, sustainability and 
prudence. The report properly brings forward these matters for determination by the 
Council. If after having regard to the Prudential Code the Council wished not to follow it, 
there would need to be some good reason for such deviation. 

8.5 The Local Government Act 2000 and regulations made under the Act provide that adoption 
of a plan or strategy for control of a local authority’s borrowing, investments or capital 
expenditure, or for determining the authority’s minimum revenue provision, is a matter that 
should not be the sole responsibility of the authority’s executive and, accordingly, it is 
appropriate for the Cabinet to agree these matters and for them to then be considered by 
Full council. 

 

Page 191



 
 

6 

9 ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 

9.1 Capital investment will contribute to achievement of the corporate objectives, including all 
those relating to equalities and achieving One Tower Hamlets. Establishing the statutory 
policy statements required facilitates the capital investments and ensures that it is prudent. 

 

10 SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 

10.1 There are no sustainable actions for a greener environment implication. 

 

11 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 There is inevitably a degree of risk inherent in all treasury activity. 

11.2 The Investment Strategy identifies the risk associated with different classes of investment 
instruments and sets the parameters within which treasury activities can be undertaken 
and controls and processes appropriate for that risk. 

11.3 Treasury operations are undertaken by nominated officers within the parameters 
prescribed by the Treasury Management Policy Statement as approved by the Council. 

11.4 The council is ultimately responsible for risk management in relation to its treasury 
activities. However, in determining the risk and appropriate controls to put in place the 
Council has obtained independent advice from Sector Treasury Services who specialise in 
Council treasury issues.  

 

12 CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 

12.1 There are no any crime and disorder reduction implications arising from this report. 

 

13 EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 

13.1 The Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy and the arrangements put in 
place to monitor them should ensure that the Council optimises the use of its monetary 
resources within the constraints placed on the Council by statute, appropriate 
management of risk and operational requirements. 

14. APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 – Revised Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2011/12 

 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  

and address where open to inspection. 

None  

 

Page 192



 
 

7 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Revised Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2011/12 

 

1. SUMMARY 

1.2 The Council is required by legislation and guidance to produce three strategy statements 
in relation to its treasury management arrangements. . The three statements are : 

• A Treasury Management Strategy which sets out the Council’s proposed borrowing 
for the financial year and establishes the parameters (prudential and treasury 
indicators) within which officers under delegated authority may undertake such 
activities; 

• An annual Investment Strategy sets out the Council’s policies for managing its 
investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments; 
and 

• A policy statement on the basis on which provision is to be made in the revenue 
accounts for the repayment of borrowing – Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Policy Statement. 

1.2 The Department of Communities and Local Government has issued revised investment 
guidance which came into effect from 1 April 2010.  There were no major changes 
required over and above the changes already required by the revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice 2009.    

1.3 The Council is required to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management (revised November 
2009) which requires the following:   

•  A Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets out the policies and 
objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities 

•  Treasury Management Practices which set out the manner in which the Council will 
seek to achieve those policies and objectives 

• Approval  by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy, and prudential indicators - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review 
Report and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 
previous year. 

• Clear delegated responsibility for overseeing and monitoring treasury management 
policies and practices and for the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions. For this Council the delegated body is the Audit Committee. 
The scheme of delegation for treasury management is attached at Appendix 5 

1.4 The Council has formally adopted the revised Code and defined its Treasury Management 
Policy Statement. These are set out Appendices 3 and 4 this report.  

1.5 Officers will report details of the council’s treasury management activity to the Audit 
Committee at each of its meetings during the year. Additionally, a mid year and full year 
report will be presented to Council. Full reporting arrangement is attached at Appendix 6. 

Page 193



 
 

8 

2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 

Cabinet is requested to:- 

2.4 Recommend that Full Council adopt: 

2.4.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement set out in sections 6-10 of this 
report. 

2.4.2 The Annual Investment Strategy set out in section 11 of this report. 

2.4.3 The Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement set out in section 12 of this 
report, which officers involved in treasury management must then follow. 

2.5 Delegate to the Corporate Director-Resources after consultation with the Lead Member for 
Resources authority to vary the figures in this report to reflect decisions made in relation to 
the Capital Programme prior to submission to Budget Council. 

 

3 REASONS FOR DECISIONS 

3.1 It is consistent with the requirements of treasury management specified by CIPFA, to 
which the Council is required to have regard under the Local Government Act 2003 and 
regulations made under that Act, for the Council to produce three strategy statements to 
support the Prudential Indicators which ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans 
are affordable, sustainable and prudent. The three documents that the Council should 
produce are: 

• Treasury Management Strategy, including prudential indicators  

• Investment Strategy; and 

• Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement. 

3.2 The Treasury Management/Investment Strategies are continually reviewed to ensure that 
returns are being maximised within set credit risk criteria.  Following recent meetings with 
the Council’s treasury management consultants, further opportunities to achieve additional 
return on investments with similar credit risk criteria to that approved by Council in March 
2011 have been identified.  

 

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

4.1 The Council is bound by legislation to have regard to the CIPFA requirements for treasury 
management.  If the Council were to deviate from those requirements, there would need to 
be some good reason for doing so.  It is not considered that there is any such reason, 
having regard to the need to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, sustainable and prudent. 

4.2 The strategies and policy statement put forward in the report are considered the best 
methods of achieving the CIPFA requirements.  Whilst it may be possible to adopt 
variations of the strategies and policy statement, this would risk failing to achieve the goals 
of affordability, sustainability and prudence.  

 

 

 

Page 194



 
 

9 

5 BACKGROUND 

5.1 The Local Government Act 2003 Act requires the Council to establish a treasury strategy 
for borrowing, and an investment strategy for each financial year, which sets out the 
Council’s policies for managing its investments and for giving priority to the security and 
liquidity of those investments. 

5.2 The strategy for 2011/12 encompasses elements of the treasury management function 
and incorporates the economic forecasts provided by the Council’s treasury advisor.  It 
specifically covers: 

• Treasury limits in force which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

• Prudential and Treasury Indicators; 

• The current treasury position; 

• The borrowing requirement; 

• Prospects for interest rates; 

• The borrowing strategy (including policy on borrowing in advance of need); 

• Debt Rescheduling; 

• The Investment Strategy; 

• Credit Worthiness Policy; 

• Policy on use of external service providers; and 

• The Minimum Revenue Provision strategy 

 

6 TREASURY LIMITS FOR 2011/12 TO 2013/14 

6.1 The Council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting an Authorised Limit for 
borrowing (the level of borrowing to fund capital investment that is affordable), which 
essentially requires it to ensure that total capital investment remains within sustainable 
limits and, in particular, that the impact upon its future council tax and council rent levels is 
affordable for taxpayers and tenants.  

6.2 The Authorised Limit is to be set on a rolling basis, for the forthcoming financial year and 
two successive financial years. Details of the Authorised Limit and other indicators are 
attached at Appendix 1.   

6.3 The Prudential Code requires that the Council set a series of indicators on a three year 
time frame, which are classified in two main categories; prudential and treasury indicators. 
It should be noted that these indicators are not for comparison with other local authorities, 
but are a means to support and record local decision-making. 

6.4 The prudential indicators are there to demonstrate that the Council can afford the 
proposed capital programme in addition to the borrowing undertaken to fund expenditure 
in the past and that such expenditure is sustainable and prudent going forward. Also it 
highlights the impact of capital investment decisions on council tax and housing rents. The 
Council has set the following prudential indicators, which are detailed at Appendix 1 of 
this report as prescribed by the Code: 

•••• Capital Expenditure – the amount the Council will spend  

Page 195



 
 

10 

•••• Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream – Financing cost as a 
percentage of revenue budget, to ensure that borrowing does not overwhelm the 
capacity for other expenditure.  

•••• Net Borrowing Requirement – Amount of external borrowing that will be required 
in the year.  

•••• In Year Capital Financing Requirement – The amount of  borrowing required in 
year 

•••• Capital Financing Requirement – Overall capital financing required for all capital 
expenditure 

•••• Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions – Measures the impact of 
capital investment decisions on council tax and housing rents. 

6.5 Treasury indicators are about setting parameters within which officers can take treasury 
management decisions. The Council has set the following treasury indicators, which are 
detailed at Appendix 1 of this report as prescribed by the Code: 

•••• Authorised Limit for External Debt – The upper limit on the level of gross external 
permitted. It must not be breached without Full Council approval. 

•••• Operational Boundary for External Debt – Most likely and prudent view on the 
level of gross external debt requirement. 

•••• Actual External Debt – This is the actual gross external debt that the Council 
currently has, which will not be comparable to the operational boundary or 
authorised limit, since the actual gross external debt will reflect the actual position at 
any one point in time. 

•••• Maturity Structure for Borrowing – Profile of when loans in the Council’s portfolio 
of debt are expected to mature 

 

7 CURRENT PORTFOLIO POSITION 

7.1 The Council’s borrowing and investments as at the 30 November 2010 are as set out in 
Table 1. The Council’s external borrowing total £354m. Investments currently total £151m. 

    Table 1 

 Type of Borrowing Principal 
Amount 
 
£m 

Total 
Principal 
Amount 
£m 

Average 
Rate 
 
% 

Total 
Average 
Rate 
% 

Fixed Rate Borrowing        

PWLB (Public Works Loans Board) 257.173  7.786  

Market 13.000  4.370  

   270.173  7.633 

Variable Rate Borrowing     

PWLB and Market 64.500  1.134  

     1.134 

Total Debt  353.673  6.448 

Page 196



 
 

11 

Investments  

Debt Management Office 0 

UK Banks & Building Societies 143.761 

Overseas banks 0 

Other UK Institutions 7.000 

Total Investments 150.761 
 

 

 

 

8 PROSPECTS FOR INTEREST RATES 

8.1  The borrowing and investment strategy is in part determined by the economic environment 
within which it operates. 

8.2  The Council has appointed Sector Treasury Services as treasury adviser and part of the 
service they provide is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. The 
following table gives Sector’s overall view on interest rates for the next three years. 

 

Table 2 

 

8.3 Sector’s current interest rate projections are based on moderate economic recovery and 
moderate Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee concerns about the outlook for 
inflation. 

8.4 Sector projects that Bank Rate:-  

• will hold steady at 0.50% until the end of Q3 2012 

• will start to rise from 0.50% in Q4 2012 reaching 3.25% by the end of Q2 2014; and 

• long term (50 Year) PWLB rates to steadily increase reaching 5.70% by end of Q4 
2013  

8.5 At the time of writing, the Bank of England base rate stands at 0.5%. Inflation has 
remained above the Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee’s (MPC) 2% target, and 
has recently been increasing. However, the MPC is confident that inflation will fall back 
under the target over the next two years. At present the council’s treasury advisor’s view is 
that there is unlikely to be any increase in Bank Rate until the end of 2012. 

  Q4 2010 Q1 2011 Q2 2011 Q3 2011 Q4 2011 Q1 2012 Q2 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2012 Q1 2013 Q2 2013 Q3 2013 Q4 2013 

Bank Rate 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.50% 1.75% 2.25% 2.75% 3.00% 3.25% 

5Yr PWLB 
Rate 

3.41% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.80% 3.90% 4.10% 4.30% 4.60% 4.80% 4.90% 

10Yr PWLB 
Rate 

4.64% 4.40% 4.40% 4.40% 4.50% 4.70% 4.80% 4.90% 5.00% 5.10% 5.20% 5.30% 5.40% 

25Yr PWLB 
Rate 

5.29% 5.20% 5.20% 5.20% 5.30% 5.30% 5.40% 5.40% 5.40% 5.50% 5.50% 5.60% 5.70% 

50Yr PWLB 
Rate 

5.21% 5.20% 5.20% 5.20% 5.30% 5.30% 5.40% 5.40% 5.40% 5.50% 5.50% 5.60% 5.70% 

Page 197



 
 

12 

9 BORROWING STRATEGY 

9.1 The Council will continue to borrow for the following purposes where it is deemed 
affordable, sustainable and prudent to do so: 

• Supported Capital Expenditure Allocations 

• Repayment of Maturing Debt (net of Minimum Revenue Provision) 

• Unsupported (Prudential) Borrowing Capital Expenditure 

• Short Term Cash Flow Financing 

9.2 The Corporate Director-Resources under delegated powers will determine the  timing, 
term, type and rate of new borrowing to take into account factors such as: 

• Expected movements in interest rates 

• Current maturity profile 

• The impact of borrowing on the council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 

• Approved prudential indicators and limits 

9.3 Officers will continue to monitor interest rate movements closely and adopt a pragmatic 
approach to changing circumstances. For example, the following potential scenarios would 
require a reappraisal of strategy: 

• A significant risk of a sharp rise in long and short term rates, perhaps arising from a 
greater than expected increase in world economic activity or further increases in 
inflation, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised with the likely action that 
fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates were still relatively cheap 

• A significant risk of a sharp fall in long and short term rates, due to e.g. growth rates 
weakening, then long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential rescheduling 
from fixed rate funding into short term funding will be considered. 

9.4 The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be 
considered carefully to ensure value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council 
can ensure the security of such funds.  

 

9.5 In determining whether borrowing will be undertaken in advance of need the Council will; 

• ensure that there is a clear link between the capital programme and maturity profile 
of the existing debt portfolio which supports the need to take funding in advance of 
need 

• ensure the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the future 
plans and budgets have been considered 

• evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner and 
timing of any decision to borrow  

• consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding 

• consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate periods 
to fund and repayment profiles to use. 

 

Page 198



 
 

13 

10 DEBT RESCHEDULING  

10.1 The Corporate Director-Resources will continue to consider options to reschedule and 
restructure the Council’s debt portfolio, having due regard for the broad impact of such 
exercises on the following: 

• The maturity profile – council will only undertake debt restructuring where it benefits 
the maturity profile 

• Ongoing revenue savings will be achieved 

• The effect on the HRA 

• The impact of premiums and discounts has been fully considered; and  

• The impact on prudential indicators. 

 

11 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

11.1 The Investment Strategy for 2011/12 has been put together in recognition of the recent 
relative recovery in the financial sector following the banking crisis that led to a global 
recession. Money markets are becoming more stable although Bank of England base rate 
is still being held at the historical low rate of 0.50%.  

11.2 In 2009, the Corporate Director-Resources in response to market uncertainties 
implemented interim credit criteria which restricted term investments to UK institutions 
which had support guarantees from the British Government. This policy is however difficult 
to sustain in the long term because of the limited number of counterparties and the 
relatively low returns obtainable given historically low interest rates being offered by UK 
institutions.  

11.3 Following meetings with the Council’s treasury management consultants, it was agreed 
that a revision of the Investment Strategy could lead to additional returns being achieved 
with similar credit risk criteria to that approved by Council in March 2011.  

11.4 In reviewing the investment strategy, officers along with the Council’s treasury advisers are 
looking to balance risk and reward in a way that result in a balanced investment portfolio 
for the Council. It is proposed that;  

• the individual/group limit for investment in an institution or group that is 
wholly/partly owned by the UK government is increased to £45m (currently 
£30m). This measure does not necessarily increase the portfolio risk profile given 
the UK government limit within current Strategy is only a notional limit - the 
individual/group limit for all other institutions will remain at £30m, 

• up to £25m (previously £12m) of available cash balances may be invested for 
periods over 364 days and up to 3 years. Although, only £15m can be invested 
between 2 to 3 years maturity. This change is necessary to reflect the higher 
level of balances currently held, and 

• the Strategy allows investment in structured products within current 
limits/restrictions to facilitate lock in to premium rates from day one of an 
investment being made. 

The detailed credit criteria are set out in section 11.5.5 and it is recommended that these 
criteria be adopted. 

 

Page 199



 
 

14 

11.5 Investment Policy: 

11.5.1 The Council will have regard to the Department of Communities and Local 
Government’s (DCLG) Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the 
Guidance”) issued in March 2004 and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in Public 
Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code”).  The Council’s investment priorities are:  

• The security of capital; 

• The liquidity of investments to ensure that the Council has cash available to 
discharge its liabilities as necessary; and that; 

• Within these priorities, the Council will also aim to achieve the optimum 
return on its investments commensurate with appropriate levels of security 
and liquidity; and 

• All investments will be in Sterling. 

11.5.2 To achieve these objectives, the Council is required to classify investment products 
as either “specified” or “non-specified” as defined within the guidance.   

11.5.3 Specified investments comprise investment instruments which the Council 
considers offer high security and liquidity. These instruments can be used with 
minimal procedural formalities. The guidance issued by the Government considers 
that specified investments have the following characteristics: - 

• Denominated in Sterling and have a term of less than one year 

• Have “high” credit ratings as determined by the Council itself. 

11.5.4 All other investments are termed non-specified investments. These involve a 
relatively higher element of risk, and consequently the Council is required to set a 
limit on the maximum proportion of their funds which will be invested in these 
instruments. The Strategy should also specify the guidelines for making decisions 
and the circumstances in which professional advice is obtained. 

11.5.5 Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed below under 
the ‘Specified’ and ‘Non-Specified’ Investments categories.  Counterparty limits will 
be as set through the Council’s Treasury Management Practices – Schedules.  

11.5.5.1 Specified Investments:  

(All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to 
maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high credit’ quality criteria 
where applicable). The council will continue its policy of lending surplus 
cash to counterparties that have high credit ratings, defining ‘high credit 
rating’ as being F1+ Fitch  short-term and AA- long-term credit rating. 

 Table 3 

Institution Minimum High 
Credit Criteria 

Use Limit 

Debt Management Office (DMO) Deposit 
Facility 

Not applicable In-house £100m* 

Term deposits – Other Local Authorities  Not applicable In-house £10m** 

Term deposits – banks and building 
societies  

Short-term F1+,  
Long-term AA- 

In-house  £30m 

Page 200



 
 

15 

Institutions with Government guarantee 
on ALL deposits by high credit rated 
(sovereign rating) countries. 

Sovereign rating In-house  £30m 

UK Government Gilts Long Term AAA In-house  £20m 

Institutions with UK Government support. 
Sovereign rating In-house  

£30m 

 

Institutions that are owned/part owned 
by the UK Government 

Sovereign rating In-house £45m 

Collective Investment Schemes 
structured as Open Ended Investment 
Companies (OEICs) 

 

Money Market Funds AAA rated In-house £10m 

  Definitions of credit ratings are attached at Appendix 2. 

*  Although limit has been set at £100m for the DMO, in reality there is no restriction on placement with the UK government. 

** The group limit for local authorities has been set at £100m. 

11.5.5.2 Non-Specified Investments:  

The Council revised its investment strategy in the wake of the banking 
crisis in 2007. This led to wide ranging restriction being placed on the 
counterparty list. As part of the strategy review in 2007, a temporary 
cessation of investment with overseas institutions and all investment 
restricted to a term of less than 365 days until stability returned to the 
banking sector, globally. The situation has now settled enough for clear 
decisions to be made on whether the council should return to investing 
with overseas banks.  

 

It is recommended that the Council should make non-specified 
investment as outlined in below table. 

 

 Table 4 

 Institution Minimum High Credit 
Criteria 

Use Limit 

Term deposits –  Banks and 
Building Societies  

Sovereign rating AAA 

Short-term F1+,  
Long-term AA- 

In-house  £25m 

Structured Deposits: Fixed term 
deposits with variable rate and 
variable maturities 

Sovereign rating AAA 

Short-term rating F1+ 

Long-term rating AA- 

In-house £25m 

UK Government Gilts Long Term AAA In-house  £25m 

 

11.6 The Council uses Fitch ratings (or equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does not provide a 
rating) to derive its counterparty criteria, but will take into consideration ratings from all three 
main credit ratings providers when compiling its counterparty list. The Council will take an 
overall view on its counterparties so that an organisation could be removed from the list if 

Page 201



 
 

16 

the predominant view of the organisation is pessimistic. Where the overall view of the three 
main ratings agency is pessimistic, the Council is likely to adopt the most pessimistic of the 
available ratings.   

11.7 The minimum credit rating required for an institution to be included in the Council’s 
counterparty list is as follows: 

Table 5 

Agency Long-Term Short-Term Individual Support 

Fitch AA- F1 C 1 

Moodys Aa3 P-1 N/A C 

Standard & Poors AA- A-1 N/A N/A 

 

Sovereign Rating AAA 

 

Money Market Fund AAA 

 

 

11.8 The Council will only use approved counterparties from countries with minimum sovereign 
credit rating of AAA from Fitch as outlined above.  The following countries are currently 
rated AAA: 

• Canada 

• Denmark 

• Finland 

• France 

• Germany 

• Luxembourg 

• Netherlands 

• Norway 

• Singapore 

• Sweden 

• Switzerland 

• United Kingdom 

• United States of America 

11.9 All credit ratings will be monitored on at least a monthly basis and the Council is alerted to 
changes in ratings through its use of the Sector creditworthiness service.   

• If a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer meeting 
the Council’s minimum criteria as outlined in 11.5, its further use as a new 
investment will be withdrawn immediately. 

Page 202



 
 

17 

• If a body is placed on negative rating watch (i.e. there is a reasonable probability of 
a rating change and the likelihood of that change being negative) and it is currently 
near the floor of the of the minimum acceptable rating for placing investments with 
that body as outlined in 11.5, then no further investments will be made with that 
body. 

11.10 The credibility of credit ratings providers has been called into question because they failed 
to identify the potential problems with Icelandic Banks prior to the Icelandic Banking Crisis. 
In order to further improve the security of council funds and in line with CIPFA guidance, the 
Council as well as using credit rating agencies will now also use financial press, market 
data, information on government support for banks and the credit ratings of that government 
support when compiling its counterparties list. 

11.11 Institutions with which the Council can place funds are as follows: 

• Bank of England Debt management Office (DMO).  

• The institutions that were included in the UK Government’s permanent capital 
investment and short-term liquidity support programme. 

• Other UK institutions meeting our minimum credit rating criteria 

• UK AAA rated Money Market Funds 

• Other local authorities 

• Overseas institutions (falling within the Council’s minimum credit criteria) from 
countries with sovereign ratings of AAA from all rating agencies 

11.12 The Council anticipates its fund balances in 2011/12 to average approximately £175m. 
Although the actual amount available for investment at any one time will fluctuate as a 
result of timing of significant items such as: 

• Expenditure on capital projects 

• Council tax, business rates, council house rent income 

• Receipt of government grants 

• Capital receipts in respect of major asset sales 

11.13 It is proposed that the Council adopts a prudential indicator limit of £25m for 2011/12 for 
term deposits over 365 days (but no more than 3 years). Although, only £15m can be 
invested between 2 to 3 years maturity. 

11.14 Investment Strategy: 

11.14.1 In-house funds: The Council’s in house investments are principally related to 
cashflow. Investments will accordingly be made with reference to the core 
balance and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates. 

11.14.2 Interest rate outlook:  Bank of England Base Rate has remained at 0.50% since 
the initial tumble down from a high of 5.75% in November 2007 to the current rate 
in March 2009. The council’s treasury advisors forecast that interest rates will 
start to rise steadily from Q4 of 2012 and would have risen to 3.25% by Q4 of 
2014.  

11.14.3 The pace of the economic recovery has slowed and the outlook for global 
economy is for slow/flat growth in the medium term.  There remains a distortion in 
the inter-relationships between money market rates and bank rate. The 2011/12 

Page 203



 
 

18 

budget has been set to take account of low interest rates, but officers will 
continue to invest to maximise returns in line with the Council’s counterparty 
criteria. 

 

12 MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT 2010/11 

12.1 The Council is required to provide an annual amount in its revenue budget to provide for 
the repayment of the debt it has incurred to finance its General Fund capital investment.  
The calculation of this sum termed the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was previously 
prescribed by the Government.  

12.2 The Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) now require Councils to 
establish a policy statement on the MRP and has published guidance on the four potential 
methodologies to be adopted. 

12.3 The guidance distinguishes between supported borrowing which relates to assumed 
borrowing which is incorporated into the Governments Formula Grant calculation and 
consequently has an associated amount of government grant and unsupported borrowing. 
Unsupported borrowing is essentially prudential borrowing the financing costs of which 
have to be met by the Council locally. 

12.4 The DCLG guidance provides two options for the calculation of the MRP associated with 
each classes of borrowing. 

12.5 The two options for the supported borrowing are variants of the existing statutory 
calculation which is based on 4% of the aggregate assumed borrowing for general fund 
capital investment - termed the Capital Financing requirement (CFR).  The two options 
are: 

• Option 1 (Regulatory Method): To continue the current statutory calculation based 
on the gross CFR less a dampening factor to mitigate the impact on revenue 
budgets of the transition from the previous system.  This calculation is further 
adjusted to repay debt transferred to the Council when the Inner London Education 
Authority (ILEA) was abolished. 

• Option 2 (Capital Financing Requirement Method): The statutory calculation 
without the dampener which will increase the annual charge to revenue budget. 

12.6 The options purely relate to the timing of debt repayment rather than the gross amounts 
payable over the term of the loans. The higher MRP payable under option 2 will accelerate 
the repayment of debt. 

12.7 It is recommended that because of budget constraints in the medium term the existing 
statutory calculation with the ILEA adjustment be adopted as the basis of the Councils 
MRP relating to supported borrowing. 

12.8 The guidance provides two options for the MRP relating to unsupported borrowing.  The 
options are:- 

• Option 3 (Asset Life Method): To repay the borrowing over the estimated life of 
the asset with the provision calculated on either an equal instalment or annuity 
basis. This method has the advantage of simplicity and relating repayments to the 
period over which the asset is providing benefit. 

Page 204



 
 

19 

• Option 4 (Depreciation Method): A calculation based on depreciation. This is 
extremely complex and there are potential difficulties in changing estimated life and 
residual values.  

12.9 It is recommended that option 3 is adopted for unsupported borrowing. 

12.10 The Council is required regulation 28 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England ) (Amendment) Regulations 2003 to determine for each financial 
year an amount of minimum revenue provision which it considers to be prudent. It is 
proposed that the Council makes Minimum Revenue Provision using Option 1 (Regulatory 
Method) for supported borrowing and Option 3 (Asset Life Method) for unsupported 
borrowing. 

 

13. APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 – Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

Appendix 2 – Definition of Credit Ratings 

Appendix 3 – Adoption of the revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2009 

Appendix 4 – Treasury Management Policy Statement 

Appendix 5 – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

Appendix 6 – Treasury Management Reporting Arrangement  

 

 

 

Page 205



 
 

20 

APPENDIX 1 

 

PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS 

Prudential indicators 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

  Actual 
Probable 
Outturn 

Estimate Estimate Estimate 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 

 Capital Expenditure       

    Non – HRA 88,878 149,876 134,012 83,159 50,656 

    HRA 50,497 47,587 37,636 36,911 30,000 

    TOTAL 139,375 197,463 171,648 120,070 80,656 

 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream      

    Non – HRA 2.98% 2.62% 2.51% 2.55% 2.43% 

    HRA  16.91% 18.75% 19.39% 19.9% 20.31% 

 Net borrowing requirement      

    brought forward 1 April 322.198 354.250 303.764 308.079 315.622 

    carried forward 31 March 354.250 303.764 308.079 315.622 322.424 

    in year borrowing requirement 32.052 -50.486 4.315 7.543 6.802 

 In year Capital Financing Requirement      

    Non - HRA 1.352 0 0 0 0 

    HRA  15.500 15.500 6.000 6.000 6.000 

    TOTAL 16.852 15.500 6.000 6.000 6.000 

 Capital Financing Requirement as at 31 March       

    Non - HRA 161.570 160.784 152.599 146.142 139.944 

    HRA  276.480 292.480 298.480 304.480 310.480 

    TOTAL 438.050 453.264 451.079 450.622 450.424 

 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p 

   Increase in Council Tax (band D) per annum  8.46 4.27 0 0 0 

   Increase in average housing rent per week  0 0 0 0 0 

           

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

Page 206



 
 

21 

 

 
     

TABLE 4: Treasury management indicators 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

  Actual 
Probable 
Outturn 

Estimate Estimate Estimate 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 

 Authorised Limit for external debt -       

    borrowing 483,,050 498,264 496,079 495,424 495,424 

    other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 

     TOTAL 483,,050 498,264 496,079 495,424 495,424 

 Operational Boundary for external debt -       

     borrowing 463,050 478,264 476,079 475,424 475,424 

     Other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 

     TOTAL 463,050 478,264 476,079 475,424 475,424 

       

 Actual external debt      

 Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure      

     expressed as either:-      

     Net principal re fixed rate borrowing / investments 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

 Upper limit for variable rate exposure      

     expressed as either:-      

     Net principal re variable rate borrowing / investments  20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 

 Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days 0 0 12,000 12,000 12,000 

     (per maturity date)          

      

TABLE 5: Maturity structure borrowing during 2011/12 Upper Limit Lower Limit  

        under 12 months  10% 0%  

       12 months and within 24 months* 30% 0%  

       24 months and within 5 years* 40% 0%  

       5 years and within 10 years 80% 0%  

       10 years and above 100% 0%  

* This upper limit has been increased to allow for the risk of lenders option being exercised on the Council’s debt portfolio in 2012/13. It is not 
anticipated that this will happen. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 207



 
 

22 

 

Appendix 2: Definition of Credit Ratings 
   

    Support Ratings 

Rating  

1 A bank for which there is an extremely high probability of external 
support. The potential provider of support is very highly rated in its 
own right and has a very high propensity to support the bank in 
question. This probability of support indicates a minimum Long-term 
rating floor of 'A-'. 

2 A bank for which there is a high probability of external support.  The 
potential provider of support is highly rated in its own right and has 
a high propensity to provide support to the bank in question. This 
probability of support indicates a minimum Long-term rating floor of 
'BBB-'. 

3 A bank for which there is a moderate probability of support because 
of uncertainties about the ability or propensity of the potential 
provider of support to do so. This probability of support indicates a 
minimum Long-term rating floor of 'BB-'. 

 

4 A bank for which there is a limited probability of support because of 
significant uncertainties about the ability or propensity of any 
possible provider of support to do so. This probability of support 
indicates a minimum Long-term rating floor of 'B'. 

 

5 A bank for which external support, although possible, cannot be 
relied upon. This may be due to a lack of propensity to provide 
support or to very weak financial ability to do so. This probability of 
support indicates a Long-term rating floor no higher than 'B-' and in 
many cases no floor at all. 

 

    Short-term Ratings 

Rating  

F1 Highest credit quality. Indicates the strongest capacity for timely 
payment of financial commitments; may have an added "+" to 
denote any exceptionally strong credit feature. 

F2 Good credit quality. A satisfactory capacity for timely payment of 
financial commitments, but the margin of safety is not as great as in 
the case of the higher ratings. 

F3 Fair credit quality. The capacity for timely payment of financial 
commitments is adequate; however, near-term adverse changes 
could result in a reduction to non-investment grade. 

 

Page 208



 
 

23 

    Long-term Ratings 

Rating Current Definition (August 2003) 

AAA Highest credit quality. 'AAA' ratings denote the lowest expectation 
of credit risk. They are assigned only in case of exceptionally strong 
capacity for timely payment of financial commitments. This capacity 
is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events. 

AA Very high credit quality. 'AA' ratings denote a very low 
expectation of credit risk. They indicate very strong capacity for 
timely payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not 
significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events. 

A High credit quality. 'A' ratings denote a low expectation of credit 
risk. The capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is 
considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more 
vulnerable to changes in circumstances or in economic conditions 
than is the case for higher ratings. 

BBB Good credit quality. 'BBB' ratings indicate that there is currently a 
low expectation of credit risk. The capacity for timely payment of 
financial commitments is considered adequate, but adverse 
changes in circumstances and in economic conditions are more 
likely to impair this capacity. This is the lowest investment-grade 
category 

 

    Individual Ratings 

Rating  

A A very strong bank. Characteristics may include outstanding 
profitability and balance sheet integrity, franchise, management, 
operating environment or prospects. 

B A strong bank. There are no major concerns regarding the bank. 
Characteristics may include strong profitability and balance sheet 
integrity, franchise, management, operating environment or 
prospects 

C An adequate bank, which, however, possesses one or more 
troublesome aspects. There may be some concerns regarding its 
profitability and balance sheet integrity, franchise, management, 
operating environment or prospects. 

D A bank, which has weaknesses of internal and/or external origin. 
There are concerns regarding its profitability, substance and 
resilience, balance sheet integrity, franchise, management, 
operating environment or prospects. Banks in emerging markets 
are necessarily faced with a greater number of potential 
deficiencies of external origin. 

E A bank with very serious problems, which either requires or is likely 
to require external support. 

 

Page 209



 
 

24 

Appendix 3 

Adoption of the revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2009 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Local Authorities was last updated in 
2001 and has been revised in 2009 in the light of the default by Icelandic banks in 2008. The 
revised Code requires that a report be submitted to the council, board or other appropriate body. 
setting out four amended clauses which should be formally passed in order to approve adoption 
of the new version of the Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes. 

 

The revised Code also includes an amended version of the treasury management policy 
statement (TMPS) incorporating just three clauses and a revised definition of treasury 
management activities. The Code does not require this statement to be approved by the council. 
board or other appropriate body. 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

CIPFA recommends that all public service organisations adopt, as part of their standing orders, 
financial regulations, or other formal policy documents appropriate to their circumstances. the 
following four clauses. 

 

1.  This organisation will create and maintain. as the cornerstones for effective treasury 
management: 

• a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and approach to 
risk management of its treasury management activities 

• suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which the 
organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will 
manage and control those activities. 

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations contained in 
Sections 6 and 7 of the Code. subject only to amendment where necessary to reflect the 
particular circumstances of this organisation. Such amendments will not result in the 
organisation materially deviating from the Code’s key principles. 

2.  This organisation (i.e. full council) will receive reports on its treasury management policies. 
practices and activities including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of 
the year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its 
TMPs. 

3.  This organisation delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of 
its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions to The Corporate Director-Resources, 
who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs and if he/she 
is a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

4. This organisation nominates Audit Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

Page 210



 
 

25 

Appendix 4 

 

Treasury management Policy Statement 

 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets defines the policies and objectives of its treasury 
management activities as follows: - 

 

1. This organisation defines its treasury management activities as: 

“The management of the authority’s cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks”. 

 

2.  This organisation regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be 
the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 
measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will 
focus on their risk implications for the organisation. 

 

3.  This organisation acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore committed to 
the principles of achieving best value in treasury management, and to employing suitable 
performance measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management.” 

 

 

Page 211



 
 

26 

Appendix 5 

 

 

Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

 

1.  Full Council / Cabinet 

• receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies. practices and 
activities 

• approval of annual strategy. 

 

2.  Cabinet /Section 151 Officer 

• approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses. treasury 
management policy statement 

• budget consideration and approval 

• approval of the division of responsibilities 

• approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment. 

 

3. Audit Committee 

• reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body. 

• receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations 

 

 

Page 212



 
 

27 

           Appendix 6 

 

Treasury Management Reporting Arrangement 

Area of Responsibility Council/Committee/O
fficer 

Frequency 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement/ Annual 
Investment Strategy/ Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy 

Full Council Annually before the 
start of the financial 
year to which policies 
relate 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement/ Annual 
Investment Strategy/ Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy 

Full Council Mid year of financial 
year to which policies 
relate 

Updates or revisions to the 
Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement/ Annual 
Investment Strategy/ Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy 

Full Council  

Annual Treasury Outturn 
Report 

Audit Committee Annually by 30 
September after the 
year end to which the 
report relates 

Treasury Management 
Practices 

Corporate Director-
Resources 

 

Scrutiny of Treasury 
Management Strategy 
Statement 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Annually before the 
start of the financial 
year to which the 
report relates 

Scrutiny of Treasury 
Management Performance 

Audit Committee Quarterly 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



Page 214

This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 

 
COUNCIL MEETING 

 
WEDNESDAY 25TH JANUARY 2012 

 
MOTIONS SUBMITTED BY 

MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

REPORT OF THE SERVICE HEAD,  
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY 
 
1. Seventeen motions have been submitted by Members of the Council under 

Council Procedure Rule 13 for debate at the Council meeting on Wednesday 
25th January 2012. 

 
2. In accordance with the protocol agreed by the Council on 21st May 2008, the 

order in which the motions are listed is by turns, one from each group, 
continuing in rotation until all motions submitted are included.  The rotation 
starts with any group(s) not reached at the previous meeting. 

 
3. Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or 

which affect the Borough.  A motion may not be moved which is substantially 
the same as a motion which has been put at a meeting of the Council in the 
previous six months; or which proposes that a decision of the Council taken in 
the previous six months be rescinded; unless notice of the motion is given 
signed by at least twenty Members.  

 
4. There is no specific duration set for this agenda item and consideration of the 

attached motions may continue until the time limit for the meeting is reached.  
The guillotine procedure at Council Procedure Rule 9.2 does not apply to 
motions on notice and any of the attached motions which have not been put to 
the vote when the time limit for the meeting is reached will be deemed to have 
fallen.  A motion which is not put to the vote at the current meeting may be 
resubmitted for the next meeting but is not automatically carried forward.   

  
 
MOTIONS 
 
Set out overleaf are the motions that have been submitted. 
 

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 215



12.1 Public transport and unaffordable fares 
 
Proposer: Councillor Fozol Miah 
Seconder: Councillor Harun Miah 
 
This Council notes that: 
 
1) the importance of encouraging use of public transport to limit pollution in London 
and to save on use of fossil fuels which increase global warming 
 
2) people on lower incomes are particularly dependent on public transport to ensure 
they can gain access for themselves and their families of the benefits of living in 
London 
 
3) many people have seen or are seeing no rise in their incomes despite the fact 
inflation is over 5% and this is cutting their living standards 
 
4) Tory Mayor of London Boris Johnson is committed to raising fares on public 
transport in London year on year by 1% above inflation, despite falling living standards 
for many, particularly on lower incomes across the capital and in Tower Hamlets in 
particular 
 
5) Ken Livingstone, the only candidate who realistically can be expected to replace the 
Tory mayor Boris Johnson in elections in May 2012, has promised to reduce fares by 
5% if elected with no increase in fares in 2013 
 
This Council believes that: 
 
1) the rise in fares proposed by the Tory Mayor Boris Johnson will have a severe 
effect on the living standards in London particularly of those on lower incomes 
 
2) the rise in fares proposed by Tory Mayor Boris Johnson will discourage use of 
public transport 
 
3) a reduction in fares rather than an increase is both affordable and desirable 
 
This Council supports the plans announced by Ken Livingstone to reduce fares if 
elected next May 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 216



12.2 Warm & dry flats 
 
Proposer:  Councillor Judith Gardiner  
Seconder: Councillor Helal Uddin 
 
This Council notes: 
 
1. Climate change, caused by anthropogenic CO2 emissions, is an urgent problem 

for the whole world, killing 300,000 per year at the moment according to the Kofi 
Annan Foundation. 

 
2. Bangladesh is one of the countries most affected by the effects of climate change, 

so our borough’s links with the country give us particular impetus to act. 
 
3. Cold housing in unpleasant and dangerous for vulnerable people. Well insulated 

homes are warmer and safer, and reduce fuel poverty. 
 
4. This branch welcomes the mayor’s announcement that Decent Homes works will 

be accelerated in the borough. Although this is sometimes ignored, one Decent 
Homes standard is that properties offer a reasonable standard of insulation. 

 
5. Under Ed Miliband’s stewardship, the DECC instigated various funding streams to 

insulate and so save CO2 emissions from homes. These include the Community 
Emissions Reduction Target (CERT) and the Community Energy Savings 
Programme (CESP). These are funded from levies on energy companies and 
targeted at deprived communities, e.g. Tower Hamlets. 

 
6. Works to insulate homes can be done during Decent Homes projects to minimise 

disruption and cost. These funding streams can top up Decent Homes funding to 
ensure the housing ends up healthy, warm, and with the lowest CO2 emissions 
reasonably possible. 

 
7. Poplar HARCA are already undertaking a CESP-funded insulation project. 

 
This Council further notes: 
 
1. Damp and the mould it causes, is a serious issue causing severe respiratory 

problems and makes asthma very much worse. 
 
2. Most damp is caused by condensation: moisture from breathing, cooking and 

washing condensing on cold surfaces. Overcrowded families suffer more from 
condensation, with more people in the flat creating moisture. 

 
3. When flats have double-glazing installed, but no other insulation undertaken, the 

coldest places will be the external walls and top-floor ceiling, so condensation and 
mould will form there. This could be seen clearly in the recent BBC documentary 
Poor Kids. This has happened in some Decent Homes projects in Tower Hamlets, 
increasing the health risks from mould to residents. 

 

Page 217



4. If walls and roofs are properly insulated, they will generally not be cold enough for 
condensation to form, so the flats will be free of mould. Cavity wall insulation is 
inexpensive, and Tower Hamlets have pioneered innovative installation methods, 
like abseiling down tower blocks squirting it in as they go.  Insulation for solid walls 
is more expensive, costing about the same as double-glazing a flat, however 
because walls are bigger than windows, typically more energy is saved. 

 
5. Proper ventilation is also necessary to banish mould. As noted by Lewisham 

council, humidistat controlled extraction for kitchens and bathrooms, and heat-
recovery ventilation (where the outgoing warmth is transferred from the old wet air 
to the fresh dry air) are the best, most economical solutions. 

 
6. Independent specialists who are not being contracted to undertake the work will be 

able to offer advice without profiting from the measures they recommend. 
 

This Council Resolves 
 
1. To ensure Decent Homes client organisations get the maximum benefit from CERT 

and CESP schemes. 
 
2. To ensure that Decent Homes works do not put residents at greater risk of mould-

related illnesses. The order of precedence of works should be such that 
condensation within the home is not increased. 

 
3. To encourage Decent Homes client organisations to consider taking independent 

technical advice about the issue when appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 218



12.3 Motion on Cllr Shelina Aktar (AKA Shelina Akhtar) 
 
Proposer: Councillor Peter Golds 
Seconder: Councillor Tim Archer 

 
This Council Notes: 
 

• That incidents of fraud and dishonesty in public life in the United Kingdom are 
relatively rare and that when proven both political parties and the relevant body, 
whether it be national or local take appropriate action, as was seen in the 
recent expenses scandal where all parties suspended recalcitrant members. 

 
• That Councillor Shelina Aktar, who as a matter of record altered the spelling of 

her name following her election to the council in 2010, was in July 2010 
convicted of benefit fraud, under the name of Shelina Akhtar. 

 
• In January 2012 she pleaded guilty to further fraud and is to be sentenced in 

February 2012. 
 
This Council Believes: 
 

• That it is wrong for such a person to vote on matters that would affect the lives 
and well being of the overwhelmingly law abiding citizens of this borough. 

 
• That according to time sheets and other information, that Cllr Aktar is a regular 

attendee of group meetings involving the Independent mayoral supporting 
members and regularly attends “mayoral engagements” including six hours of 
such engagements in December 2011. 

 
This Council Requests: 
 

• Councillor Aktar to leave the meeting and resign the trust placed in her as a 
Councillor. 

 
This Council calls upon the Mayor to disassociate himself from Cllr Aktar and confirm 
publicly that she will not be invited to join him on further “mayoral engagements”. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 219



12.4 The lack of local benefit from the Olympic Games  2012 
 
Proposer: Councillor Harun Miah 
Seconder: Councillor Fozol Miah 
 
This Council notes that: 
 
1) the reason the former Mayor of London supported London’s bid for the Olympic 
Games was to help with regeneration in East London, including the creation of homes 
and lasting jobs for the residents of East London 
 
2) the plans for the Olympic Games as implemented under the current Tory Mayor 
have failed to live up to the hopes for regeneration, homes and jobs 
 
3) in particular, the number of jobs for people resident in East London as a whole and 
Tower Hamlets in particular directly generated by the construction of the Olympics site 
has been pitifully small 
 
4) most of the homes in the Olympic Village will not be given over to social housing 
after the Olympics, despite the millions of pounds of public money that has been 
poured into the project 
 
5) residents of East London are now promised an unprecedented security clampdown 
limiting their freedom of movement. 
 
6) security at the Olympics site may involve foreign nationals carrying firearms in East 
London and the deployment of missile batteries 
 
7) David Cameron has absurdly decided to double spending, despite the austerity cuts 
being inflicted on many people in Tower Hamlets and beyond, on the opening 
ceremony to £81 million and this will have no beneficial effect on sports anywhere in 
this country 
 
8) residents in East London also face massive inconvenience as roads are closed and 
priority is given to luxury limousines ferrying the multiplicity of Olympics officials, 
hangers on and corporate sponsors 
 
This Council believes urgent measures need to be taken to persuade residents of East 
London that the two week Olympic Games will bring lasting benefit to East London 
residents in terms of jobs, homes and regeneration 
 
This Council has no confidence the current Tory Mayor and his administration will take 
the necessary measures to ensure that the potential benefits from the Olympic Games 
will accrue to the residents of East London 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 220



12.5 Defending local NHS services 
 
Proposer: Councillor Rachael Saunders 
Seconder: Councillor Lesley Pavitt 
  
The Council notes: 
 

• The proposed merger between Barts and the London, Newham and Whipps 
Cross acute trusts.  

• That the three hospital trusts have been forced by Conservative government 
policy to consider a merger to protect local services.   

• That clinicians are also seeking to use the opportunity to drive up clinical 
standards.   

• That proposals for savings beyond back office mergers have not yet been 
made.   

  
This Council believes: 
 

• That it is a matter of significant concern that services could move out of Tower 
Hamlets to Whipps Cross or Newham, as public transport links are poor.   

• That the proposed merger will mean significant change at the same time as the 
Royal London hospital is moving into its new building and there are major 
changes in NHS structures, locally and nationally.   

• That there is concern that a much bigger merged organisation would find it 
more difficult to keep in touch with the needs of local people.   

• That it is likely that a merged organisation would seek to make savings through 
reshaping services in the future.   

  
This Council resolves: 
 

• To campaign to keep NHS acute services in Tower Hamlets 
• To call on the Mayor to support the Labour Party in ensuring the voices of local 

people are heard in their NHS.   
• To campaign for a holistic, not purely clinically led, approach to care for our 

local communities.   
• To campaign for representation of local people and locally elected councillors at 

every level of decision making in any new organisation.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 221



12.6 Education in Tower Hamlets 
 
Proposer:  Councillor Zara Davis 
Seconder:  Councillor Dr Emma Jones 
 
This Council notes: 

o That the Secretary of State for Education has recently approved the creation of 
three new free schools in Tower Hamlets which will be run by The Constable 
Education Trust, the Wapping and Shadwell Secondary Education Trust and City 
Gateway, all of which will open free schools in September 2012 

o That the severe shortage of school places in Tower Hamlets is such that: 
§ According to the borough’s own projections, at primary school level an 

additional 16 form entries are required in Tower Hamlets primary schools 
between the academic year 2011/12 and 2012/13 to cope with the projected 
increase in population in the borough [1] 

§ At secondary school level, the number of students will increase from 12,987 
(2009/10 roll number) to 16,314 by 2020, thereby requiring an additional 
110 form entries.[2] 

§ It is already the case that for 301 children in Tower Hamlets, the nearest 
school available to them is so far away that the Council has to provide them 
with Home-School transport. [3] 

§ The number of children requiring Home-School transport on distance 
grounds has trebled in the last two years, and it is forecasted to increase to 
500 pupils in the next three years.[4] 

  
This Council believes: 

o That giving schools independence helps to raise standards, as recognised by a 
recent OECD report which states: “where schools have greater autonomy over 
what is taught and how students are assessed, students tend to perform better”[5] 

o That free schools will therefore help to raise standards in Tower Hamlets, both in 
the free schools themselves as well as in neighbouring schools which will be 
spurred on to achieve higher standards 

o That free schools will increase the choice available to parents and pupils, with the 
three new free schools in Tower Hamlets going far beyond the National 
Curriculum, e.g. the Constable Education Trust Primary School with modern 
foreign languages; Wapping High will offer an extended school day with 34 hours 
of teaching a week and the opportunity for a variety of enrichment activities etc. 

o That free schools will also help to alleviate some of the pressure on school places 
in Tower Hamlets 

 
Therefore, this Council resolves: 

o To welcome and support the creation of free schools in Tower Hamlets, which will 
be attended by hundreds of pupils from our borough 

o To actively co-operate with and support free schools on matters such as finding 
premises.  

 
 

Page 222



12.7 Opposing cuts to the provision of Legal Aid 
 
Proposer: Councillor Stephanie Eaton 
Seconder:  Councillor Kabir Ahmed 
 
This Council notes that: 
 
Access to legal advice and representation makes it more likely that everyone is 
treated fairly under the law. Legal aid helps vulnerable, poor and powerless people in 
Tower Hamlets to reach fair financial settlements; exercise their human rights; and 
challenge decisions in areas of dispute such as medical negligence, access to 
children in family disputes, divorce, housing, employment and welfare. 
 
Part 1 of The Legal Aid, Sentencing, and Punishment of Offenders bill which is 
currently going through parliament will limit the availability of legal aid for welfare 
benefits cases, including for people appealing against government decisions, for 
example about entitlement to disability benefits.  
 
This Council believes that: 
 
Access to independent advice and representation on legal matters is essential to 
achieve justice for all; 
 
The proposed reduction in spending on legal aid, through restrictions in the scope and 
eligibility of aid and the cut in the fee paid to providers of legal services, will have a 
detrimental effect on access to justice and on provision of  legal safeguards for 
individuals and families involved in disputes;  
 
The Ministry of Justice has proposed a number of alternatives to legal aid funding but 
these are not suitable, available or affordable for many people in Tower Hamlets as: 

• A community legal advice telephone helpline cannot replace face-to-face 
advice and communication in all cases 

• Legal costs insurance is not widely held and carries exclusions. 
• Voluntary sector advice agencies can help with early intervention but do 

not have the training and experience to deal with complex legal cases 
and court representation. 

 
This Council:  
 
Shares the concern about the changes to legal aid expressed by a broad range of 
legal and advice agencies, trades unions, charities, politicians, community groups and 
members of the public;  
 
Requests the Mayor of Tower Hamlets and political party leaders in the Borough to 
write jointly to the Secretary of State for Justice, the Rt Hon. Ken Clarke to express 
this Council’s concern over the legal aid changes proposed in the Bill and their 
potential impact on residents of Tower Hamlets. 
 
 
 

Page 223



12.8 Troubled Families 
 
Proposer:  Councillor Tim Archer 
Seconder:  Councillor David Snowdon 
 
This Council Notes: 
 

• The Coalition Government plans to deal with Troubled Families is a much 
welcomed step in the right direction. 

• Currently the government spends £9 billion a year on Troubled Families, with 
only £1 billion a year going to turning Troubled Families around. 

• Each Troubled Family costs £75,000 a year. 
• The London Borough of Tower Hamlets has 1,120 Troubled Families, the 

highest of any London Borough. 
• This means £84 million is spent each year on Troubled Families in the London 

Borough of Tower Hamlets. 
 

This Council Believes: 
 

• The creation of a new Troubled Families team at the Department for 
Communities and Local Government. 

 
This Council Resolves: 
 

• To support the setting up of a national network of Troubled Families 
‘Trouble Shooters’. 

• To work with the Coalition government on this plan and to start to turn 
around the lives of London Borough of Tower Hamlets residents who live in 
Troubled Families. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 224



12.9 Support Ken Livingstone’s fair deal for transport  
 
Proposer:  Councillor Rabina Khan 
Seconder:  Councillor Shafiqul Haque 
 
This Council notes: 
 
1. That from January 2012 there has been a steep rise in bus, tube and rail fares 
under Tory Mayor Boris Johnson 
 
2. That under the Tory mayor the cost of a single bus ticket has risen by a massive 50 
per cent since 2008, whilst the price of a monthly zone 1-2 Travelcard is up 21% 
costing £230.40 per year more, and the price of zones 1-6 Travelcard is up a fifth. 
 
3. That a key part of the "One Tower Hamlets" Community Plan is to tackle poverty 
and protect the environment and peoples' health. 
 
4. That increases in public transport fares can adversely impact on social inclusion, 
mobility and people's economic well being, particularly for poorer sections of our 
community. 
 
5. That increases in bus, tube, train and DLR fares can also encourage more people 
to use cars rather than public transport and therefore contribute to increased 
congestion and poorer air quality. 
 
This Council believes: 
 
1. That Boris Johnson’s transport polices are hurting our residents. 

 
2. That we should support initiatives that seeks to reduce the costs of using public 
transport. 
 
3. That Ken Livingstone’s manifesto pledge to cut fares immediately by 7%, to freeze 
them the next year and saving the average London Transport user £1000 over 4 years 
is good news for residents in Tower Hamlets and to be welcomed. 
 
This Council resolves: 
 
To support Ken Livingstone’s campaign to make fares affordable for Londoners. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 225



12.10 History Teaching And the English Baccalaureate 
 
Proposer: Councillor David Snowdon 
Seconder: Councillor Peter Golds 
  
This Council notes: 
 

• Only 11.7% of Tower Hamlets school children passes GCSE History at grades 
A*-C. This is the fifth lowest number in England, ahead of only Knowsley, 
Newham, Kingston-Upon-Hull and Manchester.  

 
• Over three times more school children achieve A*-C GCSE History in the top 

performing council in the country, Hammersmith and Fulham. 
 

• That the new gold standard of English secondary education, the English 
Baccalaureate, requires school children to have A*-C passes in Maths, English, 
two sciences, a modern language and history or geography. Only 5.9% of 
children achieved this, in part due to the low number of history GCSEs entered. 

 
• Tower Hamlets has the ninth lowest number of children passing A-Level History 

in England. 
 
This Council believes: 
 

• That the study of history allows our school children to develop high level 
analytical skills, and helps them to more fully appreciate the world around them. 
This in turn promotes civic and community engagement. 

 
• That in order to increase the number of Tower Hamlets school children 

achieving the English-Baccalaureate we need to increase the provision of 
History teaching in our schools. Not achieving this standard threatens to limit 
the educational opportunities available to our school children. 

 
This Council resolves: 
 

• To instruct officers to write to all head teachers of schools within the Borough to 
make them aware of the Council’s support for a higher provision of History 
teaching. 

 
• To instruct officers to contact schools to see what barriers exist to a higher level 

of provision of history teaching, and report back to full council within six months. 
 

• To ask the Mayor to champion the case of history teaching in Tower Hamlets, 
and investigate what he can do to promote this objective 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 226



12.11 Remembering Stephen Lawrence  
 
Proposer:  Councillor Abdul Asad 
Seconder:  Councillor Kabir Ahmed 
 
This Council notes: 
 
1. That after eighteen years the Stephen Lawrence case has finally seen some 
resolution with two men convicted for his murder. 
 
2. The dignity with which the Lawrence family have led their campaign.    
 
3. That Stephen Lawrence’s murder highlights that there are people, albeit a tiny 
minority, who harbour a deep racism and may even be capable of terrible, violent acts.  
 
4. The fact that Tower Hamlets is a multi cultural, multi racial borough, where the 
overwhelming majority of people work and live together happily, should not allow for 
any complacency.  
 
5. That the Stephen Lawrence case also highlights the insidious nature of racism and 
how it can infect and distort the workings of institutions.  
 
6. That among the findings of the Macpherson Inquiry was a clear conclusion about 
the existence of institutional racism in the police service and other public sector 
organizations. 
 
7. That the Stephen Lawrence Centre in Deptford is facing closure due to lack of 
funding. 
 
This Council believes:  
 
That we owe it to the legacy of Stephen Lawrence and the hard work of the Lawrence 
family to strengthen our commitment to tackling institutional discrimination and 
exclusion and confronting all prejudices, inequalities and unfair treatment whether as a 
result of gender, sexuality, age, race, disability, religious affiliation, belief or class.  
  
This Council resolves: 
 
1. To write to the Lawrence Family on behalf of all councillors in an expression of 
support and solidarity. 
 
2. To continue to campaign against all forms of discrimination and hatred. 
 
3. To explore all we can do to help the Stephen Lawrence Centre to continue its 
important work. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 227



12.12 Government policies are increasing child poverty 
 
Proposer: Councillor Oliur Rahman 
Seconder:  Councillor Rania Khan 
 
This Council notes: 

1. The report from the Campaign to End Child Poverty that more than half the children 
in the inner London boroughs live in poverty and 52% of children in Tower Hamlets 
are living in poverty. 

2. The warning from the Institute for Fiscal Studies that child poverty will rise by 
400,000 children by 2015 unless the government takes a "more progressive" 
approach to tackling the deficit. The total could exceed three million children by 2021.  

3. Growing child poverty costs the economy around £25 billion a year as society picks 
up the pieces of damaged lives and unrealised potential. 
 
This Council believes: 

1. That the borough’s long standing problems of child poverty have been massively 
compounded by government spending cuts which are hitting the poorest families 
hardest and women and children worst, and curtailing economic growth and job 
creation. 

2. That the borough’s long standing problems of child poverty have been worsened by 
government breaking its promise to increase Child tax Credits above inflation. 

3. That the government flagship 'free schools' policy is accentuating social segregation 
and divisions and undermining education options for poorer families to break out of 
poverty. For example, Canary Wharf College has only 1.7% on Free School Meals - 
compared to 48% in the local area. 

4. That government economic polices are driving more and more families into poverty. 
Instead of stripping demand out of the economy, the government should be investing 
for growth and job creation. 

5. That child poverty arises from a multitude of factors including lack of affordable 
housing, poor educational opportunities and low parental employment. 
 
This Council resolves: 

1. To lobby central government to review new policies and benefit changes, including 
to Child Tax Credits and Housing Benefit which will have a negative impact on 
Child Poverty. 

2. To continue to build more affordable family-sized homes. 

3. To continue to tackle the problem of rogue landlords charging extortionate rents. 

4. To continue to demand that council and partner projects deliver local jobs for local 
people. 

5. To continue to boost educational opportunities by means of innovative measures 
such as the Mayor’s Education Award. 

 
 

Page 228



12.13 Dow Chemical, Bhopal and the Olympic Park 
  
Proposer:  Councillor Lutfa Begum 
Seconder:  Councillor Maium Miah 
 
This meeting notes: 
 
1. That on December 12 2011 Mayor Lutfur Rahman, Cllr Josh Peck (Labour Group), 
Fozol Miah (Respect Group) and Stephanie Eaton (Lib Dem) sent a joint letter to Lord 
Sebastian Coe, Chairman of the London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games 
and Paralympic Games (LOCOG) expressing concern over its decision to accept 
sponsorship for the Olympic Games from Dow Chemical, in light of its associations 
with the Union Carbide/Bhopal disaster. 
 
2. That in a reply to that letter Lord Coe stated ‘Dow is an industry leader in terms of 
operating with the highest standards of ethics and sustainability’ and that LOCOG 
‘stand behind’ Dow ‘both as a worldwide sponsor of the Olympic movement and as a 
supplier to LOCOG’.  
 
3. That Lord Coe also stated that Dow Chemical had no responsibilities in relation to 
the Bhopal disaster as ‘they did not own or operate the Union Carbide India Limited 
Plant that was the site of the 1984 disaster’. 
 
4. That due to campaign pressure Dow Chemical has agreed to remove all its 
branding from Britain’s Olympic stadium. 
  
This meeting believes: 
  
1. That when Dow Chemical bought Union Carbide they knew that Union Carbide 
were wanted on criminal charges pertaining to the Bhopal disaster.  
 
2. That Dow therefore has a responsibility to the victims of the Bhopal disaster. 
 
3. That any association with Dow tarnishes the name and reputation of the Olympics.  
  
This meeting resolves: 
  
To maintain pressure on LOCOG to drop Dow Chemical as a partner for the 2012 
Olympics. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 229



12.14 Sexual Exploitation 
 
Proposer:  Councillor Rania Khan  
Seconder: Councillor Ohid Ahmed 
 
This Council notes: 
 
1. That despite the abolition of slavery over 200 years ago, modern forms of trading in 

human beings continue, particularly for the purposes of sexual exploitation, forced 
labour, domestic slavery or organised crime. 

 
2. That 80,000 people are trafficked each year, 80% of which are women and children. 
 
3. That in the UK many thousands of individuals are bought and sold as commodities 

and forced into modern-day slavery. 
 
4. That Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) does excellent work 

focussing on the protection and welfare of children and young people. 
 
5. That the Metropolitan Police have set up a Trafficking Helpline, working with some 

local authorities to launch raids and closing down brothels, gathering intelligence 
on known trafficking gangs/groups and working with their home countries. 

 
This Council believes: 
 
1. That schools should be encouraged to incorporate the topic into their curricula to 

raise awareness among students. 
 
2. OPThat the efforts made by individuals, business, organisations, the police, 

government and educational institutions to raise awareness of human trafficking 
and to oppose such trafficking actively; are to be commended 

 
This Council resolves: 
 
1. To express its support for the work that ECPAT UK (End Child Prostitution, Child 

Pornography and the Trafficking of Children for Sexual Purposes) is doing around 
the UK to promote the rights of children and for the measures the organisation is 
taking to protect them from commercial and sexual exploitation and abuse. 

 
2. To acknowledge the potential impact of the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games 

on trafficking, in the context of a possible increase of people entering the UK due 
to human trafficking, and to work with LOCOG, other Olympic agencies and the 
police to counteract this.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 230



12.15 Commemorate Holocaust Memorial Day 
 
Proposer:  Councillor Alibor Choudhury 
Seconder:  Councillor Aminur Khan 
 
This meeting notes: 
 
1. That 27 January is Holocaust Memorial Day (HMD), which marks the murder of six 
million Jews, and millions of others, by the Nazis and their collaborators.  
 
2. That in addition to Jews, the targeted groups included Slavic peoples, Romany 
people, the mentally ill, the Deaf, the physically disabled and mentally retarded; 
homosexual and transsexual people; political opponents and religious dissidents 
alongside many others regarded not part of the ‘Aryan race’.  
 
3. That HMD provides an opportunity for everyone to learn lessons from the 
Holocaust, Nazi persecution and subsequent genocides and which enables us to 
create a safer, better future.  
 
4. That on HMD we share the memory of the millions who have been murdered in the 
Holocaust and subsequent genocides in Cambodia, Rwanda, Bosnia and Darfur in 
order to challenge hatred and persecution in the UK today.  
 
5. The theme for HMD 2012 asks us all to Speak Up, Speak Out against injustice, 
discrimination and exclusion in order to create a safer, better future. The theme asks 
us to think about the rights, responsibility and duty we all have to speak up when we 
see or hear something which we believe to be wrong. It challenges us to learn about 
what happens when we don’t speak out and what can happen when we do use our 
voice. 
 
6. To mark Holocaust Memorial Day the Mayor is speaking at an event in January in 
Nelson Street synagogue.  
 
This Council resolves: 
 
1. To advertise and promote participation in Holocaust Memorial Day. 
 
2. To organise its own event to mark next year’s Holocaust Memorial Day. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



12.16 Innocent victims of private colleges  
 
Proposer:  Councillor Shahed Ali 
Seconder:  Councillor Oliur Rahman 
 
This Council notes: 
 
1. International students bring billions of pounds of trade and education revenue to the 
UK each year. 
 
2. Cuts in funding mean that universities and colleges are more dependent than ever 
on the fees paid by international students to keep courses open and education 
provision intact. 
 
3. 40% of international students start at private colleges before going on to 
Universities. 
 
4. In the last year, thousands of international students were left stranded without a 
college when their government accredited colleges went out of business. Many 
students have lost up to £8,000 in tuition fees with no means to recoup these funds.  
 
5. The UK Border Agency’s 60 day rule - which gives international students in such 
situations just 60 days to find another educational provider offering the same or similar 
course – is a major worry for students who fear it provides insufficient time to find a 
new college or university, organise funds and apply for a new visa. 
 
6. The warning from UK Universities that government failure to properly regulate 
education providers, combined with the introduction of the 60 Day rule, has resulted in 
an 11,000 drop in international students and risks damaging Britain’s reputation in 
education abroad.  
 
This Council resolves: 
 
1. To lobby government for greater protection for all students, including international 
students, who find themselves victims of unscrupulous private education providers. 
 
2. To lobby government for an extension of the 60 day rule in order that students who 
have already suffered at the hands of unscrupulous education providers have the time 
to make the most informed decision about their next education choices. 
 
3. That international students who are required to re-apply for a visa as a result of 
being forced to seek a college transfer should be permitted to carry-over existing visa 
conditions such as permitted hours of work. 
 
4. To explore, with highly-trusted educational institutions like Tower Hamlets College, 
the possibilities of introducing measures that might facilitate students in ’60 day’ 
situations and benefits students and colleges alike. 
 
 
 

Page 232



12.17 Energy suppliers are failing poorest families  
 
Proposer:  Councillor Ohid Ahmed 
Seconder:  Councillor Rofique Ahmed 
 
This Council notes: 
 
1. Save the Children have launched the ‘No Child Left in the Cold campaign’ in 
response to the fact that government schemes to help with household energy bills are 
reaching fewer than 3% of eligible families. 
 
 2. 800,000 of the poorest families who get cold weather payments should also qualify 
for a £120 discount on fuel bills under the Warm Homes Discount scheme, but a huge 
funding shortfall means only 25,000 families will get it. 
 
 3. The No Child Left in the Cold campaign is calling on energy companies and the 
government to fill this funding gap, so more families are given the fuel discount.  
 
This Council resolves: 
 
1. To support the No Child Left in the Cold Campaign. 
 
2. To explore ways to promote discounted energy deals. 
 
3. To support the Mayor’s decision to explore the use of an energy Coop to bring 

discounted energy to all residents. 

Page 233



Page 234

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 MINUTES
	5 TO RECEIVE PETITIONS
	6 TO RECEIVE WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
	8 TO RECEIVE WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL
	9.1 Substance Misuse Strategy
	9.1 Substance Misuse Report to Council
	9.1 Substance Misuse Summary
	9.1 Substance Misuse Technical Document
	9.1 Substance Misuse Action Plan

	9.2 London Local Authorities and Transport for London Act 2003 (Section 16) - report of the Cabinet Meeting on 11th January 2012
	9.2 LLA and TfL Act 2003 Appendix A

	9.3 Proposed amendments to the Council's Constitution - report of the General Purposes Committee, 17th January 2012
	11.1 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2011/12
	12 TO CONSIDER MOTIONS SUBMITTED BY MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

